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COMPETITORS

KEY ADVANTAGES

TOP FIVE CUSTOMERS

TOP FIVE PLATFORMS 2006

MARKET OPPORTUNITIES

" & ArvinMeritor Emission and Ride Control = General Motars Corp. ® DaimlerChrysler Mercedes ® Additional content due 1o
® Faurecia = Advanced technologies ® DaimlerChrysler AG E-Class emission regulations
® Eberspdcher e Experienced team = Volkswagen AG 8 Dodge Ram H.D. diesel/gas; B [iesel after-treatment
= Bosal ® Product/process guality ® Ford Motor Co. LD. gas; SRT-10 gas 8 Customized sound attenuation
% Delphi * Global program " PSA Peugeot/Citroén » GM Opel Vectra, Pontiac GB, 8 Emerging markets
® Nelson (Cummins Inc,) management Pontiac Malibu = Commercial vehicle segment
® Japanese alliances = ‘Volkswagen Golf, Jetta, Audi A3 B Adjacent markets
@ Joint ventures in China, = Volkswagen Audi Ad
Thailand and UK
8 Customer relationships
% Broad product range
® 7F Sachs = Full-service supplier = Ford Motor Co. ® GM Silverado, Tahoe, Yukon, ® Vehicle stability/safety
= Delphi » Just-In-Time {JIT) ® General Motors Corp. Suburban. Avalanche, Sierra reguirements
= Anrvinhteritor assembly s Volkswagen AG = Ford Focus, Mazda 323, Volvo 540 8 Modular assembly
® Kavaba (KYB) ® Test and validation ® Nissan Motor Co., Lid. = Ford Fiesta ® New technologies
" Magneti Marelli systems ® DaimlerChrysler AG = \olkswagen Transporter u Adjacent markets
® Hitachi = Knowledge-based 8 DaimlerChrysler Town & = Electronic technologies
engineering Country, Caravan = Emerging markets
o Seat damping systems
® Cabin damping systems
= Commercial vehicle segment
COMPETITORS KEY ADVANTAGES TOP FIVE CUSTOMERS LEADING PRODUCTS MARKET OPPORTUNITIES
= OFE Service Emission and Ride Control = TEMOT Autoteile 8 Quiet-Flow3® Mufflers/ 8 Growing number of vehicles
= Bgsal s Brand dominance = NAPA Assemblies on the road
® Goerlich's Exhaust ® Relationships with all = Automative Distribution ® Dynomax® Ultra-Flo Stainless/ " OE Service
Systems major wholesale International (ADI) Welded Mufflers/Systems ® New technologies
® International Muffler distributors/retailers ® Uni-Select & DNX™ performance B Emission regulations
Company = (lobal presence = Group Auto Union exhaust systems ® Performance-preduct demand
= |eading market shares {GAL) & SoundFX™ mufflers
® Product innovation 8 Clean Air™ catalytic converters
= Product quality @ Walker retrofit diesel
® Extensive product and particulate filters
vehicle coverage
= ArvinMeritor ¢ Targeted marketing » NAPA = Reflex® shocks and struts 8 Growing number of vehicles
= Kayaba (KYB) programs‘: ®» Advance Auto Parts = Sensa-Trac® shocks and struts on the road
& OF Service " Inquducuon of 8 Reilly Automotive = Rancho® shocks, struts and Ot Service
m 7F Sachs s“f”“_:e Pans 8 TEMOT Autoteile suspension lift kits New technologies
® Distribution channels & Automotive Distribution Cuick Strut™ Unperformed maintenance

Internaticnal (ADI)

Gas-Magnum® shocks
Monro-Matic Plus® shocks
DuPont™ car-care line
Monroe springs

Monroe dynamics and ceramic
brake pads

Premium mix expansion
Broader product coverage
Heavy-duty truck penetration
Safety/installer education
Testing/diagnostic equipment

Profile

Diverse Customer Base Ton Customers as a % of Total 2006 Revenues

Largest Original Equipment Customers

14.0% e General Motors Corp.

11.2% maEE—————  Ford Motor Co.
10.5% —— DaimlerChrysler AG
10.5% EE—— VOlkswagen AG
4.7% e PS54 Peugeot Citroén
3.30H s Toyota Motor Co.
2.7% mmmmm Nissan Moter Co.

2.6% mmmmm BMW AG

2.0% wmmw Shanghai Automotive (SAIC)

1.8% mmm Honda Motor Co.

Largest Aftermarket Customers
1.7% mmmmm NAPA

1.60¢ wmm TEMOT Autoteile GmbH
1.2% mm Advance Auto Parts
1.0% mm ADI (Automotive Distribution Int'l)
0.8% m Uni-Select

0.7% m O'Reilly Automotive

0.4% u GAU (Group Auto Union)
0.4% & KFE (Kwik-Fit Europe)
0.3% » Mekonomen Grossist AB
0.3% 1 C5K Auto

People

Approx. 19,000

Manutacturing and

Just-In-Time Facilities 83
Engineering Centers 14
Countries Served 134




TENNECO INC.

ORIGINAL EQUIPMENT

OPERATIONS 2006 SALES APPLICATIONS PRODUCTS BRANDS
Emission Control $2,592 million = Passenger cars = Complete emission-control systems = i
" Light trucks " Fabricated manifolds —~ . . ‘
° ® Commercial vehicles = Manifold-converter modules '“Q”' G 1 l l et [
® |ndustrial applications = Catalytic converters -
= Motorbikes ® Mufflers and resonators '
= Buses = Diesel particulate filter systems WALK ;
® SCR, NOx abatement sysiems m;-:’i '
= Exhaust heat exchangers
® Exhaust isolators and hanging systems |
Ride Control $1.016 million » Passenger cars » Shocks and struts '
® Light trucks ® Suspension bushings €MONROE AXIOS.
8 Commercial vehicles ® Coil, air and leal springs .
® Golf carts # Torque rods CLEVITE'Elastomers !
® Off-road recreational = Engine and body mounts
® Rail cars ® Suspension modufes and systems P
® Buses = Contrel arms, bars and links ’ —
& (Cabin dampers i FI'iC—ROt'
= Computerized electronic T T LA ;
suspension systems '
= Anti-roll systems
= Seat dampers I
AFTERMARKET |
OPERATIONS 2006 SALES APPLICATIONS PRODUCTS BRANDS ;
T
Emission Control $385 millton " Passenger cars s Mufflers "_' AL NN
® Light trucks » Pipes H é%'
* Comimercial vehicles ® Tubing !
= Performance vehicles ® Mounting components .
= Catalytic converters P LUKEY
® Performance mufflers Eo—-ﬂgj ’
= Headers
u Retrofit diesel particulate filters ’ 1
Ride Control $692 million = Pasgsenger cars ® Shocks .
= |ight trucks = Struts TMONROET AXIOS.
= Commercial vehicles u Cartridges !
= Performance vehicles = Mounting kits
= Trailers = Performance shocks, struts and filters I A RMSTRONG ’1
® Torque rods @
® Suspension bushings ,
= Engine mounts H
» Coil springs SMONROER
u Car-appearance products D@_@
® Suspension lift kits HHosspamp :
® Brake pads
CLEVITE Eiastomers
2006 2005 2006 Sales 2006 EBIT* !
Revenues (millions) $4,6B5 54,441 2006 2005 2006 2005
Emission Contral/ B North America 42% A6% B North America 53:% 67%
Ride Control Balance 84/36 62/38 B Europe, South America I Europe, South America '
— - and India 49% 46% and India 41% 25%
Original Equipment/ . " . . g
Aftermarket Balance 77/23  77/23 M Asia Pacific 9% 8% B Asia Pacific 5% 8%

*EBIT is earnings before interest expense, i
taxes, and minority interest. ‘
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ne technology-driven, global manufacturer and marketer of value-
differentiated ride control, emission control and elastomer products
and systems. We will strengthen our leading position through a
shared-value culture of employee involvement, where an intense
focus on continued improvement delivers shareholder value in

everything we do.

CORPORATE PROFILE

lenneco Inc. is one of the world's largest designers, manufacturers

and marketers of emission-control and ride-control products
and systems for the automotive original equipment market and
yitermarket. The company became an independent corporation
n 1999, allowing singular focus on strategies to maximize
jlobal results. '

Tenneco markets its products primarily under the Monroe*,
Walker®, Gillet™, and Clevite® Flastomers brand names. Leading
manufacturers worldwide use our products in their vehicles,
attracted principally by our advanced technologies. We are

one of the top suppliers to the automotive aftermarket, offering
exceptionally strong brand recognition among consumers and
trade personnel.

SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT

Please see the Safe Harbor Statement, risk factors and the

description of our griginal equipment (OE} revenue farecast under

“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition

and Results of Operations” in the accompanying Form 10-K, which

s incorporated herein by reference.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(dottars in millions except share and per share data) 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Net sales and operating revenues $4,685 $ 4,441 $ 4213 S 3.766 $ 3.459 $3.364

Earnings before interest expense, taxes

and minority interest $ 196 $ 215 S 174 S 174 $ 189 $ 80

Depreciation and amortization S 184 S 177 S 77 S 183 S 144 $ 153

EBITDA* $ 380 $ 392 $ 351 S 337 S 313 § 243

Net income (loss) before changes in

accounting principles $§ = $ 58 S 15 $ 26 $ n $ (131)
Earnings (loss) per share before changes

in accounting principles $ 1.10 S 129 $ 035 $ 062 S 074 $ (347)
Capital expenditures $ 170 S 144 $ 130 $ 130 $ 138 S 27

Average diluted shares outstanding 46,755,573 |45321,225 44,180,460 417679859 41,667815 38,001,248

Total debt $1,378 $ 1,378 S 1,420 S 1,430 $ 1445 $1515

Cash and cash equivalents $ 202 S 14 S 214 $ 145 S 54 $ 53

Debt net of cash balances $1,176 $ 1237 S 1,206 S 1,285 $ 1,39 $ 1.462

“EBITDA represents inconte from continuing operations before cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles, interest expense, income taxes, minority
interest and depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is not a calculation based upon generally accepted accounting principles. The amounts included in the
EBITDA calcutation, however, are derived from amounts included in the historical statements of income data. In addition. EBITDA should not be considered
as an aliermative to net income or operating income as an indicator of our periormance, or as an altemative to operating cash flows as a measure of kquidity.
We have reported EBITDA because we believe EBITDA is a measure commonly reported and widety used by investors and other interested parties as an
indicator of a company’s performance, We believe EBITDA assists investors in comparing a company's performance on a consistent basis without regard to
depreciation and amortization, which can vary significantly depending upen many factors. However, the EBITDA measure presented in this document may not
always be comparable 1o similarty tiled measures reported by other campanies due to diffesences in the components of the ealculation.
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“In January 2007, the Board of Directors selected Gregg Sherrill as Tenneco’s new
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. This was an important decision for the Board and
for the future of Tenneco. We knew we had a solid team and a good strategy in place,
so our goal was to find someone that could complement and add value to what we
had. Gregg’s impressive 30-year track record over a range of automotive areas led us
to make what we believe was the right decision. Gregg has a passion for what he does.
He’'s a proven leader. And he brings a fresh perspective and direct experience working
with global automakers and aftermarket customers alike. We're looking forward to his
contributions in taking Tenneco to the next level”

=Paul Stecko, Board Member and Lead Director of Tenneco's CEQ Search Committee

To Our Shareholders:

For Tenneco, 2006 was a year of transition and continued
market leadership.

While global automotive production increased 4% as a result of
higher volumes in Europe and 26% growth in China, North American
production fell 3%. Detroit’s automakers suffered even more,
reducing domestic production by 7%. And the highly profitable light-
truck segment was down 9% in the face of rising gas prices, aging
pickup-truck platforms and 2005's heavy sales incentives, which we
believe pulled forward some 2006 truck purchases.

Balance is Key

Tenneco's revenue increased nearly 6% in 2008, though total
operating income adjusted” for certain items slipped 4% primarily
due to the significant production decline in light trucks in North
America, which represent a majority of our domestic original
equipment (OE) revenue. Additionalty, we incurred higher raw
material costs, mostly related to rising steel prices. Yet Tenneco's
global balance and diversity of markets, products, platforms and
customers mitigated these external hurdles. China revenues scared
84% on a broader customer base and new business. The rapidly
growing Japanese original equipment manufacturers (OEM)
represented 200 of our total North American OE revenues in 2006.
And our Europe, South America and India segment's adjusted
operating income rose 44% on higher revenue and improved
efficiencies, Moreaver, cash flow from operations increased by

$68 million over 2005, despite higher receivable and inventory
investments for our sizeable new platform launches.

Commitment and Resolve

This performance speaks volumes about the commitment and
resolve of Tenneco’s employees. There are always challenges in
the automotive industry, but some years are more difficult than
others. And clearly, the industry is very tough right now. Detroil's
automakers are working their way through major cost-structure
issues. Competition among the European auto manufacturers is
intense as they restructure their businesses and move aggressively
into lower-cost Eastern Europe. Adding to the pressure, the

Japanese and Korean producers are rapidly gaining market share
globally, and the Chinese OEMs p!an to export vehicles in the near
future. Yet this evolving industry creates significant opportunities

for us 0 continue to grow our business. !

Innovation Drives $1 Billion Revenue Growth

In 2007, we're launching five of our largest, most strategic V-
platforms for emission control. In addition to being part of the

much anticipated Toyota Tundra introduction, we're atso producing
advanced exhaust systems for our first commercial-vehicle business |
in North America. And, we've captured 100% of this region’s light-

duty diesel truck platforms.

This year we'll also be a part of General Motors™ newest crossover
product, which includes the 2007 Saturn Outlook and GMC Acadia,

as well as the 2008 Buick Enclave. We have a growing position

in this increasingly popular, more fuel-efficient vehicle segment.
Industry expents predict that by 2009, crossavers — sport ulility

vehicle bodies built on a lighter-weight, passenger-car frame —will |
represent more than 20% of all vehicles sold in the U.S. '

Additionally, we are capitalizing on the market’s escalating demand
for electronics. Tenneco's high-performance Computerized
Electronic Suspension (CES) offers superior ride and handling
capabilities, and is gaining popularity in the European luxury-vehicle
segment. Over time, we expect CES will garner mass-market appeal.

The efficiencies achieved over the past few years from Lean
Manufacturing and Six Sigma methodologies are allowing us to
incorporate all of this new business into our existing manufacturing
facilities, realizing fixed-cost advantages.

Global Leadership Supports Growth Opportunities

Heightened environmental concerns are driving more stringent
emission requirements in markets around the world. As an
innovative emission supplier with clean-diesel technology in !
production for more than a decade, this worldwide movement
brings opportunities for increased content and value. Adjacent-
market penetration—off-road and two-wheel vehicles, and small
engines— beckons.

*An explanation of these adjustments can be found in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of the attached Form 10-K.

Additionally, a reconciliation of the results is detailed on the inside back cover of this report.




Tenneco's leading market share in emission control in China is also

advantageous because China recently became the world's second-

largest market for automotive sales behind the L.S. An annual market
growth rate of 11% has been projected through 2008. We just opened
our first technology center in China, which will provide our customers
greater value in engineering and design. This is especially compelling
as this region begins phasing in stricter emission regulations in 2008.

Finally, our leadership in the replacement-parts market reflects

strong global brands, new product lines and efficient distribution
capabilities. We are capitalizing on the inherent synergies between
the OF and aftermarket by standardizing components to consolidate
manufacturing, introducing premium replacement parts from products
we developed for the OE market, and increasing our value with the
automakers by sharing our aftermarkel intelligence to help them
develop improved original-equipment products.’

Tenneco has a technology portfolio that is in great demand at the
right time. We have one of the widest geographic footprints, a flexible
cost structure, superior product quality and unrivaled delivery. Our
focus is on operational excellence. And our value comes from working
collaboratively with our customers to expedite products that benefit
their strategies.

For me, joining Tenneco was an easy decision. When you look al the
past performance of the company, how far it's come, and where it's
positioned for the future, the possibilities are exciting. As this industry
conlinues to evolve, we will anticipate impending changes, staying
ahead of the innovation curve to deliver profitable growth that
translates into vatue for our shareholders. At the same time, debt
reduction will continue to be a priority. It's all about commitment,
resolve and innovation, which Tennece’s employees have
demonstrated time and again.

Gregg Sherrill
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Tenneco Inc.

GREGG SHERRILL. |
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER |

Joined Tenneco as Chairman and CECQ,
January 2007

Experience

« Previously spent eight years at
Johnison Controls, Inc., a leading
automotive equipment and
systems supplier

s Twenty-two years with Ford Motor

President, Power Solutions Group, |
the global automotive battery
business of Johnson Controls;
Established business in Asia

with operations in China and Korea;;
Strong aftermarket focus

Group Vice President and Managing
Director of Europe, South Africa and
South America for Johnson Comrol%‘
Auto Supply Group. which produces
sealing and interiors for original ‘

equipment auiomobile manufacturers

. . |
Vice President and General Manager

for North American operations of
Johnson Controls

Company in a broad range of engineering

and manufacturing positions

Education

= B.S, Mechanical Engineering. Texas
A&M University

« MB.A. Indiana University Graduate
School of Business

Director of Suppliers Technical
Assistance

Chief Engineer Global Steering
Components

Piant Manager, Dearborn, M,

engine plant




FOCUS ON FIVE
KEY GROWTH
AREAS

Emission controls to meet
environmental requirements
worldwide,

Electronic technology to improve
ride comfart and handling stability,

Expansion in Asia, capitalizing on
the world's fastest-growing
automotive markets,

Building relationships with growth
OEMs like the Japanese and
Koreans, and

Maintaining our leading position
in the replacement-parts market
with an increasing array of
premium products.

|

STECHNOLOGIES FOR
%0000® ENVIRONMENTAL

MANDATES

More than 6006 of our revenue
comes from emission controls,
primarily for gas-engine
automobiles. A new opportunity
is arising in diesel vehicles.

We expect that diesel platforms
will represent about 23% of our
global OE revenues in 2007, up
from 6% in 2005. Industry analysts
project the global market share
for diesel-powered cars and light
trucks will reach 26% by 2015.

Meanwhile emission standards
are tightening around the

world, requiring more complex
exhaust systems. Not limited

to automobiles, these pollution
regulations are unlocking
opportunities in adjacent markets
like commercial trucks, off-road
and two-wheel vehicles, and
small engines.

o

s ELECTRONIC
STECHNOQOLOGY FOR

%0009° IMPROVED

HANDLING

Tenneco is a leader in
differentiated mechanical and
hydraulic technologies for
shock absorbers. Electronics
is now assuming a prominent
role in product development.
By integrating mechanical and
electronic functions within a
vehicle, auto manufacturers
improve vehicle handling and
reduce costs.

Qur Computerized Electronic
Suspension product increases

. Our content revenues seven-fold

compared with a standard shock.
Unique valve technologies, anti-
roll suspensions, and fluid-filled
elastomers (rubber bonded to
metal) that reduce noise and
vibration, are highly influential in
customers’ buying decisicns.
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VIARKETS WITH TECHNOLOGY

2007 Toyota Tundra

000
o] 0°

[}

% ASIA FOR RAPID
°§G ROWTH

Lower-cost vehicles, rising
income levels, and infrastructure
developments are driving
significant growth in the Asian
automotive market. Tenneco is the
top exhaust manufacturer and a
leading supplier of shocks, struts
and elastomer products in China,
the world's fastest-growing
automotive market. We recently
opened an engineering center in
Shanghai, supporting complex
design, testing and prototype
development.

India is also compelling. It is

the second largest two-wheeler
market in the world, fourth largest
commercial-vehicle market,

and 11th largest passenger-car
market —expected to be the
seventh largest by 2016. In India
since 1996, Tenneco produces
primarily for that domestic OF
and aftermarket.

o
o
0
o
o
-}

GROWTH OEMs
FOR ENHANCED

00000® CUSTOMER MIX

A key strategy is to expand
business with the fast-growing
Japan-based auto manufacturers
worldwide. Today Tenneco
serves seven Japanese OEMs
in 14 countries, accounting

for 109 of our 2006 global

QE revenue and 20% of North
American OF revenue. Global
sales to Japanese customers
are expecled lo increase
significantly through 2008 due
to new-business wins, like the
Toyota Tundra.

Additional opportunities come
from building relationships with
Korean carmakers, who are
expected to increase their global
market position 46% by 2012,

NEW AFTERMARKET

PRODUCTS FOR |
INCREMENTAL |
SALES i

Tenneco is the leader in
emission-and ride-control
products for the replacement-
parts market in North America
and Europe. Global aftermarkét
revenues contributed 23% to
total-company sales on 6%
growth in 2006. Demand is
largety determined by four
factors —vehicle miles driven, -
vehicles in operation, vehicle
age and product life span.

The global strength of our |
Monroe and Walker brands,
manufacturing in fow-cost
countries, adapting OEM
products to the aftermarket |
and adding more frequently |
replaced service parts, like |
Monroe brake pads, to our |
portfolio, are key to our growth
in this counter-cyclical segment.




EMISSION
ONTROL

Advanced emission-control systems for cars and trucks are
mandatory in accordance with new global regulations aimed

at further curtailing air pollution. Tenneco has developed a
comprehensive portfolic of exhaust after-treatment technologies
that meet or exceed the requirements for emissions from internal
combustion engines —carbon monoxide, hydrocarbons, particulate
matter and smog-forming nitrogen oxides (NOx).

in addition to an array of products designed for gasaline engines,
Tenneco has an extensive portfolio for diesel applications, including:

= Diesel oxidation catalysts
= Diesel particulate filter systems (DPF)
= Selective catalytic reduction systems (SCR)

- Our diesel oxidation catalysts remove up to 90% of hydrocarbon

and carbon monoxide emissions. Through impreved thermal
management and filter regeneration, we have diesel filters that cut
particulate matter, or soot, by more than 8094, while maintaining
fuel efficiency. Qur SCR devices and NOx adsorbers use chemical
reactions to convert NOx into harmless substances, lowering these
emissions by up to 60%.

Diesel is the world’s most efficient mass-produced internal
combustion engine, providing more torque and fuel efficiency than
other alternatives. Diesel engines are about 30%-35% more fuel-
efficient than similarly sized gasoline versions. According to a study
by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), if the U.S. had an
automobile and light-truck population that was one-third diesel,

it could save up to 1.4 million barrels of oit per day—the amount
this country currently imports from Saudi Arabia.

J.D. Power and Associates predicts that diesel sales will triple in
the next 10 years, accounting for more than 10% of U.S. vehicle
sales by 2015. In Western Europe, diesels represent about 50% of
all new vehicles registered, up from 40% in 2001. Today's diesel
vehicles must meet rigorous emissions standards. Innovation in
engine technologies, ultra low-sulfur diesel fuel, and advanced
emission after-treatment controls are making this possible.

Tenneco was cne of the first global suppliers to offer DPFs for
select applications in the 1880s. Our earliest serial-production

DPF for passenger cars was developed for the 2000 launch of the
Citroén C5 and Peugeot 406. Today, we supply particulate filters

for 21 vehicle models in Europe, and are scheduled to launch
additional Evropean vehicles with DPFs gver the next 12 months.
While DPFs are currently applied on a voluntary basis in Europe,
they will become mandatory with the Euro 5 regulation in mid-2009.
At that time, nearly all particulate emissions will be eliminated from
diesel cars.
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Tenneco is already the market-share leader in Europe for emission
control. We expect to move into the #1 position in North America
this year as we begin supplying 1009 of the region’s light-duty
diesel truck programs with DPF systems that satisfy the 2007
emission standards. Rising fuel prices, heightened concerns about
global warming and federal tax incentives are spurring a diesel
comeback in the U.S. Reduced tailpipe emissions, improved noise-
and vibration-damping technologies, and advanced engine designs
have made the new diesels cleaner, quieter and more powerful, In
2007, we expect to produce approximately 1.5 million DPF units for
* our OE customers worldwide.

Wide Range of Applications

Everyday we see equipment powered either by diesel or gascline
engines. There are roughly 400,000 agricultural and construction
vehicles produced annually in North America and Europe utilizing
diesel engines, 32 million two-wheel vehicles are expected to be
produced globally in 2007 utilizing gascline engines, and another
12 million small engines used in applications like lawn and garden
equipment will be produced in North America alone. As emission
regulations are extending to these adjacent markets, opportunities
for new revenues from added value and increased content abound.

Entry into Commercial Truck Emission-Control Market

In the adjacent commercial-vehicle segment, we forecast the

global market for diesel emission systems will approach $4 billion
annually by 2010, up from just 5300 million in 2003 as a result of the
tightening regulations for medium- and heavy-duty trucks. Truck
makers were able to meet earlier emission standards with a simple
muffler and engines calibrated with exhaust gas recirculation valves
for reducing NOx. But the 2007 EPA mandate now requires 90%
less partichlate matter and 55% less NOx emissions. As a result,
this year we are working with International Truck & Engine, one

of the world's largest diesel-engine manufacturers, adding diesel
oxidation catalysts and DPF systems o their medium-duty trucks in
the U.S. In 2010, the regulations expand further, calling for 90% less
NOx, which will require additional exhaust after-treatment content,

Similarly, in Europe, 2009's Euro 5 commercial-vehicle standards
mean even more significant reductions of particulate matter and
NOx emissions. By then, a new truck will release one-tenth the
emissions produced by a truck buill in the 1980s. Tenneco is
currently supplying the full SCR diesel-exhaust system for one of
DaimlerChrysler's largest European commercial vehicles.

In the future, an exhaust after-treatment system will be made up
of an array of components from particulate filters and multi-staged
oxidation catalysts to nitrogen oxide converters and sensors that
will monitor and steer the complex processes.
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Reducing Tailpipe Emissions in Growing Regions

In addition to the increasingly stringent emission regulations in
North America and Europe, nations elsewhere are committing to
cleaner vehicle standards.

We have the #1 emission-control position in China, where the
growth opportunities are tremendous. In 2008, China will adopt
Euro 3 for its two-wheel vehicles. Euro 4 light-vehicle emission
regulations will be implemented by 2010. And its commercial trucks
will see regulations tighten again at the end of the decade. %

Tenneco opened an engineering facility in Shanghai this year that
will also help design and develop emission-control products for
emerging markets like India and other countries in Southeast Asia.
India introduced Euro 2 standards in 2005, and will implement
Euro 3 regulations nationwide in 2010. At the same time, 10 major
cities in India will begin phasing in Euro 4 standards.

In Brazil, where the number of registered vehicles has increased
from 10 million in 1986 to 25 million in 2006, emission limits will be
implemented over the 2006-2009 time period.

Worldwide tighter clean-air regulations will cause demand
for emissions systems to grow faster than global vehicle-
production rates.

Alternative Power-Train Vehicles

While we believe that diesel vehicles have the greatest growth
trajectory into the next decade, the Japanese OEMs are driving
demand for hybrid vehicles. Since these vehicles are powered by
hoth a gasoline engine and an electric motor, there is still a need
for compliant exhaust systems.

Aftermarket Emissions Products

Many of our advanced emissions technologies can also be used

to upgrade older, existing diesel systems to provide even more
substantial fleet-wide pollution reductions. Tenneco has introduced
a retrofit DPF for the European aftermarket to support legislation
and tax incentives on these units. The significant size of the
European diesel-car market makes retrofit DPFs a compelling new
aftermarket opportunity.
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PERFORMANCE EXHAUST SYSTEMS

DynoMax ig our leading pertormance-exhaust aftermarke
prand for {ght vehicles. These sysienms are carefully
enginee;ed Lo deliver a new level of performance exihaus
flow and pawer representing the distinct personali\y

of each applical‘lon. Sound, performance. durability.
DynoMax has it all.




RIDE
ONTROL

Safety, comfort and handling influence consumer buying decisions for
automaobiles. As one of the leading global OE suppliers of shocks and
struts, our innevative products improve vehicle handling by reducing
roll, sway and dive while adjusting more rapidly to changing road and
weight conditions.

Computerized Electronic Suspension, our advanced ride-control
system, focuses on comfort as well as superior handling, and our
anti-roll suspension technology, Kinetic, offers improved vehicle
stability, particularly for SUVs. We have dedicated ourselves to
developing these types of premium products, which drive better
margins and heip distinguish us and our customers from competitors.

Additionally, we are shifting more OE manufacturing to low-cost
countries. Nearly 45% of our European ride-control production is

in Eastern Europe. Winning the high-volume Ford Focus ride-control
business was directly attributable to our capacity in Poland and the
Czech Republic. And remarkably, we supply about 60% of Mazda's
shock absorber requirements in Japan from our Eastern European
facilities. In the Asian market, we are a rising supplier of OE ride-
control parts through a majority-owned jeint venture in Beijing. And,
we have a goal of capturing a 30% share of the Asian aftermarket by
decade's end.

Tenneco is the #1 global provider of ride-control aftermarket
products. The aftermarket can be counter cyclical to the GEM
market. Demand for aftermarket products is determined by a mix of
miles driven, number of vehicles in operation and length of vehicle
ownership, which is now approximately eight years —within the prime
six-to-10 year vehicle-age range for replacement parts. Demand is
also affected hy product durabifity.

We extend product technologies developed for the original equipment
business to the aftermarket. Qur premium Reflex replacement shock
absorber was originally developed for OE applications. This practice
expands marketing reach, spreads out development costs and
enhances return on investment.

An estimated 560 million of vehicle maintenance goes unperformed
each year. We are encouraging higher frequency of product
replacement, while raising safety awareness through our Safety
Triangle® campaign. This maintenance promotion underscores

the importance of checking the critical components that control a
vehicle’s ability to stop, steer and maintain stability. Our QOctober 2005
introduction of premium Monroe brake pads enables automotive-
service providers to rely on one of the industry's strongest brands to
restore safe stopping and stability through our replacement brake
pads, shocks and struts,

High brand recognition, technological innovations and our status as
a low-cost producer have made our ride-control operations a steady
source of increasing revenue and growing profitability.
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PREMIUM AFTERMARK]
PRODUCTS

Monroe® Premium Shocks

'
/ . *

Monroe* is one of the oldest and most trust
names in the ride-controf business. In the
U.S.. our shoeks and struts are offered ag
replacement units for more vehicles than an
other brand, Mechanics and retail customerg
. warldwide trust Manroe's Reflex, Sensa-Trac

and Rarncho shocks to get more miles and a
better ride.

Monree® Premiym Brake Pads

New Monroe Ceramics and Dynamics premiy
'\ brake pads feature OE-specified formulations
\ and pad designs, and offer the first 1otal
. solution for the friction markel. Monroe brake
pads promote cleaner and quieter stops, and

help ensure consistent and precige slopping
perfarmance.

COMPUTERIZED ELECTRONIC SUSPENSION
Ride quality and handtin
the top influencers inco
Tenneco's electronic sus
technology into a highly

g characteristics remain among
nsumer buying decisions,
pension integrates the latest
advanced ride-contro system.




ELASTOMERS

Automakers are increasingly looking to their suppliers to solve
vehicle noise, vibration and harshness (NVH) problems through
the use of elastomers in engine-, exhaust- and wheel-suspension
systems. Elastomers range from soft, rubberlike compounds to
almost rigid, highly engineered synthetics. These bonded rubber-
to-metal composites prevent wear to more expensive or less-easily
replaced parts, cushion or absorb some roughness or vibration that
would otherwise be transmitted to the interior of the vehicle, and
allow a small amount of motion to temper a rigid joint.

Elastomers molded into different shapes provide system isolation
and withstand stress from vehicle motion. They are strong, durable,
resistant to corrosion from various chemicals, and resilient

to changing temperatures. Elastomers also provide the ability to
integrate several parts into a single module.

Under the brand Clevite Elastomers, Tenneco offers a wide range
of vibration-control components for automobiles, heavy trucks and
other vehicles. In addition, we produce our own custom-formulated
rubber compounds and metal components.

Many of our competitors only offer build-to-print products. These
are elastomer designs provided by a customer and produced
exactly according to their specifications. In a fast-paced, rapidly
changing industry, the ability to quickly engineer new solutions is
of much greater value. What sets Tenneco apart is that we custom-
engineer and package our technology for each specific application.
We provide innovative solutions as customers require more
intricate, high-demand applications.

These complex solutions generally require a multidisciplinary
approach. Having expertise in emission- and ride-control systems
and elastomer products allows us to use cross-functional teams
to better understand particular NVH issues and determine
effective solutions. This increases our competitive advantage and
technological capabilities over the traditional elastomer supplier.

Some of our leading technologies include the Gripper®, which
combines a pressurized elastomeric, mechanically bonded
bushing with a multi-bend stabilizer bar and a Coulomb damped
link that eliminates potential noise, while improving vehicle ride
and handling. Our SLE? (Self-Lubricating Elastomer) is internally
lubricated to enhance the responsiveness of a shock absorber.
And our Fluidbloc® bushings and Hydroelastic™ mounts provide
additional damping for a suspension system, reducing vibration
during engine idling.

Seven elastomer manufacturing facilities worldwide support
Tenneco’s strong position in the OE and replacement-parts markets
for elastomers. -
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT FOR PURPOSES OF THE “SAFE HARBOR” PROVISIONS OF
THE PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995 °

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 concerning, among other things, the prospects and developments of the

" Company (as defined) and business strategies for our operations, all of which are subject to risks ‘and

" - (and variations thereof) and phrases.

uncertainties. These forward-looking: statements are included in various sections of this report, including the

section entitled “Outlook” -appearing in [tem 7 of this report. These statements.are identified as “forward-

looking statements” or by their use of terms (and variations thereof) such as “will,” “may,” “can,” “ant1c1pate
“intend,” “continue,” “estimate,” “expect,” “plan” “should,” “outlook " “belteve and seek” and s:mrlar terms

LT

..
s

When a forward—lookmg statement includes a statement of the assumpnons or bases underlying the’

. forward-looking statement, we caution that, whtle we beheve such assumptions or bases to be reasonable and
make them in good faith, assumed facts or bases almost always vary frofm ‘actual results, ‘and the dtfferences .
between assumed facts or bases and actual results can be material, dependmg upon the circumstances. Where,
in any forward-looking statement, we or our management expresses an expectation or belief as to future
results, we express that expectatton or belief in good faith and believe it has a reasonable basis, but we can
give no assurance that the statement of expectatton or belief will result or be achieved or accompltshed

Our aetual results may differ significantly from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements:
Factors that might cause such a difference include.the matters described in the section entitled “Risk Factors
appearmg in Item 1A of thts report and the followmg . C e Lo ,

’ - - ‘

o general economic, business and market conditions;* L . I

+ potential legtslatton regulatory changes and other governmental actions, mcludmg the abtltty to receive
regulatory approvals and the timing of such approvals; > i

* new technologies that reduce the demand for certain of our products or otherwise render them obsolete;

* changes in dlstnbuuon channels or competitive coriditions in the markets and countries where we
'operate , SR SRR B R

* capital availability or costs, mcludmg changes in interest rates market percepttons of the industries in
which we operate or ratings' of securities;’  * - ? :

. : : .
* increases in the cost of comphance with regulattons tncludmg env:ronmental regulattons and environ- .
., mental liabilities in excess of the amount reserved

. -, ' f H
w“

. changes by the Fmanmal Accounting Standards Board or the Securities and Exchange Commission of
authoritative accountmg pr1nc1ples genera]ly accepted in the United States of America; .

» acts of war or terrorism, 1nclud|ng “but not ltmtted to, the events takmg place in the Middle East the
current military action in Iraq and the continuing war on terrorism, as well as actions taken or to be
taken by the United States and other governments as a result of further acts or threats of terrorism, and
the impact of these acts on economic, financial and social conditions in the countries where we
operate; and

+ the timing and occurrence (or non-occurrence) of transactions and events which may be subject to
circumstances beyond our control. :
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS, L
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TENNECOING. ~ ' - " 0.
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General o T

Our'c company, Terneco Inc., is ‘'one of the world’ s leadmg manufacturers of automotive emission control
and ride control products and systems. Our company 'serves both ‘original equipment vehicle manufacturers
(“OEMs?).and the repair and replacement markets, or aftermarket, worldwide. As used herein, the term
“Tenneco”, “\ our”, or the “Company refers to Tenneco Inc and its consolrdated subsrdlanes

LT3 LN TS

we”, “us

Tenneco was incorporated in Delaware in 1996 under the name “New Tenneco Inc.” (“New Tenneco™) as
a wholly owned subsidiary of the company then known as Tennecs Tnc. (“Old Tenneco™). At that time, Old

Tenneco’s major businesses were shipbuilding, energy, automotive and packaging. On December 11, 1996, Old

Tenneco completed the transfer of its automotive and packagmg busmesses to us, and spun off our company to
its public stockholders. In connection with the 1996 spin-off, Old Tenneco also spun off its shlpburldlng
division to its public stockholders, the remaining energy company.was acquired by El Paso Natural Gas
Company and we changed our name from New Tenneco to Tenneco-In¢: Unless the context otherwise requires,
for periods prior to December 11, 1996 references to “Tenneco”, “we”, “us”, “our” or the “Company” aiso
refer to Old Tenneco Ina senes of transactnons comrnencmg in January 1999 and’ culrnmatmg wrth the
November 4, 1999 spin off to our shareholders of the’ common “stock of Tenneco Packaging lnc riow kihown
as Pactiv Corporation (the “1999 Spin-off’ ) we separated our packaging businesses from our automiotive
business and in connection therewith changed our name from Tenneco Inc. to Tenneco Automotive Inc.

In 2005, we changed our name from Tenneco Automotive Inc. back to Tenneco Inc. The name Tenneco
better represents the expanding number of markets we serve through our commercial and specialty vehicle
businesses. Building a’stronger presence in these markets complements our core businesses of supplymg ride
control and emission control products and systems for light vehicles to automotive original equipment and
aftermarket customers worldwide. Our common stock continues to trade on the New York Stock Exchange
under the symbol “TEN". R

a .
. o . . ' . L ey,

Corporate Governance and Available Information ! - a " R

We have ‘established ‘a comprehenswe corporate govemance plan for the’ purpose of defining responsibil-
ities, setting’ hlgh standards of profesuonal and personal conduct and assuring compliance with such
responsrbllmes and $tandards. As part 'of its annual review process ‘the Board ‘of Directors momtors ;
developments in the area of corporate governance. Listed below are some of the key elements of our corporate
governance plan,

For more information about these matters, see our deﬁmtwe Proxy Slatement for lhe Annual Meetmg of
Stockholders to be’ held May 8 200’!J R ‘

. N ' v

lndependence of Drrectors

.

' Lo !

+ Nine of our eleven directors are independent under the New-York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) listing
standards.

¢ Independent directors are scheduled to meet separately in exccunve session after every regularly
scheduled Board of Directors meeung C - T o

PR B - s A . L i

* We have a lead independent director, Mr. Paul T. Stecko. s




Audit Committee

» All members meet the independence standards for audit committee membership under the NYSE llstmg
standards and applicable Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) rules. B

* One member of the Audit Committee, Mr. Charles Cramb, qualifies as an “audit committee financial
expert.” as defined in the SEC rules, and the remaining members of the Audit Committee satisfy the
NYSE’s financial literacy requirements. A

+ The Audit.Committee operates under,a written charter which governs its. duties and responsibilities,
-including its sole authority to appomt revnew, evaluate and replace | our mdependent auditors. |

* The-Audit Committee has adopted pohcnes and procedures governing the pre- approval of all audit,
audit-related, tax and other services provided by our independent auditors.

t . . . , BRE Tome . B .n
Compensation/Nominating/Governance Committee .

: -
i [ . .

o All mémbeérs meet the mdependenee standards for compensatlon and nommatlng commlttee member-
A shrp under the NYSE listing standards. "

L . tyoe o

» The CompensatloanomrnatmglGovernance Committee operates under a written charler that govems its.
- duties and responsnbrlmes including: the responsibility for executive compensation. A

«'In December 2005 an Executwe Compensanon Subcomrmttee was forrned whlch hd&. the respon51b1hty
to consider and approve equity | based compensatron for our exeeutlve officers whrch is intended to,
quallfy as performance based compensatlon under Sectron 162(m) of the, Internal Revenue Code of
1986 as amended W

Corporate Governance Principles

. We have adopted Corporate Govemance Pl‘lnCtplCS, mcludmg quahﬁcatlon and mdependence standards‘
., for dlrectors '

+

Stock Ownership Guidelines

» We have adopted Stock QOwnership Guidelines to align the interests of our executives with the interests
of stockhelders and promote our commitment to sound corporate governance., -, .

» The Stock Qwnership Guidelines apply to the independent directors, the Chairman and Chief Executive
Ofﬁcer all Execuuve Vice Presidents and all Senior Vice Presndems Ownershlp levels are determined
as a multiple of the participant’s base salary or, in the case of an independent director, his, or her Board
of Director’s retainer fee and then converted to a fixed number of shares.

Communication with Directors

il . ' o

« The Audit Committée has established a process for confidential and _anonym'ous submission by our
employees, as well as submissions by other interested parties, regarding questionable accounting or
auditing matters.

+ Additionally, the Board of Directors has established a process for stockholders to communicate with the
Board of Directors, as a whole, or any independent director. '
Codes of Business Conduct and Ethics

« We have adopted a Code of Ethical Conduct for Financial Mdr{dgers, which applies to our Chief .
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Controller and other key financial managers. This code is
filed as Exhibit 14 to this report. : . e L




* We also operate under an omnibus Statement of Business Principles that applies to alt directors, officers
and employees and includes provisions ranging from restrictions on gifts to conflicts of interests. All

P

> salarled employees are requ1red to afﬁrm i wntmg their acceptance of these principles. -+ ©

' [ . S Lo ey
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Related Party Transactlons Pollcy av o L e

‘ oot - : Ty : . T ™ Y

. »We havé adopted a Pohcy and Procedure for Transact]ons With Related Persons, under which:our Audit
Committee mist generally pré: approve transactions involving mére than $120,000 withi-our directors,

" executivé officers, five percent or greatér stockholders and their immediate family members, "

N . - ’ T “

o
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Equity Award Policy

PO PR ML . Lty

* We have adopted a written policy to be followed for all issuances by our company of compensatory
" awards in the forin of our common stock or any derivative of the common stock.

DA - y v

Persona‘l'Loans to Executive Ofﬁce'fs and l?it‘ectors

* We'comply with and will operate in a manner consistent with the legislation outlawing extensions: of ~ *
credit in the form of a personal loan to.or for our directors or executive officers. .
Our Internet address is www.tenneco.com. We make our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports, as filed with or furnished to the
SEC, available free of charge on our Internet website as soon as reasonably practicable after submission to the
SEC. Securities ownership reports on Forms 3, 4 and 5 are alse available free of charge on our website as
soon as réasonably practicable after submtssnon to the SEC. The contents of our website are not, however, a
part of this report : . o

i
+

Our Audit Committee, Compensatton/Nommatlng/Govemance Committee and Executtve Compensanon
Subcommittee Charters, Corporate Governance Principles, Stock Ownership Guidelines, Audit Commlttee
policy regarding accounting complaints, Code of Ethical Conduct for Financial Managers, Statement of '
Business Principles, Policy and Procedures for Transactions with Related Persons, Equity Award Policy, policy
for communicating with the Board of Directors and Audit Committee policy regarding the pre-approval of .
audit, non-audit, tax and other services are available free of charge on our website at www.tenneco.com. In
addition, we will make a copy of any of these documents available to any person, without charge, upon written
request to Tenneco Inc., 500 North Field Drive, Lake Forest, Iilinois 60045, Attn: General Counsel. We intend
to satisfy the disclosure. requirements under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K and applicable NYSE rules regarding ,
amendments to or waivers of our Code of Ethical Conduct for Financial Managers and Statement of Busmess
Principles by posting this information on our website at www.tenneco.com.

v

CEO and CFO Certifications

In 2006 our chief executive officer provided to the NYSE, the Pacific Stock Exchange and the Chicago
Stock Exchange the annual CEO certification regarding our compliance with the corporate governance listing '
standards of those exchanges. In addition, our chief executive officer (and during the applicable periods, our
interim' management committee known as the Office of the Chief Executive) and chief financial officer filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission all required certifications regarding the quality of éur ‘-
-disclosures in our fiscal 2006 SEC reports, including the certifications required to be filed with this Annual -
Report on Form 10-K. There were no qualifications to these certifications.
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For information concemmg our operatmg segments,- geographic areas and .major products or, groups of
products, see Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements of Tenneco Ine. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
included tn Item 8. The following tables summarize for each of our operating segments for the periods
indicated: (i) net sales and operating revenues; (ii} earnings before interest expense, income taxes and minority
interest (“EBIT™); and (iii) expenditures for plant, property and equipment. You should also read “Manage-
ment’s Discussion and.Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations?’ included in Item 7.for-
information about, certain.costs and charges. included in our results. You should-also read Note 4 to the ; '
consolidated financial statements included i in Item 8§ for.a dlscussmn of. the changes in our results due to the
change effective January 1, 2005, in our method for valuing mventory

AT SR i 1 PR
Net Sales and Operating Revenues: | <

i
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AsiaPacific .. ....... ... .. . 436 9 371 8 380 9
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Europe, South America and India . ............... Ceeaes 81 41 54 25 21 12
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' ' ST v th P H a0 H . B ! * R
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e T T R R - " 004
it P aptot LA A4 TR Dgllar Amounits in Millions) ;;.-‘. '
North America . . . R L SR l$'100"" "'59% "$"74" "51% $ 55  43%
Europe, SouthAfnerica and India™: ... ...~ 100 5101300 54 038 " V59T 45
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Total........... ... ot e e e e $170 100% $144 100% $130  100%
Interest expense, 1ncome taxes, and lnmorlty mterest that were not allocated to our operatmg segments
are:” . PR e . L bl ey
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R e + +, DESCRIPTION OF OUR BUSINESS A
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 We de51gn engmeer manufacture market and sell automotwe eszs1on control and ride. control systems
and products, with 2006 revenues of $4.7 billion. We serve both ongmal equ1pment manufacturers and
replacement markets worldwide through leading brands, including Monroe®, Rancho®, Clevite® Elastomers,
and Fric Rot™ ride control products and Walker®, Fonos™", and Gillet™ emission control products. ,_

As an automotive parts supplier, we produce individual componem parts for vehicles as well as groups of
components that ‘are combined as modules or'systems® within vehicles. These parts, modules and systems are
sold globally to most ‘leadmg OEMs and throughout all aftermarket dlStI‘lbuthﬂ channels ' "

Lom e . T ¥
Overview of Automotive Parts Industry ' .o

The automotive parts industry is generally separated into two categories: (1) “original equipment” or
“QFE” sales, "int which parts -are sold in:large quantities directly for use by OEMs; and (2) “aftermarket™ sales,
in which parts-are sold as replacement parts in varying quantities to'a wide range of wholesalers, retailers and
installers. :In the OE market, parts suppliers are generally divided-into tiers — “Tier 17 suppliers, who provide

-their products directly to OEMs, and “Tier 2 or“Tier 3”isuppliers, who sell their products prmc1pally to other
_ suppliers for combmatlon mto the other suppliers’ own product offermgs CeL " .

Demand for automonve parts in the OE market is generally a funcuon of the number of pew vehlcles _
produced which in turn is a function of prevallmg economic conditions’ and consumer preferences In 2006,
the number of light vehicles (i.e. passenger cars and light trucks) produced was 15.3 million in North America,
27.6 million in Europe, South America and India and 23.4 million,in Asia Pacific. Worldwide new light
vehicle producnon is forecasted to increase to over 68.9 million units in 2007 from approxrmately 66.3. million
units in 2006. Although OE demand;is tied to planned vehrcle productlon parts suppliers also have the
opportunity .to- grow through increasing their product content per vehicle, by further penetrating busmess -with
existing customers and by, gaining new customers .and markets. Companies wrth  global presence, and advanced
technology, engineering, manufacturing and support capabilities, such as our company, are, we believe, well .
positioned to take advantage of these opportunities.

Demand for aftermarket produicts'is ‘dn'vén by the qualfty of OE parts, the number*of Vvehicles in '
operauon ‘the average agé of the vehicle fleet, vehicle usage and the average useful lifé of vehicle parts.
Although more vehicles aré on the foad than éver before, the aftermarket has experienced longer replacement
cycles due to improved quality of OE parts and increases in average useful lives of automotive parts as a
result of technological innovation. Suppliers are increasingly being required to deliver innovative aftermarket
products that upgrade the performance or safety of a vehicle’s original components to drive aftermarket
demand.

L L S S YL I . S (I R
IndustryTrends R - W et R o

Currently, we believe several signiﬁcam eiistirig’ and emer'g'ing' ‘trends are dramatically impacting the*

relanonshlps of its partrcrpa.nts Key trends that we bélieve are affectmg automonve parts suppllers 1nclude
R : tr P e . e b L ARSI ol
"'a‘l - . 4. . i . . ‘ ;'-‘. . ] ’;,:_.

.

Increasing Environmental Standards’

Automotive parts suppliers and OE manufacturers are designing products and developing materials to
respond to increasingly stringent environmental requirements, a growing diesel market, the demand for bétter
fuel economy. Government regulations adopted over the past decade require substantial reductions in ’
automobile tailpipe emission, longer warranties on parts of an automobilé’s pollutioncontroli equipment.and |
additional equipment to control fuel vapor emission: Some of these regulations also'mandate more frequent
emission inspections for the existing fleet:of vehicles.. Manufacturers-have résponded by focusing their efforts °
towards technological development to.minimize pollution. As a leading supplier of emission control systems
with strong technical capabilitie$, wesbelieve we-are well positioned.to-benefit from more rigorous:
environmental standards. For example; we developed the diesel pamculate filter to meet stricter air quallty




regulations in Europe. We also have devélopment contracts with North American light and medium-duty truck
manufacturers for our particulate filter and De-NOx converter which can reduce particulate emissions by up to
90 percent and mtrogen oxlde leSSIOHS by up to 60 percent. .

+

1 . . - . 1

Increasing Technologically Sapkisticated Content

As consumers continue to demand- competmvely pnced vehlcles with increased performance and
functionality, the number of sophisticated components utilized in vehicles is. increasing. By replacmg
mechanical functions with electronics and by integrating mechanical and electronic functions within a vehicle,
OE manufacturers are achieving improved emission control, lmproved safety and ‘more sophlsucated features
at lower costs.

- i . . t AP Lo i .

Automotive parts customers are increasingly demanding technological inrovation from suppliers to .
address more stringent emission and other regulatory standards and to improve vehicle performance. To .
develop innovative products, systems,and modules, we have invested $88-million for 2006, $83 miltion for
2005 and $76 million for 2004, net-of customer reimbursements, into engineering, research and development
and we continuousty seek to take advantage of our technology investments and brand strength by extending -
our products into new markets and categories. For examplc we were the first supplier to develop and
commercialize a diesel particulate filter that can virtually ehmmate carbon and hydrocarbon emissions wsth
minimal impact on engine performance ‘

We have expanded our compelence in diesel particulate filters in Europe and are winning business i in -
North America on these same appllcatmns In addition, we supply Volvo and Audi with a computerized
electronic suspension system that we-co-developed with Ohlins Racing AB. As another example, in 2002 we’
extended our stability improvement valve technology to Europe which is similar to our acceleration sensitive
damping technology used on our Monroc Reﬂex® premlum aftermarket shock ongmally launched in North
America in 1999. -

Our customers reimburse us for engineering, research, and development costs on some platforms when
we prepare prototypes and incur costs before platform awards. Our engineering, Tesearch and development
expense for 2006, 2005, and 2004 has been reduced by $61 million, $51 million, and $46 million, respectively,
for these reimbursements. .

Safetj:

Vehicle safety continues to gain increased industry attention and play a critical role in consumer
purchasing decisions. As such, OEMs are seeking out suppliers with new technologies, capabilitiés and
products that have the ability to advance vehicle safety. Continued, research and development by select
automotive suppliers in rollover protection systems, smart airbag systems, braking electronics.and safer, more
durable materials has dramatically advanced the market for safety products and its evolving functional
demands. Those suppliers are able to enhance vehicle safety through innovative products and technologies and
~ have a distinct competitive advantage with the consumer, and thus’ their OEM customers.

b
.

Outsourcmg and Demand Jor Systems and Madules g
o) manufacturcrs are 1ncreaqmgly moving towards outsourcmg automotive parts and systems to simplify’
" the vehicle assembly:process, tower costs and reduce vehicle development time. Qutsourcing.allows OE
manufacturers to take advantage of;the lower cost structure of the automotive parts suppliers and to benefit
from multiple suppliers engaging in simultaneous development efforts. Furthermore, development of advanced-
electronics has enabled formerly independent vehicle components to become “interactive,” leading to a shift in

demand from individual parts to fully, integrated systems. As a result, automotive parts suppliers offer OE
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manufacturers component products 1ndmdually, as well as in a vanety of integrated forms such‘as modules
and systems: ., : St s :

* “Modules” are groups of component parts arranged in close physrcal proximity to each other wrthm a
vehicle. Modules are often assembled by the supplier and shipped to the OEM for installation in ‘a
« vehicle as a unit, Seats, instrument panels .axles and door panels are examples.

“Systems are groups of component parts located throughout a vehrcle whrch operate together to
provrde a specific vehlcle function.. Anu lock braking_ systems, safety restramt systems, roll control
systems emission control systems and powemam systems are examples e o,

This shift in demand towards fully integrated systems has created the role of the Tier 1 systems-integrator.
These systems mtegrators 1ncreasmgly have the-responsibility 1o execute ‘a number of activities, such'as design,
product development, engineering, testing of component systems and purchasing from Tier 2 suppliers. We are
an established Tier 1 supplier with more than ten years of product- mtegrauon experience. We have modules or
systems for various vehicle platforms in production woridwide and modules or systems for additional
platforms under development For example we snpply rrde control modules for the - Darmle{rChrysler Caravan,
the Nissan Pathﬁnder. the VW 'I‘ransporter and the Peugeot 1007 and the emrssron control system for the
Porsche Boxster Nissan Xterra, Ford Focus/Mazda 3, DalmlerChrysler DR Ram, Jaguar XJ Type GM [L.amda,
and Ford Super—Duty truck. o .

. i
[ e T oL St -

Global Consolidation of OE Cttsto_mers_ ' g . . b

Given the trerid ‘in business combindtions among ‘vehicle'manufacturers — such as the DaimlerChryslér g
merger and General Motors’ acquisition of Daewoo — as well as the global OE expansion over the last*
decade, OEMs are increasingly requesting suppliers to provide parts on a global basis. As the customer base
of OEMs has consolidated and emerging markets have beconie more important to achrevmg growth suippliers
must be prepared to provide.products any place in the world. . . ;.

.n:. .

» Growing Importance of Emerging Markets: Becausé the North American and Western European
automotive markets are relatively mature, OE manufacturers are mcreasmgly focusmg on emerging
markets for growth opportumtres particularly China, Eastern Europe, 'India and Latin America. This
increased OE focus his; in turn, 1ncreased the growth opportumtres m the aftermarkets in these regrons

. Govemmenta[ Tart)j‘s and Local Parts Requrrements Many govemments around the world requrre that
vehicles sold within their country contain specified percentages of loca]ly produced parts. Additionally,

some governments place high tariffs on imported parts -

* Location of Production Closer to.End Markets: OE manufacturers. and parts supplrers have relocated
production globally on an “onsite” basis that is closer,to end markets. This international expansion
allows_suppliers to pursue sales in developing markets and take advantage of relatively lower labor

costs. -
. fove } ) )
~ With facilities around the world, including the key regions of North America, South America, Europe and
Asia, we can supply our customers on a global- basis. . :
Global Rationalization of OE Vehicle Platforms o . t

OE manufacturers are increasingly designing “global platforms.” A global platform is a basic mechanical
structure of a vehicle that can accommodate different features and is in production and/or development in
more than one region. Thus, OE manufacturers can design one platform for a number of similar vehicle
models. This atlows manufacturers to realize significant economies of scale throughlimiting variations across -
items such’ as steering columns, brake systems, transmissions, axles, exhaust systems, support structures and
power window and door lock mechanisms. We believe that this shift towards standardization will have a large
impact on automotive parts suppliers, who should experience a reduction in production costs as OE
manufacturers réduce variations in components. We also expect parts suppliers to experience higher production
volumes per unit and greater economies of scale, as well as reduced total investment costs for molds, diés and
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prototype development. Light vehicle platforms of over one million units.are expected to grow from:30: percent
to 43 percent of global OE production from 2006 to 2011. - L

o - LTI S '

Extended Product Ltfe of Automottve Parts ' : o

yoT . " o, e

The average useful life' ofvautomotrve parts. — both OE and. replacement — has been steadrly increasing
in recent years due to innovations in products and technologles The longer product lives allow vehicle owners
to replace parts of their véhicles less often As'a résult, although more vehrcles are oh the road ‘than ever
before, the global aftermarket has not grown as fast as the number of vehtcles on the road. Accordingly, a
supplier’s future viability in the’ aftermarket will' depend in part on'it§ abllrty to feduce costs and leverage its
advanced technology and recognized brand names to maintain or-achieve additional sales. As a Tier | OE
supplier; we believe we are well positioned to leverage our products and technology into the aftermarket. .,

' s R T el e IR E L >

Changmg Aﬁennarket'Dtstrtbuuon Chauneis, IR TR S R .

From 1996 1o 2006 the numbér of retarl automotlve parts stores mcreased 50" percent while the number -
of Jobber stores‘dec]med moré than 17 percent in North Amerrca Major automotrve aftennarket retailers, such
as, AutoZone and’ Advance Auto Parts are attemptrng to mcrease therr commercial sales by sellmg directly o
automotive parts 1nstallers in addition to individual consumets. These installers have htstoncally purchased
from their local warehouse distributors and jobbers, who are our more traditional custoriiers. This enables the
retailers to offer the option of a premium brand, which is often preferred by their commercial customers, ora
standard product, which is often preferred by their retail customers.* We believe we aré well posmoned to'
respond to this,trend in the aftermarket because of our focus on,cost reduction and high-quality, premium

brands.. .. o T U BN Y S . , ;
P M Ll T ST ik woh
Contractmg SuppherBase s e [ U T S P U S RN

Over the past few years, automotive suppliers have been ¢onsolidating in an effoft to-becomé mbore
global, have a broader,,more integrated product offering and gain economies of scale in order to remain
competmve amrdst growmg pricing pressures and mcreased outsourcmg demands from the OEMs lndustry
forecasters estrmate that the number, of UsS. bascd automotive parts supplters will decrease from 3, 000 in 2004
to.1 320 by 2008. In addmon the forecasters cstlmate that 65 percent of the compames drsappearmg will be
hqu:dated not acqurred A supplrer 5 v1ab1]rty in this market will depend in part, on its ability to maintain and
increase operatmg efficiencies and' provrde value-added services,A ©+ + ' on ‘

I R T AT PR R Y BT R & T S Cae Tt o T, Ve

Analysrs of Revenues ' R T A T L P R R

'The following table prowdes :for each ofithelyears 2006 through‘ 2004, information relatlng to' our net
sales and operating revenues, by primary product*lmes and customer catcgones Tt
. IR S N T LI R O SR Nt Sales aid

Operating Revenues
Years Ended December 31,

I T UV PRSI R A S ' 2006 2005 - 2004
. (Millions)

AR B . L ;

Emission Control Systems & Products

ARermMarket . . .. ..o vuee et T e L DL $ 385 vn$ 368§ 365
OB markel. . ..o e e 2,592 2,390 | 2,287
Pl e ey e e s 29772058 2,652
Ride Contirol Systems&Products"‘ - |' | '_ ' Y ‘_ ' . S ‘;
Aftermarket [T, 6, ess 630
OE Market. o, . oo Sy e ol e e et aeeerenas e e e 016 1,030 931
R - wede VR e 1708 1,683 1,561

o Total L. T T T saees Tsaa 84213
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In each of our, operatmg segments, we manufacture and market leadmg brand names Monroe@ ride .

control products and Walker® exhaust products are two of the most recogmzed ,brand names in the’ automotwe
parts industry. We emphasrze product value differéntiation with these and other key brands such as Monroe
Sensa-Trac® and Reflex® (shock absorbers and struts), Quiet-Flow®-(mufflers), DynoMax® (performance
exhaust products); Rancho® {ride control products for the high‘performance light truck market) and Clevite® ™"
Elastomers {elastomeric ' vibration+control components), and Lukey (performance'exhaust and filters). In - « ©~
Europe, our Gillet™ brand' is recogmzed as-a.leader in developmg h1ghly engmeered exhaust systems for OE
CUSLOMETS. 1 e b : T R LTI S e

A8 e e T o0 ot e e S

+

Customers

(PR S R
We have developed long standmg business relatlonshlps with our customers around the world. In each of
our operapng segments we work together wrth our customers in all stages of productton mcludmg desrgn
development, component sourcmg, quallty assurance manufacturmg and dehvery Wrth a balancedrmtx of OE
and aftermarket products and’facilities in thajor "markets worldwide, we beliéve we are well-posmoned to meet
customer needs. We believe,we have a strong, established reputation with customers for. providing: high-quality
products at compentrve prtces as well as for, tlmely delivery and customer. service. I NIIEE o,

“ .t

Worldwrde we serve more than 35 dtfferent OE manufacturers and our, products or systems are 1ncluded
on 9 of the top 10 passenger car models produced for sale in Europe and 9 of the top lO SUV and hght truck
models produced for sale in North' America for 2006 Durmg 2006, our OF customers included:

North America Europe Asia LS
AM General BMW BMW

CAMI Autémotive:! * 0 " e e Dalmler Chrysler‘ #4450 % 7 "Chang’an Automobile’
Caterpillar. «* +4. ¢ & T w + Fiat - L. . ‘Daimler Chrysler s

Club Car wroedemdi T - e Ford L . 'Dongfeng Motor. Co. ¢ -
Daimler Chrysler/Freightliner . .. .r  »' General Motors: t ., *.eveers v First Auto Works: «
E-ZGoGolfCar-» .. -+, ., u, . Nissan « ., g% : - Ford | v o R
Ford S sty ‘v wPaccar, .o,y L oerso p(_}ene_ral-,Motors_ e
General Motors .1, o Porsche o+« v, w, ,-Jinbei Automobile Co. .
l-larley-Davrdson e PSA Peugeot Cltroen o Isuzu

Honda v . Renault . . ", ' Mitsubishi e
" Mazda (Auto Alliance) . © " Scania’™ - " "PSA Pcugeot "Citroen”

Motor Coach Industries Suzuki Renault 7
Navistar Toyota Shanghai Alitomotive (SAIC)
Nissan Volkswagen _ Volkswagen

Paccar '~ "7 B K Volvo Truck e T e T

Toyota = ''v st e et n v '\" "*+ “India” oo
Volksivagen ¢ - <5 " on BT CAugtralia o 0 v 0 General Motors = -+ 1 - »
Volvo Truck: '+~ - wat Sl otee Clob-Cart ¢ 0w Wit Mahindra & Mahmdra S

ooy e et s Forde e b v e 0 Suzuki e vad

South America ~ General Motors , TATA Motors

Daimler Chrysler' = = %5-0 %7« " Mazda” " o o0 7 Toyota' T T

Fiat ‘ Mitsubishi - - - 7t -0 7 "TVS Motors? CaTe
Ford . R Nrssan ,. .. ]

General Motors oAt pedota T T T ' "

PSA Peugeot Citroen .., | g v oy nxiee o o3 I T N
,Rena.ult‘ . T T P T S IR s h g L

Scania T T T O T U A B T S o
Toyota )

Volkswagen ', .15 . o over’ ot Tt et e s T, et e e e

. ) , TR T L S ¥ T T
During 2006, our aftermarket customers were comprised of full-line and specialty warehouse distributors,
retailers, jobbers, installer chains.and car dealers. These customers included suchiwholesalers. and retailers as
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- National Auto Parts Association (NAPA), Advance Auto Parts, Uni-Select and O’Reilly Automotive in North ~
America and Temot, Group Auto Union, Kwik-Fit Europe and Auto Distribution International in Europe. We
believe we have a balanced mix of aftermarket customers, with our top 10 aftermarket customers accounting
for 37 percent of our total net aftermarket sales and only 23 percent of our total net sales for 2006. -

General Motors accoumed for approximately .14 percent, 17 percent, and 18 percent of our net sales in
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively; Ford accounted for approximately 11 percent, 12 percent and 12 percent of
our net sales in 2006, 2005 and.2004, respectively; Volkswagen accounted for approximately 11 percent, 1
9 percent and 11 percent of our net sales'in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively; and Daimler Chrysler
accounted for approximately 11 percent, 9 percent and 8 percent of our net sales in 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. No other customer accounted for more than 5 percent of our net sales for any of those years.

Competitlon

We operate in highly competitive markets Customer loyalty is a key element of compemlon in these
markets and is developed through long- standmg relatronshlps, customer service, hrgh quahty value-added
products and tlmely dehvery Product pricing and servrces pr0v1ded are other 1mportant competmve factors.

» In both the OE market and aftermarket,-we compete with the vehicle manufacturers; some of which aré
also customers of ours, and numercus independent suppliers. In the OE market, we believe that we are among
the top two suppliers in the world for both emission control and ride control products and systems for light
vehicles. In the aftermarket, we bellcve that we are the market sharé leader in the supply of both’emission
control and ride’ control products for. hght vehrcles in the markets we serve throughout the world

Seasonality ' v L .

Our business is somewhat seasonal. OE manufacturers’ production requirements have historically been
higher in the first two quarters of the year as compared to the last two quarters, Production requirements tend
to decrease in the third quarter due to plant shutdowns for model changeovers. In addition, we believe this
seasonality is due, in.part, to consumer demand for new vehicles softening during the holiday season and as a
result of the winter months in North America and Europe. Also, the major North American OE manufacturers
generally close their production facilities for the last two weeks of the year, Our aftermarket business also
experiences seasonality. Demand for aftermarket products increases during the spring as drivers prepare for the’
summer driving season. Although seasonality does impact our business, actual results may vary from the above
trends due to timing, of ‘platform launches and other productlon related events.

Emission.Control Systems

Vehicle emission’ control products and systems play a critical role in safely conveying noxious exhaust "
gases away from the passenger compartment and reducing the level of pollutants and engine exhaust noise to
an acceptable level. Precise engincering of the exhaust system — from the manifold that connects an engine’s
exhaust ports to an exhaust pipe, to the catalytic converter that eliminates pollutants from the exhaust, to the

muffler — leads to a pleasam tuned engine sound, reduced pollutants and optimized engine performance.
f

We design, manufacture and distribute a variety of products and systems designed to optimize engme
performance, acoustic tuning and weight, including the following:

+ Mufflers and resonators — Devices to provide noise elimination and acoustic tuning;

+ Catalytic converters — Devices — consisting of a substrate coated with precious-metals enclosed in a *
steel casing — used to convert harmful gaseous emission, such as carbon monoxide, from a vehicle’s -
exhaust system into harmless components such as water vapor and carbon dioxide; .

+ Exhaust manifolds — Components that collect gases from individual cylinders of a vehicle’s engine and
direct them into a single exhaust pipe;

t

s Pipes — Utilized to connect variousiparts of both the hot:and cold ends of an exhaust system;
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» Hydroformed tubing — Forms into various geometric shapes, such as Y-pipes or T-pipes, which : -/
provides .optimization in both design and installation as compared to conventional pipes;

« Hangers and isolators — Used for system installation and noise and vibration elimination;
* Diesel Parttculate F1]ters — Devices to el1mmate pamculate matter emitted from diesel engmcs and

* Selective Catalyuc Reductlon (SCR) systems — Devices Wthl‘l reduce N1trogen Oxide (NOx) cmlssmns
from diesel powettrams e e

We entered this product Tine in 1967 with’ the acquisition of Walker Manufacturing Company, which was
founded in 1888 With the acquisition of Heinrich Gillet GmbH & Co. in 1994, we also became one of
Europe’s leading OE emission control systems suppliers. When the term “Walker” is used in this-document, it
refers to our subs1d1anes and affiliates that produce emission control products and systems

We supply our emission control offermgs to over 32 vehlcle-makcrs for use on over 140 vehicle models
including 7 of the top 10 passenger cars produced for sale in Europe and 6 of the top 10 SUVs and hght
trucks produced. for-sate in North Amerlca in 2006. ,

With respect to catalytic converters. we buy the substrate coated with precious metals, or sometimes the
completed catalytic converter, from third parties, .use them in our manufacturing process and sell.them as part
of the completed system. This often occurs. dt-the direction of the OE customers. See [tem 7, “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” for more information on our sales
of these products.

In the aftermarket, we manufacture, market and distribute replacement mufflers for virtually all North
American, European, and Asian makes of light vehicles under brand names in¢luding Quiet-Flow®, TruFit®
and Aluminox Pro™, in addition to offéring-a variety of other related products such as pipes and catalytic
converters (Walker Perfection®). We also serve the specialty exhaust aftermarket, where our key offerings
include Mega-Flow™ exhaust products for heavy-duty vehicle applications and DynoMax® high performance
exhaust products. We contmue to emphas1ze product value d1fferent1at10n wnth other aftermarket brands such
as Thrush® and Fongs™

The following table provndes for each of the years 2006 through 2004, mformatlon re]atmg to our sales
of emission control products and systems for certain geographic-areas: T - o

’ Percenlage of Net Sales
Years Ended December 31,

United States N o _ -
Aftermarket .= .:..... ... L TS A 19%- 18% = 18%
OEmarket .. .c oot s e T e 81 - 82 82

. . S, 100%. 100%  100%

Foreign Sales T e ‘ e . . Lo .
Aftermarket ... ... ... .. T e 10% - 1% 11% -
OFE market . . ... e S S U P R e 90 8% 89 .

- | , 100% . 100%  100%

Total Sales hy Geographlc Area(a) - oo '
United-States . .. .%ol e e ... 29% L 33% + 33%
lEuropean'Umon....:...-.‘-..........-':7..'..'..'...‘.‘.‘..'...‘..:A..".-..'49- © 46 45 ...
Canada. . .~ . .. .. v o e e s e I A 5 7~ 8 ..
Otherareas. ................... e e 17 14 RLYO

RS © 100% | 100% . 100%
it Cos LN '-"‘“:\J o N ER [

(a) See Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements included under Item 8 for information about our for—
eign and domestic operations. See Item 1A, “Risk Factors — We are subject to risks related.to our * ¢
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interndtional operations” and “— Exchange rate fluctuations could cause a decline in our financial condi-
tions and results of operations” for information about-the risks associated:with foreign operations, -

1a H [ R N I T Y L VA
Ride Control Systems ) ‘ ' |
1 e ooy g .‘»'.
Superror ride control is governed by a vehrcle § suspensnon system, 1ncludmg its shock absorbers and
stnits. Shock absorbers and ‘struts help maintain vertical loads placed ona vehicle’s tires to hclp keep the tires
in contact with the road. A vehicle’s ability to sicer, brake and accelerate depends on the contact between the
vehicle’s tires and the road. Worn shocks and struts can allow excess weight transfer from side to side, which
is called “roll,” from front to rear, which is called “pitch,”] and up and down, which is called * bounce
Variations in tire-to-road contact can affect.a vehlcle s handling and braking.performance,and the safe .
operation of a vehicle. Shock: absorbers are desrgned to control vertical loads placed on tires by provrdrng
resistance to vehicle roll, pitch and bounce. Thus, by maintaining the tire to road contact, ride control products
are desrgncd 10 funcuon as safety componems of a vehicle, in addition’to provrdmg a comfortable nde '

PR i P R S 1 iy 1_ T

We design, manufacture and distribute a variety of ride control’ products and systems. Our rlde control
offermgs mclude o . _ _ . ‘ ]
.. Shock absorbers — A broad range of mechanical shock absorbers and relatcd components for light- and
heavy-duty vehicles. We supply both twin-tube and monotube shock absorbers to vehicle manufacturers

+ » and the aftermarket; S , o P S ‘
. Struts — A complete line of struts and strut assemblies for Ilght vehicles;

. Vlbratron control componems (Clevrte® Elastomers) — Generally rubber-to—metal bushmgs and mount-
ings to reduce ylbrquon between metal parts of a vehicle. Our offerings include a broad range of .
suspension arms,.rods and links for light- and heavy-duty wehicles; . R e,

* Kinetic® Suspensron Technology — A suite of roll control near equal wheel loadmg systems ranglng
from simple mechanical systemis to complex hydraulic systems featunng proprietary and patented
technology. The Kinetic® Suspension Technology was incorporated on the Citroen World Rally Car that
was featured in the World Rally Championship 2003, 2004 .and 2005. Additionally, the Kinetic®..
Suspension Technology was incorporated on the Lexus GX 470.sport utility vehicle which resulted in
winning the PACE Award;

. 'Advanced suspension systems — Electronically adjustable shock absorbers and suspension systems that
change performance based on vehicle inputs such as steering and braking; and

-+ M L
» Other ~~ We also offer other ride control products such as load assist products, springs, steering
" 'stabilizers, adjustable suspension systems, suspension kits and modular assemblies. ... !

" We supply our ride control offerings to over 35 vehicle-makers for use on over 160 vehicle models,
including 8 of the top 10 SUV and light truck models produced for sale in North America for 2006.We also
supply-OE ride control products and systems to a range of heavy-duty and specialty vehicle manufacturers
including Volvo Truck, Scania, International Truck and Engine (Navistar), PACCAR. .

Ini ‘the ride control aftérmarket, we manufacture, market and distribute replacement shock absorbers for
virtually all North American, European and Asian makes of light vehicles under several brand names including
Gas, Matic®, Sensa-Trac®; Monroe Reflex® and Monroe Adventure®, as well aS‘Clevite‘D Elastomers for
elastomeric vibration control components. We also sell ride control offerings for the heavy duty, off-road and
' specralty aftermarket, such as our Gas:-Magnum® shock absorbers for the North American heavy: duty
category. T . o : o . . . e

We entered' the ridé control product line in 1977 with the acquisition of Monroe Auto Equipment
Company, which was founded in 1916 and introduced the world’s first modern tubular shock absorber in 1930.
When the term “Monroe” is used in this document it refers to our subsrdlanes and affiliates that produce ride
control products-and systems. . - . . ¢ o+ L4 N B .
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. _The-following table provides, for-each of the years 2006 through 2004, information relatmg to our sales” -

of r1de :control-equipment for certain geographic areas: . St I Y
TR W L I I H S P Miee o b e T e Per:c'enta'g‘éofNet Sales
Years Ended
. _December 31,
7 T 20060 ¢ 20057 2004
Uniléd States: 05 od e S, S TR T T URER PN | L B LT B W P
““Aftermarket’ .0 T : SRR "53?'-‘ "46% " 47%"
OEmarket.‘..._.‘.._...."..'..,.....”.,....,.';‘:...'.'.'..,r S .’ 47° gi_g
EaN Gt Satenh AT LY, Y S .@% 100% . 100%;.
R B LA TR [ T 417 (N B L v Ty rl' T
Foreign Sales ' e b . ' L
Aftermarket . ................. e [ 3%  33%  35%
OE market . . . .. U 67 o 67 65
.o .. 100% ,.100% | 100%
et ln.il.':vl- [N ST At DAL SOy e e L Tl D Vot Mt —_—
Total Siles’ by Ge'ographlc Area(a) R e R e .a‘_. P
Umted Sthtes UL DT I T R R - 2% 43%
M - [JAE — ot e T . o
European Umon ......... e R R , 33, 32 L34
Canada ................................. e e 6 51_ 5 4,
Other BTEAS . . oo v et v e e 23 22 19
LTI "l vt T . . o Gt FEEPAT L L S TS B LA ST T P e
: o0 BRI | e I ) IR I i Tl . S e "'.@%a I_Q_..Q% oS .@%". '
-_,‘.A-|| ,;'ﬂ_l'-'-_ lcrl'.";". 5o, . M LAY b || Ay L PR U ST o

(a) See'Note LI to'the consolidated finaricial statéments*includéd under Item 8 for. 1nformat|on about our for:
eigi’ and domestic operations. See Item? 1 A} “Risk Factor$ — We are subject to risks related:to’ our inter-
national operations” and “— Exchange rate fluctuations &ould cause a decline in- our financial conditions

and results ¢ of operatrons” for; mformatron about the risks associated with foreign operations, | "
=i et ) i R A T TN Y B I RPN T ' L) o v T t L
T T O IR
Sales, Marketlng and Dlstnbutron T , o : : L .
Lo, i : .- v - E eodegr ~

*We:have separate and dlStlnCt sales. and markeung efforts for our OE and aftermarket'busmesscs

For OE sales our sales and marketmg team 1s an 1ntegrated group of professronals mcludmg slolled v
engmeers and program managers that are orgamzed by customer and product type (e. g ride control and .
emrssron control) Our sales and mmketrng team provrdes the approprrate mrx of operauonal and techmcal Lo
expertrse needed to intérface successfully with the OEMs. Our new business * capture process’ rnvolves
working closely with the OEM platform engineering and purchasing team. Bidding on OE automotive
platforms typically. encompasses.many*months of engineering and business 'development activity. Throughout
the process, our-sales teain, program'managers and product engineers assist the OE customer in defining the »
project’s technical'and business’requirements: A -normal part of ‘the process includes our engineering and sales
personne! working on customers" integratedproduct‘teams, and.assisting with'the development of ¢omponent/
system specifications :and test: procedures. Given thiat-the OE business involves:long-term production contracts.
awarded:on a platform;by-platformbasis; our strategy is to- leverage our engmeermg experuse and strongf :

customer relatronshrps to ‘obtain platform awards and increase operatmg margins: 7 e

- - e . e

For aftermarket sales and 'marl;:etmg,l ur. sales force is generally orgamzedﬂby customer and T regron and
covers multiple product lines. We sell aftermarket products through five primary channels’ of distribution:
(1) the traditional three-step distribution system: full line warehouse distributors, jobbers and mstallers, (2) the
specialty two-step distribution system: specialty warchouse distributors that carry only specified automotive
product groups.and installers; (3) direct.sales to.retailers;-(4) direct sales to installer, chains; and (5) direct
sales to car. dealers. Our aftermarket sales:and marketing representatives cover all levels of,the distribution
channel, strmulatmg interest, in our. products and helping our products move through the distribution system..
Also, to generate demand for our products from end-users, we:run print.and television advertisements’and.
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offer pricing promotions. We-were one of the first parts manufacturers to offer business:to-business services to
customers with TA-Direct, an on-line order entry and customer service tool. In addition, we maintain detailed
web sites for each of the Walker®, Monroe®, Rancho® and DynoMax® brands and our heavy duty products.

Manufaetui‘ing'aﬁd Engineering

We focus on achieving superior product quality at the lowest operating costs possible and generally use.
state-of-the-art manufacturing processes to achieve that goal. Qur manufacturing strategy centers on a lean
productlon system designed to reduce overall costs — espechly indirect costs — while maintaining quahty
standards and-réducing manufacturing cycle time. In addition, we have implemented Six Sigma in our
processes to minimize product defects and improve operational efficiencies. We deploy new technology where
it makes sense to differentiate our processes from our competitors’ or to achieve balance ‘in one-piece ﬂow
through production lines.

Emission Control

Qur consolidated businesses operate 14 emission control manufacturing facilities in the U.S. and
39 emission control manufacturing facilities outside of the U.S. We operate. ten of these international facilities
through joint ventures in which we own a controlling interest. We also operate four additional manufacturing
facilities outside of the U.S. through four joint ventures in which we hold a noncontrolling interest. We operate
five emission control engineering and technical fac1ht1es worldwide and two other such facnlmes with our ride
control operations. .

Wllhll’l each of our emission control manufacturing facilities, operations are organized by component
(muffler, catalytic converter, pipe, resonator and manifold). Our manufacturing systems incorporate cell-based
designs, allowing work-in-process to move through the operation with greater speed and flexibility. We
continue to invest in-plant and equipment to stay on top of the industry. For instance, in our Harrisonburg,’
Virginia, aftermarket manufacturing facility, we have developed a completely automated production process
that handles all facets of.pipe production from.tube.milling to pipe bending.

In an effoit to farther improve out OE cistomer service and position ourselves as a Tier-1 O systems
supplier, we have been developing some of our emission control manufacturing operanons into “just-in-time”
or “JIT” systems. In this system, a JIT facility located close to our OE customer’s manufacturing plant
receives product components from both our manufacturing operations and independent suppliers, assembles
and then ships products to the OEMs on an as-needed basis. To manage the JIT functions and material flow,
we have advanced eompulenzed material requirements plannmg systems lmked with our customers’ and
supplier parmers resource management systems. We have five emission control JIT assembly facilities in the
United States and 20 i in the rest of the world mcludmg three ‘that are operated through non- comrolled joint
ventures.

- During the 1990’s, we expanded our converter and emission system design, development, test and
manufacturing capabilities. Our engineering capabilities. now include advanced predictive design tools, !
advanced prototyping processes and state-of-the-art testing equipment. This expanded technological capability

makes us a “full system” integrator, supplying complete emission control systéms from the manifold to the

tailpipe, to provide full emission-and noise control. It also allows us to provide JIT delivery and, when

feasible, sequence delivery of emission control systems to meet. customer production requirements. For 2003,

we introduced our new Tubular Integrated (catalytic} Converter (“TIC™) to major vehicle manufacturers.in . .

North America. The TIC shortens production time, reduces manufacturing cost by up to 25 percent and

reduces weight by up 1o 20 percent using a new cold -formed, weld-free producnon Process.

ot (B

Ride Control . o ' B

+ y o . -

QOur consolidated businesses operate elght nde control manufacturing facnlltles in the U.S. and 22 ncle ;
control manufacturing facilities outside the U.S. We operate two of these international facilities through joint-.
ventures in which' we own a controlling interest. We operate seven engineering.and technical fac111tles
worldwide and share two other such facilities' with our emission control operations.
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Within each of -our ride-control manufacturing facilities,.operations are organized by product (shocks;
struts and vibration-control products) and include computer-numerically controlled and conventional machine
centers; tube milling and drawn-over-mandrel manufacturing equipment; metal-inert gas and resistance
welding; powdered metal pressing and sintering; chrome plating; stamping; and assembly/test'capabilities. Our
manufacturing systems incorporate cell-based designs, allowing work-in-process to move through the operation
with greater speed and flexibility.. T

As in the emission control business, in an effort to further improve our OE-customer service and position
us as a Tier 1 OE module supplier, we. have beéen developing some of our manufacturing ‘operations into JIT
systems.-We have one JIT ride control assemb]y fac111ty in the Umted States and four addluonal M T:ride -
control facilities in the-rest of the world. -~ PR L R : oo

In designing our shock absorbers and struts, we use advanced engineering and test capabilities to provide
product reliability, endurance and performance Our englneermg capabllmes feature, advanced, cpmputer aided
design equ1pmem and teslmg facﬂmes Our dedlcauon to mnovanve solutions has led to such technological

1) W .o . PRLETY

advancesas Co I PR
BN B r B -

. Adapnve dampmg systems — adapts to the veh:cle s mouon to better control undesxrable vehicle
'mollons P . . 3 R T .. R :, *,

i LI . . T T . st

. E!ectromcally adjuslable suspensions — changes suspension performance based on a: vanely of mputs
" such as steering, brakmg, vehicle helght and veloc:ty and oWt . "

ST R T P

* Air leveling systems — manually or automancally adjust the helght of the vehicle.

Conventional shock absorbers and struts generally compromise either ride comfort or vehicle control. Our
innovative grooved-tube, gas-charged shock absorbers and struts provide-both ride comfort and vehicle control,
resulting in,improved handling, reduced vibration and a wider range of vehicle controt. Thls technology can
be found in our premium quality Sensa-Trac® shock absorbers. In late 1997, we forther. enhanced this ¥
technology by adding the SafeTech™ fluon banded piston, which improves shock absorber. performance and -
durability. In 1999, we introduced the Monroe Reflex® shock absorber, which incorporates our Impact
Sensor™ device. This technology permits the shock absorber to-automatically switch in milliseconds between
firm and soft compressron dampmg when the vehicle encounters rough road conditions, thus maintaining better
tire-to-road ‘contdct-and improving' handlmg and safety. We supply’ Volvo with an innovative computenzed
electronic' suspension system, Wthh features dampers developed by Tenneco and electronic valves designed by
Ohllns Racmg AB. - Coe ! e

The conlmuously controlled eleetromc suspensron (“CES”) nde control system is featured on Volvo 5.
S60R, V70R, and S80R (4C-2WD) passenger cars. CES is also available as an- .option on the Volvo 560, V70..
§80 and XC70. In 2005, Audi began offering CES as an option on the Audi A6 and the A6 Avant.

Quality Control S .

.

Quality control is an important part of our production process. Our'quality engineers establish
performance and reliability standards in the product’s design stage, and use prototypes to confirm the ..
component/system can be manufactured to specifications. Quality control is also integrated int6 the manufac-
turing process, with shop operators: being responsible for.quality control ofitheir specific work product: In
addition, our inspectors test work -in-progress at various Stages to ensure componems are, berng fabrlcaled to
meet eustomers requnrements . . . . _ .

w ' LN . |-..v o . L b H . : A
We believe our commitment to quality control and sound management practices’ and policies is +* -
demonstrated by our successful part1c1patlon in the International Standards Orgamzatlon/Quahty Management
Systems certification process (“ISOI’T s7). ISOfI‘ S certlﬁcanons are seml -annual or annual audits that certify
that a company’s facilities meet stringent quallty and business systems requrrements Without 1SO or TS
certification; we would not be able to supply our products for the aftermarket or the OE market, respectively,
either locally or globally. Of those manufacturing facilities.where we have determined that TS certification is

required to service our customers or would provide us with an advantage in securing additional business,
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88 percent have achieved TS 16949:2002 certification. 'Weplan to complete the certification of the remaining

plants by year end 2008: Of those manufacturing facilities where we. have-determined that ISO.9000 {

certification is required or would provide us with.an.advantage in securing additional business, 100 percent

have achleved 150,9000 certification, -+ -~ L e
Voo, )i . L oo e . et ey .. . it

Business Strategy et

Our objective is to enhance profitability. by leveraging our global position in the manufacture, of emission
control and ride control products and systems: We intend. to apply our competitive,strengths.and balanced mix
of products; markets, customers and distribution channels to capitalize on many of the significant existing and
emerging trends in the automotive and specialty industries. The key components of our business. strategy-are
described below

N _ . ' .
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Leverage Global Engmeenng and Advanced System Capabtlmes

We contmue to focus on the devclopment of h1ghly engmeered systems and complex asscmbltes and .

electronically linked global engineering and manufacturing facilities, Wthh we believe help us to marntam our
presence on top-selling vehicles. We have more than, 10 years, of expetience in integrating systems and -
modules. In addition, our JIT and in-line sequencmg manufactunng and distribution capabilities have enabled
us to better respond to our customers needs, We operate 30 JIT facilities worldw1de ‘

- “Own” the Product Lt:fe Cycle v

.“” E N - [N LIPEE N - . * an

- We seek to leverage our aftermarket expertise, which provides us with-valuable consumer demand - -
1nformat10n, to strengthen our competmve position with OEMs. Qur market knowledge, coupled with our’
leading aftermarket presence, strengthens our ‘ties with our OE customer base and drives: OE acceptance of our
aftermarket products and technologies for use in original equipment vehicle manufactunng

T I St ' teooatly . . ] T

Commerctaltze Innovattve Value-Added Pmducts LR YD e e

' To dlfferentlate our offenngs from those of our, conrpetttors we focus on commercmhzm'g mnlovattve'
value- added products, both on our own and through strategic alllances wrth emphasis on highly engmeered
systems and complex assemblies and modules. We seek to contmually |dent1fy and target new, fast-growing
niche markets and commercialize our new technologies for these markets, as well as our existing markets. For
example, our exclusive Kinetic® Dynamic Suspension System a version of the Kinetic® Reversibie Function
Stabilizer Technology, is featured as an- opuon on the Lexus GX470 spor’ts ut1l|ty vehlcle through a Ilcensmg
arrangement between us and Lexus. . . : E ’

Expand Our Aftermarket Business T e

We manufacture and market.leading brand name products: Monroe® ride control products and Walker®
emission control products, which have been offered to consumers for approximately 75 years, are two of the
most recognized brand-name products insthe automotive parts industry. We continue to emphasize. procluct
value differentiation w1th these brands and our other pnmary brands, including: .-, -.. .. . s o

« The Monroe Reflex‘” shbck absorber which featurés an Acceleration Sensmve Dampmg Technology
(ASD) to maintain better tire-to-road contact and i improve handling and safety for high center of gravtty
vehicles,(SUVs and light trucks) requmng more control; . T b

* The Monroe Sensa Trac° line of shock absorbers, that has been enhanced by the PSD (Posmon
Sensmve Dampmg) technology whlch of’fers both comfon and control when you need it;

. Walker s Quiet-Flow® muffler, whlch features an open ﬂow design that increases exhaust flow, ..
¢ improves sound quality and significantly reduces exhaust back pressure when compared to other - -
replacement mufflers; .-« - o, o Lot i ‘ o :
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.». Rancho? ride control products provides on and offroad performance for-both: stock or ‘raised light truck
vehrcles A T T VR N Co, .

e DynoMax‘!J Wthh offers a complete line of mufflers cat back performance exhaust systems, headers
Jand pipes engmeered to increase the efﬁctency, horsepower torque and sound of virtually, any car,

fruck, or light vehtcle, L . ) .

TRV T L LI . . : : AL T

n

. Walker Ultra catalyttc converters, Wthh offer a htgher loadmg of precrs1on rnetals to help problemattc
vehrcles pass ennssmns testlng, _ S o o

S . e Lo . . ol -
» Monroe® Dynamtcs and Ceramics brakes offer the Compiete Solution, combtmng wrre wear Sensors,
hardware and lube allowing 1nsta11ers to do the Job right the first trme and SRR

- . . , -
RN o R B L LI

. In. European markets Walker »and Alurmnox Pro mufflers . L e

We are capitalizing on our brand strength by 1ncorporat1ng newly acqu1red product lines wrthm exrsnng
‘product farmlres We belleve brand equity.is a key asset.in a time of customer consohdatron and merging

channelsofdrstnbutlon w. — e ” e o .o :

Lo a T
Our plans to expand our aftefrisrket busifiess are focused on foiir kéy marketing initiatives: new product
mtroductrons building customer and industry awareness of the maintenance, performance and other benefits of
ensuring that a vehicle’s.ride. control systems are in good, workmg condition; adding coverage to current -
brands; and extending our.brands and aftermarket penetration 10 new product segments. For example, in North
Amertca we mtroduced a rtde control ling extension with the Quick Strut. This strut is a completed. module
that incorporates the spring and.upper mount, resulnng in.a much easier mstallatron This allows installers
quicker turn over of vehicles in their bay. and the, opportunity for do.it. yourself consumers to perform a task
that prevrously required spemal tools and skills. In addition, Monroe® Dynamics and Cerarmc Disc brake pads
were introduced in the United States in '2006. We also creatéd the Monroe® 50,000 mile replacement campaign

- to help increase customer and industry awareness. The campaign is being advertised wvia radio,and outdoor

billboards throughout the United States and Canada stating “Monroe® Recommends Replacmg Your Shocks
and Struts at 50,000 Miles.” We will- continue to carry- that message to consumers and- the trade in 2007, again

- utilizing billboards; radio’ spots -and-ads in both trade and ¢onsumer magazines/-We ‘are €xploring a number of «

opportumtres to extend olr existing "well-known brznds, such as Monroe®,‘and our product-line generally, to
aftermarket- product segmeénts not previously served. We believe that, whien’combined.- with our expanswe
customer service network, these mlnanves will yield" tncremental aftermarket févenues: - o

CE St Sh . i HE- et L ey E B

'
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Achteve Greater Content per’ Vehtcle ce

As a result of 1ncrea51ng emissions standards we belreve that available emission control content per light
vehicle will rise over the. next several years. We believe that consumers’ greater emphasis ‘on automotive safety
could also allow available ride control content per light vehicle to rise., In addition, advanced technologies and
modular assemblies, represent an opportunity to 1ncrease vehicle content. For exarnple our innovative CES
system; which we supply on several Volvo and Audi passenger cars, incredses our content revenues seven-fold
compared to a standard shock offering. We plan‘to take advantage of these trends by‘lévéraging our existing

position ,on many, top-selling vehicle, platfo.nns‘ and by continuing _tg‘e‘nhan‘ce our modular/systems capabilities.

=
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. Execute Focused Tmnsacttons‘ T R [N JPSE BRI LIPS

In the past, we have been successful in identifying and capitalizing on strategic acqutsrttons and alltances
10 achleve growth.-Through these acquisitions and.-alliances,. we- have (1) expanded our, product. portfolio;
2) realized incremental business with existing customers; (3 garned access to new customers; and {4) achieved
leadership positions in new geographic markets oL L e, Lo -

We have developed a strategtc alhance w1th Futaba asleadmg exhaust manufacturer n Japan that ‘also
includes a joint venture operation in Bumley, England. We also have an alliance with Hitachi (as successor to
Tokico Ltd. following its acquisition-of Tokico), a leading Japanese ride control manufacturer. These alliances
help us grow our business.with Japan-based -OEMs by leveraging the geographlcal presence of each partner to

¥
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serve Japan-based global platforms.-We have established a presence in Thailand through a joint venture that
supplies exhaust components for GMIsuzu. Our joint venture operations in Dalian and Shanghai, China have
established us as one of the leading exhaust suppliers in the rapldIy growing Chinese automotive market. We
also operate joint ventures with Eberspicher lnternatlondl GmbH to supply emission control products and
systems for luxury cars produced by BMW and Audi in China, and with Chengdu Lingchuan Mechamcal Plant
to supply emission control products and systems for various Ford platforms produced in China.

We recently announced that we are expanding our operatlons in Chma wrth mvestment in both
manufacturing and engineering facilities. We opened our first solely-owned operation in China, an elastomer
manufacturing facility in Suzhou. In addition, we are extending our joint venture with Shanghai Tractor and
Engine Company, a subsidiary of Shanghai Autemotive Industry Corp., by establishing an engineering center
to develop automotive exhaust products. The engineering center opened during the fourth quarter of 2006.
Finally, we increased our ownership stake in the'Beijing Monroe Shock Absorber Co. Lid. (a-joint venture
with Beijing Automotive Industry Corp.) from 51 percent to 65 percent. ., .,

In February 2005, we acquired substantially all the éxhaust assets, and assumed certain related liabilities ~
of, Gabilan Manufacturing Inc., a manufacturer of exhaust systems for Harley-Davidson Motorcycles, The” *-
acquisition represents an example of our strategy to grow through niche opportunities. .

Where appropriate, we intend to continue to pursue strategic alliances, joint ventures, acquisitions and
other transactions that complement or enhance our existing products, technology, sykter'ﬁs development efforts,
customer base and/or domestic or international presence. ‘We strive to align with strong local partners to help "
us further develop our leadership in systems mtegratlon and to penetrate international markets. In addition, we
align with companies that have proven products, proprietary technology, research capabilities and/or market
penetration to help us achieve further leadership in product offermgs customer relationships, and systems '
integration and overall presence, o

ot

Growth in Adjacent Markets

One of our goals is to apply our existing design, engmeenng and manufactunng capabtllttes to penetrate |
a variety of adjacent markets and to achieve growth in higher-margin businesses. For example, we are
aggressively leveraging our technology and engineering leadership in emission and: ride control into adjacent
markets, such as the heavy-duty market for trucks, buses, agricultural-equipment, construction machinery and
other commercial vehicles. As an established leading supplier of heavy-duty. ride control and elastomer
products, we are already serving customers like Volvo Truck, Mack, Navistar International, Freightliner and
Scania. We also,_ see tremendous opportunity to expand our presence in the- heavy -duty market with our
emission control products and systems, having recently entered this market in both North Amerlca and Europe
with diesel technoIogles that will help customers meet envrronmenta! requ1rements

i . AR A . ) " e ) .\'

Improve Efﬁﬂency and Reduce Cost's . N - oo T

We are a process-oriented . company and Jhave tmplemented and are contmumg o 1mplement several .
programs designed to improve efﬁctency and reduce costs, including:.

* In February 2006, we announced a workforce reduction at certain' 8 our global locations as partof our
ongoing effort to reduce our cost structure. We recorded a pre-tax charge of approximately $8 million

during 2006 for severance and other benefits related to this reduction in force, substantially all of which
have been paid in cash.

o L
. R O T

+ We are successfully completing the workforce reduction-announced in Octobéer 2004 which -eliminated:
250 salaried positions worldwide. The majority of the eliminated positions are at the middle and senior
management levels. As of December 31, 2006, we have incurred $23 million in severance costs.- Of the
total $23 million in severance costs incurred to date, $21 mllll()ll represents cash payments with t.he

remamder accrued in olher short term ltabrltttes ’ . -

* We have successfully completed Project Genesrs our primary initiative for i 1mpr0vmg global manufac-.
turing and distribution efficiency. Since launching Project Genesis in December 2001, we have reduced
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excess manufacturing capacrtyrand costs. We have closed eight facilities and 1mproved workﬂow at
20 plants worldwide. Lt

« We anticipate long-term savings through our Slx Slgma program a methodology and approach desrgned
to minimize product defects and improve operational efficiencies. . .+ o A

¢

« We have implemented 2 Lean manufacturing program to redvice costs, inventories and customer lead,
times while rmprovrng delivery. ' '

,., . ' voan

¢ We have adopted the Business Operatmg System (“BOS™), a disciplined system to promote and manage
continuous improvement. BOS focuses on the assembly and analysis of data for qu1ck and effectlve
problem resolution to create more efficient and profitable operations. .- _— '

. * We are-using Economic Value Added (“EVA®'™), a finan¢ial tool that more effectively measures how
efficiently we employ our capital resources, and have linked the successful application of this. .
management discipline to our incentive compensanon program. -

+
In addition, we continue to work to reduce costs by standardizing products and processes throughout our
operations;-further developing our global supply chain management capabilities; improving our information
technology; increasing efficiency through employee training; investing in more efficient machinery;,and
enhancing. the global coordination of costing and quoting procedures, along with other steps to reduce ., .
administrative and operational costs and improve cost management.” . | _ o

L

Reduce Borrowings and Improve Cash Flow : ro

We are focused on a core set of goals designed to reduce borrowmgs and 1mprove cash flow:
(i) continuing to reduce selling, general and administrative expenscs plus engineering, research and develop-
ment costs (“SGA&E”) as a percentage of sales, whlle continuing to invest in sales and engineering;
(i) extracting significant cash flow from working caprtal initiatives; (iii) offsetting to the greatest extent
possible pressures on overall gross margins in a challengmg economic environment; and (iv) strengthening
existing customer relanonshrps and winning new long- term OE busmess

Environmental Matters . IR .
. . 3 . PR 1

We estimate that we and our subsidiaries will make expénditures for plant, property and equipment for
environmental matters of approximately $7 million in 2007 and approximately $4 million in 2008.

For additional information regarding environmental matters, see Item 3, “Legal Proceedings,” Item 7,
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Environmental *
and Other Matters,” and Note 12 to the financial statements of Tenneco Inc. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
included under ltcm g : T g SR

' .
. i . - ‘.

Employees

As of December 31, 2006, we had approxrmately 19, 000 employees of which approximately 50 percent
are covered by collective bargaining agreements. Approximately 23 percent of our employees that are covered
by collective bargaining agreements are also governed by European works councils. Several of our existing
labor agreements in the United States and Mexico are scheduled for renegotiation in 2007, in'addition to five
agreements expiring in Europe covering plants in Spain, France, Belgium, Portugal and the United ngdom
We regard our employee relations as gcnerally satlsfactory : S

Other : o, Co . - Coos

The principal raw material utilized by us is steel. We obtain steel from a number of sources pursuant to '
various contractual and other arrangements We believe that an adequate supply of steel can presently be

} EVAisa reglstered trademark of Stem Stewart & Co CLoe
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obtained:from a number of different ‘domestic.and foreign suppliers:;However, . we are:actively:addressing
‘higher steels costs which are expected to continue through 2007. See “Outlook” in Item 7, “Management’s
Dlscussmn and Analysis of Fmancral Condition and Results of Operattons

O N AN " _A__“.-in- 10 t-n RN P T e
We hold a number of domesttc and-foreign patents and trademarks relating to our products and-
businesses. We manufacture and dtstnbute our products prlmarlly under the Walker® and Monroe@" brand
names, “'which are well: recogm?ed in'the marketplace and are reglstered trademarks The patents trademarks
and other intellectual property owned by or licensed to us are important in the manufacturmg, marketmg and

distribution_of our product.s- C eba o E e e e e Y AU I
IR S O RS TP R R P 'l'-'-,'ir'- R N L I VO 01 N (O PIS LR
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS, I P S R R A T
-+ Changes in consumer demand and prtces could matérially and-adversely Jmpact our financial condition
and results of operations. -+ - <ot VA onbun tog el e o o S
GoER hemgae b " R I

Demand for and pricing of our products are subject to economic condttlonq and other factors present in
the vatiois' domestic and'internationial ‘markets wheré:the products dre sold.: Demand for our OE products is
subject-to thé-level of consumer demand: for new-vehicles*that are’equipped with our parts:- The'level of new "
light vehicle purchases is cyclical, affected by such*factors as interest rates,.consumer confidence, patterns of -
consumer-spénding, filel cost and the automobile replacement tycle. For example, sales of North American .’
light trucks and SUV’s decreased by 14 perfcent iin 2006 as’ compared t0°2005, as consumers shifted. their +*
preferences from light trucks and SUVs to other vehicles in light of higher fuel costs. Because the percentage
of our North American OE revenues related to light trucks and SUVs is greaterthan.the; percentage. of the
total North American light vehlcle bu1ld rate represented by light trucks and SUVs, our North American OE
busmess lS sensmve to thrs change m consumer preferences Demand for our, aftermarket or replacement .

..... s b
demand for aftermarket products the severlty of wmter weather which i mcreases the demand for certam
aftermarket products and other factors ’lncludmg the average useful lifé ‘of parts and ‘number of miles dnven
Furthet deéfeases in’demand for automoblles and automottve products generally, or in the demand for'our. "™
products in particular, could materially' and adversely 1mpact our findncial condition’ and’ results of operatlons

. We may be unable to realize sales represented by our awarded business, which could ’rnatér'ially' and "’
.adversely impact our financial condition,a;gd,-!resutts.of operations. A, - . .. ..o

The realiz'z:ttiod'bf future sales from'a‘\v‘\?ardeld"huslihesd is inherently subject th a 'nur'ﬁber1of“i‘mponar|’t' risks
and uncertainties, ,including: the. number of vehicles-that our- OE customers- will actuatly.produce, the timing of
that production-and the mix of options thatiour OE customers and consumers may choose. Substantially all of
our North-American vehicle, manufacturing customers-have slowed or maintained at-flat levels new vehicle ..,
production for the past several years. For example, production rates for SUVs and light trucks decreased -, ...
1.8 percent in 2005 compared to 2004 and 8.0 percent in 2006 compared to 2005 while production rates for
passenger cars increased 2.7 percent in 2005 compared to 2004 and 5.0 percent in 2006 compared to, 2005, We
remain cautious regarding production volumes for 2007 due to rising oil and steel prices, current OF
manufacturers™ inventory levels and uncertainty' régarding-the willingness of OE manufacturers to continue
support to vehicle sales.”Production rates for SUVs and light trucks in"North’ America are expected to increase -
by 3:9 percent’ while 'passénger-car production rates‘are expécted to-decrease!by 5.0 percent-in 2007. We' ¢ *
expect the light vehiclé build for:Asia to sigiiificantly increase in' 2007 and production rates' in Eastern Europe’
and: South Americd to'increase slightly. All other regions aré’expected to remain flat.'In addition, our- . - ,
customers generally have the right to replace us with anothér supplier at any- time:for a variety of reasons and’
have increasingly demanded price decreases over the life of awarded business. Accordingly. we cannot assure
you that we will in fact realize any or all of the future sales represented by our awarded business. Any failure
to realize these sales could have a matenal adverse effect on our financial condition and resu]ts of operatlons

DR Y R A N Sl L HE

In.many cases, we must ‘commit substanttaltresources in-preparation-for- production under awarded OE.
business well in advance of the customer’s production start date. In certain instances, the terms of our OE

customer arrangements permit us to recover these pre-production costs’if the customer, cancels the business
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through: no fault.of our company. Although we have been successful.in recovering these costs under
appropriate circumstances in the past, we can give no assurance that our results of operations wiil not be .
materially impacted in the future if we are unable to recover these types of pre-production costs related to OE
cancellation. of awarded business.. .« v ,c L st . caih o
] YRy IR ’ i
We are dependent on large customers for future revenue. The loss of any of these customers or the loss
“of' market share by these customers could have a matenal adverse rmpact on us_‘ LT .

v et L r

© We. depend on:major vehlcle manufacturers for a substantial-portion of our net sales For example, durmg
2006, General Motors, Ford; Volkswagen,'and ‘DaimlerChrysler accounted for 14-percent, 11.percent, -
11 pefcent, and.11.percent of our net sales; respectively. The -loss of all or a substantial portion of our sales to
any of our large-volume customers ‘could have:a material adverse éffect-on our financial conditiontand results’
of operations by reducing cash flows and our ability to spread costs over.a larger revenue ‘base. We may make .
fewer'sales'to these customers for a variety of reasons, including: (1) loss of -awarded business; (2) reduced or
delayéd customer requirements; or (3) strikés ‘or other work: stoppages affecting production by the custoimers. «
In 2006; Ford announced 'a'plan to significantly reduce the number of its global suppliers. While we currently
believe that'our relatronsh1p with Ford. will not be” lmpacted by this plan any significant feduction in sales.to
Ford could have.a material adverse effect on.us. 't snis?: I N A -

B TN TR U] o, s ', 1 PR N TR v tha. '
Durmg the past several years, General Motors Ford and Daimler Chrysler lrave lost market share i m the .
United States, primarily to Asian competitors. While revenue from Japanese automakers represented approxr—
mately 20 percent of our North American OE sales in 2006 and we are actively targetmg Korean automakers,
any 'further market sharé loss by thesé North Aferican” and European-based automakeis could if we are.
unable to achieve increased sales to the Asian OE manufacturers, have a material adverse effect on our '

bUSIHCSS MR A : P . ' Ive St L FERN rt ]
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- Financial’ dtﬁicultres facmg other automotwe compames may have an adverse impact on us: 7 '

£ B o 'y A I

A number of compames in the auvtomotive 1ndustry are”and over, the last, severa] years have been facing
severe ﬁnanelal.dlfﬁculues. As, a result, there have, been numerous recent,,bankruptmes of companies in;the..
automotive industry, including the 2005 bankruptcy.of Deiphi Corporation, one-of the world’s largest . . ..
automotive parts suppliers. In addition, Dana Corporation filed for,bankruptcy protection in March- 2006. ;,
Severe financial difficulties at any major automotive manufacturer or automotive supplier could have a
51gn1ﬁcantly dlsrupuve effect on the automotive mdustry in general mcludmg by ]eadmg to labor unres,
supply chdin d1srupt1ons and weakness in demand In pamcular severe ﬁnanc1al dlfﬁcultles at any of our
major suppliers could have a material advérse effect on u§ if we are unable to obtain on a timely basis the
quantity and guality of components we require to produce our products. In addition, such financial difficulties
at any.of our major customers could have a material. adverse impact on us-if such customer was unable to pay
for the products we provide or we experienced a:loss of, .or material reduction in, business from.such - , ..
customer: v+ e,y - o odt holm s s ' ' :

LU

P FR L ¢ BRI : l‘i ' PR B

The hourly workforce in the automotwe industry is highly umomzed and our business could'be
adversely a_ffeoted by labor dtsrupuous.

]

o M LT I L T LI BTN
Although we consrdcr our current relauons wrth our employees to be sansfaetory, |f major work

dlsrupnons were 10 occur, our business could be adversely “affected by, for instance, a loss of revenues,
increased costs or reduced profitability. We have not experienced a material labor disruption in our workforce
in the last ten years, but-there can be no assurance that we will not experience a material labor disruption ‘at
one of our facilities in.the future in the course of renegotiation of our labor arrangements or otherwise. In-
addition, substantially all of the:hourly. employees of.North American vehicle’ manufacturers and many of their
other suppliers are represented by the United Automobilé; Aerospace and-Agricultural Implement Workers of.
America.undericollective: bargaining agreements. Vehicle -manufacturers %nd such suppliers and their employ-:
ees in othet countries are also subject to labor'agreements: A work stoppage or strike at our production
facilities, -at thosé of a significant customer, or at a.significant supplier of ours or any of our customers could -
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have an adverse ifnpact on us by disrupting:demand for our products and/or our ability to manufacture our .
products. . : . :

We.have experienced significant increases in raw materials pricing, and further chauges in the prices -
of raw materials could have a matenal adverse impact on us.

Significant increases in the cost of certain raw materials used in our products, to the extent they are not
timely reflected in the price we charge our customers or otherwise mitigated, could materially and adversely
impact our results. For example, since 2004, weshave. experienced significant increases in processed metal and
steel prices. High stee} prices are expected 1o continue into the foreseeable future. We expect that the pricing
environment for steel will increase our costs by up to $100 mitlion in 2007. We worked hard in 2005 and
2006 and continue to work hard to address: this issue by evaluating alternative materials and processes,
reviewing material substitution opportunities, increasing component and-assembly outsourcing to low cost
countries and aggressively negotiating with our customers to allow us to recover these higher costs from them..
In addition to these actions, we continue to pursue productivity initiatives and review opportunities to reduce
costs through restructuring activities. The situation remains fluid as we continue to pursue these actions and, at
this point, we cannot assure you that these actions and recent increases in new business awards will be
effective in containing margin pressures from these significant raw materials price increases. See “Manage-
ment’s Discussion and Analysis of Fmancnal Conditions and Resu]ts of Operauons — Outlook” mcluded in
Irem 7 for more mformatl()n .

 The cyclicality of automotive production and sales could cause a declme in our financial condttmn and

results,

A decline in automotive sales and production would likely cause a decline in our sales to vehicle
manufacturers, and could result in a decline in our results of operations and financial condition. The
automotive industry has been characterized historically by periodic fluctuations in overall demand for vehicles
due to, among other things, changes in general economic conditions and consumer preferences. These
fluctuations generally result in corresponding flucteations in demand for our products. The highly cyclical
nature of the automotive industry presents a risk that is outside our control and that cannot be accurately ,
predicted. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condltlons and Results of Operauons e
QOutlook™ included in'Item 7 for more information.

FEEE [

We may be unable to reahze our business strategy of improving operating performance and genemnng
savings and tmpravements to help ajfset pricing pressures from our suppliers and customers. '’

We have either implemented or plan to implement strategic initiatives designed to improve our operating
performance. The failure to achieve the goals of these strategic initiatives could have a material adverse effect
on our business, particularly since we rely on these initiatives to offset pricing pressures from our suppliers
and our customers, as described above. We cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully implement -
or realize the expected benefits of any of these initiatives or that we will be able to sustain improvements
made to date. :

We may incur material costs related to product warranties, environmental and regu!atary matters and

-other claims, which could have a material adverse impact on our ﬁnam:ral condition and resuks of

operations. i

From time to time, we receive product warranty claims from our customers, pursuant to which we may.
be required to bear costs of repair or replacement of certain of our products, Vehicle manufacturers are
increasingly requiring their outside suppliers to- guarantee or warrant their products and to be responsible for
the operation of these-component products in new vehicles sold to consumers. Warranty claims may.range
from individual customer claims to full recalls of all products in the field. We cannot assure you' that costs .
associated with providing product warranties will not be material, or that those costs will not exceed any - -
amounts reserved for them in our financial statements. For a description of our accounting policies regarding
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warranty reserves, see “Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condmon and Results of
Operations — Critical Accounting Policies” mcluded in Item 7. . o ‘ :

Additionally, we are sub]ecl toa varlety of enwronmenlal and po]luuon control laws and regulauons in
all Junsdlcuons in which we operate. Soil and groundwater remedlatlon acuvmes are being conducted at .
certain of our current and former real properties. We record liabilities for these activities when environmental
assessments indicate that the remedial efforts are probable and the costs can be reasonably estlmated On this
basis, we have established reserves that we believe are adequate for the remediation activities at our current
and former real properties for which we could be held responsible. Although we believe our estimates of
remediation costs are reasonable and are based on the latest available information, the cleanup costs are
estimates and are subject to revision as.more information becomes available about the extent of remediation -
required. In future periods, we could be subject to cash or non-cash charges to earnings if we are required to .
undertake material additional remediation efforts based on the results of our ongoing analyses of. the
environmental status of our properties, as more information becomes available to us. - ;

We also’ from time to time are involved in legal proceedmgs claims or investigations that are mc1denta]
to the conduct of our business. Some of these proceedings allege damages against us relating to environmental
liabilities, intellectual property matters, personal injury claims, taxes, employment matters or commercial or
contractual disputes. For example, we are subject to a number of lawsuits initiated by a significant number of
claimants alleging health problems’as a result of exposure to asbestos. Many of these cases involve sighificant
numbers of individual claimants. Many of these cases also involve numerous defendants, with the number of
defendants in some cases exceeding 200 defendants from a variety of industries. As major asbestos ..
manufacturers or other «companies that used asbestos in their manufacturing processes continue to go out of
business, we may experience an increased number of these claims. . ‘

We vngorously defend ourselves in connection with all of the matters described above. We cannot,
however - assure you that the costs, charges and'liabilities assoc1ated with these matters will not be material, or
that those costs, charges and liabilities will not exceed any amounts reserved for them in our financial '
statements. In future penods we could be subject to cash costs or non-cash charges to earnings if any of these
matters is resolved unfavorably to us. See “Management’s Discussion’ and ‘Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations — Environmental and Other Matters included in Item 7 for further descrlpuon )

We may have d{fﬁcdlty competing favorably in the highly competitive automotive parts industry.

The automstive parts mdustry is hlghly compemlve Although the overall number of compeutors has
decreased due 1o ongoing mdustry consolidation, we face s:gmﬁcant competmon within each of our major
product areas. The principal competlt:ve factors include price, quallty, service, product performance design
and engineering capabllmes new product innovation, global presence ‘and timely delivery. As a result, marly
suppliers have established or are establishing themselves in emerging, low-cost markets to reduce their costs
of productiod and be more conveniently located for customers. Although we are a]qo pursuing a low-cost”

country production strategy and otherwise continue to seek process 1mprovements ‘to reduce costs, We cannot

assure you that we will be able to continue to compete favorably in this competitive market or that increased
competition will not have a material adverse effect on our business by reducing our ability to increase or
maintain sales or profit margins.

+

The decreasing number of automotive parts customers and suppliers could make it more difficult for us
. fo compete favorably. ... e o S i ,

Our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected because thé customer base
for automotive parts is decreasing in both the original equipment market and aftermarket. As a result, we are
competing for business from fewer customers. Due to-the cost focus of these major customers, we have been,
and expect to continue to be, requested to reduce prices as part-of our initial business quotations and over the
life of vehicle platforms we have been awarded. We cannot be certain that. we will be able to generate cost
savings and operational improvements in the future that are sufficient to offset prlce reductions requested by
existing customers and necessary to win-additional business. , " ; co b
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Furthermore, the trend toward consolidation and bankruptcies among automotive parts suppliers is
resulting in fewer, larger suppliers who benefit from purchasing and distribution economies of scale. If we
cannot achieve cost savings and operational 1mprovements sufficient to allow us to compete favorably in the
future with these larger’ compames our finincial condition and results of operations could be adversely

affected due to a reductlon of, or mablllty to inérease, sales. —_
.r . P 1 ’.“ D . e . Lo

" We may'not be able to successfully respond to the changmg drstrrbunon channels for aﬂermarket
products ' . . . L

Major automotive aftermarket. retailers, such as AutoZone and Advance Auto Parts, are attemptmg to
increase their-commercial sales by selling directly to automotive parts installers in addition to individual -
consumers. These installers have historically: purchased from their local warehouse distributors and jobbers,
who are our more traditional customers.”We cannot assure you that we ‘will be ablé to rmaintain or increase
aftermarket sales through increasing our sales to retailers. Furthermore, because of the cost focus of major = -
retallers we have occasronally been requested to offer price concessions to them. Qur failure to maintain. or
increase aftermarket sales, or to offset 'the” 1mpact of any reduced sales’ or pncmg through cost 1mprovements
could have an adverse 1mpact an our business and operatmg results

r~
L

Longer product lives of gytdmotive pdrts are adversely affecting aftermarket c'iemldnd; for some of our
products.

Ve o . . . .. . .

The average useful life of automotive parts has steadily increased in recent years die’to innovations in
products and technologies. The longer product lives allow vehicle owners to replace parts of their vehicles less
often. As a result, a portion of sales in the aftermarket has been displaced: This ‘has adversely impacted, and
could continue to adversely impact, our aftermarket sales. Also, any additional increases in the,average useful
lives of automotive parts would further adversely affect the demdnd for our aftermarket. products Recently, we
have experienced relattve stab1hzat10n in our, aftermarket business due to our ability to win new customers and
recover steel price increases. However there can. be no assurance that we will be able to mamtmn thts
stablltzatlon Aftermarket, sales representcd approx1mately 23 percent of our net sales for both 2006 and 2005.

Any acquisitions we make could disrupt our business and seriously harm our financial condition.

We-may, from time to time, consider a¢quisitions of complemenary c‘ompanies" products or technologies.
Acquisitions involve Mumerous risks, including difficulties in the assimilation of the acquired businesses, the
diversion of our management s attent1on from other business concems and potenttal advérse effects on exnstmg
business relationships with current eustomers and supplters In, addmon _any acqutsmons could involve the
incurrence of substantial addmonal 1ndebtedness We cannot assure you “that we will be ‘able to successfully .
integrate any acqursmons that We pursue or that such acqutsmons will perform as planned or prove to be
beneficial to our operations and cash flow. Any sueh failure could senously harm .our busmess financial
condmon and résults of operatlons o o .

. N i » - Lt

[ ) :
We are subject 1o’ nsks related, to our mtemauonal operanons R T I C .o

We have manufacturing and distribution facilities in many regions and countries, 1ncludmg Australia,
China, India, North America, Europe and South America, and sell our products worldwide. For 2006,
approximately 58 percent of our net sales were derived from' operations outside Notfth America. International
operations are subject to various risks which could have a material adverse effect on those operations-or our
business as a whole, including: , o

' S -l 1
+ o .

Coor T

. exposure tolocal economlc ‘conditions; ' 31 0 70 teah e

1 .
® vy L4 ‘. o

- exposure to local polmcal cond1ttons mcludmg the nsk of seizure of assets by a foreign govemment,

. exposurc to local socml unrest mcludmg any resultant’ actq of war terrorism or similat’ events '
. , y . e *

+ exposure 1o local pub]lC health issues and the resultant 1mpact on economic and polmcal COl‘ldlthllS
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. hypennﬂatlon in certain forelgn countnes
* controls on the repatnatlon of cash, including lmposmon or increase of w1thholdmg and other taxes on
rerruttances and other payments by foretgn subsndranes and . . o N :
*. eXport; and lmport restrictions.»” - - " an 1 S I

RS .o I E‘ . ' B B 1] LR B B T OIS L L L i

Exchange rate fluctuations could cause a decline in our financial condition and results of operatmns. *

As.a result of our international operations, we generate a significant: portion of our net sales and. incur a

significant portion-of-our expenses in: currencies' other than'the U.S. dollar. To the extent'we are unable to- ™.

match revenues received .in-foreign currencies with costs paid in the same currency, exchange rate’ fluctuations
in thaticurrency.could ‘have a‘material adverse effect on our-business. For example; where we have . - ;.
significantly more costs than revenues generated in a foreign currency,'we are subject to risk if the: foreign °
currency in which: our.‘costs are paid appreciates against the currency in which we generate revenue because
the appreciation effecttvely mcreases our cost in that country S oo e E

+

. vl ow ” N
The ﬁnancral condmon and results of operauons of some of our operatmg entitres are repo‘ned’ln forergn
currenc1es and then translated into, U. s. dollars at the. appl1cable exchange rate for inclusion i 1n our, ;. )
consolndated ﬁnanc1al statements As a result apprec1atlon of the U.S. dollar agamst these forelgn currenc1es _
generally ‘will have a neganve lmpact ‘on our reported reventes and operatmg proﬁt while deprecrauon of the
U.S. dollar against these foreign currencies will generally have a positive effect on reported revenues and
operating profit. For example, our European operations were posmvely impacted in 2004 and 2006 due to the
strengthening of the Euro against the U.S. dollar. However, in 2005, the doilar strengthened agamst the Euro
which had a negative effect on our results of operations. Our South American operations were negatively
impacted by the devaluation in 2000 of the Brazilian currency as well as by the devaluation of the Argentine
currency in 2002. We do not generally seek to mitigate this translation effect through the use of derivative (.
financial instruments.
R B T AT A A LA 1 B L LA T .
Further significant changes in our stockholder compasition may jeopardize our ability to use some or”
all of our, net operating loss carryforwards, ,

As of December 31, 2006, we had U.S!Fedéral tax net operatmg loss (“NOL") carryforwards of -
$634 miillion available to reduce taxable income in fiiture: years, and these NOL carryforwards expire’in
various years through 2026.! The federal tax efféct of these’ NOLS is $222 million and is'recorded as a defefred
tax asset on our balance sheet as of December 31, 2006. We also have state NOL carryforwards at = "
December 31, 2006 of $585 million, -which will expire in various years. through 2026, The, tax effect of the
state NOL net of a valuauon allowance is $29, mllllon and i 1s recorded as a- deferred tax asset on our balance ,
sheet at December 31, 2006. Our’ abrlrty to utrllze our NOL carryforwards could become sub_]ect to srgmﬁcant
limitations under Section 382 of the Internal Revemie Code (“Section 382”) if we undergo a majority
ownership change.' We.would undergo a‘majority ownership change if, among other things, the stockholders
who own or have owned, directly-or indirectly, five percent or more of our'‘common ‘stock or are otherwise

treated as five percent stockholders undet Section 382 and the régulations promulgated thereunder, increase -,

their aggregate percentage ownership'of our stock by more than 50 percentage points over-the lowest
percentage of stock owned by these stockholders at any time during the testing period, which is generally the-
three-year period precedmg the potentlal ownershrp change. In the event of a, rna]onty ownership change,
Section 382 i imposes. an annual lmutatlon on the amount of takable i mcome a corporatlon may offset with the
NOL carryforwards Any unused annual llmltauon may ‘be camed over 10 later years until the appltcable
explratton of the respectwe NOL carryforwards If we were to undergo a ma_|or1ty ownershlp change, we
would be reqmred fo record a reserve for some or alt of the asset currently recorded on our balance sheet ‘As
of December 31, 2006, we believe that there has not been a significant change in our ownership dunng the
prior three years. We cannot, however, assure you-that we-will not undergo'a majority ownership change in the
future. Further, because an ownership change for federal tax purposes can occur based on tradestamong our.
existing stockholders, whether we undergo a majority ownership change may-be.a matter beyond our control: .
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We have disclosed a material weakness in our internal control-over financial reporting relating to our
accounting for income taxes which could adversely affect our ability to report our f‘ nanctal candman
and results of operatmns accurately and on a timely basis. ‘

In connection with out assessment of internal control over financial repomng under Sectlon 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting
relating to our accounting for income taxes as of December 31, 2006. For a discussion of our internal control
over financial reporting and a description of the identified material weakness, see “Management’s Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting” under Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

A material weakness in,our internal control over financial reporting could adversely impact our ability to

- provide timely and accurate financial information. While we have taken measures to strengthen our internal -
controls in response to the identified material weakness related to accounting for income taxes, and engaged
outside professionals to assist us-in our. efforts, additional work remains to be done to address the identified
material weakness. If we are unsuccessful in implementing or following our remediation plan; we may not be
able to timely or accurately report our financial condition, results of operations or.cash-flows or maintain,
effective disclosure controls and procedures. If we are unable to report financial information timely and .
accurately or to maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures, we could be Sub_]CCt to, among other
things, regulatory or enforcement actions “by the SEC and the NYSE, mcludmg a delisting from the NYSE,
securities lmgatton debt rating agency downgrades or ratmg withdrawals, and'a general loss of investor ~* "
confidence,” any one of which could adversely affect our husmess prospects and the valyation of our common
stock. ' o

.o T . ) . .. p T
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF'COMMENTS.

None, v : C . R

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES. ~ '™ - ot 7 Ce : : ' -

We lease our pnnc1pal executive offices, which are located at 500 North Field Drive, Lake Forest Illinois,
60045. .. e :

Walker’s consolidated businesses operate 14 manufacturing facilities in the U.S: and 39 manufactiring
facilities outside of the U.5., operate five engineering and technical facilities worldwide and share two other
such facilities with Monroe. Twenty-two of these manufacturing plants are JIT facilities. Walker operates four.
additional manufacturing facilities outside. of the U.S. through four non-controlled joint ventures three of .
which are JIT facilities. RN C < " C

. . . 1

Monroe’s consolidated busmesses operate eight manufactunng facilities m "the U.S. and 22 manufacturing
facilities outside the U.S., operate’ 7 enginéering and technical facilitics worldwtde and share two other such
facilities with Walker Five of these manufactunng plants are JIT facnhues )

' + i

- The above-described. manufaetunng locatlons outside of the U.S. are located in Argentina, Australia,

Belgium, Brazil, Canada, China, the Czech Republic, Denmark, France, Germany, India, Mexico, New

. Zealand, Poland, Portugal, Russia, Spain, South Africa, Sweden, Thailand and the United Kingdom, We also
have sales offices located in Australia, Argentina, China, Croana,,Egypt Greece, Hungary, ltaly, Japan Korea,
Lithuania, Singapore, Turkey and the Ukraine. . JE T . .

‘We own appr0x1mately one half of the propemes descnbed above and lease the other half. We hold
twelve of the above described mtematlonal manufacturing facilities through seven joint ventures in which we
own a controlling interest. In addltton we hold four others through four joint ventures in which we owna
non-controlling interest. We also have distribution faellmes at our manufacturing sites and at a few offsne '
locations, substannally all of which we lease

We believe that substantially all of our plants and equtpment are, in general; well maintained and in good
operating condition. They are considered adequate for present needs and, as supplemented by planned
construction, are expected to remain adequate for the near future. - ‘
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-We also believe that we have generally satisfactory title to the propertles owned and used in our -
respective busmesses

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As of December 31, 2006, we .are designated as a potentially respon51ble party in one Superfund site.
Including the Superfund site, we may have the obligation to remediate current or former facilities, and .we
estimate our share of environmental remediation costs at these facilities to be approximately $8 million. For
the Superfund site and the current and former facilities, we have established reserves that we believe are -1
adequate for these costs. Although we believe our estimates of remediation costs are reasonable and are based
on the latest available information, the cleanup costs are estimates and are subject to.revision as more
information becomes available about the extent of remediation required. At some sites, we expect that other
parties will contribute to the remediatton costs. In addition, at the Superfund site, the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act provides that our liability could be joint and several,
meaning that we could be required to pay in excess of our share of remediation costs. Our understanding of -
the financial strength of other potentially responsible parties at the Superfund site, and of other liable parties
at our current.and former facilities, has been considered, where appropriate, in our determination of our
estimated liability. : . " o C

We believe that any potential costs associated with our current status as a potentially responsible party in
- the Superfund site, or as a liable party at our current or former facilities, will not be matenal t0 our resu]ts of
operations or consolidated financial position. ' -

From time to time we are subject to product warranty claims whereby we are required to bear costs of
repair or replacement of certain of our products. Warranty claims may range from individual customer claims
to full recalls of all products in the field. We believe that our-warranty reserve is appropriate; however, actual
claims incurred could differ from the original estimates requiring adjustments to the reserve. The reserve is
included in current liabilities on the balance sheet See Note 12 to our consolidated financial statements
included under Item 8 for information regarding our warranty reserves.

t

We also from time to time are involved in legal proceedings, claims or investigations that are incidental.
to the conduct of our business.. Some of these proceedings allege damages against us relating to environmental
liabilities (including toxic tort, property damage and remediation), intellectual property matters (including
patent, trademark and copyright infringement, and licensing disputes), personal injury claims (including.
injuries due to product failure, design or warnings issues, and other product liability related matters), taxes,
employment matters;.and commercial or contractual disputes, sometimes related to acquisitions or divestitures.
For example, one of our Chinese joint ventures is currently defending a legal proceeding by Chinese
government officials related to whether the joint venture applied the proper tariff code to certain of its imports.
We vigorously defend ourselves against all of these clalms. In future periods, we could be subjected to cash
costs or non-cash charges to earnings if any of these matters is resolved on unfavorable terms. However,
although the ultimate outcome of any legal matter cannot be predicted with certainty, based on present '
information, including our assessment of the merits of the particular claim, we do not expect that these legal
proceedings or claims will have any material adverse 1mpact on our future consolidated financial posmon or
results of operations, -.-f. - , . ‘

In addmon we are sub_]ect to a number of lawsuits initiated by a sngmﬁcant number of clalmants allegmg
health problems as a result of exposure to asbestos. A small percentage of claims have been asserted by
railroad workers alleging exposure to asbestos products in railroad cars manufactured by The Pullman
Company, one of our subsidiaries. Nearly all of the ¢laims are related to alleged exposure to asbestos i in our
automotive emission control products. Only a small percentage of these claimants allege that they were
automobile mechanics and a significant number appear to involve workers in other industries or otherwise do
not include sufficient information to determine whether there is any basis for a claim against us. We believe, -
based on scientific and other evidence, it is unlikely that mechanics were exposed to asbestos by our former
muffler products and that, in any event, they would not be at increased risk of asbestos-related disease based
on their work with these products. Further, many of these cases involve numerous defendants, with the number
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of each in:some cases-exceeding 200-defendants.from a variety of industries.- Additionally, the plaintiffs either
do not specify any, or specify the jurisdictional minimum, dollar amount for damages. As major asbestos
manufacturers continue to go out of business or file for bankruptcy, we may experience an increased number
of these claims. We vigorously defend ourselves against these claims as part- -of;our-ordinary course of . ., ¢,
business. In future periods, we could be subject to cash costs or non-cash charges to earnings if - any of these
matters is resolved unfavorably to us. To date; with respect to claims that have proceeded sufficiently- through
the judicial process, we have regularty achieved favorable resolution. Accordingly, we presently. believe that
these asbestos-related claims 'will not have: 2’ material’ adverse impact on out. future ﬁnancral condition or ..
results ofoperatlons' RIS OIS P Y TR R L B .

! ' 3 Pt . ot . . L ca. o
Ao ‘e = st e 1. Moe o . R

lTEM 4 SUBM[SSION OF MATTERS TO AVOTE OF SECUR[TY HOLDERS o

No matters were submltted to the vote of seeurny holders durmg the fourth quarter of 2006

l J', EE.
ITEM 4.1. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT. * " " - e
- The following provides information concerning the persons who serve as our executive officers as 'of

March 1, 2007 -For periods pnor ito November- 4, 1999, the'date of -the 1999 -Pactiv: spin-off; references to

service to “us” or “our company” reflect services to Old Tenneco’s automotive operations. P
Name (and Age at

Je

Decembet 31,2006) N et “Offices Had - "
Gregg Shemll (53) e, D Chalrman of the Board of Dlrectors and Chlef Execunve Ofﬁcer ..
Timothy R. Donovan (51) ........... ~ Executive Vice President, Strategy and Busmess Development,
g o - General Counsél = © + - ' L
Han N. Na1r (46) . ..........700".  Executive Vicé President and' Managmg Drrector — Europe, -
Lo - ' " South ‘Americd and India * * " ’
Kenneth R Trammel] (46). o - L Executwe Vlce Presrdent and Chlef Fmancral Ofﬁcer v 'I"“_
Brent J. Bauer (51) RO l' ......... . lSemor Vice Presrdent and’ General Manager— North Amencan
Original Equipiment Emission Control' "
Neal Yanos' (44) oo oawsEbaeswn oo, -Sendor Vice President and General Manager— North American
ceeny o o D be o wlea s Original Equipment Ride Control and North American
oF ' . Aftermarkct TRl o 8oLl . . R et gt
Tlmothy E Jaekson (49) ..... “v..th. Senior Vice Président —Global TechnOIOgy and Managmg e
v RN R Director, Asia Pacific ., -. N R
Richard P Schnelder (59)--. KT -Senior Vice Presldent—Global Administration* * ¢ 1 e
Paul Schultz (56). Ui IS e Senior Vice President— Global Manufactunng and Supply Cham
pote TRt e e Management T :
Paul D. Novas (48) .‘;_:. ' '. ' Lo ."' Vrce Presrdent and’ Control]er o e e - "
1. Jeffrey Zlmmerman (47) S ; - Vlce Presrdent— Law and Corporate Secretary T .'

‘Gregg Sherrill = Mr, Shemll was named the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Tenneco in-
January 2007. Mr. Sherrill joined us from Johnson Controls-Inc., where he served since 1998, most recently as
President, Power Solutions. From 2002 to 2003, Mr. Sherrill served as the Vice President and:Managing -
Director of Europe, South Africa and South America for Johnson Controls Automotlve Systems Group Prior
to jommg Johnson Controls "Mr. Shemll held vanous englneermg and manufactunng assrgnments over a
22-year span at Ford Motor" Company, ‘including | Plant Managet of Ford’s Dearbom, Mlchlgan éngine plant
and Drrector of Suppller Technleal Ass1stance Mr Sherrill became a dlrector of our. company m January v
2007." " o , o S
. [T A ‘11- T R v ",";""" 3 ' [T T I T A L
Tumothy R. Donovan — Mr Donovan.resigned as a director of our company, -effective February 28 .
2007 ‘He has agreed.to. remain as an executive officer of our company through mid-March 2007.-Mr. Donovan
was named Executive Vice President, Strategy and Business Development in July 2005. He was promoted to
Executive .Vice President.in December 2001 and was niamed-Senior Vice President:and General Counsel-in:i
August 1999:-Mr. Denovan also is«in.charge of our worldwide Environmental, Health and Saféty Program.
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From October 2004 through-July 2005, M. Donovan served as Managing, Director-Asia Pacific, with =+
- responsibility for Austratia, New Zealand, Asia and the Japanese originil equipment busiriess worldwide. From
May 2001 through October 2004, he served as Managing Director. of our International Group with responsibil-
ity for all of our operations. in-Asia and South Americh; as well as the Japanese original equipment busingss
worldwide. From July:2006 until January2007.during our search:for our' new Chiéf Executive Officer, he» ., .
served as a member of our interim management committee known as the Office of the Chief Executivé. - '«
Mr. Donovan was a partner in the law firm of Jenner & Block from 1989 until his reqlgnatlon in September

1999, and from approxlmately 1997 through 999 served as the Chalnnan of Jenner & Block’s Corporate and .

Securities Department and as a, member of its Executrve Commmee He is also a director of John B. .
Sanﬁllppo & Son, Inc., ‘where he is 4 member of its' Compensatlon Commtttee and.is the Chalrman of 1ts '

Audit’ Commntee Mr. Donovan became a dlrector of our company m March 2004 o o 1 oae
" . F 2N S C* AR

Hari N. Nair — Mr, Naii' was named ‘our Executrve Vice Presrdent and Mariaging Director -~ Europe R
effective June 2001: His responsibilities were expanded to mclude;Tenneco s South American and Indian
operanons dunng 2005. Prevrously he was Semor Vice President and Managing Drrector — lntemanonal Pnor
to December 2000 Mr. Nair was. the Vice Pres1dent and Managrng Director, — Emerging Markets Prevmusly,
Mr. Natr was the Managmg D1rector for 'I‘enneco Automotive, Asra based in Singapore and responsnble for all-
operatlons ‘and development pro_]ects in Asia. He began his’ career with the.former-Tenneco Inc. in 1987,
holding various positions in strategtc -planning, marketmg, busmess development quahty and ﬁnance From_
July; 2006. until January 2007tdunng our search for our new. Chlef Executlve Officer, he served as a member .
of our interim management committee known as the Ofﬁce of, the Chlef Execunve Prior to Jommg Tenneco ;
Mr. Nair was a senror financial analyst at 'Géneral Motors Corp focusmg on European operattons

T T . viire o : ¥ S il

. Kenneth R. Trammell — Mr. Trammell was-promoted to Executwe Vlce Presrdent and-Chief Financial.

Officer in January 2006. Mr. Trammell- was named our Senior-Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in - ,-

September 2003, having served as our Vice President and Controller-from September 1999, From April 1997,
to November -1999 he served as Corperate Controller, of Tenneco. Inc. He joined Tenneco, Inc. in-May 1996 as
Assistant Controller. From July 2006 until January 2007 during our search for our new Chief Executive _ _,, -
Officer, he served as a member of our mtenm management committee known as the Office of the Ch:ef

Executtve Before Jotnlng Tenneco' Inc.; Mr Trammell spent "12 yéars wrth the lntemauonal publlc accountmg
b .

1 I||.

firm"of Arthur Andersen LLP last servmg as a senior manager

I L P B L : r

Brent J. Bauer — M. Bauér joined 'Tenneco Automotrve in August 1996 as'a- -Plant Manager ancl was ;"

named Vice President and General Manager — European Original Equipment Emission Control in September
1999, Mr., Bauer was named Vice President and General Manager — European and North American Original
Equipment Emission Control in July 2001. Currently, Mr. Bauer serves as the Senior Vice President and
General Manager — North American Original Equipment Emission Control. Prior to joining Tenneco, he was
employed at AeroquipVickers Corporation for 20 years in ‘positions_ of i mcreasmg responsibility serving most
recently as Director of Operations.

Neal Yanos — Mr. Yanos was named our Senior Vice President and Geéneral Manager — North American
Original Equipment Ride Control and North American Aftermarket in May 2003. He joined our Monroe ride
control division as a process engineer in 1988 and since that time has served in a broad range of assignments
including product engineering,. strategic planning, business development, finance, program management and
* marketing, including Director of our North American original equipment GM/VW business unit and most
recently as our Vice President and General Manager — North American Original Equipment Ride Control
from December 2000, From July 2006 until January 2007 during our search for our new Chief Executive
Officer, he served as a member of our interim management committee known as the Office of the Chief
Executive. Before joining our company, Mr. Yanos was employed in various engineering positions by Sheller
Globe Inc from 1985 to 1988. - '

Timothy E. Jackson — Mr. Jackson joined us as Senior Vice President and General Manager — North
American Original Equipment and Worldwide Program Management in June 1999. He served in this position
until August 2000, at which time he was named Senior Vice President — Global Technology. From 2002 to0
2005, Mr. Jackson served as Senior Vice President — Manufacturing, Engineering, and Global Technology. In
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Fuly 2005, Mr. Jackson was named Senior Vice President — Global Technology and General Manager, Asia
Pacific. Mr. Jackson.joined us from ITT Industries where he was President of that‘company’s Fluid Handling
Systems Division. With over 20 year$ of management experience, 14 within. the automotive industry, he was
also Chief- Executive Officer for HiSAN, a joint venture between ITT Industries and Sanoh Industrial -
Company. Mr.Jackson has also served in senior management posmons at BF Goodrich Aerospace and General
Motors Corporation.” ° SRR ‘

Rlchard P. Schnerder — Mz, Schnelder was named as our Senior Vice Presrdent — Global Admlmstra-
tion in connectron with the 1999 Spin-Off and i s responsible for the development and implementation of
human resources programs and policies and employee communications activities for our worldwide’ operatlons
Prior to thé 1999 Spin- -Off, Mr. Schoeidér served as our Vice President — Human Resources. He Jomed us'in .
1994 from-International Paper Company where, durmg his 20 year tenure, he held key positions in'labor
relations, management development, personnel administration and equal employment opportunity.

Paul Schultz — Mr. Schultz was named ‘our ‘Sénior Vice President — Global Supply Chain Management
in April 2002, ‘In July 2005, Mr. Schultz was also named Senior Vice President of Global Manufacturing. Prior
to joining the company, Mr. Schultz was the Vice President, Supply ‘Chain Management at Ingersoll -Rand .
Company. Mr. Schultz joinéd Ingersoll-Rand in '1998 as Vice Presrdent Strategic Sourcing for ‘theirjoint
venture company, lngersoll Dresser Pump. He'was later promoted to Vice President, Manufacturing Opera- -
tions, where he successfully introduced-and led the Six Sigma initiativé. Prior to joining Ingersoll- -Rand, :
Mr. Schultz was with AlliedSignal (now Honeywell International)  where he served for 25 years in staff and -
management posrtlons Most recently, he was Corporate Director, Global Commodlty Managemem

Paul D. Novas — Mr. Novas was named our Vice President and Corltroller in July 2006. Mr. Novas
served as Vice President, Finance and Administration for Tenneco Europe from January 2004 umtil July 2006
and as Vice President and Treasurer of Tenneco from-November 1999 until January 2004. Mr. Novas joined:
Tenneco in 1996 as assistant treasurer responsible for corporate finance and North American treasury
operations. Prior to _]ommg Tenneco, Mr. Novas worked in the treasurer $ ofﬁce of General Molors Corporation
for ten years : .o !

J. Jeffrey Zimmerman — Mr. Zimmerman has served as Vice Presrdent - l..aw and Corporate Secretary
of Tenneco since May 2006. Mr. Zimmerman Jomed Tenneco in January, 2000 as Corporate Counsel. He was
promoted to Assistant General Counsel in April, 2001 and to Vice President — Law in July 2004, Prior to
joining Tenneco, Mr. Zimmerman was a partner in the law firm of Jenner & Block from 1993 to 1999. -

Lo D

30




PART II o ) N o

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MAT- |
TERS, AND ISSUER REPURCHASES OF EQUITY SECUR[TIES

Our outstanding shares of commorl stock par value $.01 per sharc are listed on the New York, Chicago

and London Stock Exchanges. The followmg table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sales ‘

prlces of our common- stock’ on the New York Stock Exchange Composnte Transactions Tape.

s - " Sales Prices

Quarter . High Low
2006 - L

ISt oo P B $2333  $19.61
2nd......... e, DU e b P 2755 2064
3 e e L., 2639 2003
4th....... S e e e L. 2534 2141
2005 : - . - ‘

A A S S [ N S S $17.36  $12.07
2nd. .. ... ... e 1722 1155
BE e e e e e L. 2006 | 7.16.30
A oo DR 1995 . 1570

As of February 20, 2007, there were approximately 22,631 holders of record of -our common- stock,
including brokers and other nominees. ; '

The declaration of dividends on our common stock ‘is’at the discretion of our Board of Directors. The
Board has not adopted a dividend policy as such; subject to legal and contractual restrictions,:its decisions
regarding dividends are based on all considerations that in its business judgment are relevant at the time. .
iThese considerations may include past and projected earnings, cash flows, economic, business and securities
market conditions and anticipated developments concerning our business and operations. :

We are highly leveraged and restricted with respect to the payment of dividends under the terms of our
financing arrangements. On January 10, 2001, we announced that our Board of Directors eliminated the .
regular quarterly dividend on the Company’s common stock. The Board took this action in response to then-
current industry conditions, primarily greater than anticipated production volume reductions by original

equipment manufacturers in North America and continued softness in the global aftermarket. We have not paid

dividends on our common stock since the fourth quarter of 2000. There are no current plans to relnstate a

dividend on our common stock, as the Board of Directors intends to retain any earnings for use in our business

for the, foreseeable future. For additional information concerning our payment of dividends, see Item 7,
Management ) DISCUSSIOH and Analysis of Fmanc1a1 Condition and Results of Operatlons

See Item 12, “Secunty Ownership of Certam Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters” for information regarding securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans. .

Purchase of equity securities by the issuer and affiliated purchasers

v The following table provides information relating to our purchase of shares of our common stock in the
fourth quarter of 2006. All of these purchases reflect shares withheld upon vesting of restricted stock to satisfy
minimum tax withholding obligations. Lo ‘ :

Lo - ‘Total Number of Average Price

Period . B v B - . Shares Purchased Paid
October 2006 . ... .ot e 345  $23.59
November 2006 . . . ............... P e = —
December 2006 .. .... o N —,. i
B 1 1 ' 345 L N $23 59

KN

We presently have no publicly announced repurchase plan or program, but mtend to continue o e.ausfy

I

- statutory minirnurm tax withholding obligations in connection with the vesting of outstandmg restricted stock

through the withholding of shares. 7 AR

31




ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA."

TENNECO INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES | .« |
. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

A RN i Rl - L I

T . ..>N0te‘(a) o
.- . Years Ended December 31, .
. - 2006 2008 2004 2003 2002
. o {Millions Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

Statements of Income (Loss) Data: :

Net sales and operating revenues — _ SRR

" North America .......... Lot 30 L9660 8 2,034 § 1,966 $ 1,887 $ 1,906

Europe, South America and Indla 2,387 2,110 1,940 1,611 1,367

, Asia Paclﬁc ..... T “436 . 371 380 32 236

Intergroup sales. . ... ..., {104) C (T4 (73 T T (54 (50)

7 . § 4685 $ 4441 § 4213 § 3766 $ 3459
Iﬁcome t;ei’ore interest expense, income - '_ i
“’taxes, and minority interest — o : "

"+~North America ................. $ - 103 § ©145+% 7 133 % - 129 § 129

Europe,. South America and India . . . . con 8L s e 54 e s 21,y 0 e 2207 0 - 23

AsiaPacific. . .................. 12 6 ... 20 . -+ .23, - '17

vTotal ..o . 2.y .o e e e 196 0 215 0 - Y74 L. L 174 - 169

Interest expense (nel’of interest o Wil Ve SRR B L "
capitalized) . . 1. ... L. tolaarear 1360 0 L1300 0 AT9 o o T 149 . 141

Income tax.expense (benefit): .. .- e - CeM3 o L2500 Tt (24) (D (D

Minority interest. . ... .. o e RN ) S2ve Y 4 ‘ & 4

Income before cumulative effect of change T s S e e T A
in accountmg pnnc:ple L . ) .‘L_SJI ‘ B e T N _3”1'-

Cumulative effecl of change in accounung ) v, . . o, . '
pnncnplc net of i income tax(b) ...... - — - — L = ~ (218)

Net-i income (loss) e DR 51,%. * 58 $ 15 8 .. 260 %, . (187)

Average number of sharés of common ) o o o N a=' e U " _' )

" stock outstandmg EET L : : i Poves -. -vr.-. T . L
Basic .. ....1.. 0 ... (4462522077 43,088,558 41.534.810° 40426136 39,795:481
Diluted.......... L. o 46,755,573 45321225 44,180460 41,767,959 41,667,815

Earnings (loss) per average shiare of ' e o L S ) ]
common ‘stock — - L T e cetean o ra : tlen
Basic: . JUEE T . L e : . . A e

Before cumulative effect of change in  * = *° S AR e
+ accounting principle~.. ., ... .... ¥ .15, $:. 135 § - 037.:8 . 064 $ 078
Cumulative effect of change in R S T S SEE TP e o
accounting principle(b). .. ....... — — b S oar = e -(5.48)
'7 o N g 3 1.15 - § 135 % 037 % 064 § 4.70)
Diluted: *. -~ - . o S Py
Before cumulative effect of change in C o - A - B s
. accounting principle ... . ... ... .. $ 1o 80 129 %3, 035 % 0 -062 % 074
* Cumulative effect of change in _ - L
accountmg pnm:lple(b) .......... — — - — — (5.48)
: s h P ' oot L s VNS . .
o s oyt 12908 O35S 082 5 (474
Cash amdends per common share . . ... .. $ — 3 — % T T T . Y
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hiute(a)

Years Ended December 31,

2005

2004

2003 2002

- ‘ T

Balance Sheet Dau.a:.

S . T . S R LN
Total aSSets. . .+ o ov e LT 53268 $2000 83,019 52,852, 82,565
Short-term debt. ..~ .. ... ... 28 22 19° 20 228
Long-term debt. .. ... .. A el T 1500 13560 1401 14100, 1,217
Minority interest. . . ... .. ... 28 TN YR < S 1
Shareholders® equity-. .. .. ... ... o S22 129 4159 ¢ '5_165 -F7‘,(86)
Statement of Cash Flows Data: o e o ol )
Net cash provided by operating activities . .. ................. '$ 199 $ 131§ 214 $ 289 $ 195.
Net cash used by investing activities. . . . . . e i n o e (1D (182 (130) 5 *(135) - * (114)
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities . ... w VI ... ... 16 - (36) (12y 4 (49 (73)
. Cash Payments for plant, propcrty and equ1pment R S A7T. wr141, 041310 - 130« 138
Other Data: - - e A S S S AN A Al e ,'-' .
EBITDA(C) ... @ vvvvnnn.. ERL Sl Cr b $+3800 % 392 '$0351¢§ 337§ 313
Ratio of EBITDA to interest expensc .- ...... S . Blevaenn o 2.79 302. 0 196 - .226 . .2.22
Ratio of total debt to EBITDA .. 7. .. L Lt ..o 0363 3:52 4051 + 424 - 462
Ratio of eamings to fixed charges(d) ...... USRI TSR Y [ L JRS Xy AT X r A B LR B
Working capital as a percent of sa]es(e) e Tt 25% L C22% 1.2%¢ . 2.4% ' 4.0%

(Millions Except Ratio and Percent Amounts) B

NCTE: Our ﬁnancml statements for the thrce years’ cnded December 31, 2006, whnch are dlscusscd in the foilowmg ‘notes,

are included in this Form: 10-K under Item 8. W

. v
i PSS N T N

,.n

.ll;*

(a) Fora dlscuselon of the significant items affcctmg compa:abxhty of the ﬁnancnal information for the years ended 2006,
, 2005 and 2004' see Ttem 7, “Management’s Discussion and Ana]ysxs of Fmancml Condmon and Results lof Opera-
~ tions.” Prior to lhe first quarlcr of 2005, inventories in the U.S. based operatlons (17 pcrccm and 19 percent of our total

consolidated inventories at Decr:mber a1, 2004 and 2003, rcspecuvcly) were' valued usmg 'thé last-if, f" rstzout (“LlFO”)
method and al! othér inventories Were valued i usmg the first-in, fi rql-out (“FIFO™) or avcrage cost methods at the lower
“of cost or I market value, Effectlve January 1, 2005, we changcd our ‘accounting method for valumg mventory for our
U.S. based” opcrauons from ‘the LIFO method to'the FIFO 'method. As a result, all U.S. mventones are now stated at
the lower of cost, determined on a FIFO basis, or market. We elected to change (o the FIFO method 'a§ we believe it is
preferable for the. followmg reasons: 1) the change will provide better matching of revenue and expenditures and’ 2) the
change will achleve greater consmtcncy in valuing our global inventory. Additionally, we initially adopted LIFO as it
prowdcd certain U.S, tax bénefits which we no lenger realize due to our U.S. net operating losses (when applied for
tax purposes, tax ‘laws requlrc that LIFO be applied for GAAP as well). As a result of the change, we also expect 10
realize administrative éfficienciés. In accordance with GAAP, the change in inventory accounting has been applied by
restating prior year’s financial statements. The effect of the change oo our financial position-and results of operalions

are prcsented below. .

PO "t Vo R Lol e .
Invemones ....... P T i e
Deferred income tax assets (noncurrent) ... ... ... .. e
Shareholders" equily . ........ ... . i R T I
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As of December 31,

Y

. 2004...

'$14"
$(5)
$9

3

- 2003 ;- 2002

, {Millions}

Increase (Decrease)
$11 $13
$@ ' 85

J¥7.. 88,




; " ) ~ Years Ended December 31,
~ . . : 2004 2003 2002
T - ) - (Millions except per
’ ‘ share amounts)
Income (loss) before interest expense, income taxes and minority interest , ..., ...... $ 38 (@ =" o
LT :

Income tax expense {(benefit) ... .. .. A e 1 1y .—
Income, (loss) before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle and net income . . .
(loss) e e $ 2 5 1y -
,lBasic earnings (loss) picr share of common stock .. ....... .. . . . i e $0.04  $(0.03) , 3:
Diluted earﬁings (loss) per share of common stock . . ... ... ................5 7 $0.04" $(0.03) —

. While this has no impact on our congsolidated results, it changes our segment results.

®)

* ()

(d)

' You should also.read Note 4 to the consolidated financial, statements included in- ltcm 8 for a discussion of the changes

'and Consolidated Subsidiaries, appearing in Item 8, for additional information,

Increase (Decrease)

¥
.

in our results due to the change in our method for valuing inventory. .-, . '.

In October 2004 and July 2005, we announced a change in the falruclure ofour orgamzauon which changcd the compo-
nents of our reportable segments. The European segment now includes our South American and Indian operations. , * -

3

In 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142 which changed the accounting for purchased goodwill from an amortization
method to an impairment-only approach. You should also read the notes to the financial Statements of Tenneco Inc.

EBITDA represents income before extraordinary item, cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, interest °
expense, income taxes, minority interest and depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is not a calculation based upon
generally accepted accounting principles. The amounts included in the EBITDA calculation, however, are derived from
amounts included in the historical statements of income data. In addition, EBITDA should not be-considered as-an
alternative to net income or operating income as an indicator of our operating performance, or as an alternative to
operating « cash flows as a measure of liguidity. We have rcponcd EBITDA because we regularly review EBITDA as a
measure of our company’s performance. In addition, we believe our debt holders utilize and analyze our EBITDA for
similar purposes. We also believe EBITDA assists investors in comparing a company’s pcrformance on a consistent
basis without regard to deprccmuon and amortization, which can vary significantly depending upon many factors.
Howevcr the EBITDA measure presented in this document may not always be compatable to similarly tll]ed measures
reported by, other companies due to differences in the cornponenls of the calculation. EBITDA is derived from the
statements of income (loss) as follows: . .

L . . . . Note(a)

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

oLy

Y

) . {Millions)
Net income (loss)'. e e e e, $51 $58° $15 %26 S$(187)
Cumulative effect of change én accounting principle, net of income - .. . ‘

L S — — — — 218
Minority interest . .. ...... e e e e e e 6 2 4 6 "4
Income tax expense (benefit). . . . . ... ..ooiiiui i 3 25 (29 (7. N
Interest éxpense, net of interest capitalized . ... ........ ... ... .. 136 130 179 149 141
Depreciation and amortization of other intangibles ............... 184 177 177 163 144
Total EBITDA, ...... ... ... . ... ..... AT $380  $392  $351 $337 §$313

For purposes of computing this ratio, earnings generally consist of income before income taxes and fixed charges
excluding capitalized interest. Fixed charges consist of interest expense, the portion of rental expense considered repre-
sentative of the interest factor and capitalized interest. For the year ended December 31, 2004, earnings were insuffi-
cient by $6 million to cover fixed charges. See Exhibit 12 to this Form 10-K for the calculation of this ratio.
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(e) For.'purposes of computing working capital as a percentage. of sales, we exclude cash and the cutrent portion of long -,

- term debt from the calculation. We exclude these items becanse we manage our working capital activity through cash
and short term debt. To include these items in the calculation would distort actual workmg cap:tal changes. Our calcu-
lation of working capital as a percentage of sales is as follows: , .+

R ’ [SEF Note(a)'
Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
{Dollar amount in Millions.
' B Except Percentage Amounts}
Current-Assets: S R ; } .. N . T
 Receivables — Customer notes and'accounts, pet. ........- § 579 § 515 $°458 § 427 § 3%4
' Reccwablcs——-Other. O i.ov 25 .. 28 +'30° 15 © 1§
" Inventories. . v ..t . ... SURE U TR Lt 439 ' 360 396+ 354 365
Deferred income taxes . ......... AU RN 7 4 70 63 56"
"Prepayments and other ... ... 1. T 125 . 100 24 104 95
- s T 100 51056 31078 § 963§ 925
Current Liabilities: ‘ I T e L
. Trade payables. .. .......... P ST $ 782 $ 651 $ 696 $ 621 $ 505
AcCTUEd (AXES . & 0. i e . 49 ' 3] 24 .19 40
Accrued-interest . . .. L Ll CooSoooto... a0l 835 42 23
Accrued liabilities ... .. ............ SR " 200 (208 2260 162 172
Other accruals . . .. . . PR '...’f.. M 29 47 " 20 a8
. $1105 $.957 .$1,028 $-873 .S 788
Working Capltal (Current assets less current llabllmes) coeeen 115 0% 9908 508 90 8 137
Net sales and operating revenues : . . .~ ... .. e 54,685  $4,441  $4213 - $3,766 $3459
Working capital as a'percent of sales ..t ... ... ... e ©25% . 22% 1.2% 24% 4.0%
. R . . -
i
. -a » fi
' ! ! .'.
. - R ' :
l -
' . . r .
[ i “ )
] el .
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL COND!TION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS T phat 4 T

. . AT S U . L L T . 1
As you read the followmg review of our financial condition:and results of-operations, you should also’
read our financial statements and related notes beginning on page 70.

4 'U‘-.-!‘
. . e = -
I e n

Executive Sumrriary -

We are one of the world’s leading manufacturers of automotive emission coentrof and ride control products-
and systems. We serve both original equipment {(OE) vehicle designers and manufacturers and the repair and
replacement markets, or aftermarket, globally.through leading | brands, including Monroe?®, Rancho®, Clevite®,
Elastomers'and Fric Rot™ ride control products and Walker®, Fonos , and Gillet™ emission control products.
Worldwide we serve more than 35 different original equipment manufacturers and our products or systems are
included on nine of the,top 10 passenger car models ‘produced for sale in Europe and mne of the top 10 light
truck and SUV models produced for sale in North America for 2006. Our aftermarket Customers are compnsed
of full-iine and 'specialty warehouse distributors, retailers, jobbers, installer chains and car dealers. We operate
more than 80 manufacturing facilities worldwide and employ approximately 19,000 people to- service-our
customers’ demands. - - ‘ Lo .- _ .. R P

N . . . St _ i L v

Factors that are cmlcal to our success, mclude winning new business awards, managmg our overall global
manufactunng footprint to ensufe proper placemem and workforce levels in line with busmess needs
maintaining competitive wages and benefits, maximizing efficiencies in manufacturing processes ﬁxmg or
eliminating unprofitable businesses and reducing overall costs. In addition, our ability to adapt to key industry
trends, such as the consolidation of OE customers, a shift in consumer preferences to other vehicles in
response to higher-fuel costs and other economic and social factors, increasing technologically- sophisticated
content, changing aftermarket distribution channels, increasing environmental standards and extended product
life of automotive parts, also play a critical role in our success. Other factors that are-critical to our success
include adjusting to environmental and economic chalienges such as increases in the cost of raw materials and
our ability to successfully reduce the impact of any such cost increases through material substitutions, cost
reduction initiatives and other methods.

We have a substantial amount of indebtedness. As such, our ability to generate cash — both to fund
operations and service our debt — is also a significant area of focus for our company. See “Liquidity and
Capital Resources” below for further discussion of cash flows.

Total revenues for 2006 were $4.7 billion, a six percent increase over 2005. Excluding the impact of
currency and substrate sales, revenue was down $58 million, or two percent, driven primarily by lower OE
production volumes in North America, particulariy light trucks and SUVs, partially offset by higher
aftermarket sales. In addition, our geographic balance and diverse customer base helped partially offset the
North American production decline. Gross margin for 2006 was 18.1 percent, down 1.2 percent from
19.3 percent in 2005. Higher substrate sales, driven by more diesel aftertreatment and hot-end exhaust
business, which typically carry lower margins, diluted gross margin. Also impacting gross margin were
increased steel and other material costs, reduced North American production volumes, and higher restructuring
charges, all of which more than offset savings and improved efficiencies from Lean manufacturing, Six Sigma
programs, cost récoveries and other cost reduction initiatives. We reported selling, general, administrative and
engineering expenses for 2006 of 9.9 percent of revenues, as compared to 10.5 percent of revenues for 2005.
The improvement was driven by the aggressive effort to reduce costs globally, including tight discretionary
spending controls and.the benefit from our 2006 decision to freeze future accruals under our defined benefit-
pension plans for substantially all U.S. salaried and non-union hourly employees effective December 31, 2006.
Earnings before interest expense, taxes and minority interest (“EBIT") was $196 million for 2006, down
$19 million from the $215 million reported in 2005. Higher material costs, reduced North American
production volumes and increased restructuring charges more than offset increased global aftermarket
revenues, lower selling, general, administrative and engineering costs, benefits from the company’s ongoing
manufacturing efficiency programs and reduced costs through tight controls on discretionary spending.
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In October 2004 and July 2005, we .announced changes in the structure of our organization which
changed the componems"of our reportable segments The European segment now includes our Indian (as well
as South Amerlcan) operduons The Asia Pacific segment includes our other Asian and Australian operations.
Whlle ‘this had no 1mpact on ‘our consohcldted results, 1[ changed our segment results. These changes in
segment reporting have been reflected in this Managemem s Discussion and Analysis, and the accompanying
consolidated financial statements, for all periods presented.

LIV 1

[P R Lkt .

‘In February 2005 we acqulred substannally all the exhaust assets, and assumed certam related llabllmes
of Gabilan Manufactunng, Inc:,-a privately held company that had developed and manufactured' motorcycle
exhaust systems for 'Harley-Davidson motorcycles since 1978.. The'company also produced aftermarket muffler

kits for Harley-Davidson. We purchased Gabilan's assets, including working capital adjustments,, for $11 mil- .

lion in cash. . i . A
'In December 2005, we completed the-acquisition'of the minority interest of the joint venture partder for
our Indian ride control operations. We purchased the' minority owned interest for approx:mately $5 million in

x

cash and property. i/ L oo . . L T

Years 2006 and 2005 ‘ - : ey

l!

A
LI . . .
- - .

Net Sales and Operanng Revenues ' _ T R

The following tables reflect our revenues for the years of 2006 and 2005. We present these reconc1]:anons
of revenues in order to reflect the trend in"our sales in various product lines and geographic reglons separately
from the effects of doing busihess in currencies other than the U.S.-dollar, We have not reflected any’carfency
impact in the 2005 table since this is the base period for measuring the effects of currency during.2006,0n our
operations. ot

Additionally, we show thé'component of our revenue represented by'substraté‘s:lles '(pre'vio'usl)'/ referred.
to as “pass-through” catalytic converter sales) in the following table. While-we generally have primary design;
engineering and manufacturing responsibility for OE emission control systems, we do not manufacture” '
substrates. Substrates are porous ceramic filters coated with a catalyst — precious metals such as platinum,
palladium and rhod1um These are supplled to us by Tler 2 suppliers and directed by our OE customers. We
generally earn a small margin on these components of the system. As the need for more sophisticated emission
control solutions increases to meet more stringent environmental regulations, and as we capture more diesel
aftertreatment business, these substrate components have been increasing as a percentage of our revenue.
While theses substrates dilute our gross margin, they are a necessary component of an emission control
system. We view the growth of substrates as a key indicator that our value add content in an emission control
system is moving toward the higher technology hot-end gas and diesel business.

Our value-add content in an emission control system includes designing the system to meet environmental
regulations through integration of the substrates into the system, maximizing use of thermal energy to heat up
the catalyst quickly, efficiently managing airflow to reduce back pressure as the exhaust stream moves past the
catalyst, managing the expansion and contraction of the emission control system components due to
temperature extremes experienced by an emission control system, using advanced acoustic engineering tools to
design the desired exhaust sound, minimizing the opportunity for the fragile components of the substrate to be
damaged when we integrate it into the ‘emission control system and reducing unwanted noise, vibration and
harshness transmitted through the emission control system. We present these substrate sales separately in the
following table because we believe investors utilize this information to understand the impact of this portion of
our revenues on our overall business and because it removes the impact of potentially volatile precious metals
pricing from our revenues.
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North America Original Equipment

Ride Control ....................... .
Emission Control . ............c..u....

Total North America Original Equipment. ..

North America Aftermarket

Ride Control .................... R
EmissionControl . ................. ...

Total North America Aftermarket ........
Total North America .......... Yo

Europe Original Equipment

RideControl .......... ... .. ... .....
Emission Control . ....................

Total Europe Original Equipment . ... ...

Europe Aftermarket

RideControl ........... ... ... .. ...

Year Ended December 31, 2006

4 Revenues

Substrate Excluding

Revenues Sales’ Currency and

. Currency Excluding Excluding Substrate -
Revenues Impact Currency Currency Sales
' (Millions) '
$ 483 $— $ 483 $ — $ 483

98 .6 922 272 650
1411 6 1,405 272 1,133
385 — 385 — 385
163  — 163 - 163
548 —_ 548 — 548
1,959 6 1,953 272 1,681
380 10 370 — 370
1264 34 1,230 504 726
1,644 44 - L6000 504 1,096
178 317 = 175
21 5 206 - 206
389 8 - - 381 - 381
7 14 258 32 226
2,305 66 2,239 536 1,703
246 — 246 85 161
175 () 176 19 157
421 ' .ﬁ) * 422 104 3i8
$4685  $71  $4614 912 ' $3,702

38




Year Ended December 31, 2005 't -

Lo -’ : co L o Revenues
Substrate Excluding
. o : . Revenues Sales Currency and
Currency Excluding Excluding - Substrate
Revenues Impact * Currency - Currency =~ - Sales
s ST ! s ' .- (Millions}- +
North America Ongmal Equipment @ - ¢ o b
Ride Control .%..........covooe .2t $ 495 $—  "$ 495§ —  '$ 495
. Emission Contro] e R e L oo — 1,011 o272 739
Total North America Ongmal Eqmpmem ; 1,506 -~ — 1,506 - . 272 1,234
North -America Aftermarket: - ! v ST T o
Ride Control . /. ... 0 oo L0 361 — '3 — 36l
Emission Contrd] S el = 161 — Co16l
Total North Amenca Aftermarket .......... 522 - . 522, — 522
Total North America ... ............. - 2028 — . 2028 o272 v 1,756
Europe Original Equipment © - ' C ‘ : Co
Ride Control .....0.................. 378 "= 318 — 378
Emission Control ........ L M _ :I ' 1,078 327 751
Total Europe Original Equipment . .....::% 1,456 —_ o 1,456 00 327 « 1,129+,
Europe Aftermarket L Lo : = . L :
Ride Control . .-....... e 169 — . 169 L= ) 169
Emission Control ... ........... e 195 e (195, — o 195
Total Europe Aftermarket o ceeed 364 — 364 - = 364
South America & India . ............ ...l 233 33 20 213
Total Europe, South America and India . . 2,053 — 2,053 ' 347 1 706
L T 149 —_ 149 43 106
Australia . ... ... e _ 21 = 211 19 192
Total Asia Pacific . ................. 360 — 360 62 298
Total TEMNECO . . . o o e e e e e e $4,441 $— $4,441 $681 $3,760

Revenues from our North American operations decreased $69 million in 2006 compared to the same
period last year reflecting lower sales in OE partially offset by increased aftermarket sales. Total North
American OE revenues decreased six percent to $1,411 million in 2006. North American industry production
of SUVs and light trucks was down year-over-year which had a significant impact on OE volumes, particularly
on key exhaust platforms. OE emission control revenues were down eight percent to $928 million from
$1,011 million in the prior year. Substrate emission control sales remained the same as prior year at
$272 million. Adjusted for substrate sales and currency, OE emission control sales were down 12 percent from
the prior year. This decline was primarily driven by the impact from lower OE production of light trucks and
SUVs on key exhaust platforms. In addition, the timing on the transition of one of GM'’s largest light truck
platforms negatively impacted revenue. OE ride control revenues for 2006 decreased two percent from the
prior year. Increased heavy duty and commercial volumes were more than offset by lower OE production of
light trucks and SUVs. Total OE revenues, excluding substrate sales and currency, decréased eight percent in
2006. Total North American light vehicle production fell by three percent with a nine percent decline in light
truck and SUV production being partially offset by a five percent production increase in passenger cars.
Aftermarket revenues for North America were $548 million in 2006, representing an increase of five percent
compared o the same period in the prior year. Aftermarket ride coatrol revenues increased $24 million or
seven percent in 2006, primarily due to increased sales to new and existing customers and price increases to
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help offset higher.material costs. Aftermarket emission control revenues were $163 million in 2006, up
32 million from prior year. Price increases driven by higher steel costs more than offset lower volumes.

Our European South American and Indian segment’s revenues increased $252 million or 12 percent in
2006 compared to last: year. Total. Europe OE revenues were $1,644 million, up 13 percent from last year.
Excluding favorable currency. and increased substrate sales, total European OE revenue was down three percent
while total light vehicle production for Europe was up three percent. OE emission control revenues increased
17 percent to $1,264 million from $1,078 million in Lhc prior year. Excludmg the impact of $34 rnllllon of
favorable currency and $177 million in hlgher substrate sales, OE emission control revenues decreased three.
percent from 2006 primarily driven by OE price concessions. OF ride control revenues increased by $2 million
in 2006, up one percent from $378 million a year ago:*We changed.our.reporting in the second quarter. of
2005 for an “assembly-only” contract with a European OE ride control customer and began accounting for
those revenues as net of the related cost of sales. If we had reported our 2005 revenues in the same, manner,
they would have been lower by $15 million. Excluding a $10 miilion benefit from currency apprecrauon OE
ride control revenues decreased two percent. European ‘aftermarket sales were $389 million in 2006 compa‘ued
to $364 million last year. Excluding $8 million of favorable currency, European aftermarket revenues increased
five percent in 2006 compared to last year. Ride control aftermarket revenues, excluding the impact of ,
currency, were up four percent from the prior year, reflecting increased volumes. Aftermarket emission control
revenies were up six percent from the prior year excluding the benefits of currency. Improved pricing, market
share gains, and the mtroductlon of new diesel pamculate filter business drove the increase. South American
and Indian revenues, excluding the benefits of currency ‘appreciation and substrate sales, were up §ix pércent

-

compared to last year. Higher volumes and improved "pricing drove this increase. : O I

Revenuves from our Asia Pacific segment, which includes Australia and Asia, increased $61 million 1o
$421 million in 2006, as compared to $360 million in-the prior year. Excluding substrate sales, revenues - -
increased $55 million at our -Asian operations in 2006 compared to last year driven by higher OE volumes in
China. In Australia, industry OE production declines and unfavorable currency negatively impacled revenues.
Australian revenues were down 17 percent compared to 2005, or 19 percent when the 1mpact of currency and
substrate sales were excluded

- .
.

EBIT ‘. . kR : .

~ v Years Ended N
. ‘ December 31,
- T S 2006 © 2005 - Change
. T L o ~ Millionsy . .. |,
North America . ... ... L J $103  $145  $(42)
Europe, South America and India .............. I . 8l 54 27
Asia Pacific ......... T e - ST v 16 L), .
T e e e 8196 8215 . $(19)
Y . L 1Y . . i b . e, [T e L e
' ' ! 1 ' I a1 ] ! [
I . Yo ; " 4 e
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The EBIT results shown in the .preceding table include the following items, discussed below under  *
. “Restructuring and Other Charges” and “Liquidity. and Capital Resources — Capltahzanon which have an -
effect on the comparablhtyaof EBIT results between: penods I Y T

Years Ended’ .

December 31, -
. R S T et e ~ (Miliofis)
North America ‘ - ' e
Restructurmg and restructuring:related expenses. .. .. ........ ... ... U 15 R Y 4
New ‘aftermarket customer changeover costs(1) ........ TR Ce e 6 10
'- .Pensmn replacement(2) . .......... ... ... ... [ P 7 -
Stock option adjustment(3) . ................ e e e e S B
Stock-based compensation accounting change(4) . . ST e e e e 1l =
Reserve for receivable from former affiliate .. ... ... PP N I 3 .-
Europe, South America and India i .
_ Restructumrg Iand restructurmg related BKPEMSES. o vvvvs sy e 8 .8
Asia Pacific . B T T S T ey . .
. Restructuring and restructurmg related expenses ...... i B T B

e 4 : e
(1) Represents costs assocnated with changlng new aftermarket customers from the1r. prlor suppliers to an

inventory of our products. Although our aftermarket business regularly incurs changeover costs,.we specifi-

cally identify in the table above those.changeover costs that, based on the size or number of customers

- involved, we belleve are of an ynusual nature for the quarter in WlllCll they were incurred. . T

{2) In August 2006, 'we announced that we were freezing futureé accruals under our U.S. defined benefit pen-
sion plans for substantially all our U.S. salaried and.non-union hourly employees effective December 31,
2006. In lieu of those benefits, we are offering additional benefits under:defined contribution plan.

{3) The adjustment is related to our past administration of stock option grants and represents an adjustment
for several prior years. You should also read Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements included in
Item 8 for additional discussion. :

{4)- Represents-the expense associated;with the change ‘to the new stock based accountmg standard Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R). S ot LA . e e

EB[T for North Amencan operatlons decreased to $103 million from $l45 rmlhon one year ago The
declirie was pnmanly driven by lower OE volumes of $27 million, OE price Coneessmns of $17 million and
higher material and restructuring costs. Partlally offsemng these negative items were hlgher aftermarket sales
OE manufacturing efficiencies and lower selling, general and administrative costs of $16 million. Included in
North. America’s 2006 EBIT were $13. million in restructuring ‘and restructuring-related expenses; $6 million-in
customer changeover costs, $2 million of expense related -to the' past administration. of stock ‘option’grants, ™ » .
$1 million of stock based compensation:expense due to'an accounting change, $3-million of expense in -
connection with booking a reserve for a receivable from a former affiliate and a ‘$7 million dollar benefit due
to changes torour-U.S. retirement plans for-salaried-and non-union hourly employees-described above. Included
in North America’s 2005 EBIT were $4 million in restructurmg and restructunng -related expenses and "
$10 million in‘customer- ehangeover CcOSts¥e el oo . T . .

]

Our European South Amencan and lndlan segment s EBIT was $81 mrlllon for 2006 up $27 mlll1on
from $54 million in 2005 Increased European aftermarket sales, beneﬁted EBIT by $5 mlllton ngher

s

European OE volumes, from both emission and ride control product lmes 1mproved European OE manufactur-

ing efficiencies of $34 million, partlcularly in our exhaust operatmns and favorable currency all Contrlbuted to
the EBIT 1mprovement These lmprovemems were pamally offset by hlgher steel costs and- price ¢ concessrons -
of $11 million. South America and India EBIT benefited from higher revenues. Includéd in Europe South
America- and India’s EBlleere $8 miltion. 1n‘restructunng -and’ restructunng related expenses in both.2006
and 2005. ) g e BT L T 2 o s
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EBIT for our Asia Pacific segment, which includes Asia and Australia, decreased, $4 million to.
$12 million in 2006 compared to $16 million in the prior year. Lower Australian production volumes of ..
$4 million and higher material and restructuring costs more than offset stronger volumes of :$5 million in Asia.
Included in Asia Pacific’s 2006 EBIT were $6 million in restructuring and restructuring-related expenses.

You should also read Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 for a discussion
of the changes in our results due to the change in our method for valuing inventory.

EBITas a Percentage of Revenue

Years Ended
" - December 31, ~
, 2006 2005
North America . ........... e e e e sl 3% Y%
Europe, South America and lndla ........................................ 4% 3%
Asia Pacific .................. R, o e 3% 4%
Total Tenneco . .. .. e e e e e e e e R 4% 5%

In North America, EBIT as a percentage of revenue for 2006 was down two percentage points from prior
year lévels. Lower OE volumes, OE price concessions and higher material and restructuring costs, were
partially offset by higher aftermarket sales, OE manufacturing efficiencies and lower selling, general and
administrative costs, Our Europe, South America and India EBIT margin for 2006 increased one percentage
point over the same period last year. Increased European aftermarket sales, as well'as increased sales in South
America and India, along with higher European OE volumes, improved European OE manufacturing
efficiencies, particulatly in our exhaust operations, and favorable currency drove the improvement to EBIT
- margin. These improvements were partially offset by higher steel costs, price concessions and a margin shift
due to higher substrate sales. EBIT as a percentage of revenue for our Asia Pacific operations decreased one
percentage point in 2006 compared to prior year. Higher revenues in Asia were more than offset by lower
Australian production volumes and higher material and restructuring costs. S

Res.trm:m.r'inér and Other Ci_targeé . _ e

Over the past several years we have adopted plans to restructure portions of our opérations. These plans
were approved by the Board of Directors and were designed to reduce operational and administrative overhead
costs throughout the business. Prior to the change in accounting required for exit or disposal activities, we
recorded charges to income related to these plans for costs that did not benefit future activities in the period in
which the plans were finalized and approved, while actions necessary to affect thesc restructurmg p[ans .
occurred over future periods in accordance w:th established plans.” . .

In the fourth quarter of 2001 our Board of ‘Directors approved a restructunng plan, a project known as _
Project Genesis, designed to lower our fixed costs, improve efficiency and utilization, and better optimize our
global footprint. Project Genesis involved closing eight.facilities, improving the process flow and efficiency
through value mapping and plant arrangement at 20. facilities, relocating production among facilities, and
centralizing some functional areas. The total of all these restructuring and other costs recorded in the fourth -
quarter of 2001 was $32 million before tax, $31 million after tax;.or $0.81.per diluted common share. We
eliminated 974 positions in connection with Project Genesis. Additionally, we executed this plan more -
efficiently than originally anticipated and as a result in the fourth quarter of 2002 reduced our reserves related
to this restructuring activity by $6 million, which was recorded in cost of sales. In the fourth quarter of 2003,
we reclassified $2 million of severance reserve to the asset impairment reserve This reclassification became

. necessary, as actual asset impairments along wnth the sale of our closed facilities were- different than the
original estimates.’ "We completed the remaining restructurmg activities under Project Genesis as of the end of
2004: Since Project Genesis was announced, we have undertaken a number of relaled projects des:gned to
reqtructure our operauons descnbed below :

’
-

In the first quarter of 2003 we mcurred severance costs of $} million- assomated with ellmmatmg
17 salaried positions through selective layoffs and an early retirement program. Additionally, 93 hourly
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positions were eliminated through selective layoffs in the quarter. These feductions were done to reduce
ongoing labor costs in. North' America. This charge was primarily recorded in cost-of sales. .t

In October of 2003, we announced the closing of an emlssmn control manufactunng facility in '
Blrmmgham UK Approximately 130 employees were ellglble for severance benefits in accordance with
union contracts and UK. legal requirements. We incurred approxrrnately $3 million in costs related to th1s
action in 2004 This action is in addition to the plam closings announced in Project Genesis in the fourth
quarter of 2001 .. '

ety - ] : ! . o« [ ¥ : e ?

In October 2004, -wé annouriced a plan to eliminate 250 salaried positions through selected layoffs and an
clective early retirement program. The majority of layoffs were at middle and senior management levels. As of
December 31, 2006, we have incurred $23 million in severance costs. Of this total, $7 million was recorded in
cost of sales and $16 mrlhon was recorded in selling, general and administrative expense

In February 2006, we decrded to reduce the work forcé at certaln .of our global locauons as part of our
ongoing effort to reduce our cost structure. We recorded ‘a pre-tax charge of $6 million during 2006 and other -
benefits related to this reduction in force substanually all of which have been paid in cash.

In addmon to the announced acuons we will contmue to evaluate addmonal opportumtles and expect that
we will initiate actions that. will reduce our costs through implementing the most appropriate and. _efficient
logistics, distribution and manufacrunng footprint for the future.. We expect to continue to undertake additional
restructuring ‘actions as deemed necessary, however, there.can be no assurances we will undertake such actions.
Actions that we take, if,any, will require the approval of our Board of Dlrectors, or its authonzed committee.
We plan to conduct any workforce reductions that result in compliance with zll legal and contractual

* requirements including obl:galrons to consult with workers’ councils, union representatives and others.

We incurred $27 million in restructuring and restructuring-related costs during 2006, of which $23 million
was recorded in cost of sales and $4 million was recorded in selling, general and administrative expense:
Including the costs incurred in 2002 through 2005 of $71 million, as of December 31, 2006 we have incurred
a total of $98 million for activities related to our restructuring initiatives.

" Under 'the terms of our amended and restated senior credit ‘agreement that took effect on December 12,
2003,'w'e'were allowed to exclude up to $60 million of cash charges and expenses, before 1axes, related to
cost reduction initiatives over the 2002 to 2006 time period from the calculation of the financial covenant
ratios we are required to maintain under our senior credit agreement. In February 2005, our senior credit
facility was ame‘nded to exclude all remaining cash’ charges and expenses related to restructuring initiatives
started -on or before February 21, 2005.-As of December 31, 2006, we have excluded $63 million in allowable
charges relatmg to restructurmg mmatlves prevrously started. ’

Under our amended facility, we are allowed lo exclude up to an addmonal $6O mllllon of cash charges
and expenses, before taxes, related to restructuring activities initiated after February 24, 2005 from the
calculation of the financial covenant ratios required under our senior credit facility. As of December 31, 2006,
we have excluded $32 million in allowable charges relating to restructuring initiatives against the $60 million
available under the terms of the February 2005 amendment to the senior credit facility.

Interest Expense, Net of Interest Capr‘talized

We reported interest expense of $136 million in 2006 compared to $i130 million in 2005. The increase in
expense was due to higher LIBOR rates on the variable portion of our debt and higher average borrowings.
See more detailed explanations on our debt structure, prepayments and amendments to our senior credit
facility in February 2005, and their impact on our interest expense, in “Liquidity and Capital Resources —
Capllalrzanon” later in thls Management s D1scuss:on and Analysrs

In April 2004, we entered into thre¢ separate fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps with two separate ’ i
financial institutions. These agreements swapped an aggregate of $150 million of, fixed interest rate debt at an '
annual rate of -10% percent to floating interest rate debt at an annual rate of LIBOR plus an average spread of
5.68 percent. Each agreement requires semi-annual settlements through July 15, 2013, Based upon the LIBOR
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rate as detérmined under these agreements-of 5.61 .percent (which was in effect until January 15, 2007).the - -
inclusion of these swaps in our financial resulis-added $1 million to our 2006 annual interest expense"These )
swaps qualify as fair value hedges in accordance with SFAS No. 133 , “Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities,” as amended and as such are recorded on the balance sheet at fa1r value with an .
offset to the underlyrng hedged 1tem Wthh is long ‘term debt. As’ of ‘Décember 31 2006 the faif Value of the
interést rate swaps was a lrablhty of appr0x1mately $7 m1lhon Which has been recorded as a decrease to long-
term debt and an increase to other long-term liabilities. On December 31, 2006 we had $996 mtlhon in long—
term debt obl1gat10ns that have fixed mterest rates. of that amount, $475 mrllron is fixed through July 2013™
Included in the $475 mJllron is $150 mtll1on of long “term debt obltgauons subject 10, varrabIe 1ntereslzrates as'
a result of our swap agreements.- We also have $356 million in long-term' debt obligations that have varlable
interest raies based on a current market rate, of interest, For further discussion, see ‘Liquidity. a_nd Capital- .,
Resources _ Interest Rate Risk™ later- i m this Mandgement s Dlscussmn and Analys1s '
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Inconie Taxes -
[ncome taxes Were an expense of $3 million in 2006 compared to an expense of $25 million i m 2005.

Included in 2006 weré benefits of $l6 miltion, lncludmg a FAS 109 adjustment, prior year true- up, Czech
Investment Tax Credit and tesofution of tax issues' with forrner affiliates. The effectivé tax rate for 2006
mcludmg the- $16 million of benefits was five percent Excludmg these-benefits would have incréased our
effective tax rate by 27 percent. Included in 2005 were benefits of $4 million, 1nc1ud1ng settlements of prror -
year tax 1ssues and resolution of ‘sofie’ tax’ contmgencres with’ our foretgn operations. Including these:"" "'
adjustments the effective tax ‘for 2005 was 30 percent Excludmg these adjustments ‘would have increaséd our
effective tax rate by four percént. "
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'We feported* earmngs per dlluted cotmon §hére of $l 10 for 2006, compared to $1'29 per diluted $hare"
for 2005. Included in the results for 2006 are expenses rélated ‘to 'our restructuring activities, customer * -’ **
changeover cost, expense.related to the past.administration of stock option grants; stock based compensation
expense due to an. accounting change expense in connectron with booking a reserve for a recervable from ay.-
former afﬁlrate benefit due to the replacement of our U S. defined benefit. penslon plan and favorable tax,
adjustments “The net impact of these items decreased eammgs per dlluted share by. $0.11. Included in_ the -
results, for 2005 are expenses related to our restructurmg activities,, customer. changeover costs, and favorable
tax adjustments The net. impact of these items decreased earnings per diluted share by $0.23. Please read
Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements included i in.Item 8 for more; detarled information on earmngs
per share. You should also read Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item'8 for a
discussion of the changes in our results due to the change in-our method for valuing rnventory LR
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We prepare our financral statement.s in accordance w1th accounting, prlnmples generally.accepted in the
United States of America. Prepanng our financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the Jeported amounts of assets.and -
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilittes at the "date of the financial stateménts and the
reported amounts of révenues and expenses during. the reporting period. The followrng paragraphs include a

discussion of some cnt1cal areas where estimates are requ1red : . -

e ' . . "o

Revenue:Recognition’. . v.lwl o Cae , L T Y T

We recognize revenue for sales to our origina]lequlpment and aftermarket customers when title and risk
of loss passes to the'customers under the terms of .our arrangements with'those customers, which is usually at
the time of shipment from our. plants or distribution centers. In connection with the sale of exhaust.systems-to
certain original equipment manufacturers,. we'purchase catalytic converters or components thereof and- diesel
pdrticulate filters including precious metals (“substrates™) on behalf of our customers -which are used in the .
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assembled system. These substrates are included in our inventory and “passed through” to the.customer at our,.
cost, plus-a'small margin, since we take title to the inventory and are responsible ‘for both the delivery and
quality of the finished product. Revenues recognized for substrate sales were $927 million, $681 miilion and.
$726 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. For our aftermarket customers, we provide for promotional
incentives and returns at the time of sale. Estimates are based upon the terms of the.incentives and historical
experience with returns. '

.

Warranty Reserves

. .t
‘ s

Where we have offered product warranty, we also provide for warranty costs. Those estimates are based ,

upon. historical experience and upon specific warranty issues as they arise. While we have not experienced any:
material differences between these estimates and.our actual costs, it is-reasonably possible that future warranty
issues could arise that could have a significant impact on our financial statements. _ _— o

Long-Term Receivables

We expense pre-production design and development costs incurred for our original equipment customers
unless we have a contractual guarantee for reimbursement of those costs from the cistomer. At December 31,
2006, we had approximately $22 million recorded as a long-term receivable from original equipment
customers for guaranteed pre-production design and development arrangements, While we believe that the .
vehicle programs behind these arrangements will enter production, these. arrangements allow us to recover our
pre-production design and development costs in the event that the programs are cancelled or, do not reach’
expected production levels. We have not expertenced any matertal losses on arrangements where we have a
contractual guarantee of reimbursement from our customers. PR
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We have a U.S. Federal tax net operating loss carryforward (“NOLY) at-December 31, 2006, of
$634 million, which will expire in varying amounts from 2018 to 2026. The federal tax effect of that NOL is
$222 million, and is recorded as a deferred tax asset on our balance sheet at December 31, 2006. We also
have state NOL carryforwards at December 31, 2006 of $585 million, ‘which will expire in.various years. .
through 2026. The tax effect of the state NOL, net of a valuation allowance, is $29 million and is recorded as
a deferred tax asset on our balance sheet at December 31, 2006. XVe{éstirrtate,.based on available evidence -
both positive and negative, that it is more likely than not that we will utilize these NOLs within the prescribed
carryforward period. That estimate is based upon our expectations regarding future taxable: income of our
U.S. operations and the implementation of available’ tax planmng strategies that accelerate usage of the NOL.
Circumstances that could change that estimate include future U.S. earnings at'lower than expected levels or a .
majority ownership change as defined in the rules of‘the U.S. tax law. If that estimaté changed, we would be
required to cease recognizing an income tax benefit for any new NOL ‘and could be réqitired to'record a :
reserve for some or all of the asset cur;rer}tly recorded on,our balance she_et_.
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Stock-Based Compensation
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Prior to January 1, 2006, we utilized thé ihtrinsic value method. to account for our stock-based © -
compensation plans in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Optmon (“APB”) No. 25; “Accounting '
for Stock Issued to Employees.” Using the modified prospective application method, effccttve January 1, 2006,
we account for our stock-based compensation plans in accordance with Statement of Fmanc1al Accountmg
Standards (“SFAS™) No. 123(R), “Share Based Payment” which requ1res a fair value method of accountmg for
compensation costs related to our, stock-based _compensation plans Under the farr value method recogmuon
provision of the statement, a share-based payment is measured at the grant date. based upon the value of the
award and is recognized as expense over the vesting period. Determining the fair value of share- based awards
requires judgment in estimating employee and market behavior. If actual results differ srgmﬁcantly from these
estimates, stock-based compensation expense and our results of operations could be materially impacted.
Under APB No. 25, for the twelve months ended December 31,2005, we estimated that the pro forma net
income impact under SFAS No. 123(R) would have been approximately, $2 million or $0.05, per diluted share,s
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For the twelve months ended December 31,2006, the- results. of adopting: SFAS No. 123(R}) on our results of
operations including nonqualified stock options and other stock-baséd compensation was additional expense of.
approximately $4 mitlion or $0.08 per dihited share. As'of December 31. 2006, there is.approximately = 7. -
$4:million; net of tax, of total unrecognized compensation costs related to these stock- based awards that is’
expected to be recognized over a weighted'average period of one year. ' Tt '

Goodwill and Other Imangib[e Assets

We utilize an impairment-only approach to value our purchased goodwill in accordance with
SFAS No: 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” Each year in the fourth quarter, we perform an
impairment analysis-on the balance of goodwill. Inherent in this calculation is the use of estimates as the fair® -
value of our designated reporting units is-based upon the present value of our expected future cash flows. In
addition, our calculation includesrour best estimate of our weighted average cost of capital and growth rate.:If
the calculation results in a fair value of goodwill which is less than the book value of goodwill, an 1mpa1rment
charge would be recorded in the operating results of the impaired reporting unit. -
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We have- vanous deﬁned beriefit pensmn plans that cover substantially ail-of our employees. We'also have
postreurement health care and life insufance plans that cover a majonty of our domestic employees. Our
pen51on and postrenrement health' care and life insurance expenses and valuations are dependent on assump-
tions used by our actuaries in calculatmg those amounts These assumptions include discount rates, heaith care
cost trend rates, long-term returni on‘plan assets retirement/ratés, mortality rates and other factors. Health care
cost trend rate assumptions are developed based on histori¢al cost data and an assessment of likely long-term
trends. Retirement rates are based primarily on actual plan experience while mortality rates are based upon the
general population expenence which i is not expected to differ materially from our experience. - :

Qur approach lo estabhshmg the 'dlscount Fite assuriiption for both*our domestic and- foreign plans starts
with hlgh quallty mvestment-grade bonds adjusted for an incremental yield based on actuil historical
performance: This incremental yield adjustment is the result of selecting securities whose yields are higher
than the “normal™: bonds that compnse the mdex' Based on this approdch; for 2006 we raised the weighted
average discount raté’ for all ‘of our pefision plans to 5.5 percént, from' 5.4 percent. The'discount rate for *
postretlrement beneﬁts was ralsed from approx1mately 5.8 percent for 2005 to apprommately 5.9 percent for
2006. PN 3 T L o i. ol
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QOur approach to determining expected return on plan asset assumpuons evaluates both historical retums
as well as .estimates of future returns, and is- -adjusted for anyexpected changes in the long-term outlook: for
the.equity and fixed income markets.; As a result, our estimate of the weighted average long-term rate of return

on plan assets,for al} of.our pension plans was left unchanged at 8.2 percent-for 2006., = .. ey

Except in the UK., generally, oltr’ pens1on plans’do not require ernployee contributions. Our policy is to
fund our pensmn plans in accordance with applicable U.S. and foreign government regulations and to make
additional payments as funds are available to achieve full funding of the accumulated benefit obligation. At
September 30, 2006, all legal, funding requirements had been met. Other. postretirement benefit obligations,
such as retiree medical,-and certain:foreign pension plans.are pot funded. =~ . . . .

" Effective’ December 3l 2006 we froze’ future accruals under our defined benéfit plans for substannally

all U.S. salaried and non- umon hourly employees' and replacéd these beneﬁts with addmonal contributions
i :
under deﬁned contrlbutlon plans We estlmate that these’ changes will & save about $1'1 ‘million in earnings

) before taxes annually, startlng January 17 2007 "Additionally, we realized a Oné-time beneﬁt of $7 mllllon m

the fourth quarter 2006’ related to' curtaﬂmg the"deﬁned benefit pensnon plans. ! T .
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Effectwe January 1512005, we changed Our accounting. méthod for valumg inventory for our U.S. based
operations-from the last-in,:first-out (“LIFOY).method to the*first:in, first-out (“FIFO”) method. As a result, all
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U.S. inventories. are now stated at the lower of cost, determined on a FIFO .basis, or market., We-elected to
change to the FIFO method as we believe it is preferable for the following reasons: 1) the change will provide
better matching of revenue and expenditures and- 2)sthe change will achieve greater consistency. in valuing our
global inventory. Additionally, we initiatly adopted LIFQ as*it provided certain U.S. tax benefits' which-we'no -
longer realize due to our U.S. net operating losses (when applied for tax purposes, tax laws require that-LIFO .
be applied for accounting principles generally accepted in the Umted States of Amenca (“GAAP") as well)

As a result of the change we a]so expect to- reahze admmlstrdnve efﬁcrencreq _ ¢
vt oo . ', I

In accordance wnth GAAP, the,change in mvemory accounting has been applied by adjustmg pnor year 'S,
financial statements. The effect of the change in-accounting principle as of December 31, 2004, wasto. . -
increase -inventories by $14 million, reduce deferred tax assets by $5.million, and i increase retained eammgs.‘
by $9 million. For further information, see Note:4-to-the ‘consolidated Financial Statements-included in Item 8.

Changes in Accountmg Pronouncemems oY T g T T
ot - U i

In March 2005 the FASB tSSUBd lnterpretauon No: (“FIN") 46(R) 5, “lrnpllcrt Varlable lmerests under ..
FASB Interpretation No. 46™ (revised December 2003). The statement addresses whether a reporting enterprise !
should consider. whether it holds an implicit variable, interest-in .a variable:interest entity. (“VIE”) or potential
VIE when specific conditions exist. The guidance was applied in the first-reporting period beginning .after
March 3, 2005. The adopuon of FSP No. FIN 46(R)-5 did not have.an 1mpacl on-our, consohdated financial

statemenis. . - [ " A [ .ot . S ' P
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In March 2005 the FASB |ssued FlN No 47, “Accountmg] for Condmonal Aqset Reurement Obhgatlons
This interpretation clarifies that the term condmonal asset. retirement obhgatlon as used 1n FASB No 143
“Accounting for Conditional Asset Rétirement Obhgatrons, refers 1o a legal obllgatlon to perforrn an asset

retirement activity in which, the timing and/or method of settlement are conditional on a future event that may
" or may not be within the control of the entity. This interpretation was effective no later than the end of fiscal .
years endmg after December 15, 2005 «The adoption of FIN No. 47 did not have a material impact. on.our .
ﬁnancral position or resultq of operation. ,. ..
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In May 2005, the FASB" issued SFAS No: I54 “Accountmg Changes and Correctrons > whtch supersedes '
APB No. 20, “Accounting Changes” "and SFAS No. 3; “Reporting Accounting Changes in [nterrm Financial
Statements.” This statement changes the requirements for the accountmg for and reporting of a change in
accounting principle. SFAS No., 154 was effectrve for accounting changes and corrections of. errors made i 1n
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005 The adopnon of SFAS No 154 dld not have a ma(enal impact
on our financial posmon or results of operanon
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In June-2005, the FASB issued- Staff Position No. (“FSP") No. 143-1, “Accountmg for Electronic !
Equipment Waste Obligations.” This statement addresses the ‘dccounting for’obligations associatéd- with
Directive 2005/96/EC on Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment adopted by the European Union. The
Directive distinguishes between “new” and “historical” waste. The guidance should be applied: the later of the
first reporting period ending after June 8, 2005, or the date of the adoption of the law by the applrcab]e
EU-member country. The adoption of FSP No. 143-1 did not have a material impact on our financial position
or results of operation., ’

In November 2005 the FASB issued FSP FAS 123(R)-3, “Transition Electlon to Accoummg for the Tax
Effects of Share-Based Payment ‘Awards.” This FSP requires an entity to follow either the transition guidance
for the additional paid-in-capital pool as prescribed in SFAS No. 123(R), Share- Based Payment or the
alternative transition method as descnbed in the FSP. We have elected to follow the transition gurddnce
utilizing the modified-prospective method for the additional* paid-in capital pools-as described in SFAS
No. 123(R). The adoption of SFAS No. 123(R)-3 did not have material impact on our financial statements,

In June 2006, the FASB issued FIN No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes.” an* .
interpretation of SFAS No. 109, Accounting for‘Income Taxes; to create a single method to address accounting:
for uncertainty in income tax positions. FIN 48 clarifies the-accounting for income taxes, by prescribing a
minimum recognition threshold and measurement attribute a tax position is required to meet before bemg
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recognized in the financial statements. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest
and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2006. We will adopt FIN 48 as of January I, 2007, as required. We have not
determined the effect, if any, the adoption of FIN 48 will have on our financial posmon and results of
operations. :

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurement.” This statement defines
fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair valué in generally accepted accounting principles and
expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This statement applies under other accounting pronounce-
ments that require or permit fair value measurements. The statement is effective for financial statements issued
for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. We do not
expect the adoption of this statement to have a material impact to our financial statements. '

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, “Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R)”
Part of this Statement will be effective as of December 31, 2006, and requires companies that have defined
benefit pension plans and other postretirement benefit plans to recognize the funded status of those plans on -
the balance sheet oh a prospective basis from the effective date. The funded status of these plans is determined
as of the plans’ measurement dates and represents the difference between the amount of the obligations owed
to participants under each plan (including the effects of future salary increases for defined benefit plans) and
the fair value of each plan’s assets dedicated to paying those obligations. To record the funded status of those
plans, unrecognized prior service costs and net actuarial losses experienced by the plans will be recorded in
the Other Comprehenswe Income section ‘of shareholders’ equity on the balance sheet. The initial adoption
resulted in a reductlon of Accumu]ated Other Comprehenswe Loss in shdreholders equity of $59 m11110n

In addition, SFAS No. 158 requires that companies using a measurement date- for their defined benefit
pension plans and other postretirement benefit plaris other than their fiscal year énd, change the measurement
date effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2008. We currently use a September 30 measurement
date for substantially all of our defined benefit plans and are planning to adopt this'statement’s measurement
date change effective for calendar year 2007. We do not believe the impact of the, appllcanon of this part of
the statement will be material to our financial posmon and results of operations. .

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108,
which hereby added Section N to Topic 1, “Financial Statements”, of the Staff 'Accounting Bultetin Series.
Section N provides guidance on the consideration of the effects of prior year misstatements in quantifying

_ current year misstatements for the purpose of a matenal:ty assessment. The bulletin is effective for an interim

period of the first fiscal year ending after November 15, 2006, We do not expect the adoption of this bulletin
to have a material impact to our financial statements. . : ‘

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Capitalization ' )
Year Ended
December 31, .
] 2006 2005 % Change
. a _ (Millions)

Short term debt and current maturities . .. ... ... e ... 8 28 § 22 27%
Long termdebt ... ........... e e e 1350 1,356 —
Totaldebt .. .:. oo 1,378 1,378 —
Total minority interest . .. ... ....... P . B S 28 .24 —
Shareholders’ equity . ...... T 221 129 71
Total capitalization ... ... .. SRR ....... P $1,627  $1,531 6




General. * Short-term debt, which includes'the current portion of long-term obligations and borrowings
by foreign subsidiaries, as well as any outstanding-borrowings on our revelving credit facilities, increased by -
approximately $6 million. The current portion of long-term debt increased by approximately $2 million while
foreign subsidiaries’ obligations increased by approximately $4 million. Borrowings under our revolving credit
facilities were zero at both December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.-The decrease in long-term debt resulted
from approximately $4 million related to payments on capital leases in addition  to our position on interest rate
swaps entered into during April 2004. See below for further information on the interest rate swaps. . .

The year-to-date increase in shareholders’ equity primarily resutts from our net income, premium on
common stock issued pursuant to benefit plans and other transactions which contributed $63 million to-
shareholders’ equity and $96 million. retated to the translation:of foreign balances into U.S. dollars. This
amount was partially offset by an adjustment to additiona! minimum liability of $8-million and the adoption of
SFAS No. 158 of $59 million. While-our book equity balance was small at December 31, 2006, it had no
effect on our business operations. We have no debt covenants that are based upon our book' equity, and there
are no other agreements that are adversely impacted by our relatively tow book equity. You should also read
Note 5 to our consolidated ﬁnanc:al statements i ,

! : - - . .

Overview and Recént Transactions. Our financing arrangements are primarily provided by a committed
senior secured financing arrangemént with a syndicate of banks and other- financial institutions, The -
arrangement is secured by substanually all our domestic assets and pledges of 66 percent of the stock of

* certain first-tier foreign subsidiaries, as well as guarantees by our “material domestic subsidiaries. We ongmally

entered into this facility in 1999 and since that time have periodically requested and received amendments to
the facility for various purposes.'In December of 2003, we engaged in a series of transactions that resulted in
the full refinancing of the facility, through an amendment and restatement. In February 2005, we armended the
facility, which resulted in reduced interest rates on.the term loan B and tranche B-1 letter of credit/revolving
loan portions of the facility. We also made a volumary prepaymenl of $40 million on the term loan B facility,
reducing borrowmgs to $356 million. During 2005, we increased the amount of commitments under our
revolving credit facility from $220 million to $300 mllllon and reduced the amount of commitments under our
tranche B-1 letter of credu/revolvmg Joan facility from $180 million 19°$155 million. During 2006 we further
mcreased the amount of commitments under our revolvmg credit facrhty from $300 million to $320 million,
As of December 31, 2006, the senior credit facility consisted- of a seven-year, $356 m:lllon term loan B facrhty
maturing in December 2010;a, five-year, $320 million revo]vmg credlt facility matunng in’ December 2008;
and a seven-year, $155 million tranche B- l ]etter of cred1t/rev01v1ng loan facility matunng in December 2010.

In 2006 we further increased the amount of commitments under our revolvmg credit famllty‘fmm .
$300 million to $320 million. No further reduction in the amounl of commitments under the tranche B-1 letter
of credit/revolving loan facrhty was requ:red . o b,
In April 2004, we emered into three separate fixed-to- ﬂoatmg interest rate swaps with two separate
financial institutions. Thesé agreements swapped an aggregate of $150 million of fixed interest rate debt’ at an
annual rate of 10% percent to floating interest rate debt at an annual rate of LIBOR plus an average spread of

-~ 5.68 percent, Each agreement requires semi-annual settlements through July 15, 2013, Based upon the LIBOR

rate as determined under these agreements of 5.61 percent (whlch was in effect until January 15, 2007) the
inclusion of these swaps in our financial results added $1 million to our 2006 annual interest expense. These
swaps qualify as fair value hedges in accordance with SFAS No 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activitigs,” as amended and as such are recorded on the balance sheel at fair value with an”
offset to the underlying hedged item, which is long-term debt. As of. December 31, 2006, the fair value of the
interest rate swaps wés a liability of approximately $7,million which has been recorded as a decrease to long- -
term debt and an increase to other long-term liabitities. On December 31, 2006, we had $996 m]lhon in long-
term debt obligations that have fixed interest rates, Of that amount, $475 million is fixed through July 2013
and $500 million through November 2014, while the remainder is fixed over periods of 2007 through 2025.
Included in the $475 million is $150 million of long-term debt obligations subject to variable interest rates as
a result of our swap agreements. We: also have $356 million in long-term debt obligations that have variable
interest rates based on a current market rate of interest. -
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In November 2004; we refinanced our $500. million of 11% percent senior subordinated notes maturing in
October of 2009 with new 'senior. subordinated notes. The new notes have an interest rate of 8% percent, a-
maturity date of November 15, 2014 'and contain substantially similar terms as the notes refinanced.' Premium..
payments and other fees in connection with the refinancing of these:notes totaled .approximately $40 million,
including a $29 million or 5.813% price premium over par on the redeemed-notes. The new notes accrued
interest from November 19, 2004 with an initial interest payment date of May 15, 2005. These notes are
described in more detail below unider *Senior Secured and Subordinated Notes.” " Coe

In connection with the refinancing of:the $500, million in senior subordinated notes we amended the:
senior credit facility effective November 17,.2004. This amendment allowed us to'use up to $50 million in
cash on’hand to pay redemption premiums -and/or- other fees and costs in.connection with.the redemption and.
refinancing of the. seniorsubordinated notes. In exchange for the amendment, we agreed to pay a small fee to
the consenting lenders. We also incurred approximately-$13 million-in legal, advisory and other costs related’
to the ‘'amendment and- the issuance of the new senior. subordinated notes. These amounts were capitalized and
are being amortized over the remaining terms of the senior subordinated notes and senior credit facility.

Our interest expense increased in 2004 by $42 million due to the fees and expenses associated with the ‘
refinancing of our senior subordinated notes, which includes an expense of $8 million for existing deferred
debt issuance 'costs associated with the 113 percem senjor. subordinated notes. e

i In February 2005 we amended our qentor credtt facxltty to reduce by 75 basrs points | the mterest rate on
the term loan B facrhty and the tranche B- 1 Ietter of credit/revolving loan facility. in connectton with the
amendment, we voluntaniy prepald $40 mtlllon in principal on the term loan.B, reducmg the term
loan B fac1ltty from $396 million to $356 nulhon

" 'Additional prov1s:on5 of the’ February 2005 amendment to, the senior credlt facrhty agreement were as
follows: (i) amend the deﬁmtton of EBITDA to exclude aII rernammg cash charges and expenses related io *
restructunng mmatlves started on or before February 21, 2005 ‘and to exclude up to an addmonal $60 mJlllon
in restructunng “related expenses announced and ‘taken after February 21 2005 (ii} i 1ncrease permttted i
mvestments 10 $50 million, (iii) exclude expensee reIated to the i 1ssuance of stock options from’ the definition
of consohdaled nét mcome (iv) perm1t us to redeem up to $125 nulhon of semor secured notes after January 1
2008 (subjecl to certain’ condttlons) (v} increase our ability to add commiitments under the revolvmg credit
facility by $25 million, and (v1) make other mmor modtﬁcattons We mcurred approxtmately $1 mtllton in
fees and expensés associated with this amendment, which were capltahzed and’are being amortized over the "
remaining term of the agreement.

) . ‘. - ' ’ N e

Dunng 2005, we increaséd the amount of comrmtments ‘under our revolvmg credit fac111ty from
$220 million to $300 million and reduced the amount of commitments under our tranche B-1 letter of credit/
revolving loan facility from $180 million to $155 million. This reduction of our tranche B-1 letter of credit/
revolving loan facility was required under the terms of the senior credit fac1|tty, as we had 1ncreased the s
amount of our revolvmg credit facﬂlty comrmtments by more than $55 mt]lton Co o

R . .‘.-.w‘

In October 20035, we further amended our senior ‘credit facility increasing’the amount of commitments wé
may-seek under the revolving credit portion of the facility from $300 million fo $350 million, dlong with other
technical changes. We arc not requ1red to reduce the commitments urider our tranche B-1 letter of credit/ -~
revolving loan facility should we obtain additional revolvitig credit Commitments. In’ July 2006, we lncreased
the amount of commitments under the revolvmg credit portion of the facrhty from $300 million to
$320 million. No further reductioi'in the’ amount of commitments under our tranche B I letter of credit/
révolving loan facility was' requtred "We have not yet sought any increased comxmtments above the
$320 mllllon level, but may do so when in our Judgment rnarket condltlons aré favorable, ‘- -

‘In 'February 2007, we announced that we had launched a tranisaction to refinance our extstmg $831 mtlhon
senior credit facility, which will be replaced by a new $830 million senior credit facility secured by .the 'same
creditors. The new senior credit facility is expected to‘include.a five-year. revolving line of credit of
approximately $375 million; a five-year term loan A facility .of approximately $100 million; a seven-year term
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loan B facility of approximately‘$178 million; and a seven-year letter-of credit facility of a'pproximately ?

$177 million, whlch can also be‘used as a revolving line of credlt to fund short-term borrowmgs L
]
We intend to use the proceeds of thrs reﬁnancmg to repay approxrmately $356 mrllron of outstandmg

term loans under our existing credit facrlrly, to replace the $155 million letter of credit fac111ty and the .
$320 million revolvmg line of credit prov1ded under our existing, semor credit facrhty and for general Lo

COTpOrate purposes. , . - S

We are in the process of seekmg commitments for the new semor credlt facrlny There can be no
assurances that we w1ll be able to complete- this’ refinancmg

[ T . ' ., v ! '

Semor Credit Fac:lrty Forms of Credit Provided. Followmg lhe February 2005 volumary prepayment
of $40 million, the term-loan.B facility-is payable as follows: $74 million due March.31;.2010; and $94 million
due each of June 30,-September 30 and December .12, 2010. The revolving credit facility, requires that if any
amounts are drawn, they be repaid by December 2008. Prior to that date, funds may be borrowed, repaid and
reborrowed under the revolving credit fac111[y without premrum or penalty Letters of credn may be issued
under the revolvmg credrt facrlny o ot TR e

Py it P ! : : IR B

The tranche B- l letter of credit/revolving loan facility requires that it be repard by December 2010 Wef :
can borrow revolving loans from the $155 million tranche B-1 letter of credit/revolving loan facility and use
that facility to support letters of credit. The tranche B-1 letter of credit/revolving loan facility lenders have . i
deposited $155 million with the administrative agent, who-has invested that amount in.time deposits. We do *"’
not have an interest in any of.the funds on deposit. When we draw revolving loans under this. facility; the .
loans are funded from the $155 million on deposit with the admlmstrauve agent. When we make- repaymems
the repayments are.redeposited with the admlmstratlve agent. S L Coe

The tranche B-1 letter of cred1t/revolvmg loan facility is reflected as debt on our balance ‘sheet only if we
borrow money under this facility or if we use the facility to make payments for letters of credit. We will not
be liable for any losses:to or misappropriation of any (i) return due to the administrative agent’s failure to
achieve the return described above or to pay all"or any portion of such return to any lender under such facility
ot (ii) funds on depos1t in such account by such lender (other than the obligation to repay funds released from,
such accounts and provrded to us as revolving loans under such facility). che v
. Senior Credit Facrlrry — Interest Rates and. Fees. Borrowmgs under the tenn loan B facrhty and the
tranche B-1 letter of credit/revolving loan’ fac111ly bore interest at an annual rate equal to, at our option, either
(i) the London Interbank Offering Rate plus a margin of 200 basis points (reduced from 300 basis points in
February 2005 and further reduced from 225 basis points in April 2006); or (ii) a rate consisting of the greater
of the JP Morgan Chase prime rate or the Federal Funds rate plus 50 basis points, plus a margin of 100 basis
points (reduced from 200 basis pomts in February 2005 and further reduced from 125 basis points in April
2006). There is no cost to us for issuing letters of credit under the tranche B-1 letter of credit/revolving loan
facility, however outstanding letters of credit reduce-our availability to borrow revolving loans under this '
portion of the facility. If a letter of credit issued under this facility is subsequently, paid-and we do not
reimburse the amount paid in full; then a ratable portion of each lender’s deposit would be used to fund the :;
letter of credit. We pay the tranche B-1 lenders a fee which is equal to LIBOR plus 200 basis points (reduced
from 300 basis points in February 2005.and further reduced from 225 basis-points in April 2006). This fee is
offset by the return on the funds deposited-with the administrative agent which earn-interest at a‘per annum .
rate approximately equal to LIBOR. Outstanding revolving loans reduce the funds on deposit with the
administrative agent which'in turn reduce the earmngs of ‘those deposits-and: effecnvely increases our interest .
expense at a per annum rate equal to LIBOR: s ‘

DT B e, PR

. Borrowings under the revolving credit facility bore interest at an annual rate equal to, at our option, either
(i) the London Interbank Offering-Rate plus a' margin of 275.basis points (reduced from 325 basis points in
March 2005 and further reduced from 300 basis points in Adgust 2005); or (ii) a rate consisting of the greater
of the JP Morgan Chase prime rate or‘the Federal Funds rate plus 37.5 basis peints {reduced from 50 basis -
points to 37.5 basis points in August 2005), plus a margin of 175 basis points.(reduced- from:225-basis points
in March 2005 and further reduced from 200 basis points-in August 2005). Letters-of credit issued under the -
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revolving credit facility accrue a letter‘of credit fee at a per annum rate .of 275 basis points (reduced from
325 basis points in March 2005 and further reduced from 300 basis points in August 2005) for the pro rata’
account of the lenders under such facility and a fronting fee for the ratable account of the issuers thereof at a
per annum rate in an amount to be agreed ‘upon payable quarterly in arrears. The interest margins for -
borrowings and letters of credit issued under the revolving credit facility are subject to adjustment based on
the consolidated léverage ratio (consoliddted indebtedness divided by consolidated EBITDA as defined in the
senior credit facility agreement) measured at the end of each quarter. The margin we pay on the revolving
credit facility is reduced by 25 basis points following each fiscal quarter for which the consolidated leverage
ratio is less than 4.0 begmrung in March 2005. Since our consolidated leverage ratio was 3.52 as of March 31,
2005, and 3.42 as of June 30, 2005, the margin we' pay on the revolvmg credit facility was reduced by 25 basis
points in the second: quarter of 2005 and was-further reduced by 25 basis points in the third quarter of 2005.
We ‘also pay a commitment fee of 50 basis points on the unused portion of the révolving credit facility. This
commitment fee was reduced by 12.5 basis pomts during the third- quarter of- 2005 to 37.5 basus points as our
consolidated leverage ratlo was less than 3.5. . o 0o o vt

- *

Senior Credit Faczhty Other Termv and Condtrmns As described above, we are highly leveraged. Our
amended and restated senior credit facility requires that we maintain financial ratios equal to or better than the
following consolidated leverage ratio (consolidated indebtedness divided by consolidated EBITDA, as
calculated under the facility), consolidated interest coverage ratio (consolidated EBITDA divided by consoli-
dated cash interest paid; as calculated under the facility), and fixed charge coverage ratio (consolidated
EBITDA less consolidated capital expenditures; divided by consolidated cash interest paid, as calculated under
the facility) at the end of each period indicated. Failure to maintain these ratios.will result in a default under
our senior credit facility. See “Contractual Obligations” below. The financial ratios required under the amended
senior credit facility and the actual ratios we achieved for the four quarters of 2006, are shown in the
following tables: . o )
’ . . ] . . . . Quarter Ended .

o ) March 31, June30, ~ September 30, Decomber 31,
’ ’ 2006 06 T T 2006 2006
’ Req.  Act. .Req. Act. Req. Act:  Req. Act.
Leverage Ratio (maximum) . .. .. . . Lo 4250 337 425 335 425 346 425 345
Interest Coverage Ratio (minimum),. . . ...... . 210 327 210 323 210 315 210 307
Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (minimum). ... .. —1.1.5 207 115 189 115 t79 LI5 T L76
' : Quariem Ending ]
: ' March 31- March 31- . March 31- March 31-
o . R December 31, December 31,. . December 31, * December 12,
. 2007 2008 2009 2010
_ ; Req. : Reg. - Req. Req.
Leverage Ratio {maximum).. . . ... e 0.3.75 - . 3.50 - 3.50 3.50 -
Interest Coverage Ratio (minimum) . %z, 0o, - 220 - - 235 250 2,75
leed Charge Coverage Ratio (m:mmum). AL 1.25 ST 13s 1.50 - 1.75

The senior credlt facnhly agreement provides: (i} the ablhty.to reﬁnance our senior subordinated notes
_and/or our senior secured notes using-the net cash proceeds-from the issuance of similarly structured debt;
{ii) the ability to repurchase our senior. subordinated notes and/or*our senior secured notes using the net cash
proceeds from issuing shares of our common stock; and (iii) the prepayment of the term loans by an amount
equal to 50 percent of our excess cash flow as defined by'the agreement. [ :

The senior credit facility agreement also contains restrictions on our operations that are customary for
similar facilities, including limitations on:.(i) incurring additional liens; (ii) sale and leaseback transactions
(except for the permitied transactions as: described in the amended agreement); (iii).liquidations and- |
dissolutions; (iv) incurring additional indebtedness or. guarantees; (v) capital expenditures; (vi) dividends
(limited to no more than $15 million per year); (vii) mergers and consolidations; and (viii) prepayments and
modifications of subordinated and other debt instruments. Compliance with these requirements and restrictions
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is a condition for any incremental borrowings under the senior credit facility agreement and failure to meet
these requirements enables the lenders to require repayment of any outstanding loans. As of December 31,
2006, we were in compliance with all the ﬁnanc:al covenants (as indicated above} and operational restrictions
of the fac:llty T : g

+

Our senior credit facnhty does not contain any terms that coulcl accelerate the paymeni of the facnhty asa
result of a credit rating agency downgrade. |,

LI . * .

Senibr Secuied and Subordinated Notes, ~ Our outstanding debt also includes $475 million of 10% percent
senior secured notes due July 15; 2013, in addition to the $500 ml]hon of 8% percent senior subordinated
notes due Novémber 15, 2014. We can redeem some or all of the notes at any time after July .IS, 2008, in the
case of the senior secured notes, and November 15, 2009, in the case of the senior subordinated notes. If we
* sell certain of our assets or experience specified kinds of changes in control, we must offer to repurchase the

notes. We are permitted to redeem .up to 35 percent of the senior subordinated notes with the proceeds of
-certam equity offerings completed before November 15, 2007

Our senior secured and subordinated notes require that, as a condmon precedent to incurring cértain types
of indebtedness not otherwise permitted, our consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio, as calculated on a
proforma basis, to be greater than 2.25 and 2.00, respectively. We have not incurred any of the types of
indebtedness: not otherwise permltted by the indentures. The indentures also contain restrictions on our
operations, including limitations on: (i) i incurring additional indebtedness or liens; (ii) dividends; (iii) distribu-
tions and stock repurchases; (iv) investments; (v) asset sales and (vi) mergers and consolidations. Subject to
limited exceptions, all of our existing and future material domestic wholly owned subsidiaries fully and -
unconditionally guarantee these notes on a joint and several basis. In addition, the senior secured notes and
related guarantees are secured by second priority liens, subject to specified exceptions, on all of our and our
subsidiary guarantors’ assets that secure obligations under our senior credit facility, except that only a portion.
of the capual stock of our subsidiary guarantor’s domestic subsidiaries is provided as collateral and no assets
or capital stock of our direct or indirect foreign subsidiaries secure the notes or guarantees, There are no
significant restrictions on the ability of the subsidiaries that have guaranteed these notes to make distributions
to us. The senior subordinated notes rank junior in right of payment to our senior credit facility and any future
senior debt incurred. As of December 31, 2006, we were in compliance with the covenants and.restrictions of
these indentures. , .

i} . v

Accounts Receivable Securitization. In addition to our senior credit facility, senior secured notes and
senior subordinated notes, we also sell some of our accounts receivable on a nonrecourse basis in North
America and Europe. In North America, we have an accounts receivable securitization program with two
commercial banks. We sell ongmal equipment and aftermarket receivables on a daily basis under this program.
We sold accounts receivable under this program of $85 million and $80 million at December 31, 2006 and
2005, respectlvcly This program is subject to canccllanon prior to its maturlty date if we were to {i) fail to
pay interest or principal paymenls on an amount of indebtedness excccdmg $50 million, (ii) dcfault on the
financial covenant ratios urider the senior credlt fac:llty, or (m) fail to maintain certain financial ratlos in
connection with the accounts receivable securitization program. In January 2007, this program was 'renewed
for 364 days to January 28, 2008 at a facility. size of $100 million. We also sell some receivables in our
European operations to regional banks in Europe. At December 31, 2006, we sold $48 million_of accounts
receivable in Europe down from $49 million at-December 31, 2005. The arrangements 1o sell receivables in
Europe are not committed and can be.cancelled at any time. If we were not able to sell receivables under
either the: North American or European securitization programs, our borrowings under our revolving credit
agreements may increase. These accounts receivable securitization programs provide us with access to cash at
costs that are generally favorable to alternatlve sources of financing, and allow us to reduce borrowmgs under
our revolvmg credit agreemems ' e

T . [

Capital Requirements. Wc believe that cash flows from operations, combined with avallable borrowmg
capacity described above; assuming that we maintain compliance with the financial covenants and other
requirements of our loan agreement, will be sufficient to meet our future capital requirements for the following
year. Our ability to meet the financial covenants depends upon a number of operational and economic. factors,
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many of which'are beyond our control.tFactors that could impact our ability to comply with the financial . -
covenants include the rate at which consumers continue to buy new.vehicles and the rate at which they - ‘
continue to repair vehicles already in service, as well as our.ability to successfully implement our restructuring
plans and offset higher raw material prices. Lower North American vehicle production levels, weakening in
the global aftermarket, or a reduction in vehicle production levels in Europe beyond our expectanons could
impact ourability to meet our financial'covenant ratios. In the event that we are nable to méet thése financial
covenants, we would consider several options to meet our cash flow needs. These options cotild'includé ‘further
renegotiations with our senior credit lenders, additional cost reduction or restructuring initiatives, sales of
assets or common stock or other altematwes to enhance our ﬁnancral and operating posmon Should we. be
required to 1mplement any of these actlons to meet our cash Tlow needs we believe we can do.soina
reasonable time frame. . . P L. - L

1 P v, . . .. . g .

Contractual Oblig'ations Lo, e e e R v ot
fis

Our remaining required debt principal amortization and payment oblrganons under iease and certain other'
financial commitments as of December 31, 2006, are shown in the following table:.

v

PR VI S et : R * Payments due in; R
. v L o . L e Beyond . .© '
Cee C o e.. L o207 2008 2009 2010 2011 2000 . Towl
Pt L. BT o ot P - A(Mil\li,ﬂHS) o R

: Oblrgatrons o R o e e .
Revolver borrowings . . ...t ieenvaninnn: $om 8 — $— $—. $= $.— $ —
Senior long-term debt . ... . ... .. S —_— . = = 356 — =t 356
Long-term notes 5 1" ... .. .. i S 27— e — 40 473
Capital lease§. . ..7 " ... .0" R 33 :_' 3 ' '."-f RS )
Subordinated fong-term'débt .. ... ..., 0.0 — = o U7 5000 " 500
Other subsidiary.debt . ... ... ........... e — == =T 2
Short-term debt-. . ... ... e et - 22 ¢ T = — )
Deébt and capital lease obligafions . .. % .. .0 26° 57 '3 359 0 e - 972 - 1365
Operating leases . ... .ovvvenrennneenn.. " 16 11 9 7 6 1 © 50
Interest payments . .. ... .... Ve e e . 132, 0132 131 1300 .93 - 201 819
Capital commitments .. ....... AR U450 o — o e e s o 45
Total Paymems.f":‘: e $219 8148 $143"“‘j§;496 899, $L17T4T 52219

We pnnelpally use our revolvmg credit fac1l|t|es to ﬁnance our, short-term caprtal requlrements As a
result,. we e]asslfy any “outstanding balances of the revolvmg credit facrlltres within our short-term debt even
though the revolvmg credit facility has a termination date’ of December 13, 2008 and the tranche B- l letter of
credit facrhtylrevolvmg loan facrllty has a termmanon date of December 13, 2010

If we do-not maintain compliance with the terms of our seiior credit facility,-senior secured’notes
indenture and ‘senior*subordinated debt indenture. described above, all amounts under those arrangements -
could, autornatically or at the option of the lenders-or other debt holders; bécome due. Additionally, each of
those facilities contains provisions that certain events. of default-under one'facility’ will constitute a default
under the- other facility, allowing the acceleration of all amourits due.*We cutrently expect to'maintain-

i

comipliance with terms of all of our various credit agreernents for the foreseeable. future o e
1

; . R s

Included in our contractual obligations is the amount of 1nterest to be pard on our long -term debt As our
debt structure contains both fixed and variable rate interest debt, we have made’ assumptions in caleulatmg the_
amount of the future interest payments. Interest on our senior secured notes and senior subordinated notes is
calculated .using the fixed rates ‘of 10%-percent and 8% percent, respectively. Interest on our variable Tate debt
is calculated as 200 basis points plus LIBOR of 5.36-percent which was the'rate at December 31, 2006. .We

have assumed that LIBOR will remain’ unchanged for the outlying years. See “— Capitalization.” In addition.
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we have included the impact of our interest rate swaps entered into in Apnl 2004, See “lntercst Rate Rlsk” E
below. T L A : oot T

We have also included an estimate of expenditures required afier December 31, 2006 to 'complele the
facilities and projects-authorized at December 31, 2006, in which we have made substantial commitments in
connections-with facilities.

\ife have, not'inclnded purchase obligations as part of our contractual obligations as we generally do not
enter into long-term agreements with our suppliers. In addition, the agreements we currently have do not °
specify the volumes we are required to purchase. If any commitment is provided, in many cases the
agreements state only the minimum percentage of our purchase requirements we must buy from thé suppher
As a résult, these purchase obligations: fluctuate from year to year and we are not able to quantify the amount
of our future obligation. . : . T

We have not included material cash requirements for taxes as we are a taxpayer in certain foreign |
jUﬂSdlC[lOﬂS but not in domestic locations. Additionally, it 1s difficult to estimate taxes to be paid as changes
in where we generate income can have a significant impact on future tax- payments We have also not included
cash requirements for funding pension and postretirement benefit’ costs. Based upon current ‘estimates we’
‘believe we will be required to make contributions of approx1mate1y '$38 million 1o those plans’in 2007.
Pension and postreurement contributions beyond 2007 will be required but those amounts'will vary’ ‘based
upon many factors, mcludmg the performance of our pénsion fund' investments during 2007. In'addition, we
have not included cash requirements ‘for envrronmenta] remeédiation. ‘Based upon current éstimates we believe

" we will be required to spend approxlmately $8 m1lhon over the next 20 t0'30 years. However, dué to possible:
modifications in remedlanon processes and other factors it is difficult to determme the actual tlmmg of the
payments. -See “— Env;ronmemal and Other Matters”.© - . y C

4o [ AL A | o . L "

We occasionally provide guarantees that could require us to make future payments’in the: event that the
third party primary obligor does not make its required -payments. We have not recorded. a liability for any.of
these guarantees. The only thll’d party guarantee we have made is the performance of lease obligations by a
former affiliate. Our’ maximum' liability under this guarantee was less than $1 rl'lllllOll at both December 31,.
2006 and 2005. We have no recourse in the event of defau}t by the fonncr affihatc However we have not

been required to make any payments under [hlS guara_ntee o ) . S . o )

-« Additionally, we have from time to time issued guarantees for the performance’ of obligations by some of
our subsidiaries, and some of our subsidiaries have gua‘rant'ee'd our debt. All of ouf then existing and futuré
material domestic wholly-owned subsidiaries fully and dnconditionally'guaraniee our-senior credit facility, our
senior secured notes and our senior, subordinated notes on a joint and several basis. The.arrangement for the
seniot credlt facility. is also. secured by first-priority liens on substantially all our domestic assets and pledges
of 66 percent of the stock of certain first-tier, forelgn subsrdlarles The arrangement,for the $475 million senior
secured notes is also. secured by second-priority,, hens on substantlally all our domestic assets, excludmg some
of the stock of our domestic subsidiaries. No assets or- capltal stock of our dlrect or mdlrect forelgn JOR
subsidiaries secure these notes. You should a}so read Note 13 where we present the Supplemental Guarantor ,'.
Condensed Consohdatmg Financial Statemems L U . Y '

‘We have issued guarantees through letters of credit in connectiot’ with some obllgauons of ¢ our afﬁhates
We have guaranteed through letters of credit support for local credit facilities and cash management '
requirements for some of our subsidiaries totaling $11 million. We have also issued $21 million in letters of
credit to support some of our subsidiaries’ insurance arrangements. In addition, we have issued $2 millioh in
guarantees through letters of credit to guarantee. other obligations of subsidiaries pnmanlyrrelated to
environmental remedlatlon activities, TR R . O S P
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Dividends on Common Stock
P, 1.

* . . v, ,' .

On January 10, 2001, weannounced that our Board of.Directors eliminatéd the quarterly dwldend on our
common stock. The Board took the action in response to industry conditions,' primarily greater than anticipated
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production volume reductions by ‘original equipment manufaciurers and continued softness in the global llght
~vehicle aftermarket. There are no current plans to reinstate a dividend on our common stock.

+

Cash Flows : ) . o
) ’ " Years Ended

] ' o : © December 31, -
‘ ) - , : . 2006 2005
|
|
|

‘ e T ' : + 77 (Millions)
Cash provided (used) by: s T ' o .
. Operafing activities . . . . '...‘-. Ceeee . . . %3199 §131
" Investing activities . . . ... ........... e a7 U6
Financing activities . . . . .. ottt e .16 (36) - »

Operating Acnvmec :

. For the year endcd December 31, 2006, cash flow prov:ded from operating acnvmes was $199 million as
" compared to $131 mllllon in the prior year. For 2006 cash provided by working capital was $6 million
compared (o cash used of $83 million for 2005 Receivables were a cash outflow of $29. million, a $65 million-
1mpr0vement from last year, which was lmpacted by the discontinuation. of the advance payment programs . -
with three major OE customers in North America.in 2005. lnventory was a use of cash of $56 million
compared to cash provided of $7 miltion in the prior year Inventory was up year over year due to the ramp- up
of future platform launches. Accounts payable provided cash of $94 million versus last years cash outflow of |
$2 million. Cash interest payments of $137 million in 2006 were higher than prior year payments of
$126 million as a result of higher interest rates on our variable portion-of debt and increased average . ,
" borrowings. Cash tax payments were $26 milltion in 2006 compared to $23 million in 2005. Other operating
activity was a use of $7 million-in cash for 2006, compared to a cash outflow of $24 million in the prior year
which- was primarily related {0 an increase in pension contributions during 2005., . ,

Negotiable Fmanc:al Instruments — One of our European subsidiaries receives payment from‘one of its
OE customers whereby the account recewables are satlsﬂed through the dellvery of negotlable financial
instruments. These financial instruments are then sold ata dlSCOUll[ to a European bank. The sales of these
financial instruments are not included in the account receivables sold. Any of these financial instruments
which were not sold as of December 31, 2006:-and 2005 are classified as other.current assets and are-excluded
from our definition of cash equivalents. We had sold.approximately $26 million of these instruments at
December, 31, 2006 and $34 million at December 31, 2003. '

In certain instances’ several of our Chmese subsidiaries receive payment from OE customers and satisfy
vendor payments through the receipt and delivery of negotiable fi nancial instruments. Financial instrumerits
used to satisfy vendor payables and not redeemed totaled $12-million and $8 million at December 31, 2006
and 2005, respectively, and were classified as notes payable. Financial instruments received from OE
customers and not redéemed totaled $9 million at'both December 31, 2006 and 2005 and were classified as

. other curfent assets. One of our Chinese subsidiaries is required to maintain a cash balance at a financial

institution issuing the financial instruments which are used to satisfy vendor payments. The balance was less
than $1 million ;at Dec_:embey 31’. 2006 and $3 million at December 31, 2005 and was classified as cash and
cash equivalents. '

lnvesng Acnvmes
. o '

Cash used for investing activities was $8 million hlgher in'2006 compared to the same period a year ago.-
In 2006 we received $17 million in cash from the sale of assets. Cash payments for plant, property and
equipment (PP&E) were $177 million in 2006 versus $141 million in 2005. The increase of $36 million in
cash payments for plant, property and equipment was primarily due to the timing of future OE customer
plaiform launches. Without adjusting for changes in the balance of accounts payable relating to acquisitions of
PP&E, the amount of PP&E acquired in 2006 and 2005 was $7 million lower and $3 million higher,
respectively, than the cash payments reported. Acquisitions for PP&E were $170 million in 2006 and
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$144 miliion in 2005. See Reclassifications in Note 1 in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data” for further information. Expenditures for software-related intangible assets were $l3 million in: 2006

.

compared 1o, $l4 million in 2005 . - . oo '

- In 2005 we used $t1 m1l||on m cash to acqulre the exhaust operattons of Gab1lan Manufactunng and
33 mllhon to acquire the' remaining minority interest in Indla s Hydrauhcs joint venture operations, panrally
offset by net proceeds from the sale of assets of $4. malhon . - . ,

Financing Activities

Cash flow from financing activities was a $16 million inflow in 2006 compared to an outflow of . ;I‘. e
$36 million in the same perlod of 2005. The pnmary reason for the change is attrlbutable to $45 mllllon n

cash used to reduce our long -term debt during 2005 o Coame
g

Outlook = | -, ; S . ‘ ‘ .
Total North American OE llght vehlc]e product1on levels for 2006 were 15.3 million units, down three

percent from 2003. Of-this, producuon of passenger cars was up ﬁve percent while production of SUVs and

light. trucks was down nine percent. Current predictions on 2007 North American OE light vehicle producuon

levels are expected to be ﬂat with passenger cars down three percent and SUVs and light trucks up two .

percent. We ,anticipate- that 2007 will be anothet challengmg year due to volatlle orl prices, mcreasmg material

costs, and the overall financial condition of original equipment manufacturers especially Ford and General . :

Motors who have announced Job cuts, plant closings, first quarter productron cuts, and other restructuring . v

activities. We believe that new product launches, our position on top-selling platforms our position with

Japanese OE customers and a strong new product and technology pipeline will more than offset pressures

from North American production rates. European light vehicle production volumes were 20.9 million units

during 2006 compared to 20.3 million units in 2005. Expectations for 2007 indicate production will increase

only one percent.’North American heavy-duty truck production rates for 2006 increased by 10 percent. North

American heavy-duty production rates for 2007 are expected to decrease 38 percent due to significant - - -

purchases. in advance of new emissions regulations. taking effect'in'2007. In:China, light vehicle production

levels were 6.7 million units, up 28 percent from last year. Light vehicle production levels in China are *

anticipated to grow 13 percent in 2007. In the global aftermarket we anticipate stable market conditions. We .

also plan-to continue our efforts.to increase new-and existing sales in the global aftennarket business. . e
. . - ) . l;—- . .

Tenneco estlmates that its glohal ongmal equipment revenues will be approxrmately $4 7 bllllOl'l in 2007
and $5.0 billion in 2008. Adjusted for lower margin substrate sales, the company’s global original equipment
revenues are estimated to be approximately $3.1:billion in 2007 and $3.4 billion in 2008. These revenue ,
estimates are based on .original equipment manufacturers’ programs that have been formally awarded to the
' company; programs where the company is highly confident that it will be awarded business based on informal -,
customer indications consrstent w1th past practices; Tenneco’s status as supplier for the existing program and
its relationship* with the ‘customer;’ and the actual" orlgmal equipment revenues achieved by the company for
each of the last several years compared to the-amotint of thosé fevenues that the company estimated it would
generate at the beginning of each year. Our revenue estimate is subject to increéase or decrease due to changes
in customer requirements, customer, and consumer preferences, and the number of vehicles actually produced.
by our customers. We do not intend, however to update the amounts "shown above due to these changes. In o
addition, our, revenue estlmate is baséd on our ant1c1pated prrcmg for each applrcable program over its life. . i
However, we are under conunumg pricing pressures from our OE customers. We do not intend to update the
amounts shown above for any price changes., Fmally, for our foreign operatlons our revenue estimate assumes,
a fixed foreign currency value. This value is used to trans]ate foreign business to the US dollar. Currency in
our foreign operations is subject to fluctuation based on the economic conditions in each of our forergn o
operations. We do not intend to update the amounts shown above due to these fluctuations. See “Cautionary
Statement for Purposes of the ‘Safe Harbor’ Provrsrons of ithe Private Securities thlgatlon Reform Act of
1995 and Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”. , T L ‘ xE
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Raw material prices, and in particular steél prices; continue to be a ‘concern with continued presstire on -
prices expected into the foreseeable future."We expect up:to a $100 million increase in steel costs in2007. We
are leveraging our supply of scrap steel and our anticipated larger steel buy in 2007 as we. prepare’ for our new .
product launches to negotiate the best possible prrcrng We worked hard in 2006 and continue to work hard to
address this"issiie by evaluating alternattve materrals and processes, reviewing material substitution opportum-
ties, increasing ‘componeni and assembly outsourcmg to low cost countries and aggresswely pursuing récovery

" of higher costs from our customers. In addition to these-actions, we ‘continue fo pursue productivity initiatives

and review opportunities to reduce costs through Six Sigma, Lean manufacturing and restructuring activities.
We will continue to focus on controlling costs and leveraging global supply chain spending.

AT

Envrronmental and Other-Matters @ © - L A I RTINS L

We are sub]ect to a variety of envrronmental and pollutron control laws and regulatlons in all Junsdlctrons

- in which we operate. We expense or capitalize, as appropriate, expendrtures for ongoing complranee with
" environmental regulations that relate to current operations. We expense costs related to an existing condition

caused by past operations and that do not contribute to current or future revenue generation. We record
liabilities ‘when environmental assessments mdrcate that remedial efforts are probable and the costs can be
reasonably estihated. Estimates of the llabrllty are baed’ upon currently ‘available facts; existing technology,
and presently enacted laws and’ regulatrons takmg into consideration the likely éffects of inflation and other -
societal and economic factors. We consider all available evidence ‘including pnor expenence in'remediation of
contaminated sites, other compames cleanup eXperiences and data released by the Umtecl Slates Environmeén- "
tal Protection Agency or othér orgamzauons ‘These estirhated’ liabilities are subject to’ revrsron in future
periods based on actual costs or new information, Whére future cash flows aré fixed of reliably deterrmnable
we have discolinted the liabilities." All other envrronmental liabilities 4re recorded at thelr undrscounted e
amounts. We evaluate recoveries separately from the llablllty and, when'they are assuréd; recoveries are Co
recorded and reported separately from the assoctated llablllty in our ﬁnancral statements TeEe ‘
W4 N Y I PU N T P W )
As of December 31, 2006, we are desrgnated asa potentlally responsibleparty in one Superfund site. . ..
Including the Superfund site, we may-have the obligation to remediate current or-former. facilities, and we
estimate our.share of environmental remediation costs at these facilities to be approximately $8 million. For ¢
the Superfund site and the current and former facilities, we have established reserves that-we believe are . * -
adequate for these costs. Although we believe our estimates.of remediation .costs are reasonable and are based .
on the'latest available information, the cleanup costs :are estimates and are subject'to revision as more -

A

- information becomes available about the extent of remediation required.' At some. sites, we expect that other -

parties will contribute to the remediation costs. In addition, at the Superfund site, the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act provides$ that our liability coiild be*joint and séveral,
meaning that we could be required to pay in excess of our share of remediation costs. Our understanding of *
the financial strength of other potentially responsiblé parties at the Supetfund site, and of other liable parties
at our current and former facilities, has been considered, where appropnate in ourJdetermmatron of our.

3 ] |

estimated liability. T T et ' S .
Y, . . , - N Ce o
We belreve that any potential costs assocrated wrth our current status as a potentlally responsrble party in

the Superfund site,.or as a liable party at our current,or former facrlmes will not be matenal to our results of

operations or consolidated financial position. -, . . .. .. . . C ey ;

- . [ H

'From time fo time we are subject 10 product warranty claims whereby we dre requrred to’ bear costs of
repair or replacemerit‘of certain of our products ‘Warranty clalms may range from mdmdual customer ‘¢laims
to full recalls of all products in the field. We belleve that'the warranty reserve is approprrate however, actual
clatms mcurred ‘could differ from the orlgmal estimates requmng adjustments to the reserve. The Teserve is
included in current liabilities on the balance sheet, See Note 12 to our eonsohdated ﬁnancral statements v
included under Item 8 for 1nformatron regardmg our warranty reserves ) ' -t

bt L T T - ") ’1'7"1-
We also from time to time are involved in legal proceedmgs clalms or mvesngatlons that are incidental. :
to the ¢onduct ‘of our business. Some of these proceedings allege damages* against us relating to environmental -
liabilities (including toxic tort, property damage and remediation), intellectual property -matters (including
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patent,’trademark and copyright infringement, and licensing disputes), personal injury claims (including.
injuries due to product failure, design or warnings issues; and other product liability:related matters), taxes,
employment matters, and commercial or contractual disputes, sometimes related:to. acquisitions or divestitures.
For example, one of our Chinese joint ventures is currently. defending a legal proceeding by Chinese
government officials related to whether the jomt venture applied the proper tarift code to certain of its imports.
We v1gorously defend ourselves agamst all of these claims. In future periods, we could be Sl.lb_]eCted to cash
costs or non cash charges to earnings if any of thes€ matters is resolved on unfavorable tenns However
although the ultlmate outcome of any legal matter cannot be predlcted with certamty, based on present
inforniation, tncludmg our assessment of the merits of the particular claim, we do not expect that these legal
proceedings or claims will have any material adverse impact on our future consolidated financial position or
results of operauons -L‘. Fr

AT Ly e , s

“1 addrtron ‘we are subject tod number of lawsuits mmated by a significant number of claimants alleging
health problerms as a result of exposure to asbestos. A small percentage of claims have been asserted by
railroad workers alleging exposure to asbestos products’ in railroad cars manufactured by The Pullman
Company, one of our subsidiaries. Nearly all of the claims are related to alleged exposure to asbestos in our
automotive emission control products. Only a small percentage of these claimants allege that they were
automobile mechanics and a significant number appear to involve workers in other industries or otherwise do
not-include sufficiént information to determine whether there is any basis for a claim against us. We believe,
based on scientific and other evidence, it is unlikely that mechanics were exposed to asbestos by our former
muffler products and that, in any event, they would not be at increased risk of asbestos-related disease based

. - . ' .. eont 1.
on their work with these products. Further, many of these cases involve numerous defendants, with the number .

of each in some cases exceeding 200 defendants from a variety of industries. Additionally, the plaintiffs either
do not specify any, or specify the jurisdictional minimum, doliar amount for damages As major asbestos -
manufacturers continue to go out of business or file for bankruptcy, we may experience an increased number
of these claims. We vigorously defend ourselves against these claims as part of our ordmary course of
busmess In future periods, we could be subject to cash costs Of non- -cash charges to earnings if any of these
matters is resolved unfavorably to us. To date, with respect to claims that have proceeded sufficiently through
the judicial process, we have regularly achieved favorable resolution. Accordingly; we presently believe'that
these asbestos-related claims will not have a material adverse impact on our future financial condition or
results of operations.. - : . - . G e e .

Employee Stock Ownership Plans cs ' ‘ . TR

- We have established Employee Stock:-Ownership Plans for the benefit of our employees. Under the plans,
subject to limitations in the Internal Reveniie Code, participants may elect to defer up to 75 percent of their
salary through contributions to the plan, which are invested in selected mutual funds or used to buy our
common stock. We currently match in cash 50 percent of each employee’s contribution up to eight percent of
the employee’s salary. We recorded expense for these matching contributions of approximately $7 million for
each of the years ended December 31, 2006 2005 and 2004, respectwely All contributions vest 1mmed|ately

n‘ i

In connection with freezing the deﬁned benefit pension plans for nearly all U.S. based salaried and hourly -

employees. effective December 31, 2006, annd the related replacement of those defined benefit’ plans with
additional contributions under defined contribution-plans, we expect contnbutlons to the Employee Stock -
Ownership Plans will-increase by approximately $11 mllhon in 2007 v [ v Rt

+
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Derivative- Financial :Instruments

i e A o o N
I;’orelagn Currency Exchange Rate Rrsk . _ ;
e v f " 3 M ML ' v 3 . . n
We use derivative: findncial instruments, principally . forergn currency forward purchase and-sale contracts
wrth terms of less than.one year; to hedge our exposure.to changes in foreign: currency exchange:rates. Qur
primary exposure to changes in foregign currency rates results from intercompany loans made between affiliates
to minimize the need for borrowings from third' parties. ‘Additionally, we enter into foreign curreticy forward
purchase and sale contracts to. nutrgate our exposure to'changes in exchange rates on certain 1ntercompany and.




third-party trade receivables and payables.. We manage counter-party credit risk by entering into derivative |
financial instruments with major financial institutions that-can be expected to fully pérform under the terms of
such agreements. We have from time to time also entered into forward contracts to hedge our-net-investment-
in foreign subsidiaries. We do not enter into-derivative financial instruments for speculative purposesw“'

In managing our foreign currency exposures, we identify and aggregate exnsung offsetting posmons and
then hedge residual exposures through third-party derivative contracts The following table summanzes by '
major currency the notional amounts, weighted average settlement rates, and fair value for forelgn currency
forward purchase and sale contracts as of December 31 2006. All contracts in the followmg table maturé n
2007. . :

v ' .. .o .
December 31, 2006 e
Notional Amount Weighted Average Fair Valve in

. in Foreign Currency Settlement Rates | U.S. Dollars
: : ) Cv e ,. (Millions Except Settlement Rates) . i
Australian dollars. . ........... e —Purchase -+ . 2 . 790 =82
. —Sell - . - (9 L R O I
British pounds . .. ........... e -. .+ —Purchase : 81 ., 1958 - .t .., 158
o ' ' ' —Sell 6 1.958 ~ ' “T(119)
Canadiép‘ dollars ."....... PR —Purchase " s " 858 13
~ Czech, Répub]ic koruna —Purchase 155 048 )
L —Sell » 0 (184) 048 %
Danish kroner .. ...... SR ' —Purchase 165, A77 29
: —Sell’ (24) 177 @
European euro . ............. —Purchase * 122 1322 162
! —Sell O 1320 3)
Polish zloty ........ e ) —Purchase . w73 344 025
. R C—Sell . . (50) . 345 . (17)
Swedishkrona..................... —Purchase 298 146 - Loo44-
. —Sell — . — ' —_—
US.dollars . ............... e —Purchase — et ©oThe
R o W o—Sell ... . (282) .., 1.000° ‘ o (282)
Other................ i e .+ —Purchase © 360 - a0 008 . 3
- B4 . Cee Sell oo T () 6L L T (1)
L N S . . N .‘$ :

lnteresr Rate R:sk

N v . ‘ . Lty A - .
Our financml mstruments that are- sensitive to market nsk for changes in interest rates are pnmanly our
debt securities. We primarily, use our revolving credit facilities to finance our short-term capital reqqu‘ements .
We pay a current market rate of interest on these borrowings. We have financed our long-term capital .y;
requirements with long-term debt with original maturity dates ranging from five to ten years. :

0

In April 2004, we entered into three separate fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps with' two, sép’araté" :
financial institutions. These agreements swapped an aggregate of $150 million of fixed. interest rate debt at'an
annual rate of 10% percent to floating interest rate debt at an annual rate of LIBOR plus an average spr_ead of
5.68 percent. Each agreement requires semi-annual settlements. through July 15,2013. Based upon the LIBOR
rate as determined under these agreements of 5.61 percent (which was in effect until January 15, 2007) the : .
inclusion of these swaps in. our financial results added $1 million to. our 2006 annual jnterest expense. These..
swaps qualify*as fair value hedges in accordance with SFAS No. 133, “Accoummg for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Actlvmcs as amended, and as such are recorded on the'balance sheet at fair value Wlth an
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offset to the underlying hedged item, which is long-term debt. As of December 31, 2006, the fair value of the
interest rate swaps was a liability of approximately $7 million which has been recorded as a decrease to-long-
term debt.and an increase to other long-term liabilities. On December 31, 2006, we had $996 million in long-
term debt obligations that'have fixed interest rates. Of that amount, $475 miltion is fixed through July 2013
and $500 million through November 2014, while the remainder is fixed over periods of- 2007 through 2025. -
Included in the $475 million,is $150 million of tong-term debt obligations subject to variable interest rates as
a result 'of our swap agreements. We also have $356 million in long-term debt obligations that have variable
interest fates based on a current market rate of interest.

We estimate that the fair, value of our long-term.debt at December 31, 2006 was about 104 percent of its
book value. A one percentage point increase or decrease in interest rates would increase or decrease the annual
interest expense we recognize in the income statement and the cash we pay for interest expense by about .,
$2 miliion after tax, excluding the effect of the interest rate swaps we completed in April 2004.; ;Aone
percentage point increase or decrease in interest rates on the swaps we completed in April 2004 would .
increase or decrease the annual interest expense we recognize in the income statement and the cash we pay for
interest expense by approxlmately $1 million after tax. "

PR
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Years 2005 and 2004 o e . '
Net Sales and Opemnng Revenues ) ’ -

[ Tt R S

" The followmg tables reﬂect our révenues for the years of 2005 and 2004, Se,e tYears 2006 and.2005 — -

Net Sales,and: Operating Revenues” for:a descnptlon of why we present-these reconciliations of revenues.”
- . I'l

T "' Year Ended Décember 31,2005 - ¢ ° .
e PRUIS S [P : : : IS +  Substrate 7 Revenues
', Sales ‘Excluding
Revenues Excluding  Currency and
. , Currency | Excluding Currency | Substrate
Revenues ° Impact Currency Impact " * Sales
oo . f . : i (Millions) e
North 'Amcnca Original’ Equ1pmem | ' i I T e
Ride Control .*.., %" . . 0 $ 495 - § 495§ — o -§1495
- Emission Control R U T, 1011 _9 1002 -212¢ - 730
Total North América Original ‘Equipment. .. 1,506 9 Tia9T " 212 v 1205
North America Aftermarket . A
RideControl ......................... 361 — 361 _— 361
Emission Control ...................... __ 161 = 161 — __ 161"
Total North America Aftermarket . ....... 522 — 522 —_ 522
Total North America . ............... 2,028 9 2,019 272 1,747
* Europe Original Equipment
Ride Control ........... ... ... ....... 378 11 367 — 367
EmissionControl ............... ... ... 1,078 2 - 1,080 326 754
Total Europe Original Equipment ........ 1,456 9 1,447 326 1,121
Europe Aftermarket :
RideControl .................... e 169 — 169 — 169
Emission Control ...................... 195 {1 196 —_ 196
Total Europe Aftermarket . ............. 364 (1) 365 — 365
South America & India ................... 233 25 208 18 190
Total Europe, South America and India 2,053 33 2,020 344 1,676
ASta. . .o e e 149 — 149 43 " 106
Australia . ... ... .. ... ... . 211 _7 204 19 185
Total Asia Pacific .................. __360 _7 353 62 291
Total Tenneco .. ..................... L. 34441 $49 $4392  $678 $3,714
|

62 .




w e - B R T YearEndedDecember31 2004

! " st IR YRS I "wt* .+ . - Substrate ,. Revenues.
y , T . Lo e, . N _Sales | s . Excluding
. . ' o : T . 'Revenues Excluding ~Currency and
A ] e v vt - ACurrency . - Excluding -3 Carrency - Substrate
T LT e _ Revenues Impact - Currency . Impact_.. | Sales
- T . etliens) T ST
North Amenca Ongmal Equnpmem L y-'-‘ . " . K g
-Ride Control .. st 80 455 L S '$ 455 o $ —- .. % 455
Emission Control D .":-.'..-;'. Vol T0L001 . s = e 1,001 320 ' 681
" Total North America Ongmal e SRS o , L
' Equipment. . . .. RERERRIRI C',;' i Lase L 1ds6’ 3207 . LI36
North America Aftermarket __ T o - A{": T e
Ride Control,. .,. .. .... ey e 3420 = e 342 - 342
:Emission Control . T T R -1 PR R BRPTHEG () C =L 1611
Total North ‘Aiierica Aftermarket RO . ©503 0 =TT 503
““Total North America . . ...\ 17,0 .0 1959 * 1,959~ 320 1,639’
Europe- Onglnal Eqmpment s o . . ..:" y N © s RO |~'. cee .
Ride Control .,............ e 356, . ,— . 356 Lo e 356
Emission Control.. . .. . .....vum . e 1005 1 — 1,005 - 32t .. 684,
Total Europe Ongmal Equlpme:nt L :’ ll_:,'361" ’ _“ ) — » .'11’361. - ‘3§1, o 1‘.(')_40
Europe Aftermarket ’ e Lo o "‘ L :_u . o o
Ride Control ............. PR 169 N 1 H— 169
Emlssmn Contro] .. .'.. ..2 oL ol v 190 e Y190 _ T — . T 190
Total Europe Aftermarket .. .o . -0yt 359, —i . . 359 4 . — .35
South'America & India v ...t 00t e ATl — s HTL L A5 - 156
Total Europe, South America"& India . . T 0891 — . 1,891 G 336 <1 1,555
ASIA. . 158 - 158 T 54 104
Australia ... ..... U 205 — 205 . 16 189
Total Asia PaClﬁc .................. 363 = 363 70 . 293
Total Tenneco ;. P .:i‘. ................. $4,213 $— $4,213 $726 $3,487

Ao [ o ) ot o

Revenues, from our North Amencan operatlons 1ncreased $69 mllhon in 2005 ,compared (o the same
period in 2004 reflecting hlghcr sales from both OE and aftermarket businesses. Total North Amencan OE
revenues increased three percent to $1,506 million in 2005. OE emission control revenues were up one percent
in 2005.t0 $1,011 million from $1,001 million in 2004. Substrate emission control sales decreased 15 percent
to $272 million in 2005. Adjusted for substrate sales and currency, OE emisSion control sales were up seven
percent in 2005 compared to 2004. OE ride control revenues for 2005 increased nine percent compared to
2004 driven primarily by higher sales to heavy-duty vehicle manufacturers. Total OE revenues, excluding
substrate sales.and currency, increased eight percent in 2005, while North American light vehicle production
remained flat compared to 2004. We experienced this improvement despite the flat build rate primarily due to
favorable light vehicle platform mix, highlighted by a 10 percent increase in sales to the Japanese OEMs, as
well as higher heavy-duty volumes. In addition, our February 2005 acquisition of the exhaust business for
Harley-Davidson provided a $37 million revenue contribution. Aftermarket revenues for North America were
$522 million in 2005, representing an increase of four percent compared to 2004 despite general market
softness as higher gas prices tempered consumer spending for routine car maintenance. Aftermarket ride
control revenues increased $19 million or six percent in 2005, primarily due to increased sales to new and
existing customers. Aftermarket emission control revenues were $161 million in 2005, fiat compared to 2004.
Price increases driven by higher steel costs helped offset lower emission volumes.
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Our European, South American and Indian segment’s revenues increased $162 million or nine percent in
2005 compared to 2004. Total Europe OF revenues were $1,456 million, up seven percent from 2004. OE
emission control revenues increased seven percent to $1,078 million in 2005 from $1,005 million in 2004,
Excluding a $5 million increase in substrate sales and $2 million of unfavorable currency, OE emission control
revenues increased 10 percent in 2005 over 2004. We experienced this revenue increase despite the relatively
flat European light vehicle build rate due to thé ramp up of platforms that launched in late 2004 and early
2005. OE ride control revenues increased by $22 million in 2005, up six percent from $356 millioh in 2004.
This increase was greater than the European-light vehicle ;Sroduction level, which was flat compared to 2004
levels. Our increase was greater than the market as a result of the expansion of our electronic suspension
business as well as a ramp up of business and new launches with Nissan, Suzuki, Dacia, Toyota, Mazda and’
Audi. We changed our reporting in the second quarter of 2005 for an “assembly-only"” contract with a
European OE ride control customer and began accounting for those revenues as net of the related cost of sales.
If we had reported our 2004 revenues in the same manner, they would have been lower by $42 million,
Excluding an $11 million benéfit from currency appreciation, OE ride control revenues increased three percent.
European aftermarket sales were $364 million in 2005 compared to $359 million in 2004. Excluding $1 million
of unfavorable currency, European aftermarket revenues increased two percent in 2005 compared to 2004.
Ride control aftermarket revenues, excluding the impact of currency, were even with the prior year, reflecting -
heightened competition, a soft market environment in Spain, and weaker exports worldwide ‘due to the
strengthening of the euro. Aftermarket emission control revenues were up three percent iri 2005 from 2004
excluding the benefits of currency. New customers and market share gains helped to partially offset significant
market declines relating to now standard use of longer lasting stainless steel by OE manufacturers.. South
American and Indtan revenues, excluding the benefits of currency apprec:auon and substrate sales, were up
21 percent to $190 million in 2005 compared to 2004. Higher OE volumes and substrate sales as wel] as
improved product mix and pricing drove this increase.

Revenues from our Asia Pacific segment, which-includes Australia and Asia, decreaséd $3 million to
$360 million in 2005, as compared to $363 million in 2004, Excluding substrate sales, revenues increased
$2 million at our Asian operations in 2005 compared to 2004 driven by higher OE volumes. In Australia,
strong OE volumes and strengthening currency increased revenues in 2005 by three percent, Excluding the
impact of currency and substrate sales, Australian revenues’decreased two, percent. -

r

EBIT
Years Ended
December 31,
‘ . 2005 - 2004 Change ,
_ : B . .. .7 (Miltions) "
North AMerica . . ... . e e et e e et $145  §$133 $12
Eyropé,' South America and India ..... e S . .54 - 21 - 33
Asia Pacific . . ... F Lo e 200 @)

$215. .$174  $41




The EBIT results, shown in the preceding table. ificlude the following items, discussed-above under
“Restructuring and Other.Charges” and “Liquidity and:Capital Resources — Caprtahzatron +which have an - -

effect on the comparability of EBIT results between periods: . ‘
e R St ! ! : PR

t “ g oo = . Years Ended

2005 2004
b (Mllllons}
North America '
Resfructudng and restructuring-related eXpenses. . . ... .. .. a iy $4 311
New aftermarket customer changeover costs(1) .............. e .10 .8
Consultlng fees indexed to stock price . ... ........ PR PP P — o 2
Europe South America and India Restructuring and restructurmg related expenses 8 26
Consulting fees indexed to stock price . . . .. EERRERERERER RS - :" “‘— |
Asra Pacific
- Restructurlng and restructunng-re]ated expenses ....... Ve SIPI = "3
Consuilting fées indexed to stock prlce SR L .,.' . N L

(1) Represents costs assocnatedawrth changmg new aftermarket customers from therr pnor suppliers to an -
inventory of our products Although our aftermarket busmess regu]arly incurs changeover costs, .we specnﬁ-
. cally. 1dent1fy in_the table above those changeover costs that based on the size or number of customers, -
1nvolved we believe are of an unusual nature for the quarter in, whrch ‘they were incurred,

'

EB[T for North American operations for 2005 increased to, $145 million from $133 million for 2004.
Higher OE volumes increased EBIT by. ‘$14 million with 1mproved OE manufacturing efficiencies and lower
selling, general and administrative:costs adding $15 million and-$10 million, respectively, to EBIT. These
improvements to EBIT were partially offset- by OE price concessions and steel cost increases, net of other
material costs savings and recovery from customers. North American aftermarket EBIT was negatively
impacted by higher steel costs of $27 -million and lower volumes and manufacturing inefficiencies of
$21 million. These decreases were partiallyoffset by lower selling, general, administrative and engineering,
costs of $11 million and other material cost savings and recovery from customers. Included in North America’s
2005. EBIT -were $4 million in restructuring and restructuring-related expenses and $10 million in customer
changeover costs. Included in North America’s. 2004 EBIT were $11 million in restructuring and restructuring-
relatéd expenses, $8 million in customer changeover costs and $2 million in consulting fees indexed to the -
stock price. . . - . . ., . oL L o P . o

i
L

Our, European, South Amencan and Indran segment’s EBIT was $54 mlllron for 2005 up $33 rnrlhon .
from $21 million in 2004, ngher European OE volumes from both emission and ride control product lines
contributed $21 million to EBIT during-2005. Increased OE manufacturing efficiencies added $4 million to
EBIT. Steel cost increases of $22 million were offset by other material cost savings and recovery from -
customers. OF price concessions and higher selling; genéral, administrative and engineering costs negatively
impacted EBIT by $17 million. European aftermarket” manufactunng efficiencies and lower selling, general, -
administrative ‘and’ engineering costs-added $13 million to EBIT. Higlier European aftermarket steel costs:of
$13 million were offset by other material costs savings and recévery from customers. South America and India
added $8 million to EBIT as compared to 2004, 'mostly due to favorable customer pricing ‘actions and currency
appreciation that offset higher stéel costs. Included in Europe, South America and India’s 2005 EBIT were
$8- million in restructuring and restructuring-telated expenses. Included in 2004-EBIT were $26 million'in ~ *
restructurrng and restructurmg-re]ated expenses and $1 million in consultlng fees 1ndexed to- the stock pnce -

R TN Lot ’ .o

- EBIT for our Asia Pac1ﬁc segment, which 1nc1udes Asia and Australia, decreased $4 million'to -

$16 million in+2005 compared to-$20 million in 2004, Manufacturing efficiencies and reduced selling, general,

administrative and engineering costs increased EBIT by $12 million. These increases were more than offset by .

lower -volumes that impacted EBIT by $7:million and increased steel costs, net of other material cost savings
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and recovéry from customers. Included in Asia Pacific’s 2004 EBIT were $3 million in. restructuring and
restructunng -related expenses and $1 million in consulung fees mdexed to the stock pnce

td
You should also read Note 4 to the consolidated ﬁnanc1a1 statements mcluded m Item 8 for a dtscussmn
of the changes in our results due to the change in our method for valuing inventory.
1, . . o

EB'I’.i",“qs a Percentage of Revenue

. Years Ended

. December 31,

Lo . ; L L N . . 2005 } .2004

North America . . .......... e, AR oo % 1%
Europe, South America and Indta ........... P L Sl 3% 1%
Asia Pacific ......7. . .00 L, S SR, I L. 4% 7 6%
Total Tenneco ... ............ R e, LI 5 4%

In North America, EBIT as a percentage of revenue for 2005 remained at prior year levels. Higher OE
volumes and lower selling, general administrative and engineering costs as well as, reduced restructurmg
activities were offset by higher steel costs and pnce concessions. Our Europe, South "America and India EBIT
margin for 2005 increased two percentage points compared to 2004. OE volume increases, manufacturing
efficiencies and lower restructuring costs were ‘partially offset by price Ctmcessmns EBIT as a percentage of '
revente for our Asia Pacific operations decreased two percentage: pomts in 2005 compared to 2004,
Manufacturing efficiencies, lower restructunng costs and reduced selling; genéral, admlmstrauve and engmeer-
ing costs were mote than offset by highet ‘steel costs and reduced volumes. ' "> * * +°

. I . . . . . O
1 ' , AL oo bl [F] b

In.rerest E.rpense, Net of Interest C’apttaltzed - e T . L

We reported interest expense of $130 million in 2005 compared to $l79 mllhon in 2004. Interest expense
for 2004 included $42 million related to the 2004° refinancmg of our'$500 million 11% percent senior
subordinated notes due 2009. We accomplished this refinancing by i issuing new 8% percent sénior subordinated
notes due 2014 in November 2004 and using the net proceeds of that issuance, together with cash on hand, to®
redeem our 11% percent notes. The 11% percent notes were called for redemption in November 2004 and the
redemption was completed in December 2004, Included in the total is a write-off of $8 million-in debt "~ °
issuance costs; a premium of- $29 million fof redeerning the bonds prior to theif maturity date, and $5 miltion -
in.overlapping ‘interest expenses during the time between the issuance of the 8% percent'notés dnd the final -
redemption of-the '11% percent notes. See ‘more detailed explanations on our debt structure,‘including our ¥
issuance of $500 million of 8% percent senior subordinated notes due 2014 in November 2004, prepayments"~
and amendments to our senior credit facility in February 2005, and their impact on our interest expense, in

Ltqmdlty and Capltal Resotrces — Cap1tahzat10n earller i thlS Management s Dtscussmn and Analysm

In Apnl 2004, we entered mto three separate f" xed-to-ﬂoatmg interest rateiswaps w1th two separate dn.
financial institutions. These agreements swapped an aggregate of $150 million-of fixed interest rate debt at an
annual rate of 10% percent to floating interest rate debt at an annual rate of LIBOR plus an average spread. of-
5.68 percent.- Each. agreement requires. semi-annual.settlements through July 15, 2013. The LIBOR.-in effect . -
for these swaps, during.the course of 2003 resulted in lower.interest expense of approximately $2 miilion for "
the year. The LIBOR rate as of December 31, 2005 as determined .under these agreements was 3.82 percent.
This.rate remained in effect until. January: 15, 2006 when it increased to approximately 4.73 percent. These
swaps qualify, as-fair value hedges in accordance with SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities?, as amended and as such are frecorded on the balance sheet at fair value with.an offset
to the underlying hedged item, which is long-term debt. As of December 31, 2005, the fair value of the
interest rate swaps was a liability of approximately $5 million. On December 31, 2005, we had $1 billion in
long-term debt:obligations-that had fixed interest rates. Of that amount, $475 million was fixed through-July
2013 and $300 million through November 2014, while the remainder-is-fixed over periods of 2007 through -
2025. Included in the $475 million is $150 million of long-térm debt obligations-subject to variable‘interest ..
rates as a result of our swapiagreements. We. also have $356 million.in.long-term debt obligations that have: :
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variable interest rates based on a current market rate of interest. For further discussion see “Liquidity and - -
Capital Resources — Interest Rate Risk” earlier in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis. tf

.t . . *
4 i - . . ' . - o

Income Taxes . . ,
L ' e L e " ‘t' . . .- I

Income taxes were an expense of $25 million-in 2005 compared to a benéfit of $24 million'in 2004
Included in 2005 were 'befefits of $4 million, mcludmg ‘settlements of prior year tax issues and resolution of
some tax contingencies with our foreign operations. Including these adjustments the effective tax for 2005 was
30 percent. Excluding these adjustments would have incredsed our-effective tax rate by four percent. Included
in 2004 weré benefits of $21 million, mcludmg book to" returh adjustments, settlements of prior year tax'issues
and benefits related to previous tax losses in forelgn operatlons Due to efforts to improve ‘overseas operations, "
we can now recognize the benefits of these’ previous tax losses in foreign operations, because it-is more likely
than not that we will be'able to utilize them to offset future cash tax payménts. The effective tax rate for 2004
including the $21 million benefit was 466 percent. Excluding the '$21 million benefit would have decreased
our effective tax rate by 397 percent. You should also read Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements !
included in Item & for a dlS?USblOH of the changes in our results due to the change in our method for valumg
mventory . . .

. ' ) . ! . .
L PR e [ M . 1

) . '
. e e . . e, oL v ey

. Earnings PerShare e Ca L o o e ol

e
e 1

-We reponed earmngs per diluted common share ‘of $1.29 for 2005, compared to $0.35 per diluted sharé *
for 2004. Included in the results for 2005 are expenses related fo our restructuring activities, customer Vo
changeover costs and favordble tax adju:,tments The net impact‘of these itéms decreased eammgs per dlluted
share by $0.23. Included in the resuits for 2004 are expenses related to our feéstructuring activities, the cost "'
related to the.refinancing of our senior subordinated notes, customer changeover costs, consulting fees indexed
to the stock prlce and favorable tax adjustments The net 1mpact of these items decreased earnmgs per drluted
share by $0 87. Please read Note 8 to the consohdated ﬁnanc:ldl staternents 1ncluded in Item 8 for'more’
detailed information on earnings per share. You should also read Note 4 to the consohdated financial
statements mcluded in Item 8 for a dlSCUSSlOﬂ of the, changes in our results due to the change in our method
for valuing mventory . ) L
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Cash Flows | L

Years Ended
December 31, .
2005 2004
L . R . . " (Millions)
. .. : o i P ot s RS PR
Cash provtded {(used) by S - L P Cp
QOperating activities . .., ....... e ' 3131., $.214.
Investing activities i, » o o v oo e v e st i e e SRR R ' .. i(ledy  (130) -
& :
Fihancing activities .1 ......... e e e . Tl el (36 (12)
i ' 4 . " A C . w0 ety ‘-r". - . . .o -7 1
Operatmg Acuwttes L SR o ! brmer e e "'
. St 1 Tl R L N Lt W By

For the year ended December 31,-2005, cash flow provided from operating ‘activities was $131. million as’
compared to $214' million in 2004. For 2005 cash used for working capital was $83 million compired to'a g
cash flow provided of $46 million for 2004. Higher revenues and the dlscommuatlon of .the advance payment
programs with three major OE .customers in’North America were the. .primary reasons for higher: 'year over 4"
year receivables balances that resulted in cash outflow of $94 million, a $90 million increase from 2004,
Inventory reductions provided cash of $7 million compared to a use of cash of $22 million in 2004. Accounts
payable used cash of $2 million versus a cash inflow of $54 million in 2004. Cash interest payments of
$126 million in 2005 were significantly lower than 2004 payments of $185 million as a result of refinancing
transactions in 2004. This was partially offset by, higher cash tax payments of-$23 million in 2005 compared -
to $18 million in 2004. Other operating activity was a use of $24 million in cash fotr 2005, compared to a:cash
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inflow of $34-million in 2004.. This change was primarily related to an increase in pensmn contributions
during 2005. - . . . .

We had arrangements with three major OE customers in North America under which, in exchange for a
discount, payments for product sales were made earlier than otherwise required under existing payment terms.
These arrangements reduced accounts receivable by $88 million as,of December 31, 2004, All.three of these
programs were discontinued during 2005. To mitigate the impact on-our liquidity from the termination of these
programs, if 2005 we supplemented our existing senior credit facility by increasing from $220 million to
$300 million the amount of lenders’ commitments under the revolving credit facility portion of the senior
credit facility. As part of this agreement, we reduced from $180 million to $155 million.the amount of lenders’
commitments under the tranche B-1 letter of credit/revolving loan facility portion of the senior credit facility.

- In October 2005, we further supplemented the senior credit facility by increasing from $300 million to

$350 million the amount of commitments we may seek. We have not yet sought any such additional ,
commitments. -We were not required to reduce the commitments under. the tranche B 1 letter of credit/ :
revolvmg loan facility in connection with the October 2005 améndment.

“"One of our European subsidiaries receives | payment from one of its OE customers whereby the accounts .{
receivable are satisfied through the delivery of negotiable financial instruments. We may collect these financial
instruments before their maturity date by either selling them at a discount or using them to satisfy accounts
receivable that have previously been sold to a European bank. The reported sales of these financial instruments
were no longer included in the account receivables sold beginning in the fourth quarter of 2004. Any of these
financial instruments which were not sold are classified as other current assets as they do not meet our.
definition of cash equivalents. The amount of these’ financial mslrumems that were collected before their
matumy date totaled $34 mllllon At Dccember 31, 2005 compared -with $44 million at December 31, 2004,

ln certain mstances several of our Chmese subsidiaries receive payment from OE customers and satlsfy
véndor payments through the receipt and delivery of negotiable financial instruments. Financial instruments
used to satisfy vendor payables and not redeemed totaled $8 millibn at December 31, 2005 and were classified
as notes payable. Financial mstrumcnts received from OE customers and not redeemed totaled $9 million at’
December 31, 2005 and were classified as othér current assets."One of our Chinese subsidiaries'is required 1o
maintain a cash balance at a financial institution issuing the financial instruments which are used to satisfy
vendor payments. The balance totaled $3 million at December 31, 2005 and was classified as cash and cash
equivalents.

Investing Activities

Cash used for investing activities was $34 million higher in 2005 compared to 2004. In 2005 we used
$11 million in cash to acquire the exhaust operations of Gabilan Manufacturing and $3 million to acquire the
remaining’minority interest in India’s Hydraulics joint venture operations, partially offset by net proceeds from
the sale of asséts of $4 million. In 2004 we received $15 million in cash from the sale of assets, primarily
driven by the sale of our Birmingham, UK. facility. Cash payments for plant, property and equipment. were
$141 miltion in 2005 versus $131 million in 2004. The increase of $10 million in cash payments for plant,
property and equipment was primarily due to the timing of future OE customer platform launches. Without
adjusting for changes in the balance of accounts payable relating te acquisitions of PP&E, the amount of
PP&E acquired in 2005 and 2004 was $3 million higher and $1 million lower, respectively, than the cash
payments'reported. Acquisitions for PP&E were $144 million in 2005 and $130 million .in 2004. See |
Reclassifications in Note 1 in.Item 8 “Financial-Statements and Supplementary Data” for further information.
Expenditures. for software-related intangible assets were $14 million in 2005 compared to $13 million in 2004.

Fmancmg Acnvmev ' : C !

1 t

=Cash flow from financing activities was a $36 million outflow in 2005.compared to an outflow of
$12-miliion in 2004. Fhe primary reason for the change is attributable to $45 mllhon in cash vsed.to reduce
our long-term debt during 2005,
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK. .

The section entitled “Derivative Financial Instruments” in Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations™ is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY. DATA. e R u
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MANAGEMENT’S. REPORT ON.INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING '

Management of Tenneco Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate mternal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under., the Securities-Exchange Act-of
1934). Management’s-internal control system is designed to provide reasonable+assurance regarding the
preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements. All internal: control systems, no matter. how
well designed, have inherent limitations; including the possibility of human error or circumvention or . -
ovemdtng of controls. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable
assurance with respect to ﬁnancml statement preparatton and presentatton and may not prevent or detect
mtsstatements in ﬁnancnat reportmg Further due to changmg condtttons and adherence to estabhshed policies
and controls, ‘infernal control effecttveness may vary over time.”

Management assessed the company 8 effectlveness of mtemal controls overlﬁnanCtal reportmg In makmg
this assessment, it ‘used the ‘critetia set forth by the’ Committee of Sponsonng Orgamzattons of the Treadway
Commission (“COSO”) in Internal Control- Integrated Framework.

Based on our assessment we belteve that the company s 1ntemal control ovér ﬁnancml reportmg was not
effectivé asa result of the matertal weakness related to' accountmg for income taxes as of December 31, 2006.

A material weakness is.a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in_ more

" thana ‘remote l1kel:hood that a material mtsstatement of the annual or 1ntenm ﬁnanc1al statements w1ll not be

prevented or detected Management 1dent1fied a material weakness in’ our mtemal control over ﬁnanc1al

reporting as of Decethber 31, 2006, related to our, accountmg ‘for i income taxes 1ncludmg income taxes payable,

" deferred income tax assets and liabilities and the related income tax prov1smn Specnﬁcally, we did not
maintain effective controls over the accuracy and completeness of the components of the income tax provision

 calculation and related deferred income taxes and income taxes payable, and over the monitoring of the
differences between the income tax basis and the financial reporting basis of assets and liabilities to effectively
reconcile the differences to the reported deferred income tax balances. This control deficiency resulted in
adjustments to the tax accounts for our financial statements as of December 31, 2006. While the errors
identified largely offset each other, our internal controls did not operate effectively to detect errors that could
have been, individually or in the aggregate, matetial.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006 has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, our independent reglstered public accounting
firm, as stated in their report, which is included herein.

March 1, 2007
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REMEDIATION:PLANS FOR A MATERIAL WEAKNESS IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINAN-
CIAL REPORTING

While consnderable action has been taken to-improve mtemal controls over our accounting- for income
taxes, remediation of this controt deficiency has not yet been fully evidenced and therefore management has
concluded that this weakness existed as of December 31, 2006.. To address the material* weakness inthe = .
accounting for income taxes, we have taken or will take the following actlons '

* With the a551stance of an outSIde professmnal service prov1der,rd_urmg the founh quarter of 2006 we
implemented procedures to more effectively and accurately accutnulate detailed support for approx-
' '|mately 70 forelgn tax basis balance sheets and related processes to quamlfy deferred tax balances.

= We are re-engineering the tax provision reporting processes (including U.S. federal and state tax .
provision processes) to improve visibility, tlmelmess Jand accuracy, as well as technical support. and
documentation standards, :

e, cr I )

» We will reorgamze functional respon51b1ht1es in the tax departmem 1o better control and manage the
income tax data that is collected’ and enhance our current process for completmg the provmon and
performing analysis.

.

* We are in the process of developmg addttlond] remediation plans which will ‘be 1mplemented to address
‘the material weakness in internal controls in dccountmg for income taxes. Many of lhese newly .
designed controls and procedures are only executed annually during the year-end c]osmg process. Our
assessment of the remed:anon wnll remain ,open until that time.

' Lt -

‘- e . S P
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM |

“To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Tenneco Inc.

We have ahdit_ed management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management, Report on
Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting, that Tenneco Inc. and consolidated subsidiari'esr(the “Company”™)
did not maintain éffective internal control over financial réporting as of December 31, 2006, because of the
effect of the material weakness identified in management’s assessment based on criteria established in fnternal
Control — Integrated: Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (“COSO™). The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness.of

the.Company’s internal controt over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the’ standards"of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material

respects: Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating

management's assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control,
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions. ’ o

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision
of, the company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions,
and effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;

"(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of
the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of: unauthdrize_:d
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements. . )

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of '

collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may -not
be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the
internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate. :

A material weakness is a significant deficiency, or combination of significant deficiencies, that results in
more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will
not be prevented or detected. The following material weakness has been identified and included in
management’s assessment: accounting for income taxes, including income taxes payable, deferred income tax
assets and liabilities and the related income tax provision. Specifically, the Company did not maintain effective
controls over the accuracy and completeness of the components of the income tax provision calculation and
related deferred income taxes and income taxes payable, and over the monitoring of the differences between
the income tax basis and the financial reporting basis of assets and liabilities to effectively reconcile the A
differences to the reported deferred income tax balances. This material weakness was considered in determin-
ing the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the consolidated balance sheet of the
Company as of December 31, 2006 and the related consolidated statements of income, cash flows, changes.in
shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income (loss) and financial statement schedule for the year ended

.
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December 31,.2006, and this report-does not affect our report on such:financial ‘statements and financial
statement schedule.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company did not' maintain’effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fmrly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria
established in COSO Also in our opxmon because of ‘the effect of the materlal weakness described above on.
the achlevement of the objectwes of the control cmena the Company has not mamtamed effectlve mte{nal
control over fi nancna] repomng as of December 3172006, based on the cntena established in COSO '_‘ -,

We have also'audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Actounting Over51ght
Board (United States), the consolidated balance:sheet of the Company as of December 31, 2006 and the *
related consolidated statements of income, cash flows, changes in shareholders” equity and-comprehensive

“income (loss) and.financial statement schedule for the year ended December 31, 2006. Qur report dated
March 1, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financialstatements_and financial statement schedule
and included an explana:ory paragraph regarding the Company s adoption of Statement of Financial Account-
ing Standards No. 123(R), “Share Based Payment” on January 1, 2006 and the Company ] adopuon of the
recognition and disclosure prov:swns of Staternent of Financial Accountmg Slandards No. 158, “Employers’
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pensnon and Other Postretlremem Plans —an amendment of FASB Statements
No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R)" on December 31,2006 B o

a0t o PN
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED. PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Sharehol'ders‘of Tenneco Iac.» .

We have audited the accompanying consohdalcd balance sheets of Tenneco Inc. and consolidated
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of
income, cash flows,.changes in shareholders’ equity, and comprehensive income (loss) for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2006. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed
in the Index at Item 8. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsrbrllty of the
Company’s management. Our respon51blllty is to express an oplmon on the financial statements and financial
statement schedule based on our audits. ches TN Ly

. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Publrc Company Accountmg Over51ght
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtam reasonable a
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material ‘isstatément. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures’in the financial statements.' An
audit atso includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well-as evaluating the overall ﬁnancnal statement ‘presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable

basis for our opinion, : .
LI I Ve A

In our opinion, such consolrdated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects the ﬁnancnal
position of the Company as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with accountmg
pr1r1c1ples generally accepted in the United States of America. Also; in our opinion, such’ financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated ﬁnancnal statements taken as a whole, presents
fairly, in all material respects, the information set fonh lherem

As describéd in Note 8 to the consolidated ﬁnancral statements, on .lanuary 1, 2006 , Ihe Company
adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), “Share- Based Payment” and as discussed in
Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, on December 31, 2006, the Company adopted the recognition
and disclosure provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, “Employers Accountmg
for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans — an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87 88,

]

106 and 132(R)” _ . . .. - L

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight -
Board (United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal.control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, based on the criteria established in Internal Conrro! — Integrated Framework issued: by
the Commrttee of Sponsoring Orgamzatlons of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 1, 2007,
expressed an unqualified oplmon ‘on management's assessment of the effecuveness of the Company’s mtemal
control over financial reporting and an adverse opinion on the effectiveness ‘of the’ Company s internal ‘control

1 o _h NN

over financial reporting because of'a material weakness. e e e »

. ECT R . L - et oo

DeLorrte & ToucHe LLP
Chicago, llinois
March 1, 2007
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. .TENNECO INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES - -
' STATEMENTS OF INCOME .

vl * '+ Years Ended December 31;
: . 1 .o 2006 S 205 2004
Doty ’ (Millions Except Share and Per Share Amounts)
Revenues - oo RO : T
Net sales and operatmg revenues .. ... ... P $ - 4685 $ 4441 § 4,213

Costs and expenses

,Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization . . :
shownbelow)..L.,................;....: ....... ' 3,838 . 3,583 3,368

Engineering, research and developmem. e 88 ' , 83 76
Selling, general, and administrative . ... .. DU P ' 377 385 47
Depreciation and amortization of other mtanglbles ..... e 184 177 . 177
R e o 4,487 4,228 4,038
Olher income (expense) - ] _

Loss on sale of. recelvables DT e L © 3 (D
Equity Iricome. . ........ RN r ..... REREE .. - 3 ‘ 1 -
Other income (expense). .............. ... oo 1 4 ' -—
(2) 2 e

Income before interest expense, income taxes, and mmorlty ‘ -
interest, :: . ............ e e e D . 196 215 ; 174
Interest expense (net of interest capltallzed) .............. 136 - 130 179
‘Income tdx expense (bemefit) ......... ...l 3 25 7 (24)
Mmonty mterest Cel RERE e D, SR . : & 2. 4
Net income ....... . ... 3 51 % 58 % 15

Earnings per share .
Average shares of common’stock outstandmg —

S oot

"Basic. . ... S S S I 44,625,220 43,088,558 41,534,810
Diluted . . . . .. e U L. 46755573 45321,225 44,180,460
Basic eammgs per share of common stock —_ i . $ 115 $ 1358 0.37
Dlluted earniings per share of common stock — . . ... .. e $ 110 S 129§, 035

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these statements of income.

i
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TENNECO.INC: AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

" . BALANCE SHEETS
. P o ) . December 31,
L . - 2006 2005
T e " (Millions)
. ASSETS .
Current assets: - : . ' ‘
Cash and cash equivalents , . ... .. PO e e c§202, 3 141
. Receivables — ' ) o ‘ . .
' Customer notés and accounts, nct.......‘....’ ...... [ 579 515
©, Other ...... S U U P ' 25 28
Inventories ... . ...... e el e . 439 360
Deferred income taxes. . .. ......0 ... ... EESFET TR PRI e 52 43
Prepayments and other .............. .. L L. 125 110
' s o _ o 1422 1,197
Othér assets: ; : D . : s .

" Long-term notes recelvable Net. .o oe e L SR .. 26 23
Goodwilt ... ... e e e e ~203. 0 200
Intangibles, Net. . . . ... .. ..t e e R 30
Deferred iNCOME. TAXES. + - - o o oottt e e e e et antaas e 376 307
Other ....... R 134 ‘140

T a . , 748 700
. Plant, property, and eqUIPMeNt, L COSL . . . ..« uvvvvrtenreane e aneaeennns 2,643 2,428
Less — Accumulated depreciation and amortization . . ... ., e oo (1,550)  (1,385)
' S y - N 1,093 1,043
. S : $3.263 $2940
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities: .
. Short-term debt (including current maturities of long-term debt}. . ................ $ 28 § 22

~Trade-payables ... ... ... e 782 651
ACCIUE LAXES . . .\t ittt ittt ettt e e e e - 49 31
ACCIUEd IMIETESE . . . . o ittt e et e e 40 38

. Accrued liabilities. . .. ........ e e 200 208
Other . ... i e S e e e 34 - 29
’ . : 1,133 979
Long-term debt. . . ........ R P - 1,350 1,356
Deferred inCOME tAXES . .. o 0o v vie it n e ioa e SN EIA 107 86
Postretirement benefits . .. ... ovvrt vt Yoo 349 285
Deferred credits and. 6ther THablites « . o\ oo et e e 75 81
* Commitments and contmgencws '

Minority interest. . . ... .' .................. e e - 28 24

‘Shareholdérs’ :equity; ) '

-Commonstock..... ..................... T A SV LTl . — —
Premium on common stock and other capital surplus e S Leeeees 2,790 2,776
Accumulated other comprehenswe loss oo v i i i T e QU - (253) (282)
Retained earnings (accumulated deficity .. ..., .. . R e [ERER - (2,076).  (2,125)

. ] ‘ 461 369

Less — Shares held-as _treasu_[y stock, at.Cost. . .. vt e e e e s o 240 240
. 221 129

' $3263 §2540

..« The actompanying notes to financial statements are anintegral part of these balance sheets. - -
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TENNECO INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

v -

2006 2005 2004
(Millions)
Operating Activities - .
NELINCOME . . ... o e s $.51 .8 58§ IS
Adjustments 1o reconcile net income to cash provided by operating actlvmes—— o |
Depreciation and-amortization of other intangibles. .. ............. RRERE 184, 1777 177
. Stock option expense .. ... Do D 57— . =
Deferred iNCOME 18XES . . . . . ..ottt e (43) — 7, (58)
{(Gain) lossonsale of assets, met . . .......... ... ... ... ..ol 3. . 3 —
Changes in components of working capital (net of acqulsllmn)— P
" (Increase) decrease in receivables . ......... ...l 29 94T @)
" (Increase) decrease in MIVENIOTES .. ...ttt (56) 7 @2y
(Increase) decrease in prepayments and other current assets . ... ........ ... (14) 1n(4)
Increase (decrease) inpayables .. ...... ... ... ... .. .. ... ...l 94 2y .+ 54
Increase {decrease) in acCrued LAXES . . ..o v ot i e et i e 15 3. 2
Increase (decrease) in accrued interesSt. . ... ... ... il . 2 4 (D
Increase (decrease) in other current liabilities. . ... ....... ... ... "6y (16) 27
Other ......... (7 24y '34
Net cash prowded Dy operaling activities . .. ... ..t it it i 199 131 214
Investing Activities S T
Net proceeds from sale of assets. ... .6, vt i einannns RS 7o 4 15
Cash payments for plant, property, and eqmpment .......................... (177y (141} (131)
Cash payments for software relatéd intangible assets. . . ..................... (13) (14 (13)
Acquisition of businesses (net of cashacquired) . .........................1 — (14 —
Investments and other. ... ... .. ... ...ttt i s JAPE . 1 (1)
Net cash used by investing activities. .. ......... ... ... ... .. ... 0. (172) ... (164) 4. (130)
Financing Activities - E
Issuance of common shares ......... ... ... .. . ... . o il 17 Tore 10
Issuance of long-termdebt . . .. ... .. ... .. .. ... . _ 1. 500
Debt issuance costs on long-termdebt . . ... ... .. . ... . .. . — = (]3)
Retirement of long-termdebt . ..., ... ... .. ... ... .. .. . . A4) T (45) --(508)
Net increase (decrease) in short-term debt excluding current maturities of long-term S
debt. .. e e e e 3 1 (1)
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities . ... ....................... 16 (36) (12)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents ........... L8 L () (3)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents . ... .. ...................... S8~ (73) ., ,.-69
Cash and cash equivalents, January 1 .. .......... ... .. ......... P l4li o 214, 145
Cash and cash equivalents, December 31 (Note) . .. ...... ... ... ..o vn.. $ 202 . ‘$_ 141 '( $214.

Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Cash paid during the year for interest
Cash paid during the year for income taxes (net of refunds)

Non-cash Investing and Financing Activities . ",
Retirement of obligation and exchange of property

...................................

...........................

Period ended balance of payables for plant, property, and.equipment . .. .. .. Ve

Years Ended December 31,

(TR A
"$ 137 $ 126._4 $-185,

r [

Y 26 1$ 23+..% 18
$ . $ (2)”3 —
$ 185 8. 25.-.%. 22

Note: Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid-investments with a maturity of three months or less at

v

the date of purchase.

-

The accompanying notes to financial’ statements are an integral part,of these-statements of cash' flows.
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TENNECO INC. AND:CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY

Ty,

' Yo [ R
Common Stock . - R

Balance January 1.%% . ... .. -

Issued (Reacquired) pursuant to benefit plans
Stock options exercised

Balance Deqen:nber 31

"Premium on Common Stock and Other Capital
Surplus ..

Balzmcc.lanuaryl.............: .........

Premivm on common stock issued pursuant to

Cbenefitplans™. . ... ... PN

Balance Deccmbei;ﬁl

Accuniulated Other Comprehensive Income
(Loss) :

Balance Janwary 1. .. ......... ... ..o

Adoption of Statement of Financial Accauntmg

Standard (SFAS) No. 158, netof tax . ... .. ..

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Balance December 31
Retained Earnings (Accumulated Deficit)

Balance January 1.,........o oo
Net income. . . 0% . ... ...... ST

Balance December 31 : -

Less -— Common Stock Held as Treasury Stock
at'Cost
Balance January 1 and December 31

Years Ended December 31,

) 2006 2005
+ - Shares Amount’ .Shares Amount
, N (Millions Except Share Amounts)
45544668 © $ — 44275594 § —
(104,240) — 283,797 —
1,644,846 - 985277 = @ —
" 47,085,274 — 45,544,668 —
2,776 2,764
14 : 12
2,790 - 2,776
(282) (185)
. (59) .=
. ‘ 88 - 97 6
o (253) (282)
g T s (2.180)
. 51 - .58
: @ )
. : (2,076) (2,125)
1294692 - 240 1294692 1240
i $ 221 $ 129
- Y ' . . e

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these
statements of changes in shareholders’ equity.
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TENNECO INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) -

, ‘Years Ended December 31,
2006 . 2005 : 2004

Accumulated ' Accumulated . Accumulated
Other ' Other ’ Other
Comprehensive  Comprehensive Comprehensive Comprehensive Comprehensive Comprehensive
Income Income Income Income Income - °  Income
(Loss) {Loss) (Loss) R {Loss) {Loss) iLaoss) -
e {Millions) - .
Netlncome . ................ $58. 338 ’ o &
Accumulated Other . B . T
Comprehensive Loss . \ . .
Cumulative Translation .
Adjustment _ . 3
Balance Januacy t. .. ... ... ... $(150 % (63 i *E(143)
Translation of foreign currency — ) . -
statements. ... ... . e, 96 - 96 (87) (87} ' ' 80 .80
Balance December 31 ... ... ... (s (150 . . _(63)
Additional Minimum Pension '
Liability Adjustment ' .
Balance January 1. . .......... (132) . (122), o (98)
Additional minimum pension .
liability adjustment. . .. .. .. (5) (5) (16) (16) (28) (28)
Income tax benefit. . .. ...... — : — 6 6 4 - 4
Deferred 1ax valuation : : : :
allowance adjustment . . .. . . 3 (3) — . —_ L — —
Balance December 31 . ..., .. .. (140) (132) (122) .
Adoption of SFAS No. 158, Net e
of Tax,............ PV {59) — — ]
Balance December 31, .. ... ... .. $(253) $(282) ’ . $(185)
Other comprehensive income _(Idss). . 8 @7 56
Comprehensive Income (Loss) . . . : $139 . ' $(39) Lo $71°

The accompanying notes to financial statemenis are an integral part of these
statements of comprehensive income (loss). - v .
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TENNECO INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

" 1. Summary of Accounting Policies

s

Consolidation and Presentation

In 2005, we changed our name from Tenneco Automotive Inc. back to Tenneco Inc. The name Tenneco
better represents the expandmg number of markets we serve through our commercial and specialty vehicle
businesses. Building a stronger presence in these markets complements our core businesses of supplying ride
- control and emission control products and 'systems to automotive original equiprhént and aftermarket customers

worldwnde Our common stock continues to trade on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “TEN".
Our financial statements‘ include all majonty-owned subsidiaries. We carry mvestments in-20 perccnt to
50 percent owned companies at cost plus equity in undistributed earnings since the date of acquisition and °
¢umulative translation adjustments. We have eliminated all significant intercompany transactions. .

4t ' . v . )
o f LIS .

‘ oL . . - o e e

Sales af Accounts Receivable - e e

We entered into an agreement to sell an interest in some of our U.S. trade accounts receivable to a third
party.. Receivables become eligible for the program oh a ‘daily basis, at which time the receivables are sold to
_ the third party, net of a factoring discount, through a wholly-owned subsidiary. Under this agreement, as well
as individual agreements with third parties in Europe, we have sold accounts receivable of $133 million,

" $129 million and $124 million at December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. We recogmzed a loss of
approximately $6 million, $3 million and $1 million during 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively, on these sales
" of trade accounts, representing the discount from book values at which these réceivables were sold {o the third
party. The discount rate varies based on fundmg cost incurred by the third party, and it averaged six percent
during 2006. We retained ownership of the remaining interest in the pool of receivables not seld to the third
party. The retained interest represents a credit enhancement for the program. We value the retained interest
based upon the amount we expect to collect from our customers, which approximates book value.

Inventories

" At December 3i, 2006 and 2005, inventory by major classification was as follows:

2006 2005

) . ' (Mllllons)
Finished 005, . . 50t e ettt e e S LLo.. 8191 %154
T WOrK I PIOCESS . o L it 90 81 #*
Raw materials.. . ... ..ot 122 89
Materials and supplies .. ... ... i e _3% 3

$439 3360

Our inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market value using the first-in, f;rst—out (“FIFO"} or
average cost methods. Prior to the first quarter of 2005, inventories in the U.S. based operations (17 percent
“and 19 percent of our total consolidated inventories at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively) were valued )
using the last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) method. Effective January 1, 2005, we changed our accounting method for
valuing inventory for our U.S. based operations from the LIFO method to the FIFO method. See Note 4 for -

additional discussion of this accounting change. o . -

- _ 8t

e e -
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TENNECO INC.‘AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Coitinued)

Goodwill and Intangibles, net

I L Caaln
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the twelve months ended December 31 2006 are as
follows: . . e e
. Europe, ~
L O S PP EERE LI S | N STE RN . Nerth .; South America .,Asia ..
T o o ' T ' lAmeriea . and India Pacific” ” Total
CRE TR B AR ‘ IR ‘ .r — 1) (Mllllons) - .; — .
, Balance' &t December 31, 2005 S PPN 1k N - c I _$ 9" $'20.d‘;:_'"‘, L
Translatlon adjustments iy :..'_;,.'. e T, ot _3 ey T w3 w
Balance at December 31, 2006 . ... ... $138 . $56 $ 9 $203 '
ey '*':"';: s T IR ;h» L R e TR % L T L T N .

We have ‘capitalized”certain intangible assélsi: pnmarl]y trademarks and patents based: on’ theéir estlmated
fair value at the dite we acquiréd them. We amdrtize ‘thése infangible dssefs on'a straight:line-basis' ovér !
periods ranging from five to 30 years. Amortization of intangibles amounted to less than $1 million in 2006
2005, and 2004, and is included in the statements of income caption “Depreciation and amortlzatlon of other
intangibles.” The carrying amount and aceumulated amortization are as follows: "% T L

¥

_December 31, 2006 - 4 .+ .. December, 31 2005 T

s ' i ' T TP .
. .. - . Gross Carrymg - Accumulated . ,Cgross‘Carry_ing Accumulated
! ’ Fa e o “ . .Value " . Amortization- 7 . Valuévt: ‘Amomzauon"’ reel
L L A Col e L (MElliens) B R o U s T et (Mﬂimns} PITIERNL P ([
fidaas T N | R LTS T I STV L A TR T
Amértized Intanglble Asséts’ AR ; SO ) R
e : A T L) L TR Y RN N g,
Customer contract T 8 . — ‘ $ 6 . . -
o Co BT T T T U B L LTI RN Glaont e
. _Patents .-:.‘... R R S P T . !(2) w e n, 2 ) ) (»,).4 o
.Noncompete covenants . ..oy 2 L T S U § ) R
Lo Trademarks om. oo e Tl ele b g e L (D e R B © § N .
i Technology nghts & caprtal' : ) R T T XIS oL S B
subsidies-. i v ot ce e a0 (D) 0 T 2, ()b
Total. .. ..o $13 5) $13 $(

Estimated amortization of mtanglble assets over the next five years is expected to be less than $1 rmlhon
each year.

- - . Lt N -
T B N B T T PR o SR s P UL

Pla?z't,’“Propé,riy,r and Equipment, at Cost

At December 31, 2006.and 2005, plant, property, and equipment, at cost by, major category were.as™

follows: v . . o Ce e e A T B
! . . . . . . P . . L. 2006 .. 2005%
¢ o [ ey (Millions)
Land bulldlngs a.nd 1mprovemenl:s .......... e e e % 432 % 400
Machmery and equipment., .. ............ e e e - 2,027 1,827
O'ther mcludn}‘g construcuon in progress. R AR RERRREE . o184 184 201
D o s e e T e s, 52408,
Gk e ‘l Coeraarer R L s Y PRI T N AR iy

o We depremate these: properties on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Useful,
hves range. from 10 to-50; years. for buildings and improvements .and from three:to.25 years for-machinery and-

_equipment., : N R PRI B PRVt o
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TENNECO INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Notes Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

" Short and long—term notés receivable outstanding were $29 million and $24 million-at- Deceinber 31, 2006
and 2005; respectwcly ‘The allowance for doubtful accounts on short- and long-term’ notes éceivable was
$3 million’ at December 31 2006 ‘and zero at December 3l 2005 : e

. . FN . .
| RN il s . 3 L . BTN '

At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the allowance for doubtful accounts on short- and-long-term accounts
receivable was. 816 mllllon and $]9 million, respectively. .o 11 - 0 T g e e e BT
Pre-producnon Desrgn and Devet’opment and Toolmg Assets . . .. - . ,' . “ . i

We expense ‘pre- producnon des1gn and development Costs ‘as mcurred unless we have a contractual
guarantee for reimbursement from the original equipment customer. We had long-term reccivables of
$22 millicn and $17 million on the balance sheet at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectwely, for guaranteed
pre-production design and development reimbursement arrangements with our customers. In"addition, plant,
property and equipment.includes $63 million and $59. million at December 31,:2006 and 2005, respectively,
for original equipment tools and,dies that we own, and prepayments and other includes $38.million and
$32 million at December 31, 2006 and. 2005, respectively, for i 1n-process tools and dres that we. are building.
for our original equipment customers. ., . e v et e

Internal Use Software Assets
- (1 .,,__4..' . .'n
We capttallze cenam costs related lo, the purchase and, development of software that we use in our
business operanons We amortize, the costs attnbutable to these software systems over thelr cstlmated useful
lives, ranging from three to 12 years; based on various factors such .as the effects of obsolescence technology,
and other £CONOMmic factors Capttahzed software development costs, net of amortization, were 381 million at

both’ December 3L 2006 and 2005 and. $90 mrlhon at Decemberl 31, 2004 and is recorded in other long term

assets. Amortization of software development costs was approx1mately $17 million for the year ended -
December 31, 2006 and $16 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively,
and is included in the statements of income caption “Depreciation and Amortization of other mtangrbles
Additions to capitalized software development costs, including -payrotl and-payroll-related costs for- those
employees directly associated .with developing and obtarmng thehntemal use software, are classifiedras -+ -

mvestmg actwmes in-the statements of cash'flows, .+ -+i:p 0 0 Th T A
TR o ' R T SR T e e ST
Coa, Vel N . _‘:!"F‘-r:' [ . v
Income, Ta.xes b e i _

i'. . P v o

vy f

- We have aU. S Federal tax net operatmg loss carryforward (“NOL”) at December 31 2006 of .
$634 million, whlch wtll explre in 'varying amounts from 2018 to 2026 _The federal tax effect of that NOL is .
$222 million, “and is recorded asa deferred tax asset on our balance sheet at December 31; 2006 We also
have state NOL carryforwards at December 31, 2006 of $585 mtllron which will expire in varlous years’
through 2026. The tak effect of the State NOL, net of a Valuation allowance is $29 million and is recorded as |
a deferred tax asset on our balance sheet at December 31, 2006. We estimate, based on available evidence
both positive and negative, that it is more likely than not that we will utilize these NOLs within the prescnbed
carryforward period. That estimate is based upon our expectations regarding futute taxable incomé of our’
U.S. operations and the implementation of available tax planning strategies that accelerate usage of the NOL.
Circumstances that could change that estimate include_future.U.S. earnings at lower than expected levels or a
majority ownership change as defined in the rules-of the U.S. tax law. If that estimate changed,”we would be
required to cease recognizing an income tax benefit for any new NOL and could be requtred to record. aci.
reserve for some or.all of the asset currently recorded on our.balance sheet: . ., . ... - o
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TENNECO INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Revenue Recognition : v R e

We recognize revenue for sales to our original equipment and aftermarket customers when title. and risk
of loss passes to the customers under the terms of our arrangements with those customers, which is usually at
the time of shipment from our plants or distribution centers, In connection with the sale‘of exhaust systems to
certain criginal equipment manufacturers, we purchase catalytic converters or components thereof and diesel
particulate filters including precious metals (“‘substrates)’) on behalf of our customers which are used in the
assembled systemn. These substrates are included in our inventory and “passéd through’ to the ‘customer at our
cost, plus a small margin, since we take titie to the inventory and are responsible for both the delivery and
quality of the finished product. Revenues recognized for substrate sales were $927 million, $681 million and
$726 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. For our aftermarket customers, we ‘provide for promotional
incentives and returns at the time of sale. Esumates are based upon the terms of the incentives and historical
experience with retums. . _ .

Warranty Reserves T o . ’ o o -
Where we have, offered product warranty, we-also provide for warranty costs. Those'estimates are based'
upon historical experience and'upon specific warranty issues as they arise. While we have not experienced any
material differences between these estimates and our actual costs, it is reasonably possible that future warranty
issues could arise that could have a significant impact on our financial statements. oo

Earnings Per Share- ,
.-

We compute basic earnings per share by dividing income available to common shareholders by the
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding. The computation of diluted earnings peér share is
similar to the computation of basic earnings per share, except that we adjust the weighted-average number of
shares outstanding to include estimates of additional shares that would be issued if potentially' dilutive:
common shares had been issued. In addition, ‘We adjust income available to common shareholders'to mc!ude
any changes in 1ncome or loes that would result from the assumed issuance of the dllutlve common shareq h

L . -
3 4 I N .,_l

' ' . R
Engmeermg, Research and Developmem t t ! s

We expense engineering, research, and developmem costs as they are mcurred Engmeenng, research and
development cxpenses were $88 million for 2006, $83 million for 2005 and $76 million for 2004, net of
reimbursements from our customers. Of these amounts, $13 million in 2006, $11 million in 2005 and
$12 millicn in 2004 relate to research and development, which includes the research, design, and development
of a new unproven product or process. Additionally, $45 million, $47 million and $35 million of engineering,
research, and development expense for 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively, relates to improvements and
enhancements to existing products and processes. The remainder of the expenses in each year relate to
engineering costs we incurred for appllcallon of ex1stmg products and processes to vehicle platforms Further,
our customers reimburse us for engineering, reqearch and development cgsts on some platforms when we
prepare prototypes and incur costs before pldtform awards. Our engmeermg research and development expense
“for 2006, 2005, and 2004 has been reduced by, $61 m:lllon $51 million and $46 mllllon respectlvely, for '

these relmbursemems -
N 7 ‘ K i " . B

Foretgn Currencv Translarmn

.

‘We translate the financial statements of foreign sub51d1ar1es into U S. dollars using the exchange rate at
each balance sheet date for assets and liabilities and a weighted-average exchange rate for revenues and *
expenses in each period. We record translation adjusttents for those subsidiaries whose local currency is.their
functional currency as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss in shareholders’ equity. We .
_recognize transaction gains and losses arising from fluctuations in currency-exchange rates on transactions
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TENNECO INC."AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

denominated in currencies other than the functional currency in earnings as incurred, except for those
transactions which hedge purchase commitments and for those intercompany batances which-are designated as
long-term investments. Net income included foreign currency transaction losses of $8 million in 2006,
$5 m'illion in 2005, and $2 million in 2004., -

Risk Management Activities, .

We use derivative financial instruménts, principally foreign currency forward purchase and sale contracts
with terms of less than one year, to hedge our exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, and
interest rate swaps to hedge-our expdsure to changes in interest rates. Our primary exposure to changes in
. foreign currency rates results from mtercompany loans made between affiliates to minimize the need for . |
borrowings from third parties. Net gains or losses on these foreign currency exchange contracts that are
. designated as hedges are recognized in the mcome statement to offset the foreign currency gain or loss ‘on the
underlying transacuon Additionally, we emer mto forelgn currency forward purchase and sale contracts to’,-
mitigate our exposure o changes in exchange rates on some intercompany and third party trade recelvables
and payables. Since these antlc1pated transfactlons are not firm commnmems we mark these forward contracts
to market each period and record any gain or loss in the income statement. From time to time we have also
entered into forward contracts to hedge our net investment in forelgn subsidiaries. We-recognize the after-tax
net gams or losses on these contracts on ‘thé accrual basis in the balance sheet caption “‘Accumulated other
comprehensive loss.” In the statement of cash flows, cash receipts or payments related to these exchange
contracts are classified consistent, with the cash flows from the transaction being hedged.

' ' . B ) . - - -l| " - * ¢ "
We do not enter into derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Changes in Accounting Pronouncements, -

In March 2005, the FASB issued Intérpretation No. (“FIN”) 46(R)-5, “Implicit Variable Interests under
FASB [nterpretauon No. 46” (revised December 2003). The statement addresses whether a reporting emerpnse
should consider whether it holds an implicit vanable interest in a variable interest entity (“VIE”) or potenual
VIE when spec:f c conditions exist. The gurdance was applied in the first reporting period beginning ‘after
March 3, 2005 The adopnon of FSP No. "FIN 46(R)- 5 dld not have an impact on our consolidated ﬁnancml
sldlements .

In March 2005 the FASB issued FIN No: 47, “Accountlng for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations.”
This interpretation clarifies that the term conditional-asset retirement obligation as used in FASB No. 143,
“Accounting for Conditional Asset Retifement Obligations,” refers to a legal obligation to perform an asset
retiréiment activity in which the timing and/or rethod of settlement are conditional on a ‘future event that may
or may not:be within the coritrol of the entity. “This interpretation was effective no later than the end of fiscal
years ending after December 15, 2005. The adoption of FIN No! 47 did not have a material impact on our
financial posmon or results of operation.

In May-2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Corrections,” which supersedes
APB No. 20, “Accounting Changes” and SFAS No. 3, “Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial
Statements.” This statement changes ‘the requitements for the accounting for and reporting of a change in
accounting principle. SFAS No. 154 was effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made in
fiscal years beginning after December 15; 2005. The adoption of SFAS No. 154 did not have a material impact
on our financial position or results of operation:

In June 2005, the FASB issued Staff Position No. (“FSP™) No. 143-1, “Accounting for Electronic
Equipment Waste Obligations.” This statement addresses the accounting for obligations*associated with
Directive 2005/96/EC on Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment adopted by the European Union. The
Directive distinguishes between “new” and *historical” waste: The guidance should be applied the later of the
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first reporting period ending after June 8, 2005, or the-date of the adoption of thelaw by. the applicable. EU-. .,

member country. The adoption of. FSP-No, 143-1 did: not have a material 1mpact on our financial position or-

results of operation. . Y S A B B F kAT B R R Ryt
P,

In November 2005, the FASB issued FSP FAS 123(R)- 3 “Transmon Elecuon to Accountmg for the Tax
Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards.” This FSP requires an entity to follow either the transition guidance
for the additional paid-in-capital pool as prescribed in SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, or the -
alternative transition method as described in the FSP. We have elected.to follow the transaction guidance,
utilizing the modified prospective method for addmonal paid; ln-capltal pools as described in SFAS No. 123(R).
The adoption of SFAS No, 123(R)-3 did not have a material.impact on our ﬁnancral statements. . . ...

r »yha !

In June 2006, the FASB issued FlN No. 48, ‘Accountmg for Uncertarnty in Income Taxes , an
1nterpretat10n of SFAS No ]09 Accounnng for ]ncome Taxes to create a smgle method to address accoantmg‘
for uncertamty in mcome tax posmons FIN 43 clarrﬁes the accounung fori mcome taxes by prescrlbmg a o
mmlmum recogmtlon threshold and measurement attrrbute a lax p09|t|0n is requlred to meet before' bemg e
recogmzed in the fi nancial statements FIN 48 also provrdes gu1dance on dprecogmuon cl’assrﬁcanon mterest

“and penalties, accountmg in mterlm periods, drsc[osure and transrtron FlN 48 is effectlve for fiscal years o,
beginning after December 15, 2006 We will adopt FIN 4}‘8 as of January I, 2007; as requrred We have T npt _
determined the effect if any the adopnon of FIN 48 will have on our ﬁnancral posmon and results of T

operations. i e
pe P - t . sa ey " | T I B 2 la .'-'.‘; o 31 ."r'u'

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No.-157, “Fair Value Measurement:?: This statement-defines -
fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted aecountmg prmcrples and
expands disclosures about fair vale méasurements. This statement applies under other accounting pronounce-
ments that require or permit fair valire measurements. The statement is .effecu.\ie for financial str;tements issued *
for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscdl'years. 'We dé not
expect the adoption of this statement to have'a material impact to,our, financial statements. ¢ 4 Ly

" In September 20Q6 the 'FASB lssued SFAS No: 158, “Employers Accountmg for Deﬁned Beneﬁt ;‘
Pensmn and Other Postretirement Plans ‘an amendment of FASB® Slatements No 87 88 1086, and 132(R) b
Part of this Statemient is effective” as of December 31, 2006 and’ requrres compames that’ have deﬁned beneﬁt
pension’plans and other postretlrement benefit plans 10 recoghize the funded status of those plans on the e
balance sheet on a prospective basis from the effective date. The funded status of these plans is delermmed as’
of the plans’-measurement dates and represents the difference between the amount.of the obligations _owed 1]
participants under each plan (including_the effects of future;salary;increases for defined-benefit plans) and the
fair value of each plan’s assets dedicated to-paying those obligations. To record the funded status of. those,
plans, unrecognized -prior service costs and net actuarial losses experienced by the plans will be- recorded in-
the Accumulated Other Comprehensive-Loss section of shareholders).equity on the,balance sheet. ,’I'he mlttal
adoption resulted in a reduction of. Accumulated. Other Comprehenswe Loss in sharehoiders equity. of ;,
$59 million.

P R E o Z‘. g v
f
+

In addition, SFAS No. 158 requires that companies. using'a measurement date for their defined beneﬁt
pension plans and other postretirement benefit plans other than their fiscal year, end, change thesmeasurement *
date effective for fiscal years ending after December:15,.2008: We currently use a September 30 measurement
date for substantially alt of our defined benefit plans and are planning to adopt this statement’s measurement _
date change effective for calendar year 2007. We do not believe.the:impact. of the app]rcatron of this part of ,
the statement will be material to our financial position and results of operations, -, TR e RV R

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange -Commission issued Staff Accounting. Bulletin No. 108,
which hereby added Section ‘N to Topic 1, ! “Financial Statements”, of the Staff Accounting 'Bulletin Series:’
Section N provides guidance on the consideration-of the effects of prior year misstatements in*guantifying .
current year misstatements .for the purpose of a materiality assessment. The bulletin is effective for.an interim.
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pericd of the first fiscal year ending after. November 15, 2006. We do not expect the adoptton of this bulletin
to have a material ‘impact to our financial.statements. LR v ‘ SIS

K] " .l F-I/ . J ’ ) - " -l‘LIL'.- ". ! .‘ L . B ' - " 'r".." . + t’

Use of Estimates-i .+ Y = .0 v e - T B A

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
~ United States of America requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and Habilities and disclosure of‘confingent assets and liabilities at the date of:the financial statements. ~
and the 'reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period: These estimates include "
allowances for doubtful receivables, promotional and product returns, pension and post-retirement benefit
plans, income taxes, and contingencies. These items are covered in more. detail, in Note 1, Note 7, Note lO
“and Notej 12 Actual results could drffer from those estlmates '

wat o . . T + 0

T ¢ Lo - e 1# LA ot

Reclassifications

[ '..-v_ ,;J‘E. . .

Certain reclassrﬁcatrons have been made 'to prror year amounts to conform to the current year presenta- _
tion, Spec1ﬁcally, we have reclassrfied components of our net deferred tax asset in our notes to the financial
statements. The reciassification impacted deferred tax assets related to pensmns and other 1tems and. deferred
tax liabilities related to depreciation and other items. We have also reclassified in the statement of cash flows
the net change in payables for acquisitions of plant, property and equipment:(PP&E) from the increase )
(decrease) in payables included in operating activities into cash payments for PP&E included in investing ¢ i
activities and disclosed the year-end balance!of payables for PP&E in non-cash investing and financing’
actrvrtres 'We do not believe these’ changes in presentation are material to the. ﬁnancral statements v !

R T T A o e

1 + - L

2 Restructurmg and Other Charges . _' : ' o

Over the past several years we have adopted plans 1o restructure porttons of our operations. These plans
were approved by thé Board'of Directors-and were designed to reduce operational and admiistrative -overhead
COsts throughout the business. Prior to the change in accountmg required: for exit or disposal activities, we-
recorded charges 16" income related-to these’ plans for costs that did not benefit future activities in the’ period in’
which-the plans’ were firializeéd and approvéd, while actions necessary to affect these restructunng plans

-occurred over future periods’in accordance with established plans. P T '

In the fourth quarter of 2001, our Board of Directors approved a restructuring plan, a project known as

Project Genesis, designed to lower our fixed costs, improve efficiency and utilization, and better optimize our
global footprint. Project Genesis-involved: closmg eight facilities, improving the'process flow and efficiency
through value' mapping-and plant arrangement.dt 20 facilities, relocating production among facilitiés; and - -
centralizing some functional areas. The total of all these restructunng and ‘other costs recorded in' the fourth -
quarter"of 2001 was $32 milliontbefore tax, $31 million after tax; or $0.81 per diluted common share. We
eliminated 974 positions in connection with Project Genesis. Additionally, we executed this plan more =
efﬁc1ently than ongmally antrcrpated and as a result in the fourth quarter, o of 2002 reduced our. reserves related
to thrs restructurlng actrvrty by $6 mllllOt’l Wthh was recorded in cost of sales In the fourth quarter of 2003,
wé reclassified $2 million of severance reserve to the asset impairment reserve. "This reclassification became
necessary, as actual asset impairments along with the sale of our closed facilities were different than the
original estimates. We completed the remaining restructuring activities under Pro_;ect Gene51s as:of then end of
2004. Since Project Genesis was announced, we have undertaken a number of related pl‘O_]eCtS designed o’ .
restructure our operations, described below. : . v

_In.the first quarter of 2003, we incurred sevérance costs.of $1 million associated-with-eliminating --.
17 salaried positions-through selective layoffs:and an early retirement program.- Additionally, 93 hourly... - <.
positions were eliminated -through selective layoffs'in the quarter. These'reductions were.done to reducei . 174
ongoing labor costs.in North America. This: charge was primarily recorded in cost of sales. . Cal
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In October of 2003, we announced the closing of an emission control manufacturing facility in -
Birmingham, U.K. Approximately 130 employees were eligible for severance benefits in accordance with
union contracts and U.K. legal requirements. We incurred approximatety $3 million in costs related to this
action in 2004. This action is in addition to the plant closings announced in Project Genesis in the fourth
quarter of 2001,

In October 2004, we announced a plan to eliminate 250 salaried positions through selected layoffs and-an
elective early retirement program. The majority of layoffs were at middle and senior management -levels. As of
December 31, 2006, we have incurred $23 million in severance costs, Of this total, $7 million was recorded in
cost of sales and $16 million was recorded in selling, general and administrative expense. - ,

In February 2006, we decided to reduce the work force at certain of our global locations as part of our
ongoing effort to reduce our cost structure. We recorded a pre-tax charge of $6 million during 2006 and other
benefits related to this reduction in force, substantially all of which have been paid in cash.

We incurred $27 million in restructuring and restructuring-related costs during 2006, of which $23 million
was recorded in cost of salés and $4 million was recorded in selling, general and administrative expense.
Includlng the costs incutred i m 2002 through 2005 of $71 million, as of December 31, 2006 we have mcurred
a total of $98 mllllOl‘l for actmtles related to our restructurmg lmtlatwes

Under the terms of our amended and restated senior credit agreemem that took effect on December 12,
2003, we were allowed to exclude up to $60 million of cash charges and expenses, before taxes, related to .
cost reduction initiatives over the 2002 to 2006 time period from the calculation of the financial covenant
ratios we are required to maintain under our senior credit agreement. In February 2005, our senior credit -
facility was amended to exclude all remaining cash charges and expenses related to restructuring initiatives
started on or before February 21, 2005. As of December 31, 2006, we have excluded $63 mllhon in allowable
charges re]atmg to restructuring lmtlatlves prevmuqu started.

.

Under our amended facnllty, we are allowed to exclude up-to an addmonal $60 m11110n of cash charges.
and expenses, before taxes, related to restructuring activities initiated after February 24, 2005 from the- .
calculation of the financial covenant ratios required under our senior credit facility. As of December 31, 2006,
we have excluded $32 million in allowable charges relating to restructuring initiatives against the $60 million
available under the terms of the February 2005 amendment to the senior credit facility. -

3. Acqulsmons ceber

In February 2005 we acquired substantlally all the exhaust assets, and assumed certain related liabilities
of, Gabilan Manufacturing, Inc., a privately held company. that had developed and manufactured motorcycle
exhaust systems for Harley-Davidson motorcycles since 1978. The company also produced aftermarket muffler
kits for Harley-Dawdson We purchased Gabilan’s assets, including working capltal adjustments, for $11 mil-

lion in cash.

In December 2005, we completed the acquisition of the minority interest of the joint venture partner for
our Indian ride control operatlons We purchased the minority owned mterest for approximately $5 rmlllon in
cash and property.

4.IChange in t_\ccountfng l’rinciple _

Inventory Valuation

Prior to the first quarter of 2005, inventories in the U.S. based operations (17 percent and 19 percent of
our total consolidated inventories at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively) were valued using the LIFO
method and all otheriinventories .were valued using.the FIFO or average cost methods at the lower of cost or

“market value. Effective January 1, 20053, we changed our accounting method for valuing inventory for our-
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U.S. based operations from the LIFO method to the FIFO method: As.a'result, all U.S. inventories are now

stated at the lower of cost, determined on a FIFO basis, or market, We elected to change to the FIFO method
as we believe it is preferable for the following reasons: 1) the change will provide better matching of revenue

and expenditures and 2) the change will'achieve greater consisiency in valuing our global inventory.

Additionally, we initially adopted LIFO as it provided certain U.S. tax benefits which we no longer realize due

to our U.S. net operating losses (when applied for tax purposes, tax lawsrequire that LIFO be applied for

GAAP as well). As a result of the change, we also expect to realize administrative efficiencies.

_ In accordance with GAAP, the change in inventory accounting has been applied by restating prior year's
financial staternents which have been previously filed under an amended 10 K/A for-the year ended
December 31, 2004 .- The effect of the change in accounting. principle on our financial ;position is presented

bﬁl()w . Ct e . "o Lo ) - . : 1
R . R L .- - Asof
L December 31, 2004

) Cr . ! oo : " (Millions)

' L Increase

, » . ‘ o (Decrease)

‘Inventories. . . . .. e e DA PR ‘ $14
Deferred income tax assets (noncurrent) . ......... i [T PR P 16
S\haireholde’ri;’ EQUILY. . oot S P $9
.The effect of the change in accounting.principle on the results of operations.is presented below.

! L . . ‘ : . . g Year Ended

- - . December 31, 2004 |
. ) C e S P L (Milllons except per
Co T - ) " share amounts)
O .. e L s e : Increase (Decregse)

Income before interest expense, income taxes and minority interest™. . ......... $ 3
INCOME taX EXPENSE . ..o vvvvn e e e eninnnenns e 1
NEt INCOME & oottt ettt e et e et e et et $ 2
i . v . . S i ., P
. Basic earnings per share of common stock. . . ... ... e e e $0.04
" Diluted earnings '_p‘c'r share of common stock .. .. ..., .. e $0.04
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5. Long-Term Debt, Short-Term Debt, and Fmancmg Arrangements S !
Long Term Debt I ' ' ! i‘. l, R . J ' A:. ”: ' .(“' , . r. ‘ ‘. ‘. .1:-.( |
A summary of our long -term debt obllgauons at December: 31,.2006.and-2005, is set forth in the
following table: - R O B A AN N TRk
T N o I s ah e T * ‘.'!'__zoi L2008 4
) ' P T TR TR -+ (Millions)
Tenneco Inc. — -, . . . . N .
Senior Term Loans due 2010 average effecuve interest rate: -, . - A T A T
«71% in 2006 and:5.7%in 2005 ... ...l n e L P80 356 00 84356
10%% Senior Secured Notes due 2013, including unamortized premium. . . . . . 481 483 -
. 8%% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2014. .. ........... ... ... ... e 500 500
Debentures due 2008 through 2025, average effective interest rate 9.3%.in both ‘
2006 and 2005 .. L e e e e e 3 3
Notes due 2007 average effective interest rate 7.5% in both 2006 and 2005 . 2
Other sub51dlanes —- Noies due 2007 through 2014, average effective interest rate ’ et
| 4% in2006and 3% in2005 ... ... ooty T 14T T 16
' T35 17360
Less — current maturities . . . ... ....... .. e T e el o600 4
Total long-term debt. .. ......... ... ... .. . $1,350  $1,356

The aggregate maturities and sinking fund requirements applicable to the issues outstanding at Decem-

ber 31,.2006, are $4 million, $5 million, $3 million, $359 million, and zero for 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010, and -
2011, respectively. ‘ . c e o R I TN

~! HH

Short-Term Debt

We pr1nc1pally use revolving credit fac:hues to finance our short-term capital reqmrements As a result,
we classify the outstanding balance of borrowings under the revolving credit facilities within our:short-term
debt. The revolving credit facility balance included in short- term debt was zero at both December 31, 2006
and 2005. Information regarding our short-term debt as of and for the years ended Decembér 31, 2006 and
2003 is as follows:

2006 ° 2005
(Millions)
Current maturities on long-termdebt . . .................................... $6 $4
Notes payable. . ... . o i i it i e e e i... 220 18

Total short-term debt. . ... ..., U $28  §22
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S - 2006 2008
L ‘- Notes Payable(a) . .'‘Notes Payable(a) "~ -
. (Dollars in Mtlllons)
Outstandmg borrowings at end of year ... e - N 7 .{;_’r . $ 18
Wetghted average interest rate on outstandmg borrowmgs at end Y C .
of year(b}. .. .. .. .. e 3.73% 4.09%
Approximate miaximur month—end outstanding borrowmgs during~* - o :
Cooyear . ... ...l R S $175- + - 5204
'Approxlmate average momh—end outstandmg borrowmgs dunng o R " f
' year ............................................ <o 897 $ 115 - ‘ :
Welghted average ‘intérést rate on appr0x1mate average month-end e e
' ‘_ outstandmg borrowmgs durmg year(b) ......... PRI ' .6.6% ’ 5 5% b

(a) Includes borrowmgs under both commrtted credlt facrllttes and uncommltted Imes of credlt and sumlar '

arrangements , , . F

) Thrs calculatlon does not 1nc]ude the commltment fees to be pald on. the unused revolvmg credlt facrlltles
. batances which are recorded as interest expense for accounting purposes. v

Y.
. .
. R . i . W' C. i

-

Financing Arrangements' . e L -
. Lo o F B . BT " Committed Credit Facilities(a) " ™ !
Wt - December 31, 2006
. ] Letters of
' . e v Teim Commitments- Borrowings Credit(b)  Available
" ) - L T ¢ oo (Millions) . - o
Tenneco Inc. fevolving credlt s Tt T oo weoe
ior Tagreément’ . oLl Lol . 2008 $320. $— $— $320 -
Tenneco Inc. Tranche B l_etter of © - TR T S S ' by ”t
credit/revolving loan agreer'ne‘nt ..o w2010 155 v =" 34. 121 2
Subsidiaries’ credit agreements”.. ... Various 22" .22 = ! Co_nt
P . " g P 8497 . $_22 1 s;éi 1

R . IO YT I lear I e LT H . i.
(), We generally are required to pay, commitment fees on the unused portion of the total commitment. .-,
(b) . Letters of credit reduce the avarlable borrowmgs -under the tranche B letter of. credrtfrevolvmg loan:
©  agreement. .. .l L B <t

Our ﬁnancmg arrangements are pnmanly provrded by a commltted senior secured financrng arrangement
with a syndicate of banks and other financial institutions. The arrangément is seciired-by substantially all our
domestic assets and pledges of 66 percent of: the stock ‘of certain fifst-tier-foreign subsidiaries,-as-well as "'
guarantees by our material domestic subsidiaries. We originally entered into this facility in 1999-and since that
time have penodrcally requested and received amendments to the facility, for varigus purposes. In December of
2003, we engaged in a serjes of transacttons that resulted in the full reﬁnancnng of the fac1l|ty, through an
amendment and restatement In lfebmary 2005, we amended the facrllty, ‘whtch resulted in reduced mterest :
rates on the term loan B and tranche B-1 letter of credrtfrevolvmg loan portions of the facnllty We also made
a voluntary prepayment of $40 million on the term loan B facility, reducing borrowings to $356 millién.
During 2005, we. increased-the amount of commitments under our re\folvmg credit facility from'$220. million

sr

“to $300 million and reduced the amount of commitments. under our tranche B-1 lettér of ctedit/revolving.loan

facility from $180'million to $155 million: As of December 31, 2006, the senior credit facility consisted.of a.1

~ seven-year, $356. million. term’loan'B fac111ty maturing'in December 2010 .a five-year, $320 million. revolvmg
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credit facility maturing in December 2008; and a seven-year, $155 million tranche B-1 letter of credit/
revolving loan facility maturing in December 2010.

In 2006 we further increased the amount of commitments under our revolving credit facility from
$300 million to $320 million. No further reduction in the amount of commrtments under the tranche B-1 letter
of credit/revolving loan facility was required. SR !

In April 2004, we entered into three separate fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps with two separate
financial institutions. These agreements swapped an aggregate of $150 million of fixed interest rate debt at an
annual rate of 10% percent to floating interest rate debt at an annual rate of LIBOR plus an average spread of
5.68 percent. Each agreement requires semi-annual settlemems through July 15, 2013. Based upon the, LIBOR
rate as determined under these agreements of 5.61 percent (which, was in effect until January 15, 2007) the
inclusion of these swaps in our financial results added $1 million to our 2006 annual interest expense These
swaps qualify as fair value hedges in accordance with SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities,” as.amended, and as such are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value with an
offset to the underlying hedged item, which is long-term debt. As of December 31, 2006, the fair value of the
interest rate swaps was a liability of approximately $7 million which has been recorded as a decrease to long-
term debt and an increase to other'long-term liabilities. On December 31, 2006, we had $996 million in long-
term debt obligations that have fixéd interest rates. Of that amount, $475 million is fixed through July 2013
and $500 million through November 2014, while the remainder is fixed over periods of 2007 through 2025.
Included in the $475 million is $150 million of long-term debt obligations subject to variable interest rates as
a result of our swap agreemenats. We also have $356 million in long-term debt obligations that have variable
interest rates based on a current market rate of interest.

In November 2004; we refinanced our $500 million of 11% percent senior subordinated notes maturing in
October of 2009 with new senior subordinated notes. The new notes have an interest rate of 8% percent, a
maturity date of November 15, 2014 and contain substantially similar terms as the notes refinanced. Premium
payments and other fees in connection with the refinancing of these notes totaled approximately $40 million,
including a $29 millien or 5.813% price premium over par on the redeemed notes. The new notes accrued
interest from November 19, 2004 with an initial interest payment date of May 15, 2005. These-notes are
described in more detail below under “Sentor Secured and Subordinated Notes.]

In connection+with the refinancing of the $500 million in senior subordinated notes we amended the
senior credit facility effective November 17, 2004. This amendment allowed us to use up to $50 million in
cash on hand to pay redemption premiums and/or other fees and costs in connection with the redemption and
refinancing of the senior subordinated notes. Tn excharige for the amendment, we agreed to pay a small fee to "
the consenting lenders. We also incurred approximately $13 million in legal, advisory.and other costs related
to the amendment and the issuance of the new senior subordinated notes. These amounts were capitalized and
are being amortized over the remaining terms of the senior subordinated notes and senior credit facility.

. r P (R4 . . :

Our interest expense increased in 2004 by $42 million due to the fees and expenses, assoéiated with the
refinancing of our senior subordinated-notes, which includes an expense of $8 million, for existing deferred
debt issuance costs associated with the 11% percent senior subordinated notes.

In February 2005, we amended our senior credit facrhty to reduce by 75 basis points the interest rate on
the term loan B facility and the tranche B-1 letter of credltlrevolvmg loan fac1l|ty In connection with the )
amendment ‘we voluntarily prepald $40 million'in principal on lhe term loan B, reducmg the term loan B -
fac1i|ty from $396 million to $356 million.”

* il
- L [T '

- Additional provisions of the Februajy 2005 amendment to the senior credit facility -agreement were as
follows: (i) amend the definition of EBITDA to exclude -all.remaining cash charges and expenses related to .
restructuring initiatives started on or before February 21, 2005, and to exclude up to an additional $60 million
in restructuring-related expenses announced and taken- after February 21, 2005, (ii) increase permitted
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investments to $50'million, (iii).exclude expenses related to the issuance of stock options from the definition’
of consolidated: net income; (iv).permit us to redeem up to $125 million of senior secured notes.after January' 1,
2008 (subject 1o certain conditions), (v} increase our ability t¢ add commitments .under the revolving' crédit
facility by -$25 million, and (vi) make other minor modifications. We incurred approximately $1 million in -
fees:and expenses associated with this amendment, which were capttaltzed and are betng amortlzed over the
remammg term'of the agreement s L B : .

.

}Durmg 2005 we mcreased the .amount of commrtments under our revolving credit faetltty from ,
$220 mtlhon 1o $300 IﬂllllOﬂ and reduced the amount of commitments under our tranche B-1 letter of ‘credit/
revolvmg ioan rfacrhty from $180 m1llton to'$155 million. This reduction of our tranche B-1 lcttet" of credm" '
revolvmg loan facrltty was requlred under the terms of the senjor credit facility, as we had 1ncreased the .
amount of our. revolvmg credlt facrhty commttments by more than $55 million. ;

LN
»«In"October 2005, we fuither amended our senior credit facility increasing the amount of commntments we
may seek under the revolving credit portion of the facility from $300 million to $350 million; along with' other
technical changes.,We are not required to reduce the commitments under our tranche B:1 letter of credit/
revolvmg lgan- facsllty should we ‘obtain’additional revolving credit commitments. In July 2006, we 1ncreased _
the, amount of commitments under the revolving credit portion of ‘the facility, from $300. million to .
$320 mllhon No further reducuon in the amount of commttments under our tranche B-1 letter of credit/ .
revolvmg loan fac1l|ty was reqmred We have not yet. sought any “increased commitments above the
$320 mllllon level, but may do so whcn 1n our Judgment market condmons are favorable ;o

In February 2007, we announced that wé had launched a transaction to refinance our existing $831 million
senior credit fac111ty, which will be replaced by a néw’$830 million senior credit facility secured by the same
creditors. The new!senior credit facility is expected to includé a-five-year revolving line of credit of ="

" approximately $375 million;'a five-year term loan A-facility.of approximately $100 million;-a seven-year term-
loan B facility -of approximately $178 million; and'a seven: year detter of credit facility of approximately
$177 million; wh1ch can also ‘be used ds a revolvmg ltne of credtt to fund short-tefm borrowmgs !

Semor Credtt Faczhty Forms of Credit Provzded Followmg the February 2005 voluutary prepayment
of $40 million; the:term loan.B facrltty is, payable as follows: $74 million due March 31, 2010, and $94 million
due each of June 30, September 30 and December, 12 2010. The revolvmg credtt facility requires that if any .
amounts are, drawn they be repaid by December 2008. -Prior to that date, funds may be borrowed, repaid and |
reborrowed under the revolvmg credit facrhty without premium or penalty. Letters of credlt may, be issued
under the’ revolvmg credit fac1l1ty

' .
, .- 1 S g B Lo
. . TR [

) . The tranche B-1 letter of credltlrevolvmg loan. facnltty requrres that'it be repaid By December 2010. We*
can; borrow revolving loans from the $155 million tranche B:1 letter of credit/revolving, loan facility and use |
that facrhty to support letters of credtt The tranche B-1 letter of credtt/revolvmg loan facility lenders have
deposnted $155 million: with the admlmstratwe agent, who has invested that amount in-time deposits. We do:
not have an interest in any of the funds on deposit. When we draw revolvmg loans under this facility, the
loans are funded from the $155. million on deposnt with, the admtmstrauve agent When we make,repayments,

the repayments are redeposrted W1th the admmlstratrve agent S , S <, f

“The tranche B- l‘letter of credttlrevolvmg ‘foan’ facility is reﬂected as debt on our balance sheet’ only if we- E

borfow money under this’ facility of if we use'the facility to make payments “for letters of credit. We will’nof
be liable for any losses, to or misappropriation of any (i) return due to the administrative agent’s failure to
.achieve the return described above or to pay all or any portion of such return to any lender under such facility
or (ii) funds on deposit in such account by such lender (other than the obligation to repay funds released from
such accounts’ and provided to us as revolving loans under such facility).

.  Sénior Credit Facility ——Imerest Rates and Fees. Borrowmgs under the term loan B facility and the
L tranche B-1 letter of credlt/revolvmg loan facility bore interest at an annual rate equal to, at our option, either

t‘.u
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(i) the London Interbank Offering Rate plus a margin of 200 basis points {reduced from 300-basis points.in... :
February 2005 and further reduced from 225 basis points in April 2006); or (ii}fa rate. consisting of the greater
of the JP Morgan Chase prime rate or the Federal:Funds rate.plus 50 basis points, plus a margin of. 100 basis’
points (reduced from 200 basis points in' February 2005 and further reduced from.125 basis points’in April -
2006). Ther¢ is no cost to.us.for issuing letters of credit under-the tranche B-1 letter of creditrevolving loan-. .
facility, however outstanding letters of credit reduce our availability to borrow revolving loans under this.* . -
portion of the facﬂlty If a letter of credit issued under thls fac1hty is subsequently paid and we do not '
reimburse, the amount “paid in’ full, then a ratable portion’ of each lender’s deposrt would be used to fund thé
letter of credrt "We pay ‘the tranche B-1 lenders a fee whrch is equal to LIBOR' plus 200 ‘basis’ pomts (reduced
from' 300 ba515 points in February 2005'and further reduced from 225 basrs pomts 1n Aprrl 2()06) Thls fee is
offset by’ the return on the funds deposued with the admmxstratwe agent whrch eam interést at a per annum
rate approximately equal to LIBOR. ()utstandrng revolving loans reduce the furids on deposit with the -7’
administrative agent which-in turn reduce the-earnings of those deposrts and effectlvely increases our-interest
expense at a per annum rate equal to LIBOR ; T S S T U T N

Borrowings under the revolvmg credit facﬂrty bore interest at ‘an annual rate equa] to, at our optron erther
(i) the London Interbank Offenng Rate plus a margm ‘of 275 basis points (reduced from’ 325 ‘basis’ pomts in'"*
March 2005 and further reduced from 300 ba51s points in August 2005) or (n) a rate COnsrstmg ‘of the greater)
of the JP Morgan Chase pnme rate or the Federal Funds rate plus 37. 5 basrs pornts (reduced from 50 basis ™

points o 37.5 basis points in August 2005) plus a margm of 175 basis’ pomts (reduced from‘225 basis; pornts :

in March 2005 and further reduced from 200 basis points in August 2005). Létters of ciedit issued under the
revolving.credit facility accrue a letter of credit fee at a per, annum rate of 275 basis points:(reduced from

325 basis points in March 2005 and.further reduced from 300 basis points in August 2005)-for the pro rata .- .
account of the lenders.under such facility and a fronting fee for the ratable-account of the issuers thereof at a
per annum rate in an amount to be agreed upon payable quarterly in arrears. The interest margins for ,r, ,.,:
borrowings and letters of credit issued under- the ,re\.;ol\_ring credit facility are:subject to adjustment based on-, '
the consolidated leverage ratio (consolidated.indebtedness divided by consolidated EBITDA as.defined in the .
senior credit facility agreement) measured at the end of each quarter. The margin we pay on the revolving
credit facility is rediiced by 25 basis- pmnts followmg each fiscal quarter for which the ‘consolidated levérage
ratio is less than 4. 0 begmnlng in March! 2005 Since our ‘consolidated leverage ratio was 3. 52 as of March 31,
2005, and 3.42 as of Fune 30, 2005, the margm we pay on the revolving' credit facility was reduced by 25 basrs
points in the second quarter of 2005 and was furthef redueed by 23 basis pornts in'thé third quarter of 2005. ~
We also pay a commitriient fee of 50 basis points on the' untised portion of the revolvrng credit’ fac111ty This™
commitment fee was rediced by 12.5 basis points during the third quarter of 2005 to 37.5 basis points as our"-
consolidated leverage ratro was less than 3.5:, . ., : B A T

_ Senior Credit Facrlzty : Other Terms and Condztrons As descrlbed above, we are highly leveraged.- Our
amerided’ and' restated. senior credit facrhty téquires that wé maintiin- financial ratios €qual to or better’ than the-
following consohdated leverage ratio‘(Consolidated’ 1ndebtedness divided by cénsolidated EBITDAyas '~ 1"~
calculated underthe facility); Consoliddted interest coverage ratio (consohdated EBITDA divided 'by" consolr~
datéd cish intefest paid, as calculatéd vnder thie facility), and fixed' charge ¢overage ratio (€onsolidated ™
EBITDA less consolidated capital expenditures, divided by consclidated cash intere$t paid, as ¢alculated under
the. facrhty) at the end of each period indicated. Failure;to maintain,_these ratios, will result.in a default under
our, senior credlt facrhty See. “Contractual Oblrgatrons below. The ﬁnancral ratlos requrred under the amended

L T LR e T e b Mok W
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senior credit facility and the actual ratios-we dchieved for the four quarters of 2006, are shown in the. . 7’
following-tables: » ~~u vttt bt ot g o OV N
‘ - L '.‘f“' L'd A I.'_ o i :.-:: ' LA T T L 1 Quﬂrm‘rEndédl - IR L

e e A © I March31,” - June30, - ' September 30, ' Deécember 31, -

P e e oo v 2006 2006 0 .., 2006 ;. 2006 ..
e T ebe e e o e b Regqu, o Act Req.: 3Act. . Req. .. Act. .Req. . Act,
Leverage Ratio (maximum) .7 »:7. ..., o0 4 25'-‘ 337 425+ 335 425 346 425 345"
Vlnterest Coverage Rano (mlmmurn) Lo .-.". 2 lO 327 210 323 2 ]0 3.15 210 3.07
Fixed Charge Coverage Rano (mlntmum) ..... ' .~ 1 15 207 15, 189 L 15 179 L1157 L76
LI Y - T L LI . et o
- Quarters Ending : i

) e . o , .March31l- = March 31-. March 31- .. March 31- °
LA ST e s " ePecember 31, 'December 31, December 31"  Dedember 12,
R ] Ltag awlrego et (2007 ¢ e 2008 (20090 ., 2010 v~
R R ---:n-';n s et cteean oot Req. .. Reqery, 0! Req . _Req.- 11/

Leveragé Ratio (maxrmum) L :.':‘.‘-?.-‘. SN 35 T -'350' v 350 ’ 350

Interest Coverage Rauo (mlmmum) S ..Z . ._.‘.‘. ] 220 2 35 . 2 50 2 75 :

i25' " L35 10 ".‘1.75

The senior credtt facrllty agreement provrdes (i) the ability to refinance our sénior subordinated- notes:
and/of out-seniof secured notes -using the net cash‘proceeds from 'the - 1ssuance of srmtlarly struétited debt;
(ii) the ability to repurchase our senior'subordinatéd notes’ and/or our- semor secured notes- usmg the net cash”
proceeds: from i 1ssumg shares of our common stocki-and (iii) the prepayment of the term loans by an’ amount"
equal to ?0 percent of our excess cash flow as deﬁned by the agreement S G L I

.. ey .o st IEVEER - ", f

The semt;;rl cred1tr facrlrty agreement'al‘so contams restrtctmns on our operatlons that a}é customary for
similar fac1lmes 1nclud1ng llmltauons on: (1) mcumng addltlonal llens (ii) sale and- leaseback transacnons .
(except for the permttted transactions as, descnbed in the amended agreement) (m) llqu1dat10ns and .
drssolutlons (iv} incurring additional mdebtedness or guarantees %) capital expendltures (vi) dwrdends N
(limited to no more than $15 million per year); (vii) mergers and consolidations; and (viii) prepaymems and
modifications of subordinated and other debt instruments. Compliance with these requirements and restnctlons
is a condition for any incremental borrowmgs under the senior credit facility agreement and failure to et
these requirements enables the lenders ito- reéquire, repayment;of .any-outstanding loans. As of December 31,
- 2006, we were in compliance with all ‘the financial covenants (as indicated above) and operatlonal restncnons
of the facrlrty

Toka et

Our senior credlt fac111ty does not contam any terms that could accelerate the payment of the facility as a
result of a credit ratmg agency downgrade -

" Senior Secured and Subordinated Notes,  Our outstanding debt also includes $475 million of 10 percent
senior secured notes ‘due July 15, 2013, in addmon to'the $500 million of 8% percent senior subordinated
notes due November 15, 2014, We can redeem some or all of the notes at any time’ after July 15, 2008, in the
case of the senior secured notes, and November 15, 2009, in the case of the senior subordinated notes. If we
sell certain of our assets or experience specified kinds of changes in control, we must.offer to repurchase the
notes. ‘We are permitted to redeem up to 35 percent of the senior subordinated notes w1th the proceeds, of
certain equrty offenngs completed before November lS 2007.

[ e

Our semor secured -and subordmated notes requ1re that as a condmon precedent to mcumng certam types
of indébtedness not otherwise permttted our consolidated ﬁxed charge coverage ratio, as calculated on a‘ _—
proforma basis, to be greater than 2.25 and 2.00, respectively. We have not incurred any of the types of
indebtedness not otherwise permitted by the'indentures. The indentures also contain restrictions on our
operations, including limitations on: (i) incurring additional indebtedness or liens; (ii) dividends;. ~+ ~ .. =

ot
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(iif) distributions and stock repurchases; (iv) investments; (v) asset sales and (vi) mergers and consolidations.
Subject to limited exceptions, all of our existing and future material domestic wholly owned subsidiaries fully
and unconditionally guarantee these notes on a joint and several basis. In addition, the senior secured notés
and related guarantees are sécuréd by second priority liens, subject to specified exceptions, on all of our and"
our subsidiary guarantors’ assets that secure obligations under our senior credit facility, except that only a
portion of the capital stock of our subsidiary guarantor’s domestic subsidiaries is provided as collateral and no
assets or capital stock of our direct or indirect foreign subsidiaries secure the notes or guarantees. There are no
significant restrictions on the ability of the subsidiaries that have guaranteed thesé notes to make distributions
to us. The senior subordinated notes rank junior in right of payment to our senior credit fécility and any future .
senior debt incurred. As of December 31, 2006, we were in compliance w1thlthe covenants-and restrictions of
these 1ndentures L,

Accoums Recezvabie Secur:nzanon In addition to our senior credit facility, senior secured notes and
senior subordinated notes, we also sell some of our dccounts receivable on a nonrecourse basis in North
. America and Europe. In North America, we have an accounts receivable securitization program with two
commercial banks. We sell original equipment and aftermarket receivables on a daily basis under, this.program, ,
We sold accounts receivable under this program of $85 million and $80 million at December 31, 2006 and
2003, respectively. This program is subject to cancellation priof to its maturity date if we were to (I) fail o~
pay interest or principal payments on an amount of indebtedness exceeding $50 million, (iiy default on the
financial .covenant ratios under the senior-credit facility, or (iii) fail to-maintain certain financial ratios in -
connection with the accounts receivable securitization program. In January 2007, this program was renewed .
for 364 days to January 28, 2008 at a facility size of $100 million. We also sell some receivables inour , . .
European opérations to regional banks in Europe. At.December 31, 2006, we sold $48 million of accounts , .
receivable in Europe down from $49 million at.December 31, 2005. The arrangements to, sell receivables.in
Europe are not committed and can be cancelled at any time. If we were not able to sell receivables undér
either the North American o European secunnzatron programs our borrowmgs undeér our revolvmg credit
agreemenis may increase, These accounts receivablé ‘securitization programs provide us with access to'cash'at *
costs that are generally favorable to altematwe sources of ﬁnancmg, and allow us to reduce borrowmgs under .
our revolving credit agreements : '

. . . . . - Lo
P S I 4 ¢ . . ¥

-
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6. Flnanmal Instruments

i - .

The carrying and estimated fa1r values of our' ﬁnancral mstruments by class at December 3l 2006 and

=

R

2005 were as follows: . . MY . . ¢

S 2006 2005
. Carrying. Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value ‘Amount Value
(Millions)
. . — , Assets {Liabi!itio.s)
Long-term debt (including current maturities) . . .. .. oo 81,355 - - %1413, 7$_l',360' " $1,373
Instruments with off-balance-sheet risk: . : o : ..
Foreign currency COMrACcts. . ..., U T - — . 1 — (1)
Financial guarantees . .............. IR P L I
Interest rate SWaps . ............... R Lo =7 . (7)' R (5)

Asset and Liability Instruments — The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, short and long term
receivables, accounts payable, and short-term debt was considered to be the same as or'was not determmed to
be materlally drfferent from the carrymg amount, ' SR . -" :

J' * ="

. - [ K3 K B . o

Long-term Debr —- The fair, value of fixed rate long -term debt was based on. the market value of debt
with similar maturities and interest rates. .. ; -, .- . S . a

+
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Instruments With Off-Balance- Sheer'Rislé T o

Foreign Currency Contracts — Note’ 1, “Summary of Accountmg Pohcles — Rlsk Managemeiit "Activi-
ties” describes our use of and accounting for foreign currency exchange contracts. The following table
summarlzes by major cirrency the contractual amounts of foreign currency contracts we utilize:

PR ' ‘ ' ) < Notional Amount N
S S <7 e *+ "7 December 31, - - December 31, . '
, ‘ o , 2006 . .. 2005 -
. Purchase ., Sell . Purchase - Sell
. ; . {Millions) .
Foreign currency contracts (in U.S.$): ; . — _ o o
Australian dollars . , . ... .. ... ... sl R $ 2 $.7 - $20 $25-
. Britishpounds ............... e s 158 19°. 364 318
Canadian dollars. .. .............. e e e PO 13, - ., 46 32
.. Czech Republic koruna................... ... ....... T e 9 66 .. 69.
Danish kromer. . .............. 0. ... I 4 83 * '66
European euro .................. AT, o162 7 3 63 R I
Polish' zloty . . . .. DR - H ¥ A A |
Swedishkrona ............ 0 .cc.oou.n.. 4“4 = 60 32 . :
US~ dollars ... ... o SR A =T 0820 - 30 - 184 '

COfher L T 6 s

L * PO ' [ "

’ Lo oB443. .5442 1 B745 $746, !

We manage our forelgn currency risk by entermg into derlvanve ﬁnancml mstruments wnth major
financial institutions that can be expected to fully perform under- the terms of such agreements. Based on
exchange rates at December 31, 2006 and 2005, the cost of replacing these contracts in the event of non-._ -
performance by the counterparties would not have been material. The face value of these instruments is ,
recorded in other current liabilities.

Financial Guarantees — We occasionally provide guarantees that could require us to make future
payments in the event that the third party primary obligor does not make its required payments. We have not
recorded a liability for any of these guarantees. The only third party guarantee we have made is the oot
performance of lease obligations by a former affiliate. Our maximumn liability under this guarantee was less
than $1 million at both December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. We have no recourse in the event of default

by the former affiliate. However, we have not been required to make any payments under this guarantee.

Addi,tionall'y,, we have from time to time issued guarantees for the performance_of obligations by some of
our subsidiaries, and somé of our subsidiaries have guaranteed our debt. All of our existing and future ‘material
domestic wholly-owned subsidiaries fully and unconditionaily guarantee our senior credit facility, our senior
secured notes and our senior subordinated notes on a joint and several basis. The arrangement for the senior
credit facility is also secured by first-priority liens on substantially all our domestic assets and pledges of
66 percent of the stock of certain first-tier foreign subsidiaries. The arrangement for the $475 million senior
secured notes is also secured by second-priority liens on substantially all our domestic assets, €xcluding some
of the stock of our domestic subsidiaries. No assets or capital stock of our direct or indirect foreign )
subsidiaries secure these notes. You should also read Note 13 where we present the Supplemental Guarantor
Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements.

We have issued guarantees through letters of credit in connection with some obligations of our affiliates.
We have guaranteed through letters of credit support for local credit facilities, and cash management
requirements for some of our subsidiaries totaling $11 million. We have also issued $21 million in letters of
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credit to support some of our subsidiaries’ insurance arrangements. In addition, we have issued $2 million in
guarantees through letters of credit to guarantee other obhganons of submdnanes pnmanly related to
env1ronmenta] remedlauon actwmes

R . . ) e, R ‘ R

Interest Rare Swaps— In April. 2004 we hedged our exposure= to fixed interest rates by entermg into .+ ..
fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps covering $150 million of our fixed interest rate debt. These swaps quallfy
as fair valueshedges in accordance with SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities,” as amended and as such are. recorded on the balance sheet at fair value as a long-term asset or
liability with an offset to the underlying hedged item, which is long-term debt. The cost of replacing these
contracts in the event of non-performance by the counterparties was not material, These hedges are effective,
so we have not recognized in earnings any amounts related to the ineffectiveness of the interest rate. swaps No
amounts were excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness. ’

Negotiable Financial Instruments — One of our European subsidiaries receives payment from ‘one of its
OE customers whereby the account receivables are satisfied throngh the delivery of negotiable financial
instruments. These financial instruments are then sold at a discount to a European.bank. The sales’of these
financial instruments are not included in the account receivables sold. Any of these financial instruments
which were not sold as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 are classified as other current assets and are. .excluded
from our definition of. cash equivalents. We had sold approximately $26 rmllmn of these 1nstruments at
December 31, 2006 and $34 mllllon at December 31, 2005,

Il

In certain instances several of our Chmese subsidiaries receive payment from OE customers and satlsfy
vendor payments through the receipt and delivery of negotiable financial instruments. Financial mstrugwnts
used to satisfy vendor payables and not redeemed totaled $12 million and $8 million at December 31, 2006
and 2005, respéctively, and were classified as notes payable. Financial instruments received from OE
customers and not redeemed totaled $9 million at both December 31, 2006 and 2005 and were classified as
other current assets. One of -our Chifiese subsidiaries is' required to maintain-a‘cash balance'at 4 ﬁnanc1a1*
institution issuing the financial instriments which are used to satisfy vendor payments. The balarice‘was:less’
than $1 million at Deceniber 317 2006 and $3 m11|10n at December 31, 2005 and was classified ‘as cash and *
cash equivalents. R

. . KT A - )
“ ’ G f : . » Da .

7. Income Taxes . e m_,'._. Vb e : !
' The domestic and foreigri- components of our incomeé before i mcome taxes’and minority interest are-as Vi
‘follows LI T L . ! FAlS e P N Lt "f o '.",' N
) ' ST e e Tho TR S YearsE:ided' ey
i’ o T TN T VT PR L .° ' December 3, - . «u
o R PR RIS Doee 2006 . 2005 2004,
' o . . } (Ml]llons) ‘
. U S. loss before mcome taxes P, e P .". (65) $(4) $(106)
. . e : ‘ s RaSh AN
Forelgn income before 1ncome taxes ....... P e . 125 L. 89 101
Income (loss) before income taxes and minority interest:> . .. ... S 60 $85-:% (5 -
' . TN . . . o oo . . e, e E— : N
ATV - e o T SR T SRR VRN
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Following is a comparative analysis of the components of income tax expense (benefit):
Years Ended December 31,

M .\';ﬁr ' ' 2006 2005 2004
i {Millions)
Current — ) ‘ ‘ . ) I
U, e e e 8= 5= 55—
tStateand local .. ......... ... . ... ... e e _ 2 I
BOrel g . .o e e 46 23 .. 33
g ' . _ . ) . . . .46 25 34
b('eferred'-":— ) ’ ‘;; .
U, ot SO ER Y  7) W [ B )
UState and 10Cak DL L DT W a e
_Foril:lgn...3..‘:.:..‘...;...l...'i.i ...... J S U (10} '172 1‘(25)
‘ . - . . . - - . . "‘. * N (43). .— (58)
Income tax expense (benefit) .................... P $ 3 $25_ $(24)

*Following is a reconciliation of income taxes compuied at the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate
(35 percent for all years presented) to the income tax benefit reflected in the statements of income:

vy :, . Years Ended December 3,
LA ¥ - . - - . .. . . - . . 20% ZJ.E‘ 2m4
) L, . . - (Millions)
Tax expense (benefit) computed at the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate . ....-. . 321 $29 $ 3

Increases (reductlons) in income tax expense resulting from: ) —— .
"Foreign income taxed at different rates and foreign losses with no tax benefit . . . 4) 1 7
Taxes on repatriation of.dividends-. . ... R T SR S ; 2. 1 4
‘State and,local taxes on income, net of U.S. federal income tax benefit. . ... ... n 1 —
+ Changes.in_ valuation allowance for tax loss carryforwards and credits. . . . ... .. 2 (19
Amortization of tax goodwnll ....................................... )] {2) 2)
Income exempt from tax due to tax holidays .. . ....... ... ... ... ... ... (3 2} 3)
Investment tax credit earned. . . .. .. 0. . 0. L i e e @® ' — " —

* Nondeductible restructuring eXpenses. . . . .. ................ AT, - — — —
' Foreign earnings subject to U.S. federal income tax ... . .75 . ... i ... ... 3 e —
*-” Adjustment of prior years taxes . .. .. e D [ A 11 5
Impact of Belgivm rate reduction. . . ........ ... ... il () (H (1)
Tax CONtINEENCIES . .\ o\ o vttt e i e e (10} (9) —
Other. .: "%~ 0. . X .';: ........ ; ..... .. f‘. e AT, o — R ()
Income tax Ie;(i)pnse '(]:;éneﬁt) ;..;,j; e e J ) e -1 .. ' .. $ 3 %25 ‘ $(24)
. .
I ' ¢ ’ L oer [ i I
1 ' ,' .1 f '
ire , ! T 3w (s ® P »
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The components of our net deferred tax asset were as follows:

December 31,

2006 2005
(Millions)
Deferred tax assets — , ‘
Tax loss carryforwards: : . . :
U e e $222 $198
State. . ... I 35 44
Foreign. . ... ... e e N 59 75
Investment tax credit benefits . ... ... ... . L 52 40
Postretirement benefits other than pensions ............... ... oo P 58 33
Pensions. ... L e e e e e - 64 65
Bad debts . . ... e N 1 3
Sales allowances. ...........5... T e 7 6
Other ........ ... ..ot AU e e 76 82
Valuation allOWANCE . . .. oo v it e e e el e e e 83) ‘(75)
Net deferred tax asset........... e e 491 471
Deferred tax liabilities — | v ‘ ' B B
Tax over book depreciation. .. ......... ... ... .. ... .., e 152 149
Other .. ..o P PR 35 67
Total deferred tax liability ... ..... B T R oto... 187 - 216
Net deferred tax asset................ e I P R oo $304 8255

Following is a reconciliation of deferred taxes to the deferred taxes shown in the.balance sheet:

Décember 31,

' - L. fo : 2006 - 2005
. _ ' - {(Millions)
Balance Sheet: .
Current portion — deferred tax asset ... .................. e e T § 52§43
Non-current portion — deferred tax asset ... ................. I T v 307
Current portion — deferred tax liability shown in other current liabilities. . . ... .......... (1D )
Non-current portion — deferred tax liability ... ... ... .. e e e ... _(107y  (86)
Net Deferred Tax Assets ....... S S v . $304  $255

As shown by the valuation allowance in the table above, we had potential tax benefits of $83 million and

$75 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, that we did not recognize in the statements of

income when they were generated. These unrecognized tax benefits resulted primarily from foreign tax loss
carryforwards, foreign investment tax credits and U.S. state net operating losses that are available to reduce

future U.S. state and foreign tax liabilities.

We have a U.S. Federal tax net operating loss carryforward (“NOL”)} at December 31, 2006, of

$634 million, which will expire in varying amounts from 2018 to 2026, The federal tax effect of that NOL is

$222 million, and is recorded as a deferred tax asset on our balance sheet at December 31, 2006. We also
have state NOL carryforwards at December 31, 2006 of $5835 million, which will expire in various years

-~
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through 2026. The tax effect of the state NOL, net of avaluation allowance, is $29 million and is recorded as

a deferred tax asset on our balance sheet at December 31, 2006. We estimate, based on available evidence .--
both positive and negative, that it is more likely than not that we will utilize these NOLs within the prescribed
carryforward period. That estimate is based upon our expectations regarding future taxable income of our

U:S. operations and- the implementation 6f available' tax-planning strategies that accelerate usage of the NOL-
Circumstances that could change that estimate include future U.S. earnings at lower than ‘expected levels or a*
majonty ownersh1p change as deﬁned in the rules of the U.S. tax law. If that estimate changed we would be
required to c€ase recoghizing an income’tax benefit for any new NOL and could be requrred to record a
reserve for some or'all of the asset currently recorded on our balance sheet. .

As of December 317 2006, for foreign income tax purposes, we have $59 million of foreign tax NOLs. Of
the $59 million of foreign tax NOLS 350 mllllon does not explre and the remainder wdl explre in varymg
‘amounts‘from 2007 10 20217 S o Lo

We do not provrde for U.S. income; taxes on unremltted eammgq of foreign subsidiaries, except for'the
earnings.of certain of our China operations, as our present intention is to reinvest the unremitted earnings in
our foreign operations. Unremitted earnings of. foreign subsidiaries.are approximately $568 million at
December 31, 2006. We estimated that the-amount of U.S. and foreign income taxes that would be iaccrued or

paid upon remiuance of the assets that represent those unremitted earnings is $218 million.

We have tax sharing agreements with our former affiliates that allocate’ tax liabilities for prior periods and
establish indemnity rights on certain tax issues.

8. Common Stock

We have authorized 135 mllhon shares ($0.01 pdr value) of common ‘;tock of Wthh 47, 085 274 ‘shares
and 45,544,668 shares were issued at December 31, 2006 and 2005 respectwely We held 1,294,692 shares of
treasury stock at both December 3] 2006 and 2005 Y

Equity Plans — In December 1996, we adopted the 1996 Stock Ownership Plan, which permitted the
granting of a variety of awards, including common stock, restricted stock, performance units, stock equivalent
units, stock appreciation rights (“SARs”), and stock options to our directors, officers, employees and’
consultants. The plan, which terminated as to new awards on December 31, 2001, was renamed the “Stock
Ownership Plan.” In December 1999, we adopted the Supplemental -Stock Ownership Plan, which permitted
the granting of a variety of similar awards to our directors, offi icers, employees and consultants. We were-
authorized to deliver up to about 1.1 million treasury shares of common stock under the Supplemental Stock
‘Ownership Plan which also terminated as‘to new awards on December 31, 2001. In March 2002, we adopted
the 2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan which permitted the granting of a variety of similarawards to our officers,

"directors, employees and consultants. Up to 4 million shares of our common stock were authorized for delivery
under the 2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan. In March 2006, we-adopted the 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan
which replaced the 2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan and permits the granting of a variety of similar awards to
directors, officers, employees and consultants. As of December 31, 2006, vp to 2,571,680 shares-of our )
common.stock have been authorized for delivery. under the 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan. Our nonqualified
stock options have.7.to 20 year terms and vest equally over a three year service period from the date of the
grant. - - . - . :

Werha've granted restricted common stock to our directors and certain key employees. These awards
generally require, among other things, that the award holder remains in service to our company during the
restriction period. We have also granted stock equivalent units to certain key employees that has been payable
in cash annually based on the attainment of specified performance goals. The grant value is indexed to the
stock- price. Each employee granted stock equivalent units receives a percentage of the total grant’s value. In
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addition, we have granted SARSs to certain key employees in our Asian operations that are payable in’cash
after a three year servrce penod The grant value is indexed to the stock prlce e s o,

. LI TS

Accoummg Merhods — Pnor to January 1, 2006 we utilized the intrinsic, va]ue method to. account for.our
stock-based compensation plans in accordance with Accounting, Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounung
for Stock Issued to Employees.” Therefore no compensation cost was reflected in net incomerelated.to stock
options as all options granted under the plans had an exercise price equal to, the market price of the underlying
common stock on the date of the grant. Compensation cost was previously recognized for restncted stock, s
stock equwalent units and SARs under this accounting principle.. . = . | e - __

i

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted Statement of Financial. Accounting Standards (““SFAS™) No. 123(R),

compensation cost recognized for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, includes the- applicable . ,
amounts of:’(1) compensation cost of all unvested stock-based awards granted prior to Janvary 1, 2006, based '

previously presented in pro forma footnote disclosures, and (2) compensation cost for all stock-based awards
granted on‘or after January 1, 2006, based upon the grant date fair value estimated in accordance w1th the new
provisions of. SFAS No ]23(R) Rcsults for pnor penods have not-been restated. -

f . i 1.

Twelve Months ‘ Twelve Months

. , _ Ended Ended
s Ty . . : N S e .December 31, - December 31;
. 2005 t . 2004, -
(Millions Except Per Share
Amounts)
Net income, asreported . . ........ ... ... .. ... ... $ 58 B T o R
Add: Stock-based employee compensatlon expense included in net i o
1ncome net ofincome tax..........0. . o0 o oL ' 6 - 14 L
Deduct: Stock-baséd employee compensatlon expense determmed .' ' B )
under fair value based method for all awards, net of income tax’. .. = (8)" Cro1e) Y
Adjusted net income. .......... [P el $ 56 $ 13
Earnings per share: . . ,l, G i
Basic—asreported . . ......... B e v 81350 0 3037 o
Basic — as adjusted for stock- based compensatlon cxpensc.. ceeeo. V8130 " $0.32
Diluted — as reported. .. . ... ., I LLlaliiioIoin o oo T 18129 ‘%035 - ¢!
Dlluted —as adjusted for stock based compensatlon expense . e $1.24-7 7 7 $030

1 PR S P ‘g e PR
SFAS No. 109, “Accountmg for Income Taxes,” discusses the deductibility of transactions. We are - "
allowed a tax deduction for compensation cost which is calculated as the difference -between the value of the..’
stock at the date-of grant and the price upon exercise of a stock option.. Prior to adopting SFAS No. 123(R),
we presented the cash flow benefit of these deductions as operating cash flows. Under SFAS No. 123(R),:
excess tax benefits, which are any excess tax benefits we'may realize upon the exercise of stock options that 1.
are greater than the tax benefit recognized on the compensation cost recorded in our income statement, are
recognized as an addition to paid-in capitat {(APIC). We present cash retained as a result of excess tax benefits
as financing cash flows. Any write-offs of deferred tax assets related to unrealized tax benefits associated with
the rccogmzed compensation cost in excess of our APIC pools would be reported as income tax expense

Effects of Adopting — Under the previous accountmg rules, we recognized compensatlon expense for - '.,'
restricted stock, stock equivalent units and SARs in the income statement and we continue to do so under -©
SFAS No: 123(R). Compensation expense for these awards; net of tax, was approximately $9-millionfor the -
twelve months ended December 31,. 2006 compared to approximately $6 million for. the twelve months ended
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December,31,.2005, and-was recorded in selling, general, and administrative expense on the statement of
income at the corporate level.
T TS

"y

The impact of recognizing compensation expense related to nonqualified stock options is contained.in the

table betow. . .- . . ) e g SAL e e Ly
' <717 Twelve'Months
. S _ . - Ended
. . . - . December 31,
e ' . . . . S b 2006 1.
o . At o , ) " .-, - {Millions) .
» Selling, gcncral and admmrstratlve .................. e PP S I
+ Loss before interest expense, 1ncome taxes and minority, intetest .. ... ... . LA e O
-Income.tax benefit . ... ........ T L A '."'"-'"«'5',' Lt (1) .
" Net loss L A SR P SR "'$ @
e e LTt s :f 5_4"u C 1 j N T L S R
Decrease in basrc earmngs pershare ... ... ... il . $(0 08)
R i i oo . L, [T y o
Decreasemdllutedeammgspershare......_...............e._ ......... e $(007)__|

o . T s

. For the 'year ended December 31y 2006, the impact of adopting SFAS No.. 123{(R} on oursreSultS'of '
operations including nonqualified stock options and other stock-based compensation was additional expense of
approxlmately $3 million before taxes or $0. 07 per diluted share. Adoption of this accounting standard also
increased ttie calculated numiber of diluted shares by approxnmately O 3 mrlhon pnrnanly due to thc
elimination of assumed excess tax benefits,

. . i .
[ . a'.-a‘ LI ']"‘J.,.)l,_‘l‘ o "! N + v

For stock options awarded to retirement eligible employees prior to the adoptlon of SFAS No. 123(R) we..

immediately accelerate the recognition of any outstanding compensation cost when employees retire before the
end of the explicit vestmg petiod., This methodology has not had a material impact on our recognized
compensatlon cost ! R
i

. "t ' :

““As of December. 31,12006 thefe was dpproximately $4 million, net of tax, of total unrecognized
compensation costs related to these stock-based awards that we expect to recognize over a welghted average
period of one year. . < o <L o

. '
” H 4’ ad » b
» .

t- T

In addition, we have recorded a fourth quarter 2006 charge of $2 million pre-tax, or $0.02 per diluted™” -
share, to recognize an expense related to our past administration of our nonqualified stock option plans. In -
certain years our administrative procedures for determining the final allocation of the options granted to
middle management were not finalized until after the Board approved ‘the grants and set the exercise price. At
thc time the administrative. procedures were completed the market value of the optron was greater than the

grant price. As a result, we are reqmred to recogmze expense for the difference in‘price.
.

Cash received from option exercises for the year ended December 31 2006, was approximately, $9 million.

Stock option exercises during the year ended December 31, 2006 generated an excess tax benefit of .
approximately $11 million. Pyrsuant to footnote 82 of SFAS No. 123(R), this benefit was not recorded as we
have federal and state net operatmg losses which are not currently being utilized. As a rcsult the excess tax
benefit had no impact on ous 'fidancial position or statement of cash flows. C o

Assumptions — We calculated the fair values of the awards using the Black-Scholes option pricing model
with the weighted average assumptions listed below. Determining the fair value of share-based awards requires
judgment in estimating employee and market behavior. If actual results differ significantly from these
estimates, stock-based compensation expense and our results of operations could be materially impacted.

103




TENNECO INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Twelve Months Ended ¢
December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Stock Options . _ .
Weighted average grant date fair value, per SR e $9.27 $8.14 $5334-

Weighted average assumptions used:

Expected volatility . .. ...... ... ... ... L i 426% 43.0% 43.6%
CExpected [IVES L. L. L 5. 7.0 100

Risk-free interest rates .. .. .......... e 42% 4.0% 4.1%

Dividend yields . ... .... e 00% 00% 0.0%

Effective January 1; 2006, we changed our method of determining volatility on all new opttons granted
after that date to implied volatility rather than an analysis of historical volatility.-We believe the market-based
measures of implied volatility are currently the best available indicators of the expected volatility used in these
estimates. The effect of this change did not have a material impact to our results of operations.

Expected lives of options are based upon the historical and expected time to post-vesting forfeiture and
exercise. We believe this method is the best estimate of the future exercise patterns currently available,

The risk-free interest rates are based upon the Constant Maturity Rates provided by the U.S. Treasury.
For our-valuations, we used the contmuous rate with a term equal to the expected life of the options.

On January 10, 2001, we announced that our Board of Dircctors eliminated the quarterly dividend on our
common stock. As a result, there is no dividend yield. .

Stock Options — The following table reflects the status and acuvzty for all options to purchase common
stock for the period mdlcated . . .

Lo

Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2006

Weighted  Weighted Avg.
Shares Avg. Remaining Agpgregate

Under Exercise Life in Intrinsic
Option Prices Years Value
. {Millions)
Outstanding Stock Options =
Qutstanding, January 1,2006 ...................... 4,922,095 5 9.08
. Granted. . ... ... R e e 451750 2121
Canceled. ... ... /o gen .., S .. (15738) 2008 :

Forfeited. J5 .. % e e TN . (3.061) 7.35 . oo
Exercised ......... P e (303,472 430 : $14
Outstanding, March 31, 2006 .. ... .. e 4,551,574 . 1108 .55 . 49

Granted. .. ........... B, T 1500 10.75 '

Canceled................. e (42,050) - 567

Forfeited. ... ............ S P @,231) 1246 - :

Exercised . ..o oonn.. ., el (164394) 402 _ 3
Outstanding, June 30,2006 . .. ............... e 4342399 1140 53 51
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E Lo : . ’ " -Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2006
‘. " ’ . . . . Weighted .  Weighted Avg. -
. . - ' . Shares Avg, _ Remaining Aggregate
T : Under Exercise Life in Intrinsic
Option Prices - Years © Value
‘ . . _ (Millions)
Granted. . ................ B . 335 24.15
Canceled. .. ... .. i e e - —
Forfeited. . . ........ .. .. i . (158,010} 17.26 . '
Exerg:ised ..... RN e T (421,395) " 8.36 6
Outstanding, September 30, 2006 . +.% . ..o .'.. ... ... 73763329 - 1150 5.0 44
Granted. . .............. s I!.:....: ..... — — '
Canceled. . .......... PR e o (432)22)° 0 2406
Forfeited- .. . ... e TR B .. (1,449)  18.29 .
Exercised . ................. e . (255,585) .-.665 | 4
* Outstanding, December 31,2006, . ................. 3074173  §$1013 55 $40
Vested or Expectéd to Vest, December 31, 2006. .. !. .. .. 3,025,890° ' $10.04 557 . 40 '
Exercisable; December-31; 2006 . ... ...::...... s 23446010 % 7.82 5.3 : $36

r ’

Restricted Stock — The following' table reflects the status for all nonvested restricted shares for the period - _

-

indicated: !

n R * Twelve Months Ended
December 31, 2006
. R . L. . - L . . Weighted Avg.
R ¢ ‘ : ’ : ' v ' Grant Date
) ' ! Shares Fair Value
Nonvested Réstricted Shares ™~ _ 7 _ )
Nonvested balance at January 1, 2006.. ... 0. ... .. ... P e ... 533714 $12.67 -
Granted .. ... .......0 ..... e . e 249477 2123
Vested ........ RO J DRI (222,687) 10.94
Forfeited ... ............ e O e Tl — —
Nonvested balance at March 31,2006. ................ e . .'7 ..., .560,504 . $17.17
Granted .. .......... S B e e e e - — .
Vested . ............. e e L(3749) . 1224
Forfeited .. ... ... ... ... ... i, e e - — —
Nonvested balance at June 30,2006 . ............ JRP R 556,755 $17.20
Granted .. ....... ... ... P, 335 24.15
Vested ........ [P e e e e e e (6,043} 18.87
Forfeited ... . .. e P (136,082) 17.43
Nonvested balance at St_:ptembcr 30,2006 ... e e e 414,965 $17.11
Granted .. ....... . i e e — —
Vested . ......... oo R P (28,458) 17.24
FOMEited - - .o ot — —
Nonvested balance at December 31,2006, .. ... ... ... i, ... 386,507 ©$17.10
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The fair value of restricted stock grants is equal to the average market price of our stock at the date of
grant. As of December 31, 2006, approximately $4 million of total unrecognized compensation costs related to
compensation for resmcted stock awards is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of -
approximately two years.

r

Stock Equivalent Units and SAR’s — Stock equivalent units and SAR’s are paid in cash and recognized as
a liability based upon their fair value. As of December 31, 2006, all compensation cost had been recognized.

Rights Plan ot

On September 9, 1998, we adopted a Rights Plan and established an independent Board commiltee io
review it every three years, The Rights Plan was adopted. to deter coercive takeover tactics and to prevent a
potential acquirer from gaining control of us in a transaction that is not in the best interests of our -
shareholders. Generally, under the Rights Plan, as it has been amended to date, if a person becomes the
beneficial owner of 15 percent or more of our outstanding common stock, ‘each right will entitle its holder to
purchase, at the right’s exercise price, a number of shares of our common stock or, under certain
circumstances, of the acquiring person’s comnion stock, having a market value of twice the right’s exercise
price. Rights held by the 15 percent or more holders will become void and will not be exercisable.

In March 2000, we amended the Rights Plan to (i) reduce from 20 percent-to 15 percent the level of
beneficial ownership at which the rights became exercisable, as described above, and (ii) eliminate the
“qualified offer” terms of the plan. These terms provided that the rights would not become exercisable ‘in
connection with a “qualified offer,” which was defined as an ali-cash tender offer for all outstanding common
stock that was fully financed, remained open for a period of at least 60 business days, resulted in_the offeror

‘owning at least 85 percent of our common stock after consummation of the offer, assured a prompt second- . - -
- step acquisition of shares not purchased in the initial offer, at the same price as the initial offer, and met

certain other requirements.

In ‘connection with the adoption of the Rights Plan, our Board of Directors also adopted a three-year
independent director evaluation (“TIDE”) mechanism. Under the TIDE mechanism, an independent Board
committee (the “Tide Committee”) will review, on an ongoing basis, the Rights Plan and-developments in
rights plans generally, and, if it deems appropriate, recommend modification. or termination of the Rights Plan.
The independent committee will report to our Board at least every three years as to whether ‘the nghts Plan
continues to be in the best interests of our shareholders.

In 2005, the Tide Committee met and reviewed, among other things, developments in rights plans and
academic studies of rights plans and contests for corporate control since the last meeting of the Tide
Committee. Based upon this review, the Tide Committee determined that the Rights Agreement continues to

* be in our best interests and the best interests of our shareholders. The Tide Committee recommended to our

Board of Directors that the Board should not take any action with respect to the Rights Plan.

-t
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.Earnings Per Share +* . . (AR e ' D
Earnings per share of common stock outstanding were computed as follows:
ah Y ' et
oL, . B Years Ended December 31,
R N 2006 2005 2004
’ ‘ (Millions Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

'“

Basic. eammgs per share —

4.

Net Income ............... e ....... ... 3 's1 $ S8 $ . 4 15
Average shares of common stock outstanding . ... . ...... .. - 44,625,220 43,088,588 -+ 41,534,810
' E,armngs per average ‘share of common stock ............. $ .15 § 135 % 0.37
Diluted earmngs per share—. ot . . T e,
Net Income.... . .............. e BT I D TP | B 58 % . 15
) s : L . e ’
Average shares of common stock outstandmg ............. 44,625,220 43,088,588 | 41,534,810
Effect of diiutive securltles '
* Réstricted slock‘. el Ceeliiooo. 400954 3806567 272561
‘Stock options. . .. ... SR gl e 1729399 1852011 2,373,089
Average shares of common slock outslandmg mcludmg _ .
dllutlvc sccurmcs .............................. LU 46,755,573 45,321,225 44,180,460
il g D T : = e
Eammgs per average share of common stock . ............ 3 .10 % 129§ -+ 035

Optloné io purchase’ 564,749, 716,441 and 741,921, shares of common stock were outstanding at
. December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respecnvely, but were not included in the computation of diluted EPS
because the opuons were anti-dilutive for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectwely

. 1

9. Preferred Stock. N SO e .

-
" P

" We had 50 miliion shares of preferred stock ($.01 par value) authorized at December 31, 2006 and 2005.
No shares of preferred stock were outstanding at those dates. We have designated and reserved 2 miltion
sharés of the preferred stock as junior-preferred stock for.the Rights. Plan, -

10. Pensien Plans; Postretirement and Other iElﬁployee Benefits

+  We have various defined benefit pension plans that cover substantially all of our employees. The
measureinerit date used to determine measurement of the majority of our pension plan assets,and benefit ¢,
obligations is September 30th, for both our domestic and forelgn plans. Benefits are based on years of servnce
and for most salaried employees on final average compensanon Our funding policy is to contribute to the
'p]ans amounts necessary to satlsfy the fundmg requirement of applicable federal or foreign laws and '
regulations. 'Of our $671 million benefit obligation at December 31, 2006, approximately $602 million
required fiinding under applicable.federal and foreign laws. At December 31, 2006, we had approximately
$446 million in assets to fund that obligation. The balance of our benefit obligation, $69 million, did not
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require funding under applicable federal or foreign laws and- regulations. Pension plan assets were mvested in
the following classes of securities:

‘ Percentage of Fair Market Value
September 30, September 30,

“t ' 2006 2005

o : US ~ Foreign  US . Foreign
Equity Securities. .. ... .. 0%  60% Ti% * 69% < -
Debt Securities . . ... . e 28% 36% 28% & 22% °
Real Estate .. ................ e e Tiwa... — —_— =
Other .......ooueie.., e PR L. 2% 4% 1% 9%

Qur investment policy for both our domestic and foreign plans is to invest more heavily in equity
securities rather than debt securities. Targeted pension plan allocations are 70 percent in equity securities-and
30 percent in debt securities, with acceptable tolerance levels of plus or minus five percent within each <
category for our domestic plans. Our foreign plans are 1nchv1dually managed to different target levels
depending on the investing environment in each country

v

Our approach to determining expected return on plan asset assumptlons evaluates both hlstoncal returns
as well as estimates of future returns, and adjusts for any expected changes in the long- term outlook for the
equity and fixed-income markets for both our domestic and foreign plans. :

. A summary of the change in benefit obhgauon the change in plan assets, the'develf)pment of net aniount
recognized, and the amounts recogmzed in the balance sheets for the pensmn plans and postreurement benefit
plans follows: :

Pension Postretirement

I "" . T 2006 ©o 2005 T 2006 . -2005
. ' : -t _Us. Foreign «US Foreign : Us " .US
vt e - L et - (Millions) . !
Change in benefit obligation: o ‘ o .
Benefit obligation at September 30 of the previous . s SRR
CYeAr. ..., etneegssee e 13332 0 8302 0 8301 0 $270. . $146  § 133
Currency rate conversion ., , ., .. S P ey o= 029 - — 0 (2D, e
CSettlement . . ... oL SR Y e @) o — e ()L
Curtailment . . ........... ... .. .o iiua.. (30) - — 7' - — =
SEIviCe COSt. . .\t T s T e s T e 2T
Interest Cost. ... . .v.vununn ... SO 19416 18 14 - Y8 s 08
Plan amendments. . . . L. cen ‘f“:,. I L 2 h 2 o ER
Actuarial loss ...l Lo L@ den 39 AT
Benefits paid . ..~ ...................00 an @ sy (9)" RN (F
Participants’ contributions e i . 7 Tx 2 ‘ , -—, L2 '. — w .,
‘Benefit obligation at September 30...... TR ~ $325. .$346 -.$332 ,$302 $.158-+$.146
i U VS R
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tort fl

" .U -Postretirement

wrooovedid . -, " T4 Pension ¢ ¢
2006 2005 2006 . 2005°
. Us Foreign US Foreign Us Us
- N (Millions)
Change n plan assets: - e

Fair value at September 30 of the previous year . ... 196 194, 154 172 $ — § —
Currency rate conversions. . . .1 ... ... 7. ... "‘ — 18 . — . (12) o —_
Settlement. .. ................ Ce e —_ w2 = ., . — v —
Actual return on plan‘assets.. .\ .. .......... O 18 16 - 16 - 320 = —
-Employer contributionis :.... %\ .. .. ... ....... 27 - 212 400 IO 9 1

Participants’ contributions ..........>.... Y. — 2 —_ 2 alinmo

Benefitspaid . . . ... ... ... (12) (9) (14) (9) ROy T (11)

Falr value at September 0 ... $229 $231 $196 § 194 $ '—'! $ —

Development of net amount recogmzed . . 7 . e

Funded status- at September 05 S () (115) (136) (108) $(158) $(146)

Contributions dufring the fourth quarter. .. ....... 1 -5 T TR I I

Unrecogmzed cost:

L Actuanal loss.' ......................... WrT102 123 M0 %2 1102 - 98
Prior service cost ......................... - ‘ 4 lclt‘ ]24 ,';:‘ 'i;;'llo’. ‘_“I ‘(‘3}3)"‘;!" (54)
Transition asset .......................... - — —_ (I - — —

Net am(ilii‘jlt recognized at December 31.......... $10 % 27 % (2 % 26 %101 $ (99

Amounts recognized in the balance sheets before .

1mplementat10n of FASB Standard No. 158: S I

Prepaid benefitcost. . ........ ... ... ... ... $— § — $—- 5.5 3 =5 -

Accrued benefit cost ... ....... e — — a3, 00—, 69

lntanglble asset e e — — 12 . 10 - -

Accuimulated otfier comprehensive loss. ... ... ... R =t gy Y M

Net amount recognized . . .~ . Lt sy o v $— 3. — .3 .32, .5 —. 5099

Amounts recognized in the balance sheets after

1mplementat10n -of FASB Standard No. 158:

Noncurrent BSSELS .\t $— $ 1 %38 — & = 53— .5 —

Currentllabihues.... ....... ‘(5) ’ ‘(ll) I — (9) . -

Noneun:rent l‘mp_l.hues ........................ (92) (109) —_— — (147) —

Net amount recognized ... ................... $(97) $(109) $ — $ — $(56) $ —

. ! R | T L et R TENEURCRE SN

Notes: Assets of one plan may not be utilized to pay beneﬁts of othef plans. Additionally; the prepaid’
(accrued) pension cost has been recorded based upon certain actuarial estimates as described below.
.. »Ihose estimates are subject to revision in future periods given new facts or circumstances.

4
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+ . Net pericdic pensmn costs (income) for the years 2006, 2005, and 2004, consist of the following
components: v _ e ' |

2006 2005 . 2004
Us Foreign . US Foreign us Foreign
_ (Millions) S ‘

Service cost — benefits earned during the e

VAL . it $15 $ 6 S515. %6 $14 .. $:5:"
Interest on prior year’s projected benefit . L '

obligation ............. ... .. ... ..., 19 16 18 . .14. 17 ..14 -
Expected return on plan assets .. ........... (19) (16) 6y (15 . (15 (15)-.,
Curtailment gain . ...........7 ... ... .... (25) — — i -— L—
Recognition of: o . A S S
~ Actuarial loss‘.,............r‘: ....... P | 1 4 -4, 3 .3

Prior service cost .. ........ RO, - 6 6 3. i 3 1
Net pensmn e $17 $13 $24 ‘§lo 322§ 8

g . o Tt Vot — )

Other comprehenswe loss. ...... e $— $— 810 ..$5 $:-7 § 21 N

As a resuit of the adoption of the recognition provisions of FASB SFAS No. 158 “Employers Aceqqnting
for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postreurement Plans” other changes in plan assets and beneﬁt
obligations recognized in other comprehenswe income con51sted of the followmg components

— T i I . ' v ! - ! o uUs ! Fol"eign ’
Net actuarial gam"-'r $27)  $4) - '
Recognized actuarial gam .............................. [P U [ N (9%
Prior service cost . .. .......... [ e e e o 6!
' Recognition of pror service cost .. ....... ... ... e e 2D ) '
b ) : A,
Total recognized in other comprehensive income before tax effects e L. $029) U %(5) !
. K R P e , = toommmoe i
Amounts recogrized in accumulated other comprehensive income consist-of: = 7' o
AR 2006 " d
o ' TUS ' TForeign -
Net actuarial gain . . . .. L e AU $102°  $123° |
Prior service cost. . ... e e e P 4 C 14 ‘
'$106' " $137 |
. - . - . o oo l
In 2007, we expect to recogmze the followmg amounts, which are currently reflected in accumulated - |
other comprehensive income, as components of net periodic benefit cost:- T .
',.'. L . . ‘ . S . b ‘. PR - . ..-.. i " zm
o - e ' . ‘<. [ T . ' E‘ "Foreign
Net actuarial Zain . ... ...ttt e e $3 $5
Prior service Cost. . . .. .ot iin e e = 2
53 &
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The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for all

pension plans with accumulated benefit obllgauons in excess of plan assets at September 30, 2006 and 2005 -
were as follows: . - . : - . S :

' Tt

September 30,

and 2004

2006 . 2005
__Us Foreign Us Foreign
. : ) ) . " ) h ~ (Millions) t
Projected Benefit Obligation ... .......... ... . ... ...... $325 8333 $332 4284
Accumulated Benefit Obligation. ........................ 325 319 300 268
Fair Value of Plan Assets ....... PR ERREEE ' .' ...... 229 217 196' 175
The followmg estimated beneﬁt payments are payable from the pension plans to. pamc1pants
) § C . e ' Pensmn
Year . LA L - L .- ., . Benefits
L ' (Millions)
2007 .00 PR L L $28
2008 ... 27
2009 . e .
2010 e e e 29
2011 ..., e e s P e R 52
2012-2016. . ... ... [N P e P e 192
The followmg assumptions were used in the accounting for the pension plans for the years of 2006, 2005,
006 © 2005~
A " 'US  Foreign = US Foreign
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit ' '
obligations l
Discountrate .. ...... e e e UO59% C50%  5.8%  5.0%
Rate of compensation increase. .. ............ ... ..., 30%  41%  32% ' 43%
Mol e T e 06 2005t . 2004 T

. JUS " Foreign . ‘US . Foreign US Foreign

Weighted-average assumptions used to
determine net periodic benefit cost

Discountrate .. ............:......:.. 58% 5.0%. 6.3% 5.7% 6.5% 5%

Expected long-term return on plan assets. . .. 88% 76% 88% 77% 89% 8.0%
Rate of compensauon increase. ........... 3 2% 43% 4. 5% 44% 45% 4.1%

IR

We made conmbutlons of $42 mllhon to these pensmn plans during 2006 Based on current actuanal

estimates, we believe we will be required to make contributions of $28 million to those plans during 2007.

Pension contributions beyond 2007 will be required, but those amounts will vary based upon many factors,

including the performance of our pension fund investments during 2007.

We have life insurance plans which cover a majority of our domestic employees. We also have -
postretirement plans for our domestic employees hired before Janvary 1, 2001. The plans cover salaried -

employees retiring on or after attaining age 55 who have at least 10 years of service with us after attaining
age 45. For hourly employees, the postretirement benefit plans generally cover employees who retire according
to one of our hourly employee retirement plans, All of these benefits may be subject.to deductibles, copayment
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provisions and other-liitations; and we:have reserved.the right to change these benefits. For those employees

hired after Janudry 1; 2001, we do notiprovide; any postretirement bénefits: Our postretirement: healthcare and
life insurance plans are not funded. The measurement date used to determine postretirement benefit obligations
is September 30th. . '

On September 1, 2003 we changed our retiree medical benefits program to provide participating retirees
with continued access to group health-coverage while reducing our subsidization of the program. This negative
plan amendment is bemg amortized over the average remaining service life to retirement Cllglb]llly of active
plan pammpants as a reductlon of servtce cost begmmng September’ 1,°2003. o -

T . et E el e

In July 2004 .we entered into a settlement with a group of the retirees which were a pan of the
September 2003 change mentioned above. This settlement provided the group with increased coverage and as
a result, a portion ‘of: the negative plan.amendment was reversed and a positive' plan amendment put‘in place.
The effect of the settlement increased our 2004 postretirement benefit expense by approximately $1 million

and mcreased our accumulated postretirement benefit obligation by approximately $13 million. nal
AH I

[n August 2006, we announced that we are freezing future accruals under our current defined benefit
plans as of December 31, 2006 and replacing them with additional contributions under defined contrlbutton
plans for nearly all U.S.-based salaried and non-union hoirly employéés efféctive January 1, 2007, As a result
of this change we realized a one-time beneﬁt of $7 million in the fourth quarter 2006 related to cut‘tathng the
defined’benefit pension plans. S R L .

Net ‘periodic postretlrement beneﬁt cost for the years 2006, 2005 and 2004 consists of the followmg

componerits: e e
O S T B N PRt TP TE R LT AR AN T o BLL o Rue '.."-’.'12006 2005 " |2004
(Mtlllons) LW S
Service cost — benefits earned during the year . ........................ $2 $3 § 3
Interest on accumulated postrettrement beneﬁt obligation .. ............... 9 8 8
Recognition of: ‘ R S S SRR ORIRE BB (RN PPN R I T 2
Actuarial I0ss. . . ... ... i . Yo 6 .6...,6
Prtor Serv1ce cost. ....... R CCET R LR L ERPERERERTTE (6) {6) {6)
ol . b T R . . ‘e . - e . . - - - . T
i\_[et periodic pensmn L S [ e PN 1 L ) 10
In 2007, we expect to recognize the following.amounts, which are currenily reflected in accumulated
other-comprehensive income, as components of net periodic benefit cost:
o T ) : . , 2007,
‘ L T T R A T A S
Net actuarial loss . ... ... U A2 SR X £6 AN D N IR
Prior service cost . . ... e S 1 R Y
N v T Tia W et el F T L Y A T ) ' ?"$‘1'
it e on A A PR AN} i et
The followmg estimated postretn‘ement benefit payments are payable ‘from the pIans to pametpants
LT SR T O AR R L T \'-i”-a"v'
L o l ne Porben . Postretmement
Year RIS Lo Lov T 5“‘ "'4 HORENR e 0l RITIEEPN PE S TP .l' L AL __— Benefits -~ ¢

v ]

S Lt et ot e e s coe s e e e rd T b et e L (Milllons)y i

2007 ..o R S I EC LA PR ST IO RS. [ "
P T P P R |
2009, e e DU e i e e e e il 10 ey, 5,
. L SRRy _ B SRR AN RLTINL | BENCREE
1 1) O B S AT VO R P TP AOTUAL SARFLNE QRIS AU FICEFFLI SN U SRS A ) SR
W 2012-2006 0 . B o i el Sl nd, i Lo s et L Lo e i 5T L




TENNECO INC. AND ‘CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES ' , |
NOTES.TO FINANCIAL'STATEMENTS'== (Continiied)

The weighted averagé assumed health. care.cost trend rate used.in‘determining' the 2006 accumulated'
postretirement benefit obligation:was 10 percent, declining to 5 percent«by 2012. In‘2005 and 20()4 the ‘health .

care. cost trend fate-was 9. percent R Lot e O TR T 1
b .
’I’he followmg assumptmns were uscd in the accoumlng for postrctlrement cost for the years of 2006
2005 and 2004:
M e e r'u [T L
nho, " Tt h| n L 2006 2005
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations O e . \
Discount'rate. . .. ... T e e e T e e e 59% . 58%
Rate of compensation increase. . . . . L e e e - 4.0%, 4.5%
ry iy .o - o gy e
. ! ' . © 2006 720050 2004
v “1 v .- HRSL R . Te + e B
Welghted-average assumptlons used to determine net perlodlc e gl ,
benefit cost v Prie e
Dlscount ratc . .ri et .'-. I wha e e e 1 6.5%
: EET 4.0% >

Rt e

Thc effect of a one pcrcentage-pomt mcrease or decrease in_the assumed health care cost trend rates on o

total service cost and interest and, the postreurcment bencﬁt obhgatton are.as. follows e o
TR AN : P TR R TS S ST T S ot T One-Percemage . One-Percentage , -
: . : Point Increase ~ Point Decrease ., . ;
' _ “Millions)
- s.Effect on total of seririi:e c‘dst dnd’intérest cost' . .. ... 1. ... ... PRIERURS. 9% ISLRLEIR & ‘”‘$'1 !
Effect on postretlrcmcnt‘beneﬁt obllgatlon. R N SO | A -:_ 13 ':
' L AN . 'J. FILEE LA T F A 5 R ht '

F H

Based on current actuanal estlmates we beheve we w1ll be required to make postretlrement contributions ‘
of approximately $10 million during 2007. ‘

" On December 8, 2003, President Bush signed the Medicare Prescription' Drug, Irprovement and ™
Modernization Act of 2003 (the ‘Act),into Jaw. The Act,introduces a voluntary prescription drug,benefit under
Medicare a3 well as-a federal subsidy to  SPONSOrs of retlree healthcare plans that provide prescription drug .,
benefits that are at least actuarlally, equiyalent t to Medicare Part D, ThlS subsidy.covers a defined pomon of an ’
individual ben_efjcra;y s;annual covered prescription drug costs, aq_d is.exempt from federal taxation., ; ~ ,

_ In May 2004, the FASB issued FSP 106-2"which provides guidance on the aécounting for the effects of ~
the Act. We adopted the provisions of FSP 106-2 in the third quarter of 2004 which lowered our 2004
postretirement benefit expense by less than $1 million. The application of the Medicare subsidy reduced our |
2004 accumulated postretirement benefit obligation by $10 million, all of which was related to benefits '
attributed to past service and was accounted for as an actuarial gain as required by the FSP.

Y
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In- Septembér 2006, the- FASB-issued Statement of Accountinig Standards No. 158; “Accounting for
Defined Benefit Pension and Other. Postretirement Plans” which amended certain provisions of FASB
Statements 87, 88, 106 and i32(R). As a result of implementing the recognition-provisions of this Statement
on our pension and postretirement plans, the incremental effect on individual line 1tems in the ﬁnancna]
statements as of December 31, 2006, is as‘follows: i v o

Before Application ' " After Applicaiidn

. of Statement 158 Adjustments of Statement 158
Deferred Income Taxes ....... e e - 80397 o $31 Lv -8 428
Total ASSets>. . .% ... ... .. 3232 . ) I 3,263
Liability for Pension Benefits. . .............. 272 90 Lt g 362 7
Total Liabilities . .............. e 2,952 ¢ 90 3,042
Accumulated Other Comprehenswe loss. Ceaean - (194) 59 ) (25}_) .
Total Stockholders’ Equity . .. ....... SRR 11 I " (59) .oo221

Employee Stock Ownership Plans (401(k) Plans) — We have established Employee Stock Ownership
Plans for the benefit of our employees. Under the plans, subject to limitations in the Internal Revenue. Code,
participants may elect to defer up to 75 percent of their salary through contributions to the plan, which are
invested in selectéd mutuat funds or used to buy our common*stock. We currently match in'cash’50 percent of
each employee’s contribution-dp to eight percént-of the employee’s salary. We recorded expense for these
matching contributions of approxlmately $7 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004, respecllvely Ail contributions vest immediately.

In connection with freezing the defined benefit pension plans for,nearly all U.S. based salaried and hourly
employees effective December 31, 2006, and the related replacement of those defined benefit plans with
additional contributions under defined contribution plans, we expect contributions to the Employee Slock
Ownership Plans will increase by approximately $11- million in 2007. - " AR .

11. Segment and Geographic Area Information - o ) <

" In October 2004 and July 2005, we announced changes in the structure of our organization which’
changed-the corponents of our reportable egrents. The Burdpean seginent nbw includes’ South American -
and Indian operations. The Asia Pacific segment includes our other Asian and Australian operations. While -
this had no impact- oni our-consolidated resuits; it changed our segment'results. You should note that we have ©-
reclassified prior year’s segment data where appropriate to conform.to 2006 presentations. |, S

'*"nl"". O - B
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We are a global manufacturer with three geographic reportable segments: (1) North America, (2} Europe,
South America and ‘India (“Europe”), and 3 Asia Pacific. Each segment manufactures and distributes ride

control’and emission: -control products pnmanly for the automotive industry. We have not aggregated individual

operating segments within these reportable segments. We evaluate segment performance based pnmanly on

income before interest expense, income taxes, and minority interest. Products-are transferred bétween ‘segments

and geographic areas on a basis intended to reflect as nearly as possible the “market value” of the products

Segmerit results for 2006, 2005, and 2004 are asfoilows: - - R ST
. LA i ; - : Segment - C e
! - - . : I North . . Asia Reclass &, . - sre
. ’ Ame_rica ] Edmpe , Pacific EIIrns ;Cpnsolidawd
o i {Mlllions) a S ’
MEVI L A IUERRTALE

At December 31, 2006, and for the Year Then
Ended T

el T

Revenues from extémal customers. . 1. . . .. ‘ .: L $1,959  $2;305  $421 $ — $4,685
Intérsegment revenues. ... ....... . . S g2 - *15" o4y " =
Intéfest income . . ... .. .. L SO B AR I
Depreciation and amortization of other intangibles.. . . . 92 bttt g - '" 184"
Income before interest expense, income taxes, and o o C R
minority interest.. ... .ot au bt s st . o103 s 8leie s A2 2T = Wt 2 196
TOtl ASSELS. . .. v v et e 1,450 1,421 301 - 91 o 03263
Investment m afﬁhated cornpames ................ — 9 — — 9
Expendltures for plant propeny and equipment . . . ... 100 51 19 —_ 170
Noncash.items other than depreciation and
AMOMtIZAtON . . ol i e e e e (14) 4 (1 _ (i)
At December 31, 2005, and for the Year Then A - T Tl g gl
Ended | il e FPC . . . . . L
Revenues- from external customers. . .. . . I, . $2,028  $2,053 .. $360 . .8 =,y $4 441
Intersegment revenues. T R EEPEEPERRE 6 57 11 (74) —
Interest mcome.'. .......... e 1 3 — — -4
Deprecmtlon and amortization of other intangibles. . . . 90 76 1T T i e g
Income before mterest expense income taxes, and S ' - -
minority interest.!. .. .2 L 145 - 54 - .16 el 915
Total assets. . . .. SRR e e e e 1,340 1,295 251 54 2,940
Investment in afﬁllated compames ................ - 6 - — 6
74 54 16 — 144

Expenditures for plant, property and eqmpmcnt ......

‘Noncash items other than depreciation and
amortization . . . .............. e
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’ o " : o ¢ Segmiént .- ol
- o : t . . North Ca Asia Reclass & v ... - ' .
i “ o .- . . America Europe .. Pacific . Elims | Consolidated
’ . . ‘ (Millions)
At December 31, 2004 and for the Year Then . . ‘ o . ] ,.'d
Ended _ o T . . . C e e
Revenues from external CUStOMETS. . . . v vvns.s. $1,959  $1,891  $363 $ — . $4,213,
.Intersegment 132+ 1 11 1= 7 49 17 73 —
Interest income- . ... A I ..; ..... St 1 3 — — 4
DepreCIatlon and amortlzatlon of other’ mtanglbles 93 73 11 —_— 177
Income before interest expense, income taxes, and _ e ) e
MINOTity iNterest . .. ......oovureeeeenennnn.. 133 21 20 R
Total assets. . ... ........ B S I .. L3440 1410 0 242 123 3,119 -
Investment in affiliated companies. . . .. ........... = 5 -— R I
Expenditures for plant, property and equipment . . . . .. 55 5% 16 — .- 130
Noncash items other than depreciation and -, . e e 1
amortization . . ... ............ ... 4 — — ' '5
. LI e X '

The following table shows information relatmg to our extemal customer revenues for each product or.
each group of similar products: : o _ ; . e
..t .NetSalesand  , .,
Operating Revenues
* "' Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
oo . . fr . , . . . (Millions)...»+
Emission Control Systems & Products T N D A
Aftermarket. . . . . e e e e $ 385 § 368 % 365
"' - Original equipment market /. -l o 2,592 2390 ‘2,287
S ' : 2977 3758 0 2652
. . . S 1
Ride Control Systems & Products ' i .
Aftermarket. . .............. PO el e 692 653 - 630
r- Original equipment market ......... e e e e 1,016 1,030, .. 5-.93']_ :
T ' C - . 1,708 1,683. 1,561 .-
Total . . . .. SRR S e $4.685 $4.441° $4213
: ; A . P T U -
e m fa . L ¢
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During 2006, sales to four major customers comprised approximately 14 percent, 11 percent, 11 percent
and 11 percent of consolidated net sales and operating revenues. During 2005, sales to four major customers
comprised approximately 17 percent; 12 percent, 9 percent and 9 percent of consolidated net-sales and
operating  revenues. During 2004, sales to the same four, major customers comprised appr0x1mate]y 18 percent,.

12 percent, 11. percent,and-8 percent of consolidated net sales and operating revenues., - A
r T e o _::’ "o N 7 - Geographic Area > v -
S “ny United | o + . Other . Reclass & =
T . . LSm‘tes ‘ Germany ' Foreign(a} Elims Consolidaled
[" L o (Mllllo1ns) _ -
At December 31 2006 and for the Year Then . i N ‘._ L T *

Ended -.’ SR . g
Revenues from extcmal customers(b). L $1,9457"" $842 $1 898" $--— 34, 685
Long-lived assets(c) -+ -+ v oo loego . 4047 139 _' crer L — 253
Total assets. .. .. .. v.oen. .. A C13ssT T T 659 "; (80) 3263
At December 31, 2005 and for the Year,’l‘hen :_,-E e G e

Ended j o
Revenues from external customers(b). . ......... $2,071 $633 $1,737 5 — $4,441
Long-lived assets(c) .............. PR e 407 . 136 ., .- 668 .  — . 1211
Total assets. ........ P e esenwee , 1,253 02305 . L1471 ., (B9) ... 2.940.s
At December 31, 2004, and for the Year Then ... .. * on1 T L o

El‘ldEd } Caa . o e e e T L L IO
Revenues from external customers(b). e . (81840 $515 Cer 31,858 $—= 34213
Long-lived assets(c) .......... e W 409, 157 - 731 ... — 1297

1,336 - 358.;~ . 1,502 .. (77) ' ‘3,119

Total assets..!..........: P P S S S -

L S [ ab 2 R " 1

No[cs (a) Revcnues from external customers and long- lwed assets for individual forelgn countrles other than,

. Germany are not material.. . . - e s 4
.+ (b) Revenues are attributed to countries based on location of the seller. . .~ L
(c) Long llved assets include ‘all long term assets except goodwﬂl mtanglbles and deferred tax asscts
. \ H RO AV o0 o . . . St T de ! '
12. Commltments and Contingencies .. - - . . o e A
oo oot ot ' RANE Cand w4y i -
Capital Commitments. K . L. T T S

* We estimate that expenditurés aggregating approx1mately $45 million" will be required after December 31
2006 to complete facilities and projects authorized at* such date, and we have made substantnal commnments

in connection with these facilities and projects.

Lease Commitments

We have long-term leases for certain facilities, equipment, and other assets. The minimum lease payments

under non-cancelable ]e.as;es with lease terms jn €XCess of one year are: o NP

: 3 . : .- G e L .. % Subsequent .

T o 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Years
! . K A (Mllllons) A o

: . vt : . bl I I T

Operating Leases. . .............. RIS “$l60 Sl T 897§ §6 $ 1

v vl . e » - N [N
CapltalLeascs......._.......,....,..._..‘...._... $3 $3 $3 “$3 - $— .

PR} [

- Total rental expense for the year 2006, 2005, and 2004 was $37 mllllon $35 mllllon' and $32 m1llmn o

respectively. AP
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Litigation ¢+ -~ [+ oo, "'. L A . T - LR LR O L TOR T P

R0 TR N OO RS V. 1 U TP SR L PR grteanio e et e e T L

We also-from-time .to time .are involved in’ legal'proceedmgs vclaims or investigations- that are. mcrdemal
to the conduct of our businéss. Some of- these:proceedings: allege' damages against us relating to envrronmental!
liabilities (including toxic tort, property damage and remediation), -intellectual property.matters (including
patent, trademark and copyright, 1nfr1ngement and | licensing disputes), personal injury ctaims (including
mjunes”due to product failure, demgn or wammgs rssues and other product liability related matters), taxes,
employment matters; and commercral o contractual- dlsputes sometimes related to acquisitions or divestitures.
For example, one of our Chmese joint ventures is currently defendmg a lega! proceedmg by Chinese
government officials related to whether the joint venture applied 'the proper tariff ‘codé to certain of 1ts lmports
We vngorously defend ourselves agamst all of these clalms In future penods we could be subjected to cJas]:r
costs .or non-cash’ charges to eammgs if any  of these matters is resolved on unfavorable terms However,l »
a]though the ulumate outcome of any legal matter cannot be predicted with certainty, based i on present
tnformauon mcludmg our assessment of the merits of the partlcular ¢laim, we do not expect that these legal
proceedings or claims will have any material adverse impact on ‘our futiire‘consolidatéd financial posmon or "
results of operations.

- e S bt .. . DR I VIR P

Adaa L
In addition, we are subjéct to a number of lawsuits initiated by a significant number of tlaimants alleging'
heaith problems as a result of exposure 10 asbestos’ A small percentage of claims have been asserted by - -’
railroad workers alleging exposure to asbestos products in railroad cars ‘manufactured by The.Pillman =
Company, one of our subsidiaries. Nearly all of the claims are related to alleged exposure to asbestos in our
automotive emission’control 'products. Only 4 small pércéntage of these claimants allege -that- they were. ~ -~ *
automobile mechanics and a significant number appear to involve workers in other. industries or.otherwise' do
not include sufficient information to determiine whether there is any basis for a claim against us. We believe; -~
based on scientific and other evidence, it is unlikely that mechanics were exposed to asbestos by our former
muffler. products-and that;'in any'evént, they woiild'not be at'increased risk of asbestos-reldtéd disease based -
on their work with these products. Further, many of these cases involve numeréis defendants; Wwith' the number
of each in some cases 'exceeding-ZOO'defendants from a variety of industnies. Additionally, the plaintiffs either
do.not specify any, or, specify the Junsdrctmnal minimum,, dollar,amount for damages. As major, asbestos
manufacturers continue to go out of business or ﬁle for bankruptcy, we may experience an increased number
of these claims. We vigorously defend ourselves against these claims as part of our ordinary course ofnpv'} .+ 3
business. In future periods, we could be subject to cash costs or non-cash charges to earnings if any of these
matters is resolved unfavorably to us. To date, with respect to claims that have proceeded sufficiently through
the judicial process, we;have regularly. achieved. favorable, resolutron .Accordingly, we presently believe that
these asbestos-related clalms will not have a matenal adverse 1mpact on our future. financial condluon or ..
results of operations. PN RN LT T e

4 - %

Product Warranties . , .
Al TV e VDR TR e T Dnl LR TR AT Y ey e e !

We provide warranties on some of our products’ Thé' warranty ‘térr'ns"varry'but rarige from ore year up fo'
limited lifetime warrantles on some of our premrurgr aftermarket products. Provisions for estimated expenses
related to product warranty are made at the time-products are sold or when specific warranty issues are
identified on OE products These estimates are established using historical information about the nature, ,
frequency, ‘and average cost of warranty clarms We actively study trends of warranty claims and take action to
improve product quallty and minimize warranty clarms We believe that thé warranty reserve is appropnate
however, actual claims incurred couldtdiffer from the'original estimates, requiring adjustments to the reserve.
The reserve is included in current liabilities on the balance sheet. . Y
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e oy

Below is a table that shows.the activity,in the’ warranty‘accrual accounts:.! «t.2v . ea" . b eamaon”

© “Years Ended * 7+ -+

X , . December 31,
Togter 1 f "’\'! REEETAE FRNERRY IF U PO PR 'R AFY B S Y PR .al - 14} "‘"szﬁ s .izoos !.42004
ST RN oLt ey e Lo Teueg v DR s wte g enid e TL0 (Milllbﬂé) ot
Ot TR fon . E
. Begmnmg Balance AT RSN WA .ﬁ.’.'f - Atd b e T e $£22 - r$ 19" <% 18“’ k
soApdOtecn o Y Il e 2T T e e A0V G
Accruals related to product warranues ....... L s e . 16 14
N e T L B DI T A EU T AT TR R D AL . [P oy
Reducuons for payments made, e R T T e L B Tt (14 ) (13) ) (13); 4
Ending Balance. ......... votedaycsvant e U handov s o oontut e 25108220 §419 0
WoTeo TR A VI R S I RIS SO CRRF T S Tt MR LA LSS L W
.11, The current year increase' in-thé)warranty ‘accrualis-primarily ‘driven by higher.unit: pricingrand  product .-
mix in’ the North-American: aftermarket.s 7 S 950 acmicngadb U oo S ot e o e e 0
T e s e s e Yt by e e s e ae L anL oL e b
VR .i:‘p T L B PR P ',»'.,!',?‘.{":u”'.‘f"‘..,' wee ety L

Environmental Matters

We are SUbJﬁC[ toa vanety of env1ronmental and pollunon control laws and regulatlons in ail ]urlSdlCthﬂS

‘in which we operale We expense or capltallze as approprlate expendltures for ongomg compllance With
environmental regulations that relate to current operations. We expense costs related to an existing condition ~
caused by past operations and that do not contribute to current or future revenue generation. We record
liabilities when environmental assessments indicate that remedial efforts are probable and the costs can be
reasonably estimated. Estimates of the liability are based upon currently available facts, existing technology,
and presently enacted laws and regulations taking into consideration the likely effects of inflation and other
societal and economic factors. We consider all available evidence including prior experience in remediation of
contaminated sites, other companies’ cleanup experiences and data released by the United States Environmen-
tal Protection Agency or other organizations. These estimated liabilities are subject to revision in future
periods based on actual costs or new information. Where future cash flows are fixed or reliably determinable,
we have discounted the liabilities. All other environmental liabilities are recorded at their undiscounted
amounts. We evaluate recoveries separately from the liability and, when they are assured, recoveries are
recorded and reported separately from the associated liability in our financial statements.

As of December 31, 2006, we are designated as a potennally responsible party in one Superfund site.
Including the Superfund site, we may have the obligation to remediate current or former facilities, and we
estimate our share of environmental remediation costs at these facilities to be approximately $8 million. For
the Superfund site and the current and former facilities, we have established reserves that we believe are
adequate for these costs. Although we believe our estimates of remediation costs are reasonable and are based
on the latest available information, the cleanup costs are estimates and are subject to revision as more
information becomes available about the extent of remediation required. At some sites, we expect that other
parties will contribute to the remediation costs. In addition, at the Superfund site, the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act provides that our liability could be joint and several,
meaning that we could be required to pay in excess of our share of remediation costs. Our understanding of -
the financial strength of other potentially responsible parties at the Superfund site, and of other liable parties
at our current and former facilities, has been considered, where appropriate, in our determination of our

estimated liability.

We believe that any potential costs associated with our current status as a potentially responsible party in
the Superfund site, or as a liable party at our current or former facilities, will not be material to our resulis of
operations or consolidated financial position.
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TENNECO INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

13. Supplemental Guarantor Condensed Consolidating Financial Statemeénts . -

Basis of Preseniation

Sub_]eCl to llmued exceptions, all of our existing and future material domestic 100% owned subsidiaries
(which are referred to as the Guarantor Subsidiaries) fully and unconditionally guarantee our senior subordi-
nated-notes due in 2014 and our senior secured notes due 2013 on a joint and several basis. You should also
read Note 6, “Financial Instruments” for further discussion of the notes and related guarantee. We have not
presented separate financial statements and other disclosures concerning each of the Guarantor Subsidiaries
because management has determined that such information is not material to the holdérs of the notes.
Therefore, the Guarantor Subsidiaries are combined in the presentation below. . T,

These condensed consolidating financial statements are presented on the equity method. Under this
method, our investments are recorded at cost and adjusted for-our ownership share of a subsidiary’s cumulative
results of operations, capital contributions and distributions, and other equity changes. You should read the
condensed consolidating financial information of the Guarantor Subsidiaries in connection with cur consol:-
dated financial statements and related notes of which this note is an integral part.

Distributions
There are no significant restrictions on the ability of the Guarantor Subsidiaries to make distributions to
oy B ) [ I i S Ca " Co i o t . o

us.

.
! .

¢ wa roo- .. - .
. ' . o F . 4
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TENNECO INC."AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS < (Contiriuéd)

STATEMENT OF INCOME (LOSS)

) Tt o ceat oo . For the Year Ended Decemhe:r 31, 2006 .
N Tenneco Inc.
! Cow . Guarantor -+ Nonguarantor (Parent Reclass
Tl oottt - ' Subsidiaries ~+ Subsidiaries Company) & Elims  Consolidated
thom (Millions}
Revenues _ .
Net sales and operating revenues — g . - ]
PUoExternal ... Lol Lsl Lo 81,895 - 82,790 8§ — $ — i $4,685
Affiliated Companies .. ........... < 88 -7 483 . e O = 1
v Lot S <. 1,983 wiv 3,273 — {571) 4,685
Costs and expenses
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation ) b e . o o
“shownbelow).. . ... ... . . ... o615 < T 2,794 . — 571 . 3,838
Engineering, research, and . . el
« development .. ................. v 45 - 43 . — — ' BB
Selling, general, and administrative . ... 132, - 240 PO ST SRR I g ni 377
Depreciation and amortization of other A A B
_intangibles: ......... Ce e b 71- - 113 .. — — 184
. N . _n 1863 i 3,190 2 G71) 4487
Other income (expense) - LR PR ' '
Gain (loss) on sale of assets. .. ....... - - — —= 1 = b
Loss on sale of receivables- . ....... - —_ - (6) — ety (6)
‘Other income (expense). - .. ... eeni — ~ 6 -\ 2 4
' — — — 2 2
Income (loss} before interest expense, ' R R O B e £ W
income taxes, minority interest, and L TR S '
equity in net income from affiliated . IR welo I
companies ... ..., . 1. e : 120 83 . (5) 2 ©» 196
Interest expense — _ X . . '
" External (net of interest a4 ‘
o capitalized) ................ 4 3. . 137 .. —_ 136
Affiliated companies (net of S -
interest income) ;.. ......... : 165 (1. (154) - e = —
. Income tax expense (benefit) . .. ... 37 . 43 . L1 (4) 1 w3
_Minority interest . .............. L = 6 L L= b
- ot 4 42 16 (3) 51
Equity in net.income (loss) from ot O
_affiliated‘companies ... ... ... 24 3 35 . 0 (62) o —
Net income (Joss) ;% . .......c........ ‘% 20 T § 45 $.51 $ (65 + $ 51
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TENNECO INC."AND CONSOLIDATED, SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

STATEMENT.OF INCOME (LOSS)

: P Tl Yoo e For the Year Ended December 31, 2005
i Tennece Inc.
PR \ . *+ .. ;-Guarantor . . Nonguarantor (Parent Reclass
e A Ce « v Subsidiaries - Subsidiaries Company) & Elims  Consolidated
Cy s (Millions)
Revenues Cenmdn
Net sales and operating revenues — - _ R Tt I
“vExtermal .............: S < 82,027 4. - $2,414 $ — $§ — . - $4,44]
Affiliated companies ............. t 73 T 508 — < (581) it —
i N TS 2100 0 e 2,922 — (581) 4,441
Costs and expenses SRTLTI L
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation Bt L
+ . shownbelow) ................. Lot 1,702 3. 2,462 .- (581)- . 3,583
Engineering, research, and . N S
.~ development ....... e . 41 .o . 42 — e 083
‘Selling, general, and administrative .. .. .. le4 .7 221 . . = L —.r %385
Depreciation and amortization of other T A N I S
"intangibles. . .. ...... e . .o 106 .= — 5 eaae 177
L s © S P 1978 o 2,831 — (581) 4,228
Other income {expense} _ LRI B TR L
Gain (loss) on-sale of assets. . . . ... .. - —_ - —_ .. R T
. Loss on sale of receivables . ........ * —_ - @ . . _ =iy — e s (3)
‘Other income (expense). ... .........: 43 - B . .. — e 8l enS
0" o - 43 (33) — (8) 2
Income (loss) before interest expense, e AT A e e et s pyt
income taxes, minority interest, and SRS S PR ORI SRR S e
equity in net income from affiliated Ryt el 00 s raeah s o1 00
companies .........:7.......... e 165 + 58. . . — . .. (8) ampen2ls
Interest expense — o ) B N T 1T
External (net of interest o e e e e
capitalized) ... .. LA 2. - 4, 128. . . ==nts 130
Affiliated companies (net of . I A e R AR IITR S
interest income) . % .. ... ... T 122 8). B 6§ 1 5 IR TR L —_
Income tax expense (benefit) ......". " an 26, . . T69dprecunT o ont25
Minority interest .. . .. e o — 2 L= o—l et 2
. 122 34 (83) (15) 58
Equity in net income (loss) from W e sy
affiliated companies™% . ........ w51 — 140 e o (198) ity —
Net income (loss) .- . . . .. e o $ 179 0 0§ 340 . 8.58 . $(213). w8 587
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TENNECO INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — {Continued)

STATEMENT OF INCOME (LOSS)

For the Year Ended December 31, 2004

Tenneco Inc.

. -+ * .. Guarantor Nonguarantor (Parent Reclass .
e L L SRR © . 7 Subsidiaries- - Subsidiaries Company) & Elims  Consolidated A 4
' Vel ’ (Millions) .
Revenues ]
Net sales and operating revenues — ,
. . ' H . ot -
External.......... e $1,832 $2,381‘ $ — $ — . _$_4,213
Affiliated companies . ... ... . ... . 54 _ 331 — (385) —
‘ 1,886 2,712 — (385) - _4213
Costs ;fnd expens;es »
Cost of sales (ex¢lusive of depreciation
shownbelow) .................. 1,463 2,290 — (385) 3,368
Engineering, research, and. o ‘ .
development .............. ..., 36 40 — — 76
. Selling, general, and administrative ... .. 203 214 — — . 417 ;
Depreciation and amortization of other - . '
intangibles. . . .. .. L 74 - 103 — — 177 i
,. ‘ ?‘. - 1,776 2,647 — (385) 4,038
Other income (expense) S _ . . .
Gain (loss) on sale of assets. ... ... B —_ d — —_— 1
~ Loss on sale of reccivables .......... — (1) — — (1)
Other income (expense) .............. - 23 (1) — 9 1y
o 23 a8, .= ©) (M)
Income (loss) before interest expense, .
income taxes, minority interest, and ’ ’ * _
eqmty in net income from affi Ilated : oo
companies . .................0 ... 133 50 - 9 " <174
, Interest expense — . i
External (net of interest ) .
capitalized) ................ — 7 172 — 179
. . Affiliated companies (net of
interest income) .. ........... 90 (10) (80} — L
- ‘Income tax expense (benefit) . —_ 10 34 — . (24_){;
. Mmomy interest .. ... ... - 4 — — a4
T 43 39 ey @ s
' L) n, N . -
Equity in net income (loss) from : : )
affihated companles .......... L. 48 — 73 (121) —
_ Net lncome (luss). Y S $ 9l $ 39 15 $(130) $ 15
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TENNECO INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

- v+ BALANCE SHEET." -

R L December 31, 2006
e o7 Tenneco Inc,
. T ‘oo agw o Guarantor  Nonguarantor {Parent Reclass
g . . RN N "ol Suobsidizries .- Subsidiaries Company) & Elims Consolidated-
- T e ’ - (Millions)
ASSETS ) RN
Current assets: ' e ‘ L e
Cash and cash equivalents ... ................. $ 57 . % 146 8 Hh" 8 - $ 202
Receivables, net ...\ ... .ouue v, L 34 829 ¢ . - 30 (589) " 604
Inventories. . .. .......... PO 136 2303 . . = tee T 439
Deferred income taxes . ... ... B S T 34 ’ 13 6 . n 52
Prepayments and other. . .. ... .. e RN 24 ¢ 101 — — 125
585 1,392 35 U(s90) Y42 )
Other assets: . - ) AR TR e &
Irivéstment in affiliated companies. . .. ....... O 587 e 1,097 (Lege) ' 7 —
Notes and advances reccivable from affiliates . ... ... 3,442 215 5.012 -(8.669)" ' V—
Long-term notes receivable, net. . ... ... ... BRI 2 27 - 3 — kg
Goodwill . . ............. ... ......... S 135 68 .7 v — Fe oo et L2203 .
Intangibles, net. . . ... ... ... ..t 1 SO e Mups = ‘1.‘-"9,
Deferred income taxes. .. ...... T NP 308 .65 ) 200 . 97y, L1376
Other .............c..oieen... 36 70 28 — 134
' ) ' 4,511 454 6,333 (10,550) 748
Plant, property, and equipment, at cost. . . . . . . . .. L 949 1,694 Y7 A
Less — Accumulated depreciation and amortization . . . 621 929 o~ su —- T 41,550
b 328 765 - - S — - 1,093
. LU0 $5424 . 2611 - 36368 1 S(11,140)  $3.263
LIABILITIES AIND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY -
Current liabilities: : RV Gt PRI T
" Short-term debt (including current maturities of long v et R
term debt) : L IR R B Y
Short-term debt — non-affiligted ... ... ... R $ — $ 26 $ 2 $ —=...5.28
Short-term debt — affiliated .. ............... 211 281 10 . (502) =
Trade payables . . .. .......... PP 249 . 618 e T 782
Accrued BAXES. . . . .. i . 16 Ik T v et 49
OET © e i 122 e - 390 T@3)te 274
_ 598 1074 st 0 (90 33
Long-term debt-non-affiliated. . . .. ............... — 10 1340 DA 1,350
Long-term debt-affiliated. . . . . e . 3,872 49 C Y4748 ' (8,669) TV —
Deferred income taxes ... ............... I 212 . ) — s (19 107
Postretirement benefits and OthE{ liabilities. . . .. e 300 C 109 8 7 424 '
Commitments and contingencies ’ o ’
Minority interest . ... ........ T — Coag T L e Ll R g
Sharcholders' equity - . . . .. . .. e e 442 1,249 21 Y7069 221

. $5424 © $2611 | $6368  S(11,140) - $3,263 -
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TENNECO INC. AND CONSOLIDATED. SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES. TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS =

7+, vBALANCE':SHEET

YT e T 5 g
T ) “ri'-l . i 7 - -
AN AT teyowe
ISV AR IR s T
St ofc
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents, ., ......... e Cees
Receivables, net . . ....... e P
[nventones ...............................
Dcfcrred income taxes. .. .......... Y.
Prepayments andother. . .....................
T T L

Other assets: _
Investment in affiliaied companies. . . ............
Notes and advances receivable from affiliates .. ... ..
Long-term notes receivable, net. . . ... .. e
Goodwill ............ P NS YRR
Intanglbles netl. ... ... LI T T
Deferred income 18Xe8 . . . . ... ..o .
Other ....... D

Plant, property, and-equipment, at cost. . . . ¢\ ... ... .

Less — Accumulated depreciation and amortization . . .

-

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS! EQUITY
Current liabilities; R

Short-term debt {including current malunnes of long-
" term debt)

Short-term debt —non-afﬁhated ......... PR
Short-term debt — affiliated . . . .. N EERREREE
Trade payables . - . ...... T e T e
Accrued taxes. . . .. .. ... ... . i
Other . ........... .0t . ooiis, A
WL Vi
Long-term debt-non-affiliated. . . ... ..............
Lornig-term debt-affiliated. . . : . ... ...... DAL
Deferred income taxes . . . . . . T T

Posu-eurement beneﬁls and other hablllues. -
Commnmcnt_s and conungenmes

Minority interest .. .. ... . ... i
Shareholders’ equity . . .. ... ... .o i

s

= (Continued)

December 31, 2005°

Tenneco Inc.

3031

~ 265-
VTR u?ﬁf’;‘l TR,

5-Guarantor  Nonguarantor (Parent Reclass
- Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries Company) & Elims Consolidated
(Miilions)

P LS A

AT e Gl b e T

~Ts - 5 14l

$ 110 4
" 67s 0, ‘(365) 543
251 — T g
7 #en R R SR PR BV T U
I R D s RINT 1  J
1139 3 (368) 7 197 -

SHHTRL G

Coamn A T T g ey )
1032 (468 L
I

139 4785 % (8159) T
21 — oo L gy
. 65 H "_;T' ‘..\'",i' v "‘-230.0.:.'
16 - — 30
60 176 o #6176) - 3077
_n 320 s =y 140y
172 6025 + -,.-(9.803) . .700.,.
J1S07 L A g alon 2428000
792 o pie = s o o . 1385
CTISr b —Tp T arel b e, 1,043
$2.226 - $6,056 - $(10:168)'™ $2,940
T ELPL S EETI o Aring ;" Iy »ul'.ii.i

20t - hdo Ll

R U5 L R

. . . .
TS IS T L B S N L LA 1

IR
$ 22 $ — 22
[ Y LY L D BT AP PR S W
AR/ 0,0, @60 L o
" 526 Y A |
22 VL 3B e il wea3l
113 38 - St LI 11
80T ' v nge . i36d) 979l
B2 g =< 1,348 -y =L 1356
126 . 4492 (8,159), . .—
80 — {76y ... . 86 _
i ‘90 LT L PR O :s-.’.ﬁs'-' - 3646""
. KTy SRR P
4 — — 24
1,087 : 129 (1,475) 129
$2.226 $6.056  $(10,168)  $2,940




TENNECO INC: AND 'CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti‘nuéd)

STATEMENT OF. CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31, 2006

) Tenneco Inc.
* Guarantor  Nonguarantor {Parent Reclass
Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries Company) & Elims Consolidated
(Millions)
Operating Activities o
Net cash provided (used) by operating _
activities. . . ... .. §242 $ 245 $(288) — $ 199
Investing Activities . l .
Net proceeds from the sale of assets .. ....... - 10 7 - —. 17
Cash payments for plant, property, and ) o : -
EQUIPIENT . . . o\ vttt it i .. (78) (99) — — Aa7rh
Cash payments for software related mtanglble -
ASSEAS . . o e e o (6) (7 — —_ (13)
R L e * ' . .
Acquisition of businesses . .. ...... fee e - — - . — -, —
Investments and other. . .. .......... ... .. e A — = 1
Net cash used by investing activities . ... ... .. ' (74) © (98) — — N (172)
Financing Activities
Issuance of common shares ... . ... D P— = 17 — 17
Issuance of long-term debt . . .............. o — — — — -—
Retirement of long-term debt . . ... .. o C— ' 3 . Sy - == 4)
Net increase (decrease) in short-term .~ ' e A
debt excluding current maturities of * L
long-term debt ..., e e 3 — — 3
Imercompany dividends and net increase o ‘
(decrease) in intercompany obligations . . . .. 142y = (2% - 7 27 0 — —
Net cash provided (used) by financing . o
BCHVItIES. . .. (142) (129) 287 — 16
Effect of foreign exchange’ rate changes on cash ‘
and cash equivalents. . ........... . ..., = 18 - — — 18
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash . , . .
equivalents . . R N e oy 26 36 ‘ (§))] — 61
Cash and cash equivalents, January 1 ........ 31 110 — = 141
Cash and cash equlvalents December 31 -
$ 57 - $ 146 3 (1) $—. $202

(Note) . 0 o i) AP A

Notez Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at

the date of purchase.

126




TENNECO INC..AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES. TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Operating Activities

Net cash provided (used) by, operating ,
activities. . . .. e PN T

Investing Activities

Net proceeds from the sale of assets . ........

Cash aninent for plant, property, and
‘equipment ...........
Cash payment for software related intangible

assets...... I S e "
Acquisition of businesses . 7. ... ...
Investments and other... . .......... e

Net cash used by investing activities. . . . ... ..

Financing Activities

Retirément of long-term debt . .......0....

Net increase (decrease) in short-term
debt excluding current maturities of
longtermdebt ............. ... .. .. ...

Intercompany dividends and net increase
(decrease) in intercompany obligations . . .. .

Net cash provided (used) by financing
activities. . . ... ... e

Effect of foreign-exchange rate changes on cash
and cash equivalents. . ........ SN

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents . . . ... ... i
Cash and cash equivalents, Janvary 1 .. ......

Cash and cash équivalents, December 31 -
Note) ....... ... ... .coviunn e

Year Ended December 31, 2005

Tenneco Inc.

5

Guam'n-t'ér , Nonguarantor (Parent Reclass
Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries Company) & Elims Consolidated
{Millions) .-
o ' ¢
$ 202 $ 167 $(238)  $— ° §$131
3 1 - e —_ "4
N ) . - ) . i .l
@n (94) — — (141)
N LT T

(6) &) — — (1) _

— (14) — - 18-

3 (2) = = o 1
(47 (117 — - (164).

— — 7 NI 7

— 1 — — 1

- @ - @)= )

Ty A § ‘a o L
IR T R I i '

— 1 —_ —_ ey
(264) (9) L2273 '~_— f—
(264) (10y,. ,. 238 . = _,(36)

— @ = o — @
(109) 36 e - (73)

140 74 . — — 214

"$ 31 .$H0 % —, . $— . $141

+
-

Note: Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at

+

© . the date of purchase. . ., . . .,

R

127

PR

LR |




TENNECO INC. AND CONSOLIDATED.SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

STATEMENT OF CASH' FLOWS

e Lo
RN I / e
Operating Activities
Net cash provided (used) by operating

actwltles ............. R -
i . 4

Investmg Aclmt:es )
Net proceeds from the sale of assets ... ..

-Cash payments for plant, property, and
equipment............... ..., L.

Cash payments for software related
.intangible assets .............. i

Investments and other .. ........... e

Net cash used by investing activities . .. ..

Finanding Activities R L
Issuance of common shares. . ..........
Issuance of long-term debt . ........ ...
Debt issuance cost on long-termn debt. .-. . .
Retirement of long-term debt. .. .. ... ...

Net increase (decrease) in short-term dcbt
excluding current maturities of long-
termdebt ... ...

Inlcrcompany dividends and net increase
(decrease) in mtercompany obhgatlons. .

Other . oo

Net cash provided (used) by ﬁnancmg B

activities . . ... ... e e

Effect of foreign ‘exchange rate changes on ..
cash and cash equivalents ...........

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents ................... U

Cash and cash equivalents, January 1. .. ..

Cash and cash equivalents, December 31 ° . -

(Note). ...,

Year Ended December 31, 2004

- - Tenneco Inc,
Guarantor Nonguarantor {Parent Reclass
Subsidiaries -+ Subsidizries Company) & Elims Consolidated
' R (Millions)
TS P ; ‘E..f'.?- .
$313 . $163 3(262) s ‘$_—’ T s2
TN CA NS ,,nl.!' it
. 15 2 T b Ut T b0 } s JUIS 3{
S e U e gy
42) (@9 . LT ~1¢(131)
AT LI TN RO I TR T T VIR TR PR S
5) (8) — LT '»".(13)
= 0 = e )
(47) _ ﬁ) —_— :',-';'f—_' PLR .?‘Zﬂ)_)l
S T L T T M S
— — 10 et I.‘“;,“IO s
- - .. Sm’ .‘: 'I‘l IDFTI |' 4 : ' ‘:‘ Sg)"-
- — . W, me, s (3)y
— G G0 e 1 (08)
T UL R T S
S L e L L O L)
— SO T =, (D
b ‘o i"l-:." i .l.-w‘x . L !
(196) (74 oo, 2270 e o ™
— J— R ;' Thy, g, nY —
L) . . . S P w
(196). 3 oy ~202 e P €
: e ML e o
S — (3) T ey AR ) BN
v HI P
70" ) R L LS T I AT 54 2
_10 5 o = e DDy 145
$ 140 $ 74 $ — $— - $214

7~.,1'.',i"| -

|
s

*
=

Sas . . -t

Note: Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at

the date of purchase. .
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e TENNECO INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

N
. NOTESLTO.FlNANC[ALiSTATEMENTS =~ (Continued)’
14. Quarterly Financiai Data )(Unau(i;leci) n 4 Lo
N A U T T . T (LT £+ Income Before
e Net Sales Cost of Sales Interest Expense,
;*;»ﬁ"..; 1 ;—'J - F T g and. (Exglut_:ling Income Tmf&
perating Depreciation and and Minority .
Quarter .’(,‘,;.) ) .,. . . ‘ .z Revenues Amortization) Interest Net Income
Han v I S Y ST P - . (Millions) T
2006 T i o _ o
] $1,132 $921 L aE 15542000 patn $7
Md... P 2 R N < N S
Id .o L. Y A 2 o ge e oo ags BT g
dth ..o T oo 1,209 L L0190 n 36,40, T 14
x 2 ry 34685 3838 v« $1964. 1. o 85I
2005 . .
Ist. ..o vvnnnn, e N $1,101 888 $ 4 $7
20d .. P 1,180 941 83 33
3rd .. e e 1,096 889 .50 10
dth ... e e _ 1,064 865 3R _ &
Basic Diluted
Earnings Earnings
per Share of per Share of
Quarter . Common Stock  Common Stock
2006
P $0.15 $0.14
7. 1 T [N 0.56 053
¢ 0.13 0.12
T £ O 0.31 0.30
FUll YA © oottt ettt e e e e et e e 1.15 1.10
2005
3 S $0.17 $0.16
200 L e e S 075 071
. J (o 0.25 0.23
L 0.19 0.18
Full Year ...... ...t i e 1.35 1.29

Note: The sum of the quarters may not equal the total of the respective year’s earnings per share on either a
basic or diluted basis due to changes in the weighted average shares outstanding throughout the year.

(’[;he preceding notes are an integral part of the foregoing financial statements.)
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TENNECO:INC: AND CONSOLIDATED 'SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE II — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

.

SCHEDULE 11

YRR

Column D Column E

Column A Column B Column C
- L Additions
. . , _- ., Balance Charged  Charged
’ oL at to to Balance
- - - : -" Beginning Costsand  Other at End -
Description of Year Expenses Accounts Deductions of Year
(Millions) v
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts and Notes
Deducted from Assets to Which it, Applies: o _ : T
Year Ended December 31,2006 ... ............. : $L9 $4 $1 ) $5 319
Year Ended December 31,2005 1.0 ......... .. §22 $2 51 $6 $19
Year Ended Decémber 31,2004 .. 1............ $23 $6 $— $7 $22
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS "AND PROCEDURES. LT . - e
Evaluation of Disclosuré Controls and Procedures ' '

An evaluation was carried out under the supervision and with the participation of our ‘management, '
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a- lS(e) and Rule 15d- 15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934) as of the end of the year covered by this repon As described below under Managcrnent s Report on
Internal Control Over Financial chortmg, we have identified a materlal weakness in our 1ntemal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15(f) and 15d- 15(f’)) Our Chlef Executwc Officer
and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that as a result of this matenal weakness in accoummg for income
taxes, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10 K, our dlSClOSul‘C controls and
procedures were not effective. See Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplemenlary Data” for management’s
report on internal control over financial reporting and the report of our independent registered public
accounting firm thereon, ' o ’ o '

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial- Reporting

Except as described in managements report on internal contre! over financial reporting.under Item 8,
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”, there have been no changes in our ‘internal control over
financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2006 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect our intérnal control over financial reporting. .

v B -t "
- 1. » . A

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.

None.

131




HENE IS T R T R L IR -9 14 U | | BRI A A DU DT e Y
cea
ot

- .
e AT T

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.

T
A E

The sections entitled “Election of Directors™ and “Corporate Governance” in our definitive Proxy
Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held May.8,'2007 are incorporated herein by~ ;| - -
reference. In addition, Item 4.1 of this Annual Report on Form 10 K, whlch appears at the end .of Part I lS
mcorporated herein by reference. oot

A copy of our Code of Ethlcal Conduct for Fmancnal Managers whlch applaes to our Chlef Executlve
Officer, Chtef Fmanc1al Ofﬁcer Controller and other key ﬁnancxal managers is ﬁled as Exhlblt 14 to this .
Form 10-K.' We have posted a copy ‘of the Codé of Ethlcal Conduct for Financial Managers on our Internet
websue at wwwrerrneco com: We wxll make a‘copy of thls code avallable to any person w1thout charge upon
written request to Tenneco Inc 500 North Fleld Dnve Lake Forest Illmons 60045 'Attn: General Counsel
We mtend o satlsfy the dlsclosure requ1remem under ltem 5.05 of Form 8 K and apphcable NYSE rules
regardlng amendments to or walvers of our Code of Ethlcal Conduct by postmg thrs mformatmn on our
Internét websxte at www tenneco com L e K '

tlate ] ". v vt 7":"3 LA ITLLI fl Loy ]..--,' N ..')' S . .Ju( v, N LT o, i)
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ITEM 11" EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION " :

{‘T“l."('llt

The section entitled “Executive Compensation” in our definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meetmg
of Stockholders to be held May 8, 2007 is incorporated herein: bysreferenice:. > ' i3 cee il

[TEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSH[P OF CERTA]N BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

"""" HEFRI PR DTS ' NI o A LA

~ The section entltled “Ownershlp of Common Stock” in. our deﬁmnve Proxy Statement for the Annual -
Meeting of Stockholders to be held May 8, 2007 is incorporated herein by reference. ‘

PP R R s L 1 o, Sy w1 w
e TG g v

i Tew o= A

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans -

The following table shows, as of December 31, 2006, information regarding outstanding awards available

under our compensation plans (including individual compensation arrangements) under which our equity
securities may be delivered:

. ()
Number of (b) Number of
securities to be Weighted- securities
issued upon average exercise available for
exercise of price of future
outstanding outstanding issuance
options, options, (excluding
warrants and warrants and . shares in
Plan category rights(1) rights _ column (a))(1)
Equity compensation plans-approved by security holders: '
Stock Ownership Plan(2). .. ........................ - 1,154,485 $ 8.00 —
2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan (as amended)(3)(4). . . . . .. 1,658,553 $11.86 —
2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan(S) ................... 335 $24.14 2,571,680
'Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders:
Supplemental Stock Ownership Plan(6) e 260,800 $ 8.56 —

(1) Reflects the number of shares of the Company’s common stock. Does not include 262,609 shares that may
be issued in settlement of common stock equivalent units that were credited to outside directors as pay-
ment for their retainer fee. In general, these units are settled in cash. At the option of the Company, how-
ever, the units may be settled in shares of the Company’s common stock.

(2) This plan terminated as to new awards on December 31, 2001 (except awards pursuant to commitments
outstanding at that date).
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(3) This plan terminated as to new awards upon adoption.of our 2006 Long-term Incentive Plan (except
awards pursuant to commitments outstanding on that date).

(4) Does not include 511,057 shares subjéct-to-outstafiding restricted ‘Stock (vest over tinie) as of Decebér 31,
2006 that were issued at a-weighted-average-issue, price-of-$14.85 per. share. -

(5) Under thls plan as of December 31 2006, a maxnmum of 726, 874 shares remamed avmlable for delivery
under full value awards e, bonus stock, stock” equwalent units, pcrformance umts restncted‘stock ‘and

O [P SR FY A B 'f‘“\lrt' R Y T b
febtricted stock unifs). - LR * i WLl :

(6) The plan described in the table above as not having been approved by security holders is the Tenneco Inc.
Supplemental Stock Ownershlp Plah: This p]an’ whiéh terminated*on December 31, 2001 as to new awards
_(except awards pursuant to commitments outstanding at that date), originally covered the delivery of up to
#-~1.5 million shares of common stock held in the Company’s treasury. This plan was and continues to be
administered by the. CompensatloanonnnatmglGovemanca Committee:- The' Company’s directors, officers .
*." and-other employees were eligible to receive ‘awards under-this plan? although ‘awards undér:the plan were
limited to the Company’s non-executive employees. Awards under the plan could take the form of non-
statutory stock options; stock appreciation rights; restricted stock.ystock.equivalent- units or performance
units. All awards made under this plan were dlscretlonary The committee determined whlch ellglble per-

sons received awards and determined all terms dnd’ condmons (iricluding form, amount and’ tlmmg) ‘of each
award. by st b e LA ge 1y Lt

DIV R R T | ;1 it R R A T o

ITEM 13. CERTAIN'RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR -+ 1
INDEPENDENCE.

The subsections entitled “The Board of Directors and its Committees — General” and “Transactions with
Related Persons” under the section entitled “Corporate Governance” in our definitive Proxy Statement for the
annual meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 8, 2007 are incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES.

The sections entitled “Ratify Appointment of Independent Public Accountants — Audit, Audit-Related,
Tax and Other Fees” and “Ratify Appointment of Independent Public Accountants — Pre-Approval Policy™ in
our definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held May &, 2007 are
incorporated herein by reference. °
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: i "PARTIV 2

~

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES. . . . - ..
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS INCLUDED IN ITEM8 ~ -~ '~

See “Index to Financial Statements of Tenneco Inc. and Conisolidated Sub51d1ar1es “set forth in ltem 8,
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for a list of finandial statements filed as part of thls Report

" INDEXTO SCHED_ULE INCLUDED IN ITEM 8.

LI LA - e

Schedule of Tenneco Inc. and Consolidated Sub51d1anes — Schedule n— Valuatmn and .
qualifying accounts — three years ended December 31,2006......7. ... . e FEEERE Laee. 130
SCHEDULES OMITTED AS NOT REQU[RED OR INAPPLICABLE
Schedule I— Condensed f'mancw.l 1nformat10n of reglstrant . ‘ ‘, , " . .
Schedule I — Real estate and accumulated depreciation -
Schedule 1V — Mortgage loans on real estate
Schedule V — Supplemental information concerning property — casualty insurance-operations n

A

Ri T f i

“
Fa
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EXHIBITS ' . DANCS

The followmg exhibits are filed with this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ¢ ended ..
Decemberg;l 2006, .or’ mcorporated herem by reference (exhlblts desrgnated by an astensk are ﬁled wrth the '
report; all other exhibits are 1ncorporated by reference) ¢

fhe U0 LT T i

LA iy e 'l'.‘-":

T SPTR SL T P BT AT { ECTRI B D/t A L T 'fr TP VR S B 5
7 L o INDEX TO EXHIBITS - 42~ vr e d S

+"Exhibit- N wyerst e e T Lt aab s s e Y e el S PIATS ot I .
1Ntimber I I " doary . Description” - ;<. - 1 Fe DT

2 — None T T
3 1(a) Z Restated Cemﬁcate of Incorporatton of the reglstrant ‘dhted December 11 1996 (mcorporated herein
by reference from Exhibit 3.1(a) of the registranit’s Annual Report on Forrn 10 K for the year ended

Lt December'31 1997, FlleNo 112387) L A TR ‘ Y

Y l(b)ﬁ’“’ Cemﬁcate of Amendment dated December 11 1996 (1ncorporated herem by reference from
) Exhibit 3.1(c) of the registrant’s Annua] Report on 'Form' 10-K ‘for the year ended December 31
c - 1997, File No!-1-12387). - "~ =™ AR KN L m.r.n,' Wil o
) 3 1(c) — Certificate of Ownershlp and Merger dated July 8, 1997 (mcorporated ‘heréin by reference from
toir - £ Exhibit3:1(d) of the regrstrant § Annual Report on Form 10 Kfor the yeat ended December 31, 1997,
o+ File No.t1-12387). ECERE P A N 'J--“f-*t'xw;
3 1(d) — Certificate of Designation of Series B Junior Partrcrpatmg Preferred Stock dated’ September 9, 1998
- =. +« (incorporated hefein by ‘reference’ from- Exhibit 3.1(d) of the! ‘registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended"September-30, 1998; File'No. 1-12387).

3 l(e) == Certificate'of Elimination-of the Series' A-Participating Jonior Preferred Stock of the registrant dated
o September 11, 1998 (incorporateéd: herein’ by reférence from ‘Exhibit-:371(e): of the registrant’s
' Quarterly Report on-Form' 10-Q for the quartér ended: Séptember’ 30, 1998, Filé No. 1-12387).

e 3 l(ﬂ & Certificate 'of" Amendment to’ Restated" Certificate” of Incorporation' of *the’- reglstrant dated
* %' November+5:~1999: (mcorporated herein: by référénce -from Exhibit -3.1(f)’ of 'the registrant’s

R rQuarterly Réport on Form 10-Q fof the Guarter'ended’ ‘Septeinber 30, 1999, Filé‘No. 1-12387).
3. 1(g)— Certificate of Amendment to Restated Certificate -of Incorporatron of the reglstrant dated
Loe Wis. e Novemberi5:°1999. (mcorporated herein=-by' ‘reference from 'Exhibit 3.1(g)’ of 'the registrant’s

v -Quarterly- Report on Form 10-Q for- the’ quaner ended SeptemberGO 1999' ‘File- No 1-12387).

BN l(h) L Certificite of Ownershrp and Merfger rnergrng Tenneco Automotlve Merger Sub Inc with and into
the registrant, dated November 5, 1999 (mcorporated herein by referénce from Exhlblt 3.1(h) of the
e regrstrant s 'Quaiterly Report on- Form~ 10-Q for- the quarter ended September 30 *1999, File

_;.4 an NO 1 12387) U o WYL ) _i f Hoe . LV AT [
3. 1(1) — Certlficate of “Arhendment to Restated Ceérificate of Incorporatron of the regtstrant dated May 9,

AR “2000 (isicorporated -herein by reference from Exhibit 3.1(i) of the registrant’ § Quarterly Report'on

AT '*‘ * Form 10-Q fortheé quiarter‘ended March- 31 2000 Frle No: I+ 12387) o

-3 1(;) — Certificate of Ownership and Merger mergmg “Tenneco Inc. wnh ‘and 1nto ‘the reglstrant dated
& eI iQctober 27;12005° (mcorporated herein by reference’ from Exhibit 99.1 of -the reg1strant s Current

SRR Report on- Form’ S—K dated October 28,-2005; File No. 1-12387), * " v SRR

ik 32 By laws of ‘the reglstrant as amended Ju!yr 10, 2006 (mcorporated herem by reference from
Exhlblt 99.1 of the reglstrant s Current Report on Form 8-K dated July 10, 2006 File No. 1-12387).

3 3 v Certrﬁcate of Incorporalron of Tenneco Global Holdrngs Inc (“G]oba]") as Iamended (mcorporated
. _1 - 'herem by reference to E)gh]brt 3 3 ‘0 the regrstram’ 'Reglstratlon Statement on Form S-4, Reg.
"""“No33393757) S P ",.-.--
.34 — By-laws of Global (incorporated herein by, reference to Exhlbtt 3 4 to the reglstrant 5 Regrstratlon
) "”";' ' .’ Statement on Form S-4 Reg No 333 93757) ’ _ ' Ve
I g
S35 — Cemﬁcate of Incorporatlon of TMC Texas Inc (‘TMC”) (mcorporated herern by, reference 1o

Exhibit 3.5 to the registrant’s Reglstranon Statement on Form S-4, Reg. No 333-93757)
.36 :, —.-By-laws,of TMC, (incorporated herein by reference, to.Exhibit 3.6.to. the:reglstrant s Registration

g i ,Staternent on. Form §-4, Reg. No, 333- 93’757) e o FL Gl er s et A
O T O LI BRI B RIS 5 P A T IS f-i~' RS NTII PR [
'."‘f‘ B B I LR L e N
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Exhibit
Number

Descrlptlon

|
\

37 = Amended and Restated Certtﬁcate of lncorporatlon .of Tenneco Internanonal Holdmg Corp.

(“TIHC”) (incorporated heréin by réference to, Exhibit ‘3.7 to the reglstrants Reglstratton
Statement on Form §-4, Reg. No. 333-93757). -

3.8 — Amended and Restated By-laws of TIHC (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.8 to the

registrant’s Registration Statement on Form $-4; Reg. No. 333-93757).

39 — Certificate of Incorporation of Clevite Industries Inc. (*Clevite”), as amended (incorporated herein

by reference to Exhibit 3.9 to. the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4, Reg.
No. 333-93757).

3.10 . — By-laws of Clevite (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.10 to the registrant’s Registration

Statement on Form 5-4, Reg No. 333- 93757).

311 — Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatlon of the Pul]man Company (“Pullman™)

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.11 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on
, Form $-4, Reg. No. 333—93757)

3.12 —_ By -laws of Pullman (1ncorporated herein by reference to E}(hlblt 3.12 to the reglstrant s Registration

- Statement on Form S-4, Reg. No. 333-93757).

[ [

313 . — Cert1ﬁcate of Ineorporatlon of Tenneco Automotive 0peratmg Company Inc.- (“Operatmg”)

'
oy -

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.13 to the registrant’s Reglstratron Statement on
. Form S-4, Reg. No. 333-93757). L o

3.14. — By laws of Operatmg (mcorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.14 to the reg1strants

Registration Statement-on Form S-4, Reg..No. 333-93757). Co .

4.1(@  —.Rights Agreement dated as of September 8, 1998, by and between the registrant and First Chicago

oy .

Trust Company. of New York, as Rights Agent (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 4.1 of

.the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated September.24, 1998, File No. 1-12387).

4.1(by - —. Amendment No. 1 to Rights Agreement, dated March 14, 2000, by and between the registrant and
g g g

- First Chicago Trust Company of New York, as Rights Agent.(incorporated herein by reference from
Exhibit 4.4(b) of the registrant’s Annual Report-on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 1999,
File No 1- 12387) . r

R
4.1(c) - - — Amendment No 2 to Rights Agreernent dated February 5 2001 by and between the regrstrant and

P ST S

First Union National Bank, as Rights Agent (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 4.4(b) of

, the regrstrant s Post-Effective Amendment No. 3, dated February 26, 2001 to, its Regrstratron

Statement on Form 8- A dated September 17, 1998).

4.1(d) P Amendment No. 3.0 Rights Agreement, dated November 13 2006, by and between the registrant and

Wells Fargo Bank, N A, as Rights Agent (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 99.2 of the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 13, 2006, File No. 1-12387. |

4.2(a) ., — Indenture, dated as of November 1, 1996 between the registrant and The Chase Manhattan Bank, as

430, =7

Trustee (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 4.1 of the registrant’s Registration Statement
,on Form 5-4, Reglstratron No. 333 14003).

First Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 11, 1996 to Indenture dated as of November 1, .
1996 between the registrant and The Chase Manhattan Bank, as Trustee (incorporated herein by

. reference from Exhibit 4.3(b) of the registrant’s Annual Report on Fonn 10-K for the year ended
, December 31 1996 Flle No. 1- 12387)

42y —

Thtrd Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 11, 1996 to Indenture dated as of November 1,
1996 between the registrant and The Chase Manhattan Bank, as Trustee (incorporated herein by
“referencé from Exhibit 4.3(d) of the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1996, Flle No. 1- 12387)

'4:2'(d) "' Fourth Supp]emental Indenture dated as of December 11,1996 to Indenture dated as of November 1,

1y

Ea)

1996 between the registrant and The Chase Manhaitan Bank, as Trustee (incorporated herein by
reference from Exhibit 4.3(e) of the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10- K for the year ended
December 31; 1996, File No. 1-12387). *

472(e) - - Eleventh Supplémental Indenture, dated October 21; 1999, to Indenture dated November 1, 1996

between The Chase Manhattan Bank, as Trustee, and the registrant (incorporated herein by reference

- from Exhibit 4.2(1) of the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended

September 30, 1999, File No. 1-12387).
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Exhibit

Number ’ el Description

*43 — Specimen stock certificate for Tenneco Inc. common stock. - Cor .

4, 4(a) — Indenture dated October 14, 1999 by and between the fegistrant and The Bank of New .York, as
trustee (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 4.4(a) of the regnstrant s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the ‘quarter ended’ September 30, 1999 File No. 1-12387). -

4.4(b) — Supplemental Indenture dated November 4, 1999 among Tenneco Automotive Operating Company
* * Inc:: Tenneco International Holding Corp., Tenneco Global Holdings Inc., the Pullman Cofmpany,
C]evnte Industries lnc and TMC Texas Inc. in’favor of The Bank! of Neéw "York, as trustee
(incorporated herein by referénce” from Exhibit 44(b) of the reglstrant ' Quarterly Report on

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1999, File No. 1-12387).) ~ '

4.4(c)— Subsndtary 'Guarantee dated as of October 14, 1999 from ‘Ténneco Automotive Operatmg Company
: © * Ine., Tentieco International Holdmg Coftp., Tenneco Global Holdings Inc., the Pullman Company,

o Clevrte Industries Inc.and “TMC Texas'Inc. in favor of The Bank' of New York, as trustee

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 44(c) to the regtstrant s Reglstratton Statement on
Form S-4, Reg. No. 333-93757). 0.

4 S(a) —a Amended and Restated Credit: Agreement dated as of' December 12, 2003, among the registrant, the
! several banks and ‘other financial institutions or entities from time to'time parties thereto, Bank of
" America, N.A. and Citicorp North America, Inc;, as co:documentation agents, Deutsche Bank
Securities Inc., as syndication agent, and IP Morgan Chase Bank, as administrative agent
" (incorporated herein... by .reference to' Exhibit .4.5(2) to the registrant’s, Annual Report on

. Form 10-K for the'year ended.December 31, 2003, File No. 1-12387). Sy

4 5(b) — Amended and Restated Guarantee And Collateral Agreement dated as'of November 4, 1999, by

. Tenneco Inc. and the subsidiary guarantors named therein, in-favor of JPMorgan Chase Bank, as

* + . Administrative Agent (incorporated herein by. reference from Exhibit 4.5(f) to the registrant’s
Quarterly .Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended-June 30, 2003, File No.-1-12387).

"4, 5(¢) — First- Amendment, dated as of- Apnl 30, 2004, to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated
as of December 12, 2003, among the registrant, JP Morgan Chase Bank'as administrative agent and
' the .various lenders party thereto" (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 4.5(c) to. the
. registrant’s Quarterly Report-on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004, File
No. 1-12387). .

4, S(d) — Second Amendment, dated November 19 2004, to the’ Amended and Restated Cl‘cdll Agreement

* dated as of December.12, 2003, among the registrant, JP Morgan Chase Bank 'as administrative agent

C and the various lenders party thereto (incorporated herein'by. reference from>Exhibit 99.2 of the
registrant’s Current Report on Form.8-K dated November 19, 2004, File No. 1-12387).

4, 5(e) — Third Amendment, dated February 17, 2005, to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated
=+ as of December 12, 2003 among the registrant, JP Morfgan Chase Bank as administrative agent and
- the various lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the reglstrant s Current

Report on-Form 8-K- dated February-17,-2005, File No. -1-12387).

4. 5(f) — New Lender Supplement, dated as of March 31, 2005, by and among Wachovia Bank, National
: . Association, the registrant and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.; New Lender Supplement,-dated as of
. -+ v March 31, 2005, by and among Wells Fargo Foothill, LLC:; the registrant and- JPMorgan Chase Bank,

« ' [ . N.A.; New Lender Supplement, dated as of March 31, 2005, by-and among Charter One Bank, NA,

. the registrant and JPMorgan Chase Bénk, N.A. (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 4.5(f)

.. to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quaner ended March 31, 2005, Flle

~ No. 1-12387). , ' . -

4.5(g) — New Lender Supplement dated as of Apnl 29, 2005 by and among The Bank of Nova Scotia, the
registrant and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (incorporated herein by reference, from Exhibit 4.5(g) to
the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. for the quarter ended March 31, 2005, File
' No. 1-12387). ~ s e

4.5(h) — Fourth Amendment, dated October 7, 2005, to the Amended and Restated Credtt Agreement dated as
,.of December 12, 2003, among the registrant, JP Morgan Chase Bank as administrative agent and the

' o vanous lenders party thereto (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 4.5(h) to the registrant’s

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 20()5 File No. 1-12387).
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Exhibit ln
Number pe et Description o

4.5(1) — First Amendment, dated October 7, 2005, to the Amended and Restated Guarantee and Collateral
; Agreement dated as of November 4, 1999, by the registrant and the subsidiary guarantors named
- theréin, in favor of JPMorgan Chase Bank, -as. Administrative Agent (incorporated herein by
reference from Exhibit 4.5(1) .fo. the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter

ended September 30, 2005, F11e No 1-12387). ‘ . "

4 6(a) —"Indenture, dated as. of, June 19 2003 among, the reglstrant the. subsrdlary guarantors named therein
_— . " and Wachovia Bank Nattonal Assoc1at10n (mcorporated ‘herein by reference from Exhibit 4.6(a) to
mey  the registrant’s Quarteriy Report on ‘Form 10- Q for the, quarter ended June 30, 2003, File

No. 1- 12387).. + . ., . - o

» A4.6(b) — Collateral Agreement dated as, of June. 19, 2003,.by the reglstrant and the subsrdlary guarantors
named therein in favor of Wachovia Bank National Assocratlon (incorporated herein by reference
. from Exhibit 4. 6(b) to the registrant’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
.. 2003, File No: I- 12387) ‘ N .

46(c) — Regtstratlon Rights Agreement, dated as of June 19 2003 among the reglstrant the subsidiary
: ; guarantors named, therein, and the initial purchasers named.therein, for whom JPMorgan Securities
. Inc acted as representattve (1ncorporated herein by reference from Exhtb1t 4.6(c) to the registrant’s
B Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2003 File No. 1- 12387)

4 6(d)-—— Supplemental JIndenture, dated as of December ‘12, 2003, among the 'registrant, the subsidiary
v 7 ‘-guarantors named therein and Wachovia Bank, :National . Association (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 4.6(d) to the: registrantis . Annual. Report:on.Form 10-K for. the year ended

~. .  December .31, 2003, File No. 1;12387}, , N S T B T

4 o(e) — Registration nghts Agreemient, dated as of December 12, 2003 among the registrant, the subsrdlary
- - guarantors named therein, and the initial‘purchasers named: therein, for-whom. Banc of America
Secuntres LLC acted as representative agent (mcorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4. 5(a) to

.

it
T

......

TNo/ L2387, L, e RIS o

i 4 6(f) — Second Supplemental Indenture; dated as of October 28 2005 among the reglstrant the subsidiary
' guarantors . nameéd .therein,and Wachovia Bank, National "Association (incorporated herein by
reference from Exhibit 4. 6(t‘) to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form IO-Q for the quaner

- ended September 30, 2005; File No. 1-12387). .. |, ..

. 4.7 » — Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of June. 19,2003, among JPMorgan Chase Bank asCredrt Agent,
: - Wachovia Bank; -National Association; : as ‘Trustee and Collateral Agent;i and the registrant
**(incorpordted ‘hereisi. by reference” from Exhibit 4.7. to. the” registrant’s .Quarterly Report on

Form 10-Q for the quarter- ended June 30, 2003, Flle No. .1-12387). . "y

.. 4.8(a) — Indenture, dated a$ of November'19; 2004, among ‘the registrant, the subsidiary guarantors named

* therein ‘and The Bank of New York Trust Company. (incorporated herein.by reference from
Exhibit 99.1 of the regtstrant s Current Report'on Form 18-K- dated November. 19, 2004 File
. No.: 1-12387)..,, DTS BN v

3 4 S(b) — Supplemental Indenture ddted as of- March 28 2005 among the regtstrant the guarantors party
‘ :thereto and the Bank of New York Trust Company,-N:A., as trustee (incorporated herein by reference
+ . *from Exhibit 4.3 to the-registrant’s Reglstratlon Statement on Form 5-4, Reg No. 333-123752).

| -'4.3(0) — Reglstratlon Rtghts Agreement dated as of November 19, 2004, among the registrant, the guarantors
. - party thereto ‘and thé initial’ purchasers party " thereto- {incorporated herein by reference from
Exhibit 4.2 to the registrant’s Regtstrauon Statement on Form S-4, Reg No. 333:123752).

: 4 8(d) — Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 27: 2005, among the registrant, the guarantors
' ! party théreto and the Bank of New *York Trust Company, N.A, as trustee (incorporated herein by
reference from Exhibit 4.8(d) o the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form IO-Q for the quarter ended

Septernher 30, 2005, File No. 1- 12387)

‘g " None ', R ST
10 1,

, 1

e o l’":"t"-.. [ "!"‘:

S . reglstrant and Newport News Shtpbutldtng Inc (1ncorporated herem by reference from Exhtbtt 2 of
the registrant’s Form’ 10 File NG, 1-12387).
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Exhibit oy
Number Wl Description i

+10.2 . *— Amendment No.1to Dtstnbutton Agreement, dated as of Decémber 11, 1996, by and among El-Paso

: ' Tennessee Pipeline.Co., the registrant, and Newport News Shtpbmldmg Inc. (incorporated herein by
reference from Exhtblt 10.2 of the regtstrant s Annual. Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December. 31, 1996, File No. 1-12387).. o . .o .

. 103 — Debt and-Cash Allocation Agreement, dated December: 11 1996 by and among El Paso Tennessee
Pipeline Co. , the registrant, and Newport News-Ship- bu:ldmg Inc. (incorporated herein by reference
from Exhibit 10.3 of the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
1996, File No. 1- 12387) . .

'_'10:4: — Beneﬁts Agreement dated December 11, 1996, by and among El Paso Tennessee Ptpelme Co ‘the
registrant, and Newport News Shtpbulldmg Inc. (incorporated herem by reference from Exhibit 10 4
A of the registrant’s Annual Report on Form IO—K for the year ended December 31, 1996, \Flle
. S TR o, oL . .
N0112387) o b

‘.16,5‘ — Insurance Agreement dated December 11 1996 by and among El Paso Tennessee Pxpelme Co., the

registrant, and Newport News Shtpbu1ldmg Inc. (mcorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10 5.

, of the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the year, ended December 31, 1996 File
"No. [-12387). "' T

. s o P t\, \ , 4
106 — Tax Sharmg Agreement dated December 11 1996 by and among El Paso Tennessee Pipeline Co.,
Newport News Shipbuilding Inc., the registrant, and El Paso Natural Gas Company {(incorporated
‘hergin by reference from Exhibit 10 6 of the reglstrant ] Annua! Report on Forrn 10 K for the year

© ' ' ended December 31,1996, File' No. 1- 12387) e

. 107 — First Amendment to Tax Sharing Agreement dated as of December 11 1996 among El Paso
. ' Tennessee Plpelme ‘Co., "the - registrant, {El Paso’ Natural Gas Company and’ Newport News
Shipbuilding Inc. (mcorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.7 of the régistrant’s Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the year éndéd Deécember 31, 1996, File No. 1- 12387)

'+'1(').8_ — Valié Added "TAVA’ lncentwe Compensatton Plan, as in effect for penods through December 31,
' 2005 (incorporated herein by refetence from Exhibit'10.8 of the reglstrant s Quanerly Report on
Form 10- Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003, File No. 1- 12387)

+10.9" - Change of Control Severance Beneﬁts Plan for Key Exécutives (mcorporated herein by reference
: " frorn Exhibit 10.13 of “the Tegistrant’s Quarterly Report on Form IO-Q for the quarter ended
September 30,-1999, Ftle No. 1-12387). - e v s

L |

“$10.10 — Stock Ownershlp Plan’ (mcorporatecl herem by referencé from Exhtblt 10 lO of the registrant’s
Reglstratton Statement on Form S-4, Reg. No. 333- 93757) T
'+10.1 1 — Key Executive Pensron Plan (1ncorporated herem by reference from Exhibit 10 110 the regtstrant 3

Quarterly Report’ on ‘'Form 10 Q for the'quarter ended June 30 2000, Ftle No. 1-12387).

‘.-t-‘lf(‘).rl‘2 — Deferred Compensatton Ptan (mcorporated heretn by reference from Exhtblt 10. 12 to the regtstrant G

Quarterly Report on Form 10 Q for the quarter ended June 30 200{) Ftle No I- 12387)

+10. 13 = Supplemental Executlve Retirement Plan (mcorporated herem by reference from Exhrbtt 10.13 to the
registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000 Flle No. 1-12387).

.10.14 — Human Resources Agreement, by and between the registrant and Tenneco Packagtng Inc; dated
o, « November 4, 1999 (mcorporated herem by. referenee to Exhibit 99.1 to the registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8- K dated November 4, 1999, File No - 12387) '

-

. 10.15 | -~ Tax Sharing Agreement by and between.the registrant and Tenneco Packagmg Inc.- dated
Co . November 3, 1999, (mcorporated herein by. reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the registrant’s Current
Report on Form- 8-K dated November 4, 1999, File No. 1- 12387). R
10.16, —,Amended and Restated Transition Services Agreement by and between the regtstrant and Tenneco

Packagmg Inc. dated as of November 4, 1999 (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.21 of
_the registrant’s Quarterly- Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended . September 30, 1999, File
No. 1- -12387).

ot e, i

£ . . .
J017 0 — Assumpuon Agreement among Tenneco,,,Automotwe Operanng Companyr Inc Tenneco ,

‘International Holding Corp Tenneco Global Holdings Inc., The, Pullman Company, Clevite
Industries Inc., TMC Texas Inc., Salomon Smith Barney Inc and the other Initial Purchasers
listed in the Purchase Agreement dated as of November 4, 1999 (incorporated herein by reference
from Exhibit 10.24 of the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form $-4, Reg. No. 333-93757).
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Exhibit
Number

Description

+10.18 - = Amendment No. 1 to Change in Control Severance Benefits Plan for Key Executives (incorporated

herein by reference from.Exhibit*10.23 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2000; File No. 1-12387). .

+10.19 — Letter Agreement dated July 27, 2000 between the regn;trant ‘and Mark P. Frissora (incorporated

+10.20
+10.21

+l0.22

+10.23

+10.24 '
+10.25

+10.26 ,

+10.27

+10.28

+10.29

+10330

+10.31

+10.32
+10.33

+10.34

herein by reference from Exhibit: 10.24 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30 2000 Ftle No. 1-12387). ..=.v

Omitted. N '

Letter Agreement dated July 27, 2000 between the regtstrant and Ttmothy R. Donovan (incorporated
hérein by reference from Exhibit 10.28 to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year

“ended December 31, 2000, File No. 1-12387):

Form of Indemmty Agreement entered into between the registrant and the following directors of the
registrant: Paul Stecko, M. Kathryn Eickhoff and Dennis Severance (incorporated herein by
reference from Exhibif 10.29 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 2000, File No. 1-12387).

Mark P. Frissora Special Appendlx under Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (incorporated

herein by reference from Exhibit 10.30 to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2000, Filé No: 1-12387). :

. Letter Agreement dated as of June 1, 2001 between the reglstrant and Hari Nair {incorporated herein

by reference from Exhibit 10.28 to the registrant’s Annual Réport on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2001. File No. 1-12387).

2002 Long-Term Iricentive Plan (As Amended and Restated Effective March 11, 2003) (incorporated

) ,herem by reference from Exhibit $0.26 to the reg1strant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the

~ 2002, File No. 1-12387).

quarter ended June 30, 2003. File No. 1-12387).

- Amendment No. 1 to Deferred Compensauon Plan (mcorporatecl herein by reference from
Exhibit '10.27 to the reglstrant s Asdnual Report on Form .10-K_for the year ended December 31,

Supplemental Stock Ownershlp Plan (mcorporated herem by reference from Exhibit 10.28 to the
registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the .year ended December 31, 2002, File No. 1-12387).

Form of Stock Equivalent Unit Award Agreement under the 2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as

amended (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 99.1 of the registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K dated January 13, 2005, File No. 1-12387). ° '

Form of Stock Option Agreement for employees under the 2002 Long Term TIncentive Plan, as

. . amended (provtdtng for a ten year option term) (incorporated herem by reference from Exhibit 99.2

of the reglstrant 5 Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 13, 2005, File No. 1-12387).

Form of Stock Optlon Agreement for non-employee directors under the 2002 Long-Term Incentive
Plan, as amended (prowdmg for a ten year option term) (mcorporated herein by reference from
Exhibit’ 99.3 of the regtstrants Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 13, 2005, File
No. 1-12387).

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for employees under the 2002 Long-Term Inceritive
Plan, as amended (three yéar cliff vesting) (incorporated herein by reférence from Exhibit 99.4 of the

‘registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 13, 2005, File No. 1-12387).

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agréement for non-employee directors under the 2002 Long-Term

‘Incentive Plan, as ameénded (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 99.5 of the registrant’s

Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 13, 2005, File No. 1-12387).

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for employees under the 2002 Long-Term Incentive
Plan, as amended (vesting 1/3 annually) (incorporated hérein by reference from Exhibit 99.1 of the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 17, 2005, File No. 1-12387).

Form of Stock Option Agreement for employees under the 2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as
amended' (provndmg for a seven year option term) (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 99.2
of the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 17, 2005, File No. 1-12387).

A f
PR
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Exhibit
Number

+10.35

+10.36

*+10.37
*+10.38
.+10.39.

+10.40

+10.41 -

#1042

+10.43

+10.44
+10.45

+10.46

+10.47

+10.48

+1049

+10.50

+10.51

+10.52

+10.53

Description o

— Form of Stock Option Agreement for non—emp]oyee directors under the 2002 Long-Term Incentive
++ : Plan, as amended (providing for a seven year option term) (incorporated herein by reference from

Exhibit 99.3 of the reglstrant s Current Report on Form. 8-K dated January- 17, 2005, File
No. 1-12387). - . Coe

— Form of Performance -Share . Agreement for non-employee dlrectors under the 2002 Long—Term

Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.37 to the registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December. 31, 2004, file-No. 1-12387).

—— Summary of 2007 Outside Directors’ Compensation. - . S o
— Summary of 2007 Named Executive Officer Compensation. L e - .

<~ Amendment No. 1 to the Key Executive Pension-Plan- (incorporated -herein by reference from
"~ Exhibit 10.39 to the registrant’s- Quarterly Repon on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,

2005, File No. '1-12387). EECE ot

— Amendment No. 1 to the Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (incorporated herein by reférence

from Exhibit 10.40 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,

. 2005, File No. 1-12387).

Second Amendment to the Key Execunve Pension Plan (mcorporated herein by reference from
" Exhibit 10.41 to the registrant’s Quartérly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2005,
File No. 1-12387).

Amendment No, 2 to the Deferred Compensation Plan (mcorporated herein by, reference from
Exhibit 10.42 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended-June 30, 2005,
File No. 1-12387).

Supplernental Retirement Plan (mcorporated herem by reference from Exhrblt 10.43 "to the
registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10 Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2005, File No. 1- 12387)

Mark P. Frissora Special Appendix under Supplemental Retirement Plan (incorporated herein by
reference from Exhibit 10.44 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2003, File No. 1-12387).

—{"Supplemental Pension Plan for Management (mcorporated herem by reference from Exhrblt 10.45to
the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2005, Fnle
No. 1-12387). vl -

— Incentive Deferral Plan (incorporated herem by reference from Exhibit 10.46 to the reglstrant 5

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the guarter ended June 30, 2005, File No. 1: 12337).

— Amended and Restated Value Added (“TAVA™) lncentrve Compensatlon Plan, effectlve January 1,

2006 (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.47 to the regrstrant ] Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year énded December 31, 2005, file No. 1- 12387) ' "

— Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for non-employee directors under the 2002 Long-Term

Incentive Plan, as amended (prowdmg for,one year cliff vesting) (incorporated herein by reference
from Exhibit 10.48 to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,

- 2005 file No. 1- 12387) _
—_ Form of Stock Equwalent Umt Award Agreement as amended under the 2002 Long-Term lncentrve

Plan, as amended (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.49 to the regrstrant $ Quarterly
" Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2006, File No. 1-12387). ©° °

— Summary of Amendments to Deferred Compensatlon Plan and Incentive Deferral Plan (incorporated

herein by reference from Exhibit 10.50 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Forrn 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2006, File No. 1-12387).

— Tenneco Inc. 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit. 99 1l to the

registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated May 9, 2006). -

— Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for non-employee directors under the Tenneco Inc. 2006

Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 10 the regntrant s Current
Report on Form 8-K, dated May 9, 2006).

—-— Form of Stock Option Agreement for employees under the Tenneco Inc. 2006 Long-Term Incentive

Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated
May 9, 2006).

141




Exhibit

Number G Description s
+10.54 — Form of Restricted Stock- Award Agreement for employees under the Tenneco Inc. 2006 Long-Term
‘ .- Incentive :‘Plan (incorporated by reference to. Exhtbrt 994 to the reglstrant ] Current Report on
' - . Form 8-K, dated May 9, 2006).- . - . o a
+10.55 — Summary of Amendments to the Company’s excess defined benefit plans the terms of a new excess

défined contribution plan and Amendments to certain executives’ employment agreements
’ (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.55 to the. registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006, File No. 1-12387).

*4+10.56 — Form of First Amendment to the Tenneco  Inc. Supplemental Pension Plan for Management.
*+10.57 — Form of First Amendment to the Tenneco Inc. Supplemental Retirement Plan. .
+10. 58 — Form of Stock-Equivalent Unit Award Agreement, as amended, under the 2002 Long—Term Inicentive !

:Plan, as amended (incorporated herein.by reference from Exhibit 99.1 of 'the registrant’s Current i
Report on Form 8-K dated as of December 6, 2006, File No. 1-12387). .. v

*+10:59. — Letter Agreement dated December 4, 2006 between the registrant and Timothy R. Donovan.- «
*+10.60 -— Letter Agreement dated January 5, 2007 between the’ reglstrant and Hari N. Nair,

+10.61 — Letter Agreement between Tenneco Inc. and Gregg Sherrill (1ncorporated herein by reference from
' Exhibit 99.2 of the reglstrant s Current Report on Form 8-K dated as’ of January 5, 2007; File
"No. 1-12387). ' L

+10 62 — Letter Agreement between Tenneco Inc. and Gregg Sherrill, dated as of January 15, 2007
" ' -(incorporated herein by -reference from Exhibit 99.1" of the reglstrant s Current Report on

-

S Form 8K dated a5 of January 15, 2007, File No. 1-12387): ' |
*+10.63 — Form of Restncted Stock Agreement between Tenneco Inc. and Gregg Shernll ‘ '
e -—None o o S oy - ‘“ e . |
VA Computanon of Rauo of Earnmgs to Fixed Charges, . , C e N e A
13 ——None . S CAT R e R T ,
14° — Tenneco Inc. Code of Ethical Conduct for Fmancral Managers (mcorporated herem by reference

L . from Exhibit 99:3 to the registrant’s- Annual Report on Form 10-K: for the year ended December 31,
T 2002, File No. 1-12387). © . \ - e

16 — None. . it
18 e None N N N I P R SR R A A IR
*21 ;—— List'of Subsrdranes of Tenneco fng, ‘et T t-
322. D None ‘ TR ,1 T S S WO L .‘.’_
X P Consent of [ndependent Reglstered Publle Accountmg ﬁrm _— R ,' :
-*24 . — Powers of Attorney..;, . .. . ST - q o Lt ,
©*31.1 . — Certification of Gregg«Shemllr under.'Sectlon 302 of the Sarbanes—Oxley Act of 2002
*31.2 " '— ! Certification of Kennéth R. Tramimell tinder Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002,
*32 1 . — Centification of Gregg Shemll and Kenneth R. Trammell under Sectlon 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley
R TIN Aetof2002 BRI S R i e
33— None. e '_":."'.' o " . N ‘,:"‘J_'l',".“"r' R
| 34 a NOHC. L NP .. o Wyt LArLPRA : " '
35-<-—-—None., » AR - W e T TR
99  — None. B e
“100* - — None * -~ ST R et "‘ Lo EER
* Filed herewith. - - 1 .. ot e n_' T A
+ Indlcates a management ¢ontrict of compensatory plan or arrangement - .
g e d Ve a1 R . - yoore et . . Y
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

s * TENNECO INC. _
| - 'IL‘ . ‘ . - . H By N ; *
. T Gregg Sherrill
’ o e Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Date: March 1, 2007 . _ . | N

Pursuant to the requ1rements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been mgned by the '
following persons in the capacities 1ndlcated on March 1, 2007. :

Signature . - 1 : i Tidle o
) * : ' Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
Gregg Sherrill and Director (principal executive officer)
/s/  KENNETH R. TRAMMELL . -+ Executive Vice President and Chief Financial -
. L Kenneth R. Trammell Officer (principal financial officer)
* S Vice President and Controller (pnm:lpal
Paul D. Novas , accounting officer)

* BDirector
' Charles W. Cramb :

1

L * ) Director .

_ M. Kathryn Eickhoff-Smith

* Director

‘ ‘Frank E. Macher -+ - . . - o

* Director

Roger B. Porter

* ] Director

David B. Price, Jr.

* Director

Dennis G. Severance

* Director

Paul T, Stecko

* Director
Mitsunobi Takeuchi ’

* ) Director

Jane L. Warner

By: /s/ KENNETH R. TRAMMELL

Kenneth R. Trammell
Attorney in fact
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A _ EXHIBIT 12
.o, o - to e aaggpre L o e gL BT T l.l.'. viatiens, Ve gnoee

' TENNECO INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES. . ... ¥ Does 0 o hoer,

COMBINED'WITH 50%; OWNED UNCONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF }EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

I ] . .. e e Years Ended December 31,
AT . 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
TSI U N KR (Dollars in Millions)
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting
PHNCIPIE . .o e e $51 $58 $15.8%2 '3 31
,Add (T A LRI T S N ) A T e SERLT .
Interest cxpense ...................... T an et .. 1,136 130 5ei]79 . 149 - .41
Portion of rentals representauve of the interest factor. . . ... ... 12 ) Jg,ﬁr. 11 11 11
| Income tax expense (benefit) and other taxes on income . ... .. 3 25 (24) )] @)
i AMmonty-mterest ."E‘..".'.".‘!1‘.‘."..“.\...!":’.'( ............. ... 6 2 4 6 4
Amortization of intérest capxtahzed. . 3 Punad 1 1
Undistributed (earnings) losses of.affiliated companies in which R s
in less than a 50% voting.interest isowned ). ............ N C) PN O 2 2
Eamnings as defined ... .. g g i e $208 $228 518 $188 $183
Interest expense. . . . ... .. .. DA T $136 $1301'8$179 $149  § 141
Interest capitalized. . ................ e e e 6 3 2 4 4
Portion of rentals representative of the mtcrcst factor U 12.‘;.- 12 :“ Y| i1 11
Fixed charges as defined. . .. ..........i... o, $154 $145 §192 §$164 3156
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges ........................ 135 - 15760097 O 11S 1.17
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DRI | EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION.PURSUANT-TO
SECTION.302 OF THE SARBANES:OXLEY ACT

I, Gregg Sherrill, certify that: . ) R TS FP R R (U DR R
1. T have reviewed this annual report on-Form 10-K of Tennieco Incy;  ~ toow -ttt cir o ornid

© 2.t Based on my knowledge,!this. report does not-contain any-untruestatement of a- material fact 6f omit
to state a material fact necessarysto make the statements- made,.in light: of the circumstances' under .which!such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covéred by this report; - ' 1 si2s et 0 o

3. (Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other:financial information included:in this
report; fairly present in atl-material respects the'financial’ condmon -resultsTof operations and-cash flows of+the:
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;” i U™t bamon o h 0T HICSER T

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and-1 are responsible for establishing ‘and maintainingf
disclosure‘controls'and procedures”(as defined 'in Exchange. Act Rules 13a-15(e). and'15d-15(e)) and internal--r +
control' over finarcial reporting: (as defined ‘in Exchange® Act Rules:13a-15 (f) and: 15d-15())-for the rcg:strant
and have; -

fa). Designed such disclosure controls and:procedures, or. caused such disclosure'controls and

procedures to.be designed under our-supervision, to ensure’that -material information relating'to-the .
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries; is made known to us by ‘others within!those entities,
particularfy during the period in-whichithis report-isibeing prepared; m =~ . ur w1 Uil

7+b) Designed such:internal control over financialreporting,' or ‘caused such internal confrol‘over
:financial reporting-totbe'designed under.our supervision; to provide reasonable assurance reg:irding'lhe
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation*of financial statements -for external purposes in’
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;: " !.+.3 ¥ e

hFTIE A I FER RS A MR

.- 3. «c) Evaluated the ‘effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls @nd procedures and presented in
' » this report our conclusions ‘about. the: effectiveness of:the:disclosure ‘controls: andnprocedures' as of the end
of the period covered by this report'based on such evaluation; and-v 1y . ¢ s T

4, ud) Disclosed'in this report any change in the registrant’s iiternal control over financial reporting that

-+ occurred during the registrant’s'most recent fiscal. quarter (the registrant’s. fourth fiscal quarter-in the’case

* of an annual report) that has materially affected, or-is reasonably likely to- ma[enal]y affect the LR
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and)7. ¢*rarengi g = o L ST

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers-and I have disclosed; based on our most recent evaludtion of
the registrant’s internal control over financial! repomng, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee'of -
the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent:functions): 4% « t= + o

Y 1.o.a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses'in the design-or operation of internal control
“over:financial: reporting-which are reasonably 'likely ‘to adverselyaaffcct the. reglstrant s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information;‘and? i .. . ort .

AT B '."h‘ ! s

* -*b)* Any'fraud} whethér or not 'material, that involves management or othér'em;iloyees who have a

significant role in the registrant’s:internal:control-over:financial ‘réporting: -+ - % fr =100 © 2 2hmn
e sl Dt b GREGG SHERRILL
Togae O Hrra Gregg Sherrill
T ok U B L L T Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Dated: March 1, 2007 . ' . ol ook SN
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EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

[, Kenneth R. Trammell, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this annual report on-Form 10-K'of Tenneco Inc.; A

2. Based on my. knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on:my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; \ .

4. The.registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining |
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange -Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal .
control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 (f) and 15d-15(f})) for the rcglstrant
and have: '

.a} Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is' made known to us by. others within- those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report.is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over. financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be'designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable-assurance regarding the
reliability- of: financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements.for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accoummg principles; . e :

.. c)-Evaluated the effectiveness- of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and .

d) Disclosed in this report any change.in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case
of an annual report) that has matenally affected, or is reasonably llkely 1o matenally affect, the
reglstrant s internal control over financial reporting;.and Lo - :

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I.have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of -
the registrant’s board of directors (or. persons performing the equivalent functions): -

-, - a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal contro)
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the reglstrant s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and : o Y

b) Any fraud, whether, or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s mtemal control .over financial reporting.

s/ Kennern R, TRAMMELL

L L - Kenneth R. Trammell
- L e Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Dated: March 1,-2007
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EXHIBIT 32.1 :

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, _ \

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO - b

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 _ ;
lj

In connection with the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of Tenneco Inc. (the “Company”) for
the period ended December 31, 2006, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date !

hereof (the “Report”), and pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Gregg Sherriil, as Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Kermeth R. j

|

|

|

| Trammell, as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certify that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13({a) or 15(d) of the Securities '
Exchange Act of 1934; and '

| (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
| "
|

condition and results of operations of the Company.
. |

; sl GREGG SHERRILL ;
i : Gregg Sherrill :
Chief Executive Officer

Is/ KENNETR R. TRAMMELL :
Kenneth R. Trammell
Chief Financial Officer '

March 1, 2007
This certification shall not be deemed “filed” by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the ' ¥
. | |

|

I

|

i .
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, In addition, this certification shall not be deemed to be incorporated by
reference into any filing under the Securities Exchange Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company
and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff

upon request.
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INVESTOR INFORMATION

Corporate Information

Individuals interested in receiving the company's latest quarterly earnings
press release or other company literature should write the Investor Relations
Department at the corporate headquarters address, or call 847.482.5146.

Information about Tenneco Inc. is alse available on the company's web site”

Stock Listing
Tenneco’s common stock is listed under the ticker symbaol TEN.

TEN is traded primarily on the New York Stock Exchange and also on the
Chicago and London exchanges.

As of February 20, 2007, there were approximately 22,631 holders of record
of the company’s commaon stock, par value $0.01 per share.

Dividends -

The company expects that for the foreseeable future it will follow a policy
of retaining earnings in order to finance the continued development of its
business. Additional information on the company’s dividend policy and
restrictions on the payment of dividends can be found in Part Il ltem 5 and
in Management's Discussion and Analysis in the Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Annual Meeting

The Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be held at 10:00 a.m. Central Time
on Tuesday, May 8, 2007, at Tenneco Inc. headquarters, 500 Morth Field
Drive, Lake Forest, Illinois 60045,

“The information on our web site is not part of this annual report.

Investor Inquiries

Securities analysts, portfolio managers and representatives of financial
institutions seeking information about the company should contact the
Investor Relations department: 847.482.5042. -

Total Cumulative Return
Based upon an initial investment of $100 on December 31, 2001, with dividends reinvested

At December 31 01 02 03 04 05 06
Tenneco Inc. $100 5198 4328 5845 5961 51,212
S&PP 500 Index $100 $78 $100 $111 $117 § 135
Custom Composite

Index (8 Stocks) S100 $ 77 $122 %130 $83 S 106

The Custom Composite Index Includes:

ArvinMeritor, Inc. Federal-Mogul Corporation
Borg Warner Inc. Lear Corporaticn

Cumming Ing. Magna International Inc.
Dana Corporation Tower Automotive, Inc.

W Tennecoinc. M S&P°500 Index M Custom Composite Index Delphi Corp.
(9 Stocks)
- Copyright® 2007, Standard & Poor's, a division of the The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. All rights reserved.
Stock Price Data
2007 2006 ) 2005 2004 2003
Sales Prices Sales Prices Sales Prices Sales Prices Sales Prices

High Low High Low High Low High Low High Low
First Quarter* $27.34  S23.04 $2333  $19.61 $17.36 81207 $1488 § 673 $4.32 $2.0
Second Quarter $27.55 . $20.64 $17.22  $1155 51534 $10.09 5465  $2.25
Third Quarter $26.39  $20.03 $20,06 $16.30 $1451  $1185 $7.45 5381
Fourth Quarter $25.34 S21.41 $19.95 $1570 $17.48 51093 $7.32 54,66

2007 First Quarter through February 23, 2007,

Reconciliation of Adjusted Operating Income-Total Company with Europe, South America and India Breakout
(see Chairman’s Letter, page 2)

Year Ended December 31: 2006, EBIT (millions) 2005, EBIT (millions)

Total Company Europe, SA, India Total Company Europe, SA, India

Earnings Measures 51986 581 $215 554
Adjustments (reflect non-GAAP measures):

Restructuring and restructuring-related expenses 27 8 12 i 8

New aftermarket customer changeover costs 6 - . 10 -

Pension change to defined contribution plan v} - - -

Stock-based compensation accounting change A - - -

Reserve for receivables from former affiliate 3 - - -

Stock option adjustment ~ 2 - - -
Nen-GAAP eamings measures $228 $B9 $237 562




Lorporate neadquaners
Tenneco Inc.

500 North Field Drive
Lake Forest, Ilindis 60045
B47482.5000

Web Site |
WWW.LENNECO.COM

NYSE: TEN

|

Stockholder lnq'uiries

Far stockholder s;ewices such as exchange of certificates, issuance

5f certificales, lost certificates, change of address, change in registered

wnership or share balance, wrile, call or e-mail the company's
ransfer agent;

Melis Fargo Bank!N.A.
shareowner Services

161 N. Concord Exchange
»youth St Paul, MI‘:J 55075

166.839.3259 (ToiliFree]
i51.450.4064

www.wellsfargo.com/shareowner services

|
|
i
|

|

|

|

?

|
TENNECO™



